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INTRODUCTION

In May of 1825, the Governor-General of
British India, Lord Amherst, decided upon the
appointment of Captain Henry Burney to lead
an official mission to the Government of Siam
at Bangkok. This step, taken at a time of rapid
change in the international relations of South
and South East Asia, was of enormous signifi-
cance for the history of the region as a whole;
but its importance is especially great in the
history of the Kingdom of Thailand.

Many issues were of urgent and immediate
concern to the English East India Company at
the time of the Burney Mission. The Company
was involved in a serious war with Burma,
which at the time the mission was despatched
was not going well. The Company was
concerned for the provisioning of its troops,
and anxious to have at least the assurance of
Thai neutrality in the conflict, if not the active
assistance of Thai forces. It was anxious to
reassure Bangkok of its good intentions in a
situation where it appeared that British troops
would be stationed on the frontiers of the Thai
empire for some time to come. To the south,
on the Malay Peninsula, the major East India
Company base was the settlement of Penang,
the trade, food supply, and local security of
which was threatened by an aggressive forward
policy executed on behalf of the Thai court
by the “Raja of Ligor”—the Thai governor of
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Nakhon Si Thammarat, the chief Thai centre
on the Peninsula—who in 1821 had evicted the
ruler of Kedah from his state. The Sultan of
Kedah invoked the treaties under which he had
ceded Penang and Province Wellesley to the
Company, to claim British protection and
demand assistance in regaining his throne.
Nearby, the Thai threat to other states neigh-
bouring Penang, in particular Perak and
Selangor, upset the stability and trade and
threatened the security of the west coast of
Malaya. Further south, the port of Singapore,
established only in 1819, depended upon rapid
trading growth in order to assure its viability as
an entrepdt and way station on the route to
China. British interests in the region, both
political and economic, were complex; and
insofar as the Company’s objects were to be
attained, they demanded of the Thai Govern-
ment a major departure from its earlier policies
of relative isolation or insulation from the West,
and the reform of commercial practices which
placed European traders at a disadvantage in
relation to Asian traders. (1)

In his choice of an officer to head the
mission to Thailand, Lord Amherst was perhaps
more fortunate than he might have expected to
be. Captain (later Major) Henry Burney (1792-
1845) was born in India, the son of the head-
master of the Military Orphan School in
Calcutta and related to the illustrious Burney
family so prominent in the intellectual life of

1. The standard general accounts of the subject are Walter F.
Vella, Siam Under Rama 11l (Locust Valley, N.Y., 1957), and
L. A. Mills, British Malaya, 1824-67 (Oxford University Press,
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London. An Army officer, he appears to have
served with the Company’s forces in the Archi-
pelago during the period of the Napoleonic
Wars. Thereafter he was posted to Penang,
where he studied the Malay and Thai languages
and became, with James Low, one of the post’s
experts in Thai affairs, dealing with the Bangkok
Court’s officers in the peninsular provinces.(2)
Burney was a superlative linguist and a serious
student of the Asian societies with which he
came into contact; and his skills and sympathies
made him an extremely effective negotiator. It
was he who concluded the first treaties with the
Thai in the peninsular states in 1825, and it was
these diplomatic moves at a local level which
the Governor-General followed up with the
official mission to the Thai capital at the end of
the same year.

The organization of The Burney Papers
reflects both the circumstances of their compila-
tion and the enormous complexity of interests
and issues in the period 1822-1844. The
Vajirafiana National Library of Bangkok under-
took early in this century a programme of
publishing important records and documents of
Thai history which began with the reprinting of
James Low’s translation of The Keddah Annals.
(3) The Burney Papers was the second of these
publications, and seems to have begun with the
intention of publishing simply Burney’s journal
2. D.G.E. Hall, “Burney’s Comments on the Court of Ava,”
Bulletin of the School of Oriental and African Studies, XX
(1957), 305-6, and “Henry Burney, Diplomat and Orientalist,”

Journal of the Burma Research Society, XL1 (Dec. 1958),
100-110.

3. (Bangkok: Vajiranana National Library, 1908).
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of his proceedings in Bangkok in 1825-26. The
project soon grew, however, to encompass all
the documents in the India Office records in
London which concerned the first modern
British relations with Siam. The arrangement
of the materials is at times confusing, but their
basic pattern is relatively clear. (a) The first
three parts of Volume I consist of Burney’s
Bangkok journal, which was written daily and
despatched at intervals to Penang and Calcutta.
Each of these portions of the diary (pp. 22-124,
193-214, 274-287, 321-368) is accompanied by
a group of documents, correspondence and
memoranda, directly stemming from the conduct
of the negotiations in Bangkok (pp. 125-192,
215-273, 288-320, and 369-437).(4) To this
group of documents also belongs Burney's
final, summary report and related materials in
Volume II, part 4. (b) The background to
Anglo-Thai relations in the affairs of the Malay
States is covered by a large group of documents
in Volume I, part 4, and Volume II, parts 1-3,
covering the period 1822-26. (c) Anglo-Thai
relations subsequent to the Burney Mission, in
which the issues primarily were the affairs of the
Malay States (and particularly Kedah) in the
period 1826-40, are covered by the materials
given in Volume II, parts 5 and 6, and in the
two parts of Volume III. (d) A heightened

4. In compiling this collection, the editors did not have access
to Burney's private papers, later deposited in the Library of the
Royal Commonwealth Society in London. Included there are
the Thai originals of almost all the letters from the Thai
ministers to Burney, including, curiously, two which he did not
mention in his journal or translate for his superiors (Burney
Papers, Series E, docs. 111, VIII). I am indebted to Mr. D.
Simpson, Librarian of the Society, for allowing me to consult
these papers.
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concern for the interests of British Burma in
overland trade with Siam is the major theme of
Volume 1V, part i. The major document in this
section is the journal of Dr. D. Richardson, who
undertook an official mission to Bangkok and
Chiangmai for the Government of British
Burma in 1838-39.(5) (e) In the 1840’s, British
trade in Bangkok, and particularly the activities
of the merchant Robert Hunter, was the most
critical issue in relations between the two
governments.(6) The documents in Volume IV,
part 2, provide some of the basic English-
language materials for an assessment of the
reasons for the virtual breakdown of those
relations by 1844.(7) (f) Finally, in Volume V,
part 1 (no further parts were issued), there is a
very useful retrospective review of Anglo-Thai
relations written in the 1840’s by Col. James
Low, which might serve as a useful introduction
to the period as a whole.

As a source for the history of Thailand and
Malaya in the second quarter of the nineteenth
century The Burney Papers is unrivalled. The
material it provides on the affairs of the Malay
states in the 1820’s and 1830's is essential to the
study of the period, although it does require
supplementation from other Company and local

5. A further portion of Ri 's journal was i

as “Journal of a Mission from the Supreme Government of
India to the Court of Siam," Journal of the Asiatic Society of
Bengal, V111 (1839), 1016~36 and IX (1840), 1-30, 219-50.

6. On Hunter, see R. Adey Moore, “An Early British
Merchant in Bangkok," Journal of the Siam Society, XI, pt. 2
(1915), 21-39.

7. A useful general account of British activities in the region
is N. Tarling, “British Policy in the Malay Peninsula and
Archipelago, 1824-1871," Journal of the Malayan Branch,
Royal Asiatic Society, XXX pt. 3 (1957), 1-228.
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records which are not directly concerned with
Thailand. The Thai historical archives are
sadly deficient in materials on this critical period
in Thai history,(8) and a large proportion of
what we know, not only of Thai relations with
the West and her neighbours in this period but
also of Thai government and society, is to be
found only in this monumental collection. The
poor paper on which the limited number of
copies of this collection was printed more than
fifty years ago has not easily withstood time
and the increasing demands which scholars,
Asian and Western, have placed on it, and
complete, usable sets are extremely rare. This
facsimile reprint is intended to repair that
deficiency, in the confidence that these volumes
have a great deal to offer to the serious study of
the modern history of South East Asia.

November 1970 Davip K. WyATT

8. Sce D. K. Wyatt and C. M. Wilson, “Thai Historical
Materials in Bangkok," Journal of Asian Studies, XXV: 1
(November, 1965), 105-18.
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NOTE.

The MSS. of the Burney papers relating to his Mission to Siam
in 1825/6 are kept in the India Office, and through the courtesy of
the Library of that Office the Vajiranana National Library was allowed
to take copies of them,

The Committee of the Vajiranana National Library considered
these papers of histovical interest, and they therefore ordored the
printing of them for private civeulation to sabscribers only.

The present instalment contains the first part of the papers, the
second part is in the press, and as there ave still more papers expected
a Jast instalment may be issued with the second part or separately,
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Rosident at

gapore
1st October,
128,

FORT CORNWALLIS—Tho 24: October 1825,

RESIDENT AT SINGAPORE.

To,
J. R. Cuppage Esquire
Acting Secretary to Government
*Prince of Wales Island,
Sir,

I have the honor herewith to enclose copy of a
letter from Mr. Gillies, and translation of ona from the
Prah Klang or Foreign Minister, containing the most
recent information from Siam. The British Ship
Caroline left Bangkok on the 27 of August at which
period the Country was tranquil, and as far as I am
enabled to judge the utmost anxiety seems to bo
evinced on the part of the Siamese Government to
avoid all collision with us.

I have &e, &e.
(Signed) J. Crawfurd
Resident,
Singapore, 1st October 1825,

Ship Caroline, at Sea
2d September 1825,
My Dear Sir,

By the return of the Caroline to Siam 20th May,
Thad the honor to veceive your letter 2d of that
month, and for the favorable manner in which you are
pleased to speak of my exertions, I beg you to accept
my best thanks. 1 beg to assure you that if I have not
done much, it was not for want of inclination: with
such people it is no easy matter to keep on terms
of friendship, much less to effect any beneficial
arrangement of any desecription with them, even had I
the power to do so. I have, however, I am happy to
say succeeded in gaining their good opinion, not only
of myself personally, but of my Countrymen generally.
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Since 1 had the honor to address you last, scarcely

y thing of a political nature has come to my
Ynowledgze worth vemarking. The whole of the Siamese

an

Army was withdrawn from the Burman War carly in
April, to attend the Ceremony of burning the body of
their late King, at the preparation and consummation
of which the Government and people were so

constantly engageed that they had uo time to think of

any thing of less importance—the chief reason given
ity of all the
geveat men being present at the Ceremony, where cach
hiad his part to perforn, and for the Soldiers to keep
ovler, besides which T Delieve there was some
disturbanee apprehended, the present King being by
many considered an Usurper, and consequently not
very popular, the festival commenced the 231 April,

for reealling the Army was the nece

and continued for nine days; it was conducted  witl
sveat good ander and regularity, and T must add with
considerable taste, and concluded without any breach
of the peace. Previous to the return of the Army
one of the Generals Phya Phipad, was, it is said,
dirccted on his reaching the English Army, to put
himself under the orders of the Dritish General, which
he refused ta do, and which incensed the King so much
that on his veturn bhe was to have lost his head
which was to have been sent to the English
General in @ present to convinee him  with how
much zeal the King had entered into the cause.

A fow days, however, after t man’s return le di

and was burned next day in his own house, with

all its contents.  Another person, Phia Champon,
Governor of a Province of that name has some tima
since been brought to Bangkok and put in Irons, for
come insult offered to a party of the English, at which
the King was much displeased, and fearing that thesa
things might produce disagresable consequences, ho
dispatched immediately Phia Cry, Phra Klang to the
Second King to Head Quarters at Rangoon, to
apologize for these acts of aggression, and no doubt to
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make other arrangements; he was not returned when L
Jeft Bangkek. Others had been to Head Quarters

before, and on their return spoke in favorabla

terms of the treatment they had received and the
vegular manuer in which every thing was condneted
in the British Camp, On the 18. April four letters
were received in Bangkok, Signed Hy. Burney, and
addressed to Officers Commanding Stations ; that
Gentleman it appears was on a tonr of inspeetion
through the varions Provinces taken from the Burmans.
and on his return ar
wrote these lette

iving at some convenient place, Iy
, and entrusted th

1 to some |

on
of consequence, on his promising to forward them
to the respective piaces as addressed; instead of which,
Jiowever, he sent them to Bangkok where they were
opened, read, and copies taken of them ; theiv contents
hewever, were mer

¥ obs

ations on the places he had
sven, with direction to the respective Officers to keep
on the best terms with the Siamese whenever they
came in confact with them with which the King of
Siam was mueh pleased ; what bzeame of the Jetters
1 have not heard.

Tor some weeks before 1left Banglkok thera wers
several reports said {o hnve renched that place from
the Seat of War, which spoke of the English and
Burmans having fought several Battles, in which the
former were invariably vietorious, that at one of the
the General in Chief of the Burmans was killed, and
that the Inglish were within 3 days march of
Amarapura; these veports may in all prabability
allnde to the same you have stated in your letter
to the Phra Klang. T have heard Tong
intended attack on Pera, and also of the refusal of the
Inglish to permit the Rajah of Ligore to pass. The
latter has given great offence to the King of Siam,
and which is enereased by letters received from somo
Dutch place, stating that the English were prepaving
a great Armament to take possession of the whole
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Kingdom of Quedah, after which that they were to
proceed to Siam, which has put the Government in a
state of Alarm at first, but was subsiding when T left.
1 took every opportunity to contradict these reports,
anl assurel them that the English have no such
intentions, and particularly at the last interview
1 had with the Phra Klang, the day before T left, I
expressed my hopes that ho did not believe the various
reports which were frequently brought to Siam
unfavorablo to the English, that there was no truth
whatever in them, and were brought only by peopls
who withed harm to both Countries. On the con-
trary that the English were most anxious to keep
on the best terms of friendship with the people of
Siam. The Phra Klang replied that thers wero
many bad reports of the English brought from time to
time, but that neither the King nor himself believed
any of them—that he did mot think the English
had any intention to molest them, and that they
would take good care not to given any cause of com-
plaint—that the Forts building at Packnam were merely
intended against the Malays. I also assured him
that I would carry to Singapors the best account of
the general good disposition of the Siamese towards
the English, which I had myself experienced personally
since my return to Siam, and expressed my hopes
that my own behaviour and that of the other Gentle-
men with mo, had given him satisfaction, to which
he readily assented. In requesting some concession
in favor of eur Trade, and particularly a remission of
the Port Charges on a Ship visiting more than once
in twelve months, he answered that it was the custom
to charge the Duty on o Ship every time she came
in, that the same was paid by the Junks, and that
the King would not alter that custom. I observed to
him that at the conclusion of the Burman War, the
English would probably be disposed to give the King
of Siam some of the conquered Districts, which
might induce the King to make some alterations



favorable to their trade. After a pause, he answered
that the arrangement of these matters did not belong
to Merchants. I did mot pursue the conversation
further.

I finally requested him to have the goodness to
inform me if they had any late accounts from the seat;
of War, that I was anxious to carry with me the
latost news.  He answared there was no late accounts,
if there had been, he would have informed me
of it before now, but requested mo to inform
Mr. Crawfurd, that in the mean time  the
King had given orders to all tho Generals and
Governors of Provinces, especially thoso bordering
on the Burman Country to have everything in
readiness to join the English with the wholo Army
of Siam, at the breaking up of the rainy season,
and to prepare every possibla means of transport,
in Boats Cattle &c. for the use of the English
Amy. The Phra Klang also informed me that he
received accounts that morning, the 20th Ultimo, that
a Ship may be daily expected from Caloutta on a
Mission to the King of Siam.

It will give ma much pleasura, if this information,
or any thing further I can communicate to you on my
arrival in Singapore should prove of any service to
yourself personally, or to the cause in which you are o
heartily and so strenuously engaged,

On the return of the Caroline to Bangkok, your
several Presents to the Phra Klang were duly delivered
all in good order, and the two Field Pieces particularly
gave great satisfaction.

Herewith I beg leave to hand you the Bill of
Lading and Account of Charges on the Returns
amounting to Ticals 110. for which I have taken the
liberty to value upon you at sight in favor of Messrs,
Morgans, Hunter & Co. in Sp : Dollars sixty seven and
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sixty cents which please honor. There are also on
board five pieces of ronnd Knotty wood which came too
late to be put in the Bill of Lading, but which shall be
delivered with the other things—they were brought to
me by the Phra Klang himself the very last moment I
saw him. He speaks highly of its peculiar (uality,
especial in being of so hard and close a nature, that it
takes a polish equal to any Marble. 1 have received
back the Rings you had sent him which 1 shall have
the pleasure of delivering you herewith. I'believe they
are quite genuine.

In the hope of sceing you in a very few daye,
1 remain, with much respect,

My dear Sir
Your much obliged and
Obedt. humble Servant
(Signed) JOHN GILLIES.
To
J. CRAWFURD E:
Resident &e. &e. &e.
Singapore.

A true Copy
(Sd.) J. Crawfurl
Resident.

THE LETTER of Chao Pin Prah Klang, First
Minister to His Majesty the King of Siam to John
Crawfurd Esquire, Resident of Singapore.

1 heg to acknowledge the receipt of the letter
cent by you by Captain Johnson, together with a pair
of Mirrors and two Brass 12 Pounders for His Majesty
from the Governor General of Bengal. By this letter,
it is with great satisfaction 1 hear that the British
Troops have captured Arracan and Assam.  Every
thing contained in it, but particularly the various
cictories gained over the Burmans by the English,
and the presents sent by His Excellency the Governor



Genl. of Bengal was submitted to His Majesty
and gave him great satisfaction. His Majesty has
accepted the presents, and has ondered me to offer
his best thanks to the Governor General for them.
In return he has sent for him under Captain Johnson's
care, 60 Peculs of Pepper.

The Pia Maha Jotha had an interview with the
British Chicf at Martaban.  From that place he
marched to Kean, wlhere he arrived in safety and
cantoned.  While at Kean he received letters from
the British Commanders at Rangoon and Martaban
requesting him to extirpate and harass the Burmans,
but not to molest the peaceable inhabitants. He
continued to do o accordingly until the death of His
late Majesty, when he was obliged to return to
Bangkok, for it is our custom to attend to the
obsequies of g0 great a personage. After this grand
#olemmity, the rainy Season commenced, and our
Army therefore could not take the field, When
it is over, however, it is His Majesty's design to send
the Pia Maha Jotha again to co-operate with the
English against the Burmans. This will be either in
October or November. As you wished us also to
supply the British Commanders with Elephants,
Buffaloes and Oxen, His Majesty has ordered me to
direct all the Chiefs of the Western and Northern
Provinees to do o if they are needed.

The Shawl, Mirrors and Corals that yon had
the Kindness to send me have been safely delivered,
and 1 have the pleasure to sent you in return 85
Peculs of Pepper and 10 of Sugar as a mark of my
friendship.

Bangkok,
21, Angust 1825,
A True Translation,
(Signed) J.CRAWFURD,
Resident.
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:":::: ::W:' FORT CORNWALLIS  The 5 November, 1825,
Pp. 145-147, = _.

AT A COUNCIL—Present
THE HONORABLE ROBERT FULLERTON
Governor President
WILLTAM ARMSTRONG CLUBLEY Esquire
and
ROBERT IBBETSON Esquire.

READ and APPROVED the PROCEEDINGS
of the 24th Ultimo.

SEPARATE.
CAPTAIN BURNEY—AGENT TO SIAM

Singapore, 10th October, 1825,

To
THE HONORABLE
Gaptain Burney
Agont to Blam ROBERT FULLERTON Esquire,
ey Governor &ea., &ea., &,

HoxoranLe Sin,

I do myself the honor to report my arrival at
this settlement, and my intention to proceed towards
Ligor to-morrow afternoon.  Befors «uitting  the
straits of Malacea I solicit that T may be allowed to
avail myself of the services of Captain Macfarquhar ax
an Assistant, upon a salary of 250 Dollars per Month
in addition to his Regimental Allowances of a
Captain :—and that Mr. Sub Assistant Surgeon Harris
may be permitted to draw the same allowances of an
Assistant Surgeon of the Bengal Establishment, as
were before received by him when detached to
Malacea from Prince of Wales Island.

Di d of the ist of Li
Moresby “luch was granted to me by the Supreme
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ment, [ feel anxious to secul
Exertions,

to my future
the zealous support of Captain Macfare
quhar’s sound judgment and mental resources—and
I hope that you will suffer me to usk. that this my
solicitation may be forwarded to the Consideration
of the Right Honorable the Governor General in
Conneil with a favorable recommendation from your-
sell.

1 have &ea.
( Signed ) Ho BURNEY
Envoy to the Conet of Siam,

ORDERED, that a Copy of the above be transmite
ted for the consideration of Supreme CGovernment.
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FORT CORNWALLLS "The 11 : November 1825,

THE following letter to the Governor Geneml in
Couneil, forwarding the further Reports of Me.
Anderson, and other Correspondence is reconded.

To

THE RIGHT HONORABLE
WILLIAM PITT LORD AMHERST
Governor General in Council
FORT WILLIAM.
Sir,

Our last Dispateh o your Lonlship in Couneil

in this Department is dated 20 September.

We have now the honor to enclose the fustl

papers which have passed in vespect to onr procesd-
nent made by
ore. From the second

ings avising out of the ag aptain
Burney with the Rajah of 1.
Report of Mr. Anderson dated the 15 Septemburs
your Londship in Council will perceive that no
difficulty was found in procuring the assent of the
. In the general

Rajalt of Pernk to the terms requir
exposition of our views and opinions on these transac-

tions, we beg to vefer to the Minntes of our Presid
under date the 24 September with which we

in opinion,

Your Londship in Council will perceive that the
only point unsettled is the payment of the 2000
Dollars required from the Rajah of Salangore to
the Chief of Ligore from the extromo disinclination
evineed by the former; and adverting to the

circumstance that the negotiation of the claim,
and not the actval recovery was the only engagement
made with the latter, we have deferred enforcing the
payment wntil favored with your Lordships instruc-
tions on the case. Captain Burney having boen
farnished with Copy of the President’s Minute he will
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Enciosures C.
No. 1 to 8.
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~regulate his conduct thereby in the event of hix finding
the non payment of the above sum likely to interfers
in the sucovss of his negotiations,  Your Lovlship in
Couneil will perceive by the report from Mr. Poynton,
Commander of the Armed Schooner Zephyr, that
Rajah Hussein has haen removerd from the Pevak

Country,

We avail ourselves of this opportunity of i
ing your Lonlship in Couneil that Captain B
thix for Bangkok op the 24th of September. The
whole of the ubjects of his Mission, as far as they regard
affairs in this neighbourhood having leen vo fully
discussed, but little  additional instructions wers
requined. The Papers that passed previens to his
departure, will be found in the Enclosures* to this
Dispateh.

We have &e.

(Signed ) R. Fullerton
V. AL Clubley
R Iibetson

=

Fort: Cornwallis
The 9. November, 1825,

* The enclosures ave not to be found in this vol.
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FORT CORNWALLIS T 26 January 1826,

READ the following letter from Captain  Burney
Envoy to the Court of Siaw, detailing his proesedings
at Ligore.

CAPTAIN BURNEY. ENVOY to SIAM.

Ligore, 8th November 1825,
To,
The Secretary to Government
Prince of Wales Island.
Kir,

I beg leave to report my acrival at this placs
on the 28: Ultimo and my intended departure for
Bangkok this evening. His Higlness the Governov
of Ligor has offored to forward a packet from me to
Penang, and I conceive T may avail myself of this
opportunity to communicate the following details
ouly for the information of Government.

We left Singapore on the 12 : October and after
touching at Tringano during the 17th and 18th
arrived here on the 28: We found His Highness
and his boats had beon for soveral days ready to
proceed to Sinm, but in consequence of the near
approach of the adverse Monsoon and the illness of
of His Highness's youngest and favorite Son, I was
requested to wait here a few days. In the mean time
the north-east Monsoon set in with heavy mins
and the plan of His Highness's boats accompanying
us was found impracticable. The Chief visited the
Brig Guardian, and i 1 her
accommodations, of which he found we could not
afford & portion sufficient for the use of himself and
his women with their numorous attendants, For some
days he appeared most unwilling to let me proceed
to Siam by myselfi, and at the same time
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wnwilling to leave his sick Son, to prove the fact of
whoso illness he introduced me into the inner apart-
ments of his liouse and shewed me the Boy sufloriug
from a fever and attended by his Mother aud other
females. The chief endeavoured to persuade e to
remain here for two months at the expiration of which
Le alleged the severity of the Monsoon would abate
and admit of his Boats accompanying us, aud he
offered to disburse the whole expences of the Mission
for those two months, On the Gth however, the Son
proving much better, the chief agreed that his baggago
should Do taken out of Lis own boats and embarked
on board the Guawdian that T should sail this day,
whether his Sou continued ill or not, should within
five days proceed Ly land, that one of his Sons, Pho
Pheuk, and a Commissioner from Bangkok, Luang
Woot-Akunee, should accompany me, and that in
order to find accommodation for them ‘on board the
Guardian, Mr. Sub Assistant Surgeon Harris and
Ar. Leal an Interpreter, a native of the Azores who
has resided some years at Bangkok and whom I
engaged at Singapore by the advice of Mr. Crawfurd
with their two Servants should travel with His High-
ness by land. The chief furnishes me with letters
to the king of Siam the Wang na, and several
principal Officers and he is very urgent with me to
contrive to prolong as much as possible our passage
to Bangkok, so that we may not reach it many days
before him. This however will be impossible as his
Journey he states, will occupy from thirty to five
and thirty days.

Tlearn that His Higluress left Kedah the moment
Le heard of my departure from Penang that whilst
at Kangar he received the Honorable the Governors
letter transmitting copies of Mr. Anderson’s Agree-
ments with the Chiefs of Perak and Salengore that
he had arrived here about 16 days before
us, and that during  his passa,c across the



(]

conntry, via Merdelong he lost many of hix followers
by the Cholers, smong others his principal Tnter—
preter Che Hat.

Khun Aksoon mived here on the 2d Instant with
letters from Penang of the 12th Ultimo and His
Highness has received intelligence from Chimpolum of
the arrival of Mr. Maingy on the opposite Coast and of
the new Governor of that place, Pya Kray, having
forwvanded to Bangkok some of His Highness's
followers, who liad accompanied Mr. Maingy.

His Highness has treated us with much kindness
and hospitality hut I am sorry to report that means
had been taken to poison his mind against me, Ho
diewed me a paper purporting to be a report mado to
Jim of conversations held by some of his Messengers to
Penang with the King of Kedah in which document I
am charged with having no other object in visiting his
Country, than to collect the necessary information
vespecting its state aud condition to enable the British
Government to attack it. That His Highness believed
this mischievous tale I was early convinced from finding
none but Siamese near us, and from seeing no Malays
and but a fow Chinese in any part of the town or fort,
and T have since learnt, that on the day of our arrival
all such persons, as might be disposed to give us any
intelligence, were ondered into the Country. There is
however nothing to be told in addition to what Afr.
Orawfurd has collected apparently from a very correct
source, and included in his * Memoir to accompany a
Chart of the East and West Coast of the Gulf of Siam.”
The Chief retains in his own hands every particle of
power and personally conducts the most trifling details,
He has a Tan Belat or Binda-hara, but no Yokobat or
other Officer as at Poongah. The Office of Belat
is said to be a sinecurc excepting when the Chief
leaves the Country, at whicl times that Minister and
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two.or three other persons are formed into a Commis-
sion of Government. His Highness's Wife a fiest
Consin of the present King of Siam, is said to possess
much influence over the Chief and to be principally
consulted by him. There are thres or four Commis-
sioners sent to His Highness from Bangkok as & kind
of Assessors but he seems fo treat them with very
little cousideration,

"The town stands on a very estensive plain, which
appears to reach to the great central range of
Mountains aud is covered with Paddy cultivation, L
am told, in the interior, and some view (sic) are col-
lected.  But the Tin mines are much neglected and said
to be exhausted. We have been shown some ol
brick foundations alleged to be the site of the Duteh
Factory. There appears to bo no direct trade with
China, Cochin China or other Foreign port. What
little trade there is, is with Siam and it is entirely
engrossed by the Chief. There is not a single brick
dwelling house i the town, but a great many temples
and pyramids of that material, and most of thew
in ruins. The Chiefs house is of plank with a tiled
roofs it is situate within the fort, which consists of
an old high Wall in a most delapidated condition,
and without a gun mounted in any part. within or
upon it. Indeed, I have seen scarcely a innsket here,
and presume that the Chief has sent the whole of his
Military means to Kedah. The number of Women
also far exceeds the proportion of men. Most of the
Intter are said to be in the interior attending to
cultivation, but I have reason to believe that His
Higlness has left many of them with his Boats on the
other coast.

The above short description of this place may
perhaps serve to convince Government, as I have here
been convinced, that the Kingdom of Kedah is a much
mora.valuable aud desirable passession to His Highness
of Ligor than what has been generally imagined.
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Tt may be satisfactory to the King of Kedali to
learn that I have seen his Son Tuankoo Eacooh and
four of his Nephews Tuanku Mal 1 Saut. Mal il
Legeb, Mahomed Ibisat and Aldulrahaman, who do
not appear to be ill treated, and who replicd to my
enquiries that the rest of the Kedali family am
well, and that none of them required any thing which
we had not the means to offer to them.

[ may state here, that the political condition of
Tringano appearsl to ms precisely such as Mr.
Cracrofe the Acting Resident of Malacea had befure
deseribed it to me, although I found the Rajal in the
last stage of one addicted to Opium smokinyg and his

sy by no measure so re
as it hind once been been, and as very late writors oven
led me to expect. Cultivation must have decreased
very much of late years, whilst most of its trade hus
Leen diverted to Singapore.

table or populous

Several persons declaved that the population has
decreased to 10 or 12,000 Souls, and that even thess
are dependent on the Siamese ports to the Northwarl
for supplies of grain.

Tlearnt that Kalautan was originslly a colouy from
Pringano to which it was long subject and that upon
a change of dynasty in the former, it threw off ita
dependence and turned towards Siam for support.
The present year is the period for both of those states
to transwmit the Boonga Mas to Siam through Singora
and Ligore respectively.

We found lying in Tringano roads the King of
Siam's Ship, from the Commander of which we learnt
that intelligence had lately been brought to this
Coast of an English Armament being equipped at
Singapore destined to attack Bangkok. The late
reinforcement of Troops to that Settlement probably
gave rise to this intelligence,
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We had no difficulty in making this port except-
ing what proceeded from light westerly winds and a
strong easterly current and we anticipate no difficulty
in departing again although from the high swell and
surf which are raised whenever the northerly winds
blow strong and the shoal at the head of Tantalam
island, it is evident that these roads are not safe for
a ship during the height of the North East Monsoon,
The Brig is lying in 8 fathoms about 2§ miles from
the mouth of the la-wang river, which is a little to
the Northward of that of the Ligor: the two rivers
join a few miles Inland and the latter is now little
vised (sic). The anchorage ground is soft wud
throughout and His Highness's boats have already
taken shelter within the river.

T have &ea.
(Signed) H. BURNEY,

Envoy to the Court of Siam.
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 26 January 1826,

THE ACTING PRESIDENT lays before the
Boand the following Translation of a letter from the
Chow Pya of Ligore to the Governor.

CHOW PYA OF LIGORE.

TION

of a letter from the Chow Pya of Ligore to the
Honble. Robert Fullerton Esquire Governor of Pulo
Penang.

( Atter Compliments )

Having had a feiendly meeting with Captain
Burney and in conformity to his wishes, T agreed to
assist in conveying him to the Capital, but when he
arvived at Ligore my Son was extremely unwell,
being aware however that Captain Burney had never
vizited the Capital, I consulted with him and sent
another of my Sons on hoanl his Ship to accompany
him. 1 shall also proceed overland without delay
and arvive at the same time with Captain Burmey,
when we will consider how friendship with the English
may be prolonged and increased.  When Captain
Burney returns, he will make known to my friend
all particulars and shew him that he has experienced

kindness,

Moreover, when Captain Burney was at Ligore,
some Siamese caught an Animal in the woods which is
called a wild Goat, which Captain Burney having
seen, he informed me that the Governor General is
very desirous of seeing extraordinary Animals and that
species of Goat was not in Bengal he also mentioned
that if it were sent to Bengal the Governor General
would be amused with it. I accordingly send the Goat
to my friend and request he will kindly receive
it and the accompanying letter to the address
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of the Governor General of Bengal and  forward
them, so that he may see a rare Animal fron Nian
when wy friend has forwarded it | reduest he will
send a veply in orler that 1 may know.

Dated 5= of Jemadilawal Year 1241 o 15 Decr.
1825,

Penangs
25 Jany. 1826,

A true Translation
(Signed ) JOHN ANDERSON,
Malay Pranse. to Gavte
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FORT CORNWALLS Ths 2: February 1826.

THE ACTING PRESIDENT lays hefors the
Board the following Tetter to the Chow Pya of
Ligore and one from the Rajah of Perak.

TO THE CHOW PYA of LIGORE.

DRAFT of a letter from the Honble. W. A. Clubloy
Esquire to the Chow Pya of Ligors.

My friends letter to be addressed of the Honble.
the Governor, accompanying a packet for the Right
Honorable the Governor General has been duly
received, and in the temporary absence of ths
Governor, T lose mo time in replying to it. My
friend's attentions to Captain Burney at Ligors and
the intention which he expresses of accompanying
that Officer to Bangkok are extremely gratifying as
evincing a disposition to prolong a friendly under-
standing between the British and Siamese Govern-
ments and I trust that thro' my friend’s Mediation
at the Capital a permanent friendship may ba
established and connected.

The Animal which my friend sends as-a present
to the Right Honorablo the Governor General was
duly received and has been forwarded to Bengal.

(Signed) W. A. CLUBLEY

Penang
30: January 1826.
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 2: February 1826,
AT A COUNCIL--Present
WILLIAM ARMSTRONG CLUBLEY Esquire

and
ROBERT IBBETSON Estuire,

The Honorable the Governor having proceeded to
Tenasserim on the Public Service.

READ and APPROVED the PROCEEDINGS
of the 26: Ultimo.

PUBLI
ACTING RESIDENT at SINGAPORE,
"W, S. Crmeroft, Esquire
Secretary to the Government
Prince of Wales Tslaud,
Sir,

1 have the honor to forward by this opportunity
a letter from Captain Burney to the address of the
Honorable the Governor, which was received by me
yesterday—this dispatelt as will be perceived by the
38: Paragraph came under o flying Seal and the
envelope 1 regret to add has by some unaccountable
accident heen mislaid.

The 1% awd letters  received from  your
Government to the addresss of the Envoy at Siam and
the receipt of which I had the honor to acknowledge
en the 2: wltimo will bo forwarded by the Ship
Hunter at present at this Port bound to Siam, and
whither it is expected she will proceed in the course
of a few days. This is tho conveyance that has
presented itself since their receipt.

T have the Lonor to be

&ea. &ca. &ca.
( Sigued) 8. G. Bonham,
Singapore Acting Resident.

10 January 1826.
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ENVOY at the COURT of SIAM.

Bangkok 22 December 1825.
To
THE HONBLE. R. FULLERTON Esquire
Governor &ea., &ea., &ea.
of Prince of Wales Island.
HoxpLe. Sin,

I do myself the honor to transmit to yon my
first. report, from this Capital, where I arrived on the
4 Instant and where hitherto my reception has heen
very satisfactory.

2. Pursuant to the arrangement reported in my
dispateh of the 8 Ultimo, the Governor of Ligors's
Son and followers came on board the Brig Guardian
late on the evening of that day, when we put to sea,
Pho. Phenk and Kha, Luang Woot Aknee came
attended Ly 27 men, 12 of whom we were obliged to
send back to Ligore, and motwithstanding all my
previous cautions they bronght with them several
Articles of provisions oljectionable to my Mahometan
Escort and Servants, 1 had however much cause to
fuel gratitude to yon for having permitted Captain
Maciarquhar and Sepoys from my own Regiment to
accompany me: not a single quarrel oceurred during
the whole voyage Detween the men of the Escort and
their Siamese fel

low passengers.

3. We experienced mmeh difficnlty in beating
against the North-East Monsoon towards the head of
the Gulf of Siam, and in spite of every exertion kept:
sight of the Western Coast wntil we made Puchpuri
or Phreepri hills on the 17th. Three days after
we succceded in Anchoring off the Bar of the
Menam River, when I immediately dispatched o
letter to the Chief of Paknam Village reporting
our arrival, and enclosing an open packet
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to the address of Chaw Pya Prali Klang. This
packet contained an address to the Prah-Klang, deseri-
bing very distinctly the object of my mission with o
copy of my eredentials, a list of the Crew people awd
Warlike Stores on board the Guardian and a particular
account of the Presents, which T had bronght for the

Xing, the Wang-na and the Prah-Klang himself and to
avoid as much as possible the interference of Native
Christinns at Banglkok, these papers were all written in
the Sinmese language, in which 1 had them carefully
prepared duving the voyage,

4. Onthe 21: a Pilot and 2 Interpreters from
the Capital came on board, and, as they had at fisst
declared, the Brig although drwing only 11 feet
water conld not cross the Bar before the height of
the Spring tides on the 20th on which day we
passed over finding only 114 feet water at the Bar.
Between that and the month of the river a distance
of 8 or 9 miles, the Vessel was taken for the most
part, and during the night tides only, through the
mud with o Quarter less 2 fathoms of Water.
We anchored off Paknam fort and village on the
28th, when a requisition was immedjately made for
the Vessel to land and deposit her guns. 1 had
previously leamed from Hunter, a member
of the firm of Messs. Morgans Bunter & Co, of
Singapore, who has been residing here for the last
15 months and who was permitted by the Prah
Klang to come down and visit ns whilst off the
Bar, that the Commander of the King of Sinm's
slitp had transmitted from Tringano the report which
we had heard there, of an English Armament
preparing at Singapore destined to attack Bangkok—
that this report had excited a strong sensation at
the Capital, and had led to the forts of Paknam
and Paklaat being repaived and  strengthened, and
that very peremptory orders had heen sent by the
Cowrt to the Chicf of Paknam toinsist upon the

>3
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delivery of our guns and to receive no exense.
Luang Packdee Sumbat also, an officer belonging
to the Governor of Ligor, who had been deputed to
Bangkok from Kedal with a veport of the Agreement
which that Chief had concluded with me. and who had
come down to meet me off the Bar, represented that
the present King prided himself much on an inflexible
adherence to his word, and that having once ordored
the guns to be landed, e would never cancel iis order.
I resisted the demand however and Luang Packdee
Sumbat beeame the bearer of severnl messages hetween
the Pral-Klang and wmyself until the 3d when the
Luang returned with a veport that the Prah-Klang
had at length been forved to submit the matter to the
King himself who had been pleased to declare, that
as the present Mission from the Governor General off
y important and grat

Bengal was charged witl v
communications he saw no objection to the Brig being
allowed to pass up to Bangkok with her six guns.
and have since had reason to
fon respecting the Guns was

1 suspected at the tin
lelieve, that the disen
purposely protracted, The Chief of Lig
at the Capital wero anxions that 1 should not arrive
there long Defore his Highuess, and the Prah-Klang
lad no objection to a little delay so that the house
which he was building for the accommodation of the
Mission might be completed. T did not regret the
as it gavo me an oppor-

res friends

discussion having taken place,
tunity of eariy assuming a high tone, and of assuring
the Siamese Ministers that the British Government
was not courting an alliance with Siam. The last
message 1 sent to the Prah-Klang stated. that if he
did not supply me with Boats or permit the Brig to
pass up to Bangkok with her Guns within 24 hours,
1 should take into consideration the propriety of withe
drawing the Mission altogether.

5. Whilst at Paknam the chief twice invited me
on shore, but I judged it prudent to remain on board
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stating in excusc, that my visiting the Fort would
give malicious persons an opportunity of saying that
1 had gone there for the purpose only of examining
the state of its fortifications, and that, at any rate, I
could not visit the Chief of Paknam until I ascertained
whether his Court would admit me to the Capital.
The Commander of the Guardian went on shore one
day, and was taken to the Chief within the fort. He
returned with no favorable account of the manners or
appearance of the Chief, nor of the state of the Works.
The person who was Chief at Paknam at the time of
Mr. Crawfurd's Mission is dead, and the present Chief,
named Pya Semut-thuk-pri-Kan, or Pya Paknam was
formerly the Belat or Deputy. He is described as
a low brid, coarse character, particularly avaricious.

6. Early on the 4 Instant, the Brig proceeded
up the ricer, and at 12 o'clock anchored off Mooung
Mai, or Mooung Lakhan Kheun Khun, opposite a
fort named in some Charts, “ Pegu Fort.,” Here we
were met by & deputation from the Capital, consisting
of Prah Racon, the Pral-Klang's second deputy Jose
Pediada the Captain of the Port, or Master Attendant,
Beneditto, another Native Christian, and the Wang-
no's Master Attendant, and several inferior Officers,
with a fleet of 8 or 9 large state-Boats, which had
been deputed to reecive chargo of the Right Honorable
the Governor General's letter to the King of Siam.
The boat which was to convey the letter much
resembled the representations given in Chaumonts
and La Loubere's works of the Boats that had received
the letters from the King of France, and the cup
in which the letter was to be placed although mean-
Jooking, being of a species of red wood with lozenges
of Mother of Pearl, was the same, I was assured, as
that in which the Emperor of China and King of
Cochin China’s letters are received. The Boat had 48
Paddles—it was preceeded by two boats with streamers
flying, and a band of music playing in each and
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the crews of these three hoats were all drossed in
Scarlet. T took care to deliver the Gov
General's Jetter with all possible parade. The Escorts
presented arms to it, whilst the Drum and Fifa
strnck up, and the Brig fived a saluto of 19 gunx.

i

7. One of the other state boats was offered
to e, in the event of my desiring to preceds
the Brig, which 1 was extremely anxions fo do. as
1 had heard that two dispatches to my address had
arrived at Bangkok from Mr Maingy the Commissioner
of Mergui and Tavoy. Accompanied therefore by
Captain Macfarquliae and Joxe Pedinda, 1 left. the
Brig at 1 o'Clock we did not reach Bangkok wuntil
& oClock at night. We were taken to the honsy
of the Prah-Klang,
stated that as the houss intended for the accom-

who, atter some  enguiries,

modation of +the  Mission was not completed. ho
had requested My Hunter to accommodate me in
his house to which I had provionsly hoen kindly
envited by Mr Hunter himself, and to wh
soon after shewn.  Shortly atter 1 lad retived the
Prah-Klang sent me a sealed dispatel that  had

h 1 was

ived at Bangkok three or four days efors from
+ Maingy. It was dated Morgai 8 Octoher and

it had been given in charga to Ny Tuan and some

other Servants of the Governor of Ligor who had
accompanicd Mr Maingy from Kedali  These Men,
1 learnt, had been dispatehed from Mergui with
Prah Tha-se and 8 or 9 Siamesa prisoners, whom
Mr. Maingy released.  They had come via Pakehan
to Chimpoun, where they sepemted Ny Tuan and
onw or two others went down to Lngol. and  the
remainder came up to Bangkok with my lotter,
and another addressed to the Prah-Klang. Having
Tearned throngh a private somve, that another dispateh
from Mr Maingy had reached Bangkok some days
before my arrival and that it had been opened
and its contents translated and read, 1 enquired
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for the same, and when the Officers of the Pk
Klang denied all knowledge of it, T was obligal
to pretend, from an unwillingness to endanger iy
secret informant, that the. dispatch that lad heen
delivered to me alluded to another, which having
been transmitted some days Defore must of course
have amived. At length the Dispateh in question
was bronght to me Open, with an excuse from the
Prah-Klang, that believing the letter i
me from a Burmese, it lhad been opened.  Thix
dispatch was  dated Tavoy 3 Novenber and L
learnt that the persons by whom Mr. Maingy lad
Torwaded it, had bzen detained by Pya Maha Ayothia,
and the letter only sent down to Bangkok.

wht have

«

B On the afternoon of the following day the
5 December, 1 had o long  conferance with the
Pral-Klang, who referring to a Siameso translation
of the Governor General's letter which 1 lad given
in. interrogated me much and had several of my
answors written down, as to the situation awd

particular names, which the Siamese language often

appears ineapable of expressing  accurately, of the
different Burmess towns eaptured by our Troops,
He appeared very incredulous on the subject of on
suecesses, which he conceived were only temporary
 treated the probability of our “Army reaching
the Capital of Ava, or of our forcing the Burmese to

acknowledge onr superiority as delusive 2
I mow delivered to him the letters from Yourself,
Mr. Secretary Swinton and Mr. Crawfurd with a
Siamese translation of Mr. Swinton's letter. When
the Db Klang understood what this last paper
was, lie asked how it was possible for me to have that
translation made seeing that M., Swinton's letter was
sealed. I replied that a copy of the letter had been
farniched to me,and 1 took this opportunity of
informing the Siamese Minister that [ could never
venture to break the Seal of his or any other
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person’s letter, and that in England we take the
liberty of hanging o man who commits such an
act. Ho locked grave, and began some exciises
for having opened the dispateh beforo mentioned
from Mr. Maingy when I stopped him short, by
stating that fortunately I had nothing in my letters
which 1 could wish to conceal from the Si
Court, to improve and cement friendship with which is
the only object of my Mission and that as it was
a very great outrage to open the Dispatelies of an
Ei
Kurope to be contrary to the laws of Nations, [ should
take particular care to report to my Government that
he had opened my letter entively throngh a mistake,
supposing, os he had told me he did, that it was a
Burmese Document. 1 hope this mode of communi-

mese

coy, such a proceeding having been decided in

cating my i s made some impression on the
mind of the Minister, as on the 8th he forwarded to
me immediately on its arrival a thind dispatch from
Mr, Maingy dated Tavoy 18th November. This
dispatch was given in charge to some followers of a
Siamese Chief at Chaiyok or Kiaoc, who forwarded
it. to Pya Maha Ayothia at Camburi or Cambuli,
whence it was sent down to Bangkok with anather
letter addressed by Mr. Maingy to the Prah-Klang.
At the above conference also, the Minister having
aekead me the purport of Mr. Maingy’s dispatches
1 stated that they related entirely to the cruel and
unjustifiable conduct of the subordinate Siamese
Officers, who had invaded the Districts of Tavoy and
Mergui after they had fallen into the possession of
the English, and had burnt and destroyed many
villages and carried away as prisoners many of the
Burmese inhabitants who are by right English sub-
jects, and whose immediate release I was bound to
demand. The Minister observed that many of these
Burmese, as he had learned, having friends and
relatives at Bangkok and other parts of the Siamese
territories, had voluntarily come over to them when
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the English took possession of Mergui aud Tuvoy.
1 pointed out to him, that such a statement coulid not
be reconciled with what Mr. Maingy reports of many
Burmese Towns and Villages having been phindered
and burnt, hundreds of their inhabitants having fled
into Mergni and Tavoy in the greatest state of distress
and miisery and that 1 possessed copies of Major
Frith's reports us to the conduct of the Py of
Chimpolnn which was most outrageous and which
would probably have browght on a war between the
Nations, it the Governor General
hiad not been satisfied that the Court of Siam would
attend to a proper representation from our Offcsrs
against that Pya. I stated that Me. Moingy lud
released 10 of the Siamese who had been seized and
confined at Mergui when making an unjustifiable
incursion into the Burmese territories in our possession
that the remaining Sinmese captives wero treated with
every indulgence, and that Mr. Maingy would release
the whole of thoso also, the moment the Burmeso
captives were veturned. T further stated, that the
Governor General had ondered me to apprize the
Siamese Court, that npon the Burmese, who had been
seized in the Provinces of Martaban, Tavoy and
Mergui since they fll into our possession, being
released, not only the Siameso Prisoners at Mergui,
but all such other Siamese as the Burmese had
formerly seized, would have free liberty to return to
their former homes, and I added that T had learned
from the Pya of Pungali, when visiting him in the
beginning of this year, that no less than 5000 Souls
had been carried away by the Burmese from Junkeeylon
alone in the year 1809, 1 pressed the subject with
many other Arguments upon the attention of the Prah-
Klang until T could see that he was much vexed and
embarrassed.  He was unable to give me any other
answer than that the King his Master had entirely
disapproved of the proccedings of the Chief of Clim-
pohun, who was still in confinement in the Palace,

English and Siam
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and that we should have an opportunity of
discussing the sulject.

9. Ou the following day the G: December
finding that the whole'Court was employed i tran-
slating and ing the different translations of the
letters which 1 had brought, and that the Mission
could not enter npon business until the Presents for
His Majesty were delivered, 1 veturned to the Bay at
Mooung Lakhon Khenn Khun, leaving Captain Mac-
favquhar at Bangkok., My retumn to the Vessel gave
me an opportunity of seeing more of the Menam,

which ix certainly one of the finest streams in the

world.  The Brig in wo

king up, repeatedly came so
close to the bank as to fore the brauches of trees into
the Stern Windows, and to excite much alarm that
she would ground, if the lead had not shewn 3, 6

and 7 fathoms of water. With the exception of ouly

one part, where a bank has Deen formed by the old
Duteh Factory ( Fort Amsterdam ) having fallen into
the stream, the Navigation from Paknam to Bangkok
ix five from all danger or difficulty. The Map of the
river given in Kempfer's History of Japan appears
extremely correct. Yet there is one remarkable feature
which that Map doss not exhibit, but which is said
to have always existed. It is a channel by which
a small boat can pass in five Minutes from ons

part of the viver to another, and by which a
distance of at least 10 or 12 Miles is saved. This
1 the

aling its  existence

passage is called Pak-laat. a Siamese  avs

said to be desitous of eone

from the Knowledge of Enropeans. Its lower
cutrance is a little above Pegn fort on the right
bank of the strenm and the portion of the river
it cuts off may be readily seen in Kempfer's Map
at the place marked * Buffuloes Field.” About half
way the passage is intersectel by a Brick Wall,
over which a small boat may be easily drawn, and
the C der of the Guawlian had no di y
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in possing over it in his jolly boat. The passige
is not enlarged, and the Wall is placed within it,
becanse the sea during the South-West Monsomn
would flow up the Bagkok and deprive the
inhabitants of fresh water.

10. At Paknam since Mr. Crawfurd’s Mission
the fort on the left bank has been much enlarged
—immediately opposite to it another fort has heen
built on the right bank and between thess two,
about 100 yawds from the right bank, a halt-Moon
battery of about 40 Guns in two tiers has heon
constructed in the' viver. The channel betwesn the
river fort and that on the right bank has been
shut np to all but boats of the smallest size by
stones thrown into it. All these forts wore vecently
repaired when the report of ouwr hostile prepavations
at Singapore Arvived at Bangkok and the Guns of
every Chinese Junk or other native Vessel wuers
put into requisition and mounted within them. The
viver fort is constructed upon a foundation of loose
stones, and the nction of the stream has once or
twice thrown down portions of the work, & promixes
woon to throw the wholo down. [ need scarcely
state, that all these forts are too insignificant to
stand for a moment the attack of a European power.
Abont 8 ar 9 Miles above Paknam, the defences
appear more respectable. That on the left bank ix
rometimes called the Pegn fort but I learn that
it is garrisoned by men from Laos, and that it ix
usually called here the Lao Fort. There is another
extensive Work on the right bank, having at one
point three tiers of Guns. The latter is surrounded by
a large Village which was called Mooung Mai or new
Town but lately named named Mooung Lakhon
Kheun Khun. The inhabitants of the Village and
immediately around it are eaid to amount to 10,000
Souls, and to be for the most part Peguers, who have
emigrated from the Burmes2 dominions, Paknam is
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y under the jurisdiction of the Pradi-Klug,
and the Forts at Paklaat. under that of the Wa
The Governor of Moounyg Lakhon Kheun Kl is |1u~
Chow Pya Maha Ayothis. who was negotinting
in the beginning of the year with Colunel Smith at
Martaban and who is now gone again in that direction

3 -

with an Army of Pegn Emigrants,

11, 1 retwened with the Brig to Bangkok on
the morning of the 10 : Instant, and took possession of
the house mul Offices which have Leen constructed
fur the Mission.  Although from the haste with whicl
these buildings weve put up and the nuskiltuliess of
Siamese Artificers, our house is not very comfortable,
~Hll the situation is open and not so immediately
under the surveillance of the Prab-Klang. as that
which Mr. Crawfurd occupied being higher up the
river, near the Christian Campong.  And | am assuved
that the Siamese consider the very circumstance ot
building a new louse for us, as a greater compliment
than if they had assigned o honse of Gold for our
accommodation.

12. During my absence Captu. Macfarqubar
gatheved from  the Portuguese Consul aml other
soutces that the Envoys who had lately been here from
Cochiin China, were wlmitted with their boats into the
rayal presence, and that we should esperience the
utmost difficulty in persuading the Court to release
the Burmese prisoners taken in the  district
of Tavoy and Mergui. Upon further enquiry
I found, that the very expression, * going to
catch Burmahs,” used by the Siamese when their
Armies are sent towards the Burmese frontiers,
strikingly illustrates their idea of Warfare—that
prisoners thus made ave employed, as we employ
convicts, being mostly put in irons and allotted to
Public Officers who have an interest in retaining
them, or employed on Public works—that the forts
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at Paknam and Paklaat were built and again all
lately repaired as I have before mentioned by thesa
Burmese pri and that wl an additional
number of hands is required at the Capital to
complete any public work with expedition, ns was
recently required for the preparations of the late
Kings funeral, an order is sent into the interior for
an additional party to be sent in. The labour of
these prisoners is much more available than that of
lazy Siomese subjects and hence their value is
considered as much greater than that of the Siamese
Captives in our hands. Besides it has been said
here, 1 learnt, if the return of the Captives on ecither
side bs made optional, those in our hands and
particularly those captured by the Burmese in former
times, would prefer remaining where they are and
where their labour and industry ave their own, to
returning to the Service which the King and their
own Chiefs would require from them, whilst the
Burmese Captives in the hands of the Siamese, would
be happy, for the same reason, to be released and
allowed to join our Government. I may hero also
mention, that the Cochin Chinese Envoys declined
to receive any presents in return for those which
they had brought, upon the plea that what they had
brought were only articles intended to assist at tho
funeral of the late King, and that this proceeding on
the part of the Cochin Chinese had led to an opinion
on the part of the Subordinate Siamese Officers, which
was however incorrect, that the Envoys had left this
Court with unfriendly Sentiments.

13. On the evening of the 11th I had again
a long conference with the Prah Klang, who was
assisted by his Deputy, styled Pya Phi-phut, by a
Native of the Coast of Coromandel Pya Chuls,
and his Son Radsithi, and by several other Siamese
Officers. I was now informed that this Court had
about two months ago decided upon co-operating
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with the British Army against the Burmese, that
it had instructed Chow Pya Maha Ayothia to
communicate this decision to Colonel Smith at
Martaban, but at the same time to declare, that
the Siamese Co-operation wonld depend wpon their
Ay being fiest allowed to occupy Tavoy and
Martaban, as the occupation of those places was
vasential to their Troops to serve them ns poin{s
@appui and depits for Stores and provisions. 1
observed that T lind been divected hy the Right
Honble.  the Governor General in Council to point
ont to the Siamese Court, that it is open to their
Troops to attack any part of the Burmese dominions
feom their North West frontier, which appeared to
me a better point whenco to commence their attack,
than Martahan and Tavoy—these places particularly the
latter, being so far distant from the scene of Warfare,
The Prah Klang replied that there is plenty of time
Defore us, and that a Siamese Avmy should move
from Chenng Mai also towards the Capital of Ava
Dut that at the first brenking out of the war, the
Siamese Cowrt had dec
of Martaban which intention we had anticipated, and
that their Avny could be of the greatest use in
moving towards Toonghoo or Taund, as they had
and urgent rey i

trom Peguers at Martaban, that whilst the British
roops are engaged on the line of the Irrawuddy,
the Burmese are at liberty to the FEastward,
and  have comz down in force to Kinuk-Kri,
whence they ave threatning Pegu and even Rangoon
after much diffieulty T ascertained that the Siamese
Court desired not the temporary occupation but the
permanent possession of the whole of the Provinces of
Tavoy and Martaban, the latter of which they said
vonsisted of 32 Towns the names of which they could
give me. I was next shewn a letter in the Burmese
langnage signed * Robert Fenwick commanding at
Martaban ™ which the Minister said had been just

ed upon taking possession

received recent i
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received and a Siamese translation of which he had
interpreted to me. It was addvessed to Chow Pya
Maha Ayothia in acknowledy of & i

tion from him proposing to oceupy Tavoy and Martahan,
whicl communivation the writer said, had been for-
warded to the British Commander in Chicf, and it
conclwled with an expression, of which the Minister
mado more than what my Interpreters told me the
actual wonls warranted, as to the writer's wish, that
the Siamese Army would amive at Martaban quickly.
1 declarel that I thought the proposition very
inconsistent which requived us to make so large s
vession to them, now that our Troops hadl suceeeded
in effecting s0 much and in approaching the Capital
of Ava itself and that at any rate 1 requested the
Minister wonld allow. me to send a Dispateh to
Martaban to ascertain the wishes of the
in Chief of the Rritish Troops, hafors | encouraged
this Court to move Chow Pya Maha Ayothia’s Aviny
towanls Martaban, 1 was shewn a Bormese, who
was the bearer or the above letter, and who at my
regquest was aent to my house on the following day—
He then informed me that his name is (ha-Kn-tan
that Jie hadd areived three days before with the letter
which the Pl Klang had shewn me—that he was
18 days travelling from Martaban to Bangkok, throngh
Uttran, Chaiyok amd Cambud, that at this last place he
met Chow Pya Maha Ayothia with a foree of about G000
Men moving towanls Martaban—that three days after
Tie had left: Martaban, he met a Pegner trom Rangoon
who informed him that the Burmase had coms down
to Kiauk-Kvi aml were threatning Rangoon and that
the Armistice between  the English and  Buvmess
forces had terminated in a horrible ast of treach
on the part of the Burmese.  Some acconnts of this

Jommander

treachery was brought to me before T had seen tha
Prah Klang on the 11th Instant. It was stated that
when an English depatation escorted Ly only 500 men
had arrived at the spot appointed to meet a Burmeso
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deputation, in order to settlo the terms of n Treaty of
peace, our detachment was surrounded and cut to
pieces by an overpowering Burmese force,

14. At the conference on the 11 : and by some
subsequent enquiries from other sources I derived
the following information respecting the diffurent
Sinmese Chiefs, and their detachments who have been
in communication with our Officers, Chow Pya ® Mala
Ayothin was first sent from Bangkok with an Army
of Pegu Emigrants which was joined by a force of
Abasses under Maha Ugina. The former opened
the Negotiation with Sir Archibald Campbell and
continued it with Colonel Smith at Martaban, it is
said here, with overy sincerity : but Maha Ugina, the
Chief of the Abasses, refused to go over to Martaban
and put himself under the dircction of the English.
The Prah Klang's former Deputy, Pya Phi-phut,
during this schism joined Maha Ayothia’s Avmy from
Bang Kok, and jealous of the Chicf forced the Camp
to break up, and the Pegu force to vetire, for which
conduct that Pya Phe-phut would have been severely
punished, if he liad not died shortly after his return to
Bangkok. Mala Ayothia's brother, Pya Purm, was
lastly sent to recall tho Pogu force to Bangkok to
to assist at the latz King's funeral.  Martaban
is considered by the Siamese' as the most valuable
place on the Western Sea, and from the large body
of Pegu Emigrants now residing within the Siamese
territories, it is believed that through their means
the possession of that Province would be most
ensily retained by this Government, Pya Surrasina
was gent with a Siamese force to the frontiers of
Tavoy, and it was he that forwarded to Major
Balmain tho letter® from Paumzeek which is
the Burmese name for the Siamese Menam-Noi, a
north western branch of the MeKlong River. That
letter proves to have been written by the Ministers
at Bangkok who alone are styled Sinabudi. Pya
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Swrrasina returned to the Capital with the intelligence
that he had communicated with a British Officer
on the frontiers of Tavoy, who desired to accompany
him to Bangkok, hut that he had recommended him
to wait until he the Pya, had reported the cirenmstance
to the Comt of Siam. DPya Surrasinn died shortly
after his return here, and nothing farther was ever
heand of the British Officer. Pya Chimpoliun was
onlered to the Capital and confined upon  the
information  of one of his own fullowers, who
acknowledged that the Siamsse had procoeded buyond
their own frontier and within our known jurisdiction.
Pya Chimpohun was supercedsd by the Wang-nai
Prah Klang Pya Kray, who is now at Chimpohuu.
and who having made several trading Voyages to
Prince of Wales Island is said to be well acquainted
with the English.  Mr. Maingy is most probably
personally kuown to lim. His former title was
Luang Thep-Sena.

15. The Siamese Court do not yet believe it possible
that the English can sublue the Burmese, and no
account that any British Officer has sent to it has over
received a moments credit. Even their own spies and
subjects are afraid to report all they learn on the
frontiers, confident that the Court will not credit them.
For a long time the Court would not believe a word of
our successes, and at length when the truth was forced
upon it, Maha Ayothia was sent towards Martaban
with two Sets of Dispatches, to be used according
as he might find the Burmese or the English the
victorious party. The King of Ava has written
more than once to the King of Siam during the
present War. The first letter offered, as we had
before heard at Prince of Wales Island, to assist at
the funeral of the late King. The second arrived
only three months ago. In this the King of Ava
Dbesought the King of Siam to be neutral in the War,
stating that the English had suddenly, it is true
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possessed themeelves of many parts of his dominions
but that they will never reach his Capital. awl that
the Burmese will soon expel them from all the places
they have taken, if the Siamese only keep neutral.
This information is implicitly credited by the Siamese
Ministers, who, I am convinced, never intended, nor
do they yet intend, to take any other step in the
present War, than to see what benefit they can
cuietly eizs for themselves. However inimical to the
Burmese, they have never bean traly desirous of om
success. A regard for their common religion, as
well as a strong jealonsy of our power, makes them
now anxious to see the war concluded. I am sorry
also to report that a very unfavorable impression has
been excited against us by the reports brought hems
by Siamese and Peguers, of English Officers residing
in Pagodas and of the images in them being
plundered, The King of Siam answered His Burmess
Mujesty’s letters, and I am told with an assurance
that it would be impossible for the English to subdne
Ava, unacquainted as they ars with the trae religion.

16. At the conference on the 11th instant I
again urged the Prah Klang on the subject of the
Burmese Captives, and 1 fairly told him, that he
could not be ignorant that the principal cause of our
present War with the Burmese avose from their hav-
ing entered our territories and killed and carried away
the subjects of the British Government, in which
light all Burmese taken after Tavoy and Mergui fell
into our possession wonld, and must be considered by
us, He again evinced much vexation and dissatisfac-
tion and observed that His Majesty had not put irons
on these Captives, and had, in fact, already told such
of them to return as desired it. 1 pointed out the
absurdity of telling poor men, who were several
hundreds of miles distant from their homes, that they
might return, destitute as they must be of all means
of returning and travelling such a distance, and I
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at length obtained & promise from him, that he would
take an opportunity that night of snbmitting the
nmatter to the King, and of informing Hix Majesty,
that no proof of the friendly disposition of the Siames:
wonld be so acceptable to the Governor General, as thn
return of the Burmese Captives, He added however,
that whenever we had conquered Ava the whole of
the Burmese prisoners in Siam woald be released, and
I discovered that one great objection, which the Conrt;
has to release these men, arises from its full helief
that according to the King of Ava's declavation, wo
shall soon be expelled from the Country of these
Captives, in which case emancipation would only
deprive the Siamese of so many labourers. On the
following day 1 was happy to find that the Pral
Klang had fulfilled his promise, a3 I learnt from
private eource, that the Wang-nn had baen dasived
Ly the King to give the subject his deliberation,

17. Onthe 13: and 14th : I had long conferencax
with the Prah Klaug assisted by Pya Phe-phut, Pya
Chula and other Siamese Chiefs as to the ceremony
to be observed at my presentation to the King. 1t
was at first attempted to make wme balieve that Mr.
Crawfard had made the same prostrations as a Siames
before the lats King. I objected to the ramoval of
our ehoes, statinz that I understood such a caramony
had been dispens:d with in regard to the Cochin
Chinese Envoy, that whilst a native of India pulls off’
his shoes in token of respect, a Europzan takas off hix
hat, and that therefore if our shoes were removed wo
should of course keep on our hats. I found Pya
Chula and his Son much more partinacious on thess
points than any of the Siamese and I was obliged to
silence them, by declaring that if our shoes were
removed I ehonld insist upon their turbands being
taken off. I pressed the matter as to the production
of the Governor General's letter at the Audiencs
stating that I had delivered it to the Prah Klang for
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the purpose of enabling the Court to be well apprized
before hand of its contents, but that unless I saw it
again before the King, I should doubt whethor the
very letter which I had bronght had heen presented to
Hiy Majesty. 1 requested to deliver it into the hand<
of the King, explaining that su
new in Siam, as the former French Embassador hal
performed it. The Prah Klang observed. that His
Majesty’s throne was too high to render it possible for
me to deliver the letterinto his own hands, and that a<
all the Ministers and Court would be Iying prostrate
several yavds distant from the throne,
them exceedingly to seo me stand up and appronch close
to His Maje
objection to furnish us with Elephants to convey s to
the Palace but stated that as these an
seldom rode Tiere, ho would not answer for their
good conduct, and therefore recommended s to take
Lorses, which he assured us persons of the first
distinction at Bangkok used, and particularly on

I o ceromony was not

woull shock

The Minister seemed to have no

nals are very

oceasions of ceremony as in the late instance of the
King's funeral. 1 had however found Mr. Crawfard's
inform ints, that
I declined the lorses for Captain Mactarquhar and
myself aud proposed that the Minister should furnish
us with men to carry us in two chairs which we
shonld fit out acconding to our ideas of state, to whicl
neither the Cochin Chinese Hammock nor Siamess
letter (1ic) correspouds. At length the Minister
desired me to put down upon paper the forms which
L would propose for tho ceremony of my reception
in onder that the rest of the Ministers might take
them into consideration. 1 gladly availed myself of
this reference to writing, and on the next day
presented to the Minister o Memorial, which I had
translated into the Siamese language, describing the
forms that were most proper in my opinion to be
adopted.  Almost all my propositions were acceded to,
with one condition that wo should once make the

ion so extremely accurate on all )
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same kind of Siamese obeisance as that made by Mr.
Crawfurd and as this consisted merely in our joming
our hands and raising them to tho forehead, I
readily engaged to perform it. Pya Chula and Radsethi
again started objections, although the Prali Klang
consented, to my Interpreter Mr. Abraham Poons,
accompanied (sic) me before the King. I distinetly told
the former, that rather than put myself so completely
in the power of strangers, as to trust solely to their
interpretations of what the King might be pleasad to
observe, or what 1 might wish to say, I shonld deeline
the honor of the Audience altogether, The Minister
asked me, how many Gentlemen were to accompany
me. I replied that according to our Notions, the mora
persons attending such a ceremony, the greater is the
vespectindicaterd, and 1 would propose therefore that
besides  Captain Macfarqubar and my Interpreter,
I should be attended by Captain Sutherland the
Commander of the Guardian and Mr. Hunter, who
had been introduced to the notice of the Prah Klang
Iy the Resident of Singapore. To this last Gentleman
the Prah Klang at first objected, stating that he is
anly a Merchant, but 1 explain=1 that Merchants in
Europe are men of the first distinetion and often
richer than Princes, and that as 1 had heard every
Petty Surat or other Native Merchant, who visits
Bangkok, is introduced to the King, Twas of course
desirous that the same honor should be received by
Mr. Hunter, and that the King should become better
acquainted with  British Merchants, upon whose
account indeed ix the British Government principally
arixious to cultivate a more friendly intercourse with
Siam. The Minister enquired whether I did not
intend my Son, a boy of Six years of age, to accom-
pany me. I replied that he is quite a child and that
e has come in no public capacity but that if His
Majesty desired to see him I shonld of course be proud
of the honor of introducing him. 1 was told that the
King had directed the Boy to be brought hefore him.
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18. During the night of the 15: 1 prepared a
short address of what appeared necessary to he xaid by
me to His Majesty at the Andience. In it 1 tendered
to him the cordial congratulations of the Right Hon-
orable the Governor General and the English Na-
tion, upon his accession to the throne—detailed. as
succinetly as possible, the object of my )
remarking, that friendship and commerce are all
that the British Government desire from the Siam-
ese and further believing that the jersonal
interest of the Ministers prevented their repeating
to His Majesty all that 1 had represented on tlio
subject of the Burmese prisoners, I concluded my
address with a very strong appeal in favor of these
men. I had at the same time a Siamese translation
of this address secretly prepared by one of the King's
own Interpreters, and I aunexed it to the English
copy. 1 was assured that if I read this address beforn
His Majesty and laid it by the side of the Governor
General's letter, the King wonld e certain of seeing
it, and perhaps of calling for the Siamese translation
to he read on the spot The King, I was told,
possessed too much intelligence not to acknowledgs
its justice and propriety, immediately that he fully
understood the nature of my representation respecting
the Burmese Captives.

ion,

19. Early on the morning of the 16 Tustant tho
day fixed for our introduction to the King, the
Governor General's letter was brought to me, and at
10 4.3t we left the houss in four boats. The first
conveyed the Sepoys and their drum and fife. Thy
second Captain Macfarquhar, my Interpreter, and
myself, with the Public Letter. The third our clairs
of ceremony, and the fourth Captain Sutherland,
Wr. Hunter and a band of Siamese Music. Wa wero
filiowed by two or three hundred small boats with
Siamess Officers, and those whom curiosity hal
hrought to witness the Scene, which we attempted to
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make as imposing as possible. On onr avrival at the
oppsite side of the river, Captain Mactarquhar and
myself got into our chairs and the vest of the
Gentlemen mounted the small horses which were
in waiting with tolerably decent appointments. \We
proceeded thus, accompanied by Jose Pedindo and
Beneditto, as far as the gateway of the second Court,
where the Native Christinns only pulled off theiv
Shoes and Stockings whilst we were requested to
dismount, to leave our Sepoys and walk a short distancs
into a Hall in which we found Pya Phiphut, Pya
Chula and his son and other Siamese Officers in
waiting, with several state Elephants standing outside.
We were detained in this Hall for about half an
hour, and then summoned into the presence of
the King, who we were informed lad taken hix
seat on the throne. We passed through a baly
of Siamese Troops seated on their Hams within a
railing each side of the road, which was lined by
2 or 800 Drums and other instruments that playwl
a grave tune. At the door of the Hall of Audience,
Pidiada, Beneditto and all onr Siamese attendants
fell on their Knees and fore-arms, in which posturs
they moved before and on each side of ms. The
moment we entered and saw the King, which we
could not immediately do, as lie was seated on a
throne 10 or 12 feet high at the farther end of
the Hall, which appeared to have been purposely
darkened, wo made three profound bows, whilst
the Siamese struck their heads on the ground, and
raised their hands joined to their foreheads the
same number of times. We then moved on,
preceded by Pya Phi phut and Pya Chula about
twenty paces where we again bowed, and the
Siamese made their obeisances three times. We then
set down on the Carpet which covered the floor.
Pya Phi phut was lying abont 8 paces before me,
and between us Pya Chuls, Pedisda was on my
left—my own Interpreter immediately hehind me—
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Captain Macfarqubar on my right, and next to him
were Beneditto and Radsitha. The rest of the
Gentlemen sat behind us, whilst a little before and
on the left of us, the Public presents which
we had brought were all arranged. At a signal
from Pya Phe-phut, I rose holding the Governor
General s letter over my head, and advancing G or
8 paces beyond that Pya, where a Gold Vase had
heen placed, I deposited the letter upon it. and
then taking out the English address, which [ had
prepared, read it out with a loud voice and placing
it by the side of the Governor General's letter,
vetired to my seat, keeping my face towanls the
King. The whole of the English Gentlemen then,
as had been previously settled, joinel their lands
and raised them three times against the forehead.
His Majesty desired that we should approach him
nearer, and we were moved 8 or 10 paces in advance.
Pya Phi phut then read out a list of the presents,
and a complimentary speech which he had prepaved
in my mname, The first questions His Majesty
asked were, whether I had come from the same
Governor General who had deputed Mr. Crawfurd
to Siam, and how long the present Governor General
liad been in India. He next demanded *what is
the object of your coming here and of the Governor
Gieneral of Bengul sending me these presents,” I
replied that the presents were tokens of friendship
and good will, and that I Lad Leen deputed to
His Majesty to tender to him the congratulations
of the Right Honble. the Governor General of Indis,
upon his accession to the great throne of Siam, to
cement friendship between the Siamese and English
Nations, and to submit propositions for improving the
wealth and commerce of both countries. Fearing that
the King had not noticed that a Siamese translation
was annexed to my English address and desirous of
having it then read if possible, I added that, that
paper explained the objects of my Mission and I
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rose and delivered it into the hauds of Pya Cliula,
The King directing the paper to be given to the
Prah Klang observed “I am much obliged to the
Ciovernor General.”  The King then demanded,
what is the cause of the present War between the
English and Burmese” 1 took care to shape my reply
0 as to bear on the subject of the Burmese Captives,
and said that the Burmese had made unjustifiable
incursions into our territories, had burnt and des-
troyed some places on our Chittagong frontier, and
had carried away some of our subjects. His Majesty
asked if the war had commenced before or since the
arrival of the present Governor General and observed
that the Burmese arv old enemies of the Siamese, and
that he is happy to hear of the present War, Ho
next asked, if the War is difficult. T answered that it
is difficult wherever the enemy can take advantage of
their woods and swamps. His Majesty desired us again
to approach him cluser, and we were moved 6 or §
paces forward, He then enquired if T had learnt
whether the populous nation to the North of Ava are
coming down to assist the Burmese—and on my
replying that I had not, he observed that thero are
now at Bangkok several Laos Chiefs whom [ may see
and interrogate on the subject. The King then acked
if 1 proposed to wait Lere until the arrival of the
Governor of Ligor, and I replied that T did, as 1 had
some affairs to submit to the consideration of His
Majesty in conjunction with that Chief. He next
enquired after the health of the Governor General,
and of the King of England, and in replying to the
latter question I took occasion to state that Great
Britain was never in a more flourishing condition
than at present. He then asked how many years 1
had been in India, and when it was my intention to
return to England and enquired of the Prah Klang,
whether Mr. Crawfurd or 1 am the higher Officer.
The Prah Klang answered, that Mr. Crawfurd is
a Captain of Merchants, and I o Captain of
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Soldiers. The King demanded, whether every
English Minister and Officer is mot obliged to
go to war in the same manmer as those of the
Siamese and Burmese Nations. [ replied that our
Officers are divided in some respects in the samo
manner as the Chinese, into Mandarins of Letters
and Military Mandarins, and that war is the business
of our Military Officers. The King then directed, that
whatever I had to say respecting trade or any other
matter 1 should communicate to the Prah Klang, to
whose best attention he was further pleased to recom-
mend us in very strong terms. He took particular
notice of my Son—asked his age and where he was
horn, and at the close of the Audience, the Prah Klang
presented to the Boy a number of Toys and other
Articles, which the King had ordered to be prepared
for him. A Siamese Officer beaving an instrument
in the shape of a sceptre, and seated on the floor a
little in advance of Pya Phe phut, then rose upon his
Knees and made three obeisances to the King, who
took up his Kris, and a noise like the stroke of a wand
was heard, at which Cnrtains of Gold Cloth wer
quickly drawn before the King's throne. The whole
of the Siamese when made the usual obeisances
towards the Curtains.

20, Iwmediately below the King's throne wero
seated the Princes of the blood. On each side wero
the principal Ministers according to their relative
ranks. The first two persons on the King's right
were the Yomarat and Kalahom, and on the left the
Chakri and Prah Klang. There were several Chinese
and Cochin Chinese, and we noticed particularly soma
Laos Officers who were richly dressed and much
resembled, in the opinion of Captain Macfarquhar the
Goorkha Chiefs. After the Audience we were taken
to seethe white Elephant, and one or two of the
Temples, and returned home with the same state as
we had set out.
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21. The King appeared to us to bear a strong
vesemblance to the King of Ligor—he had no crown,
which T am assured he never wears excepting on the
day of his Coronation. He wore no (sic) loose trans-
parent muslin dress over his rich Cloths of Gold in the
same manuer as the Conrtiers covered their surat Kim
Khaul vests, and his fingers displayed a profusion of
diamond rings. The Hall of Audience appeared 120
feet long by G0 broad and about 40 feet high. Even
after we had the last time been desired to approach,
we were perhaps 40 feet distant from the throne, I
must own that although the dresses of the King and
his Ministers wers rich, the fout ensemble much
disappointed me, There was a kind of second hanil
finery i the hall of Audience, which displayed not
one handsome lustre, whilst to each pillar was fixed
a large Chinese painting on glass of a European
Officer or Lady. The throne is in shape like a hoat
placed upon a platform with a small Canopy  the
wholo covered with gold. The Concourse of Specta-
tors which flocked around us, joined to the Soldiers
and other attendants about the Palace, was very
great. At our entranco into the Hall of Audience
we conld scarcely move from the number of Courtiers
and other Officers who were Iying prostrate on the
ground. The King's questions were repeated by Pya
Phi phut to Pyn Chula, who repeated them to Joso
Pediada, who interpreted them to me in English.
Having my own interpreter immediately behind me,
I often understood the King's question long before
it reached me through the Official Channels. My
veplies were taken in the same manner to Pya Phe
phut, who made them much longer by first repeating
all the Kings titles stating that his great Excellent
and infallible Majesty had been pleased to ask such
& question, to which T begged with all humiliation, to
submit such an answer. Nothing however can be
more ptible than the app of the Sol-
diers, and I cannot credit what however the Native
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Christians assured me was the case, that the Soldiers
we saw on this day were the King's body guand,
and some of his best description of Troops. They
wero a poor, thin ill set race, many of them with
old Sepoys coats. Their Muskets were old. rusty
Arms held in every possible way, aud as to accontrem-
ents they had scarcely any. The most formidable
lidy of Troups consisted of a party of stont able
bodied men each amed with o thick stick, The
Siamese Soldier when detached against the Burmese
frontiors is spplied, T am informed, with a Musket,
s Bamboo full of rice and a hos, with which last
instrument he dige o hole for himself, in which
ho sits concealed until some of the enemy come

near enough to be surprised.

22, In the course of the same day the materinls
were furnished us for a handsome dinner in the
name of the King, and in the evening according
to established custom, 2 Catties of Silver, a sum of
240 Ticals, were sent to me for the purpose of
defraying the Bazar expeuses of the Mission, [
veturned the Money with a message that I desired
first to communicate with the Prah Klang on this
subject, and on the following day the 17: 1 mentioned
to him that if His Majesty insisted upon it I wax
. but as the King had

willing to veceive the mo
heen pleased to permit me to follow some European
Customs I hoped he would grant me the further indul-
gence to decline receiving this money such a payment
was not only unpleasant to European feclings, but
burthensome to the state which receives a public
Mission. The Prah Klang =aid that as the King
had ordered the money to be sent it could not
possibly be declined without giving great offence,
and that I had better take it He promised however
to report what I had said to the King, and on the
following day 1 judged it best to accept the money,
and carry it to the public Account.
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23. On the evening of the 17: the Prah Klang
referring to the address whichi 1 had spoken before the
King, said that he saw I was annoyed at the Sinmese
translation not heing read at the time, but that it was
impossible.  According to the laws of the realm no
writing can be laid before the King until after it has
undergone a careful examination by the Ministers,
and 1o one could answer for my paper not containing
some expressions or passages highly improper to be
read out before the King. I said that T had taken
great pains to bo assured that my paper contained
nothing improper, and that 1 was only anxious that
its contents should at some time or other bo com=
municated to the King. The Prah Klang observed
that the paper certainly contained nothing improper,
and that he would lay it that night before the King.
Lfind, as I had previously been lod to expect, that the
King sceing my anxiety to bring that paper to his
notice ordered the Pral Klang to lay it before him.
The Pral Klang then stated, that in my address
to the King, [ had referred to the subject of the
Burmese prisoners hut that this was unnecessary,
as His Majesty had ordered them all to be released.
I now began to hope that my representations on this
subject could no longer be evaded, and after some
further discussions 1 brought the Minister to agroe,
that 1 should immediately send a dispatech to Mr,
Maingy by one of my own Servants requesting him
to send as particalar a list and description as he
possibly could, of the prisoners taken at Tavoy and
Mergui, that the whole of them should be accounted
for to me, and that such as desired to return, should
be conveyed to ths frontiers of Tavoy and Mergui
where a party from Mr. Maingy should mest to take
charge of them. T fear it will be extremely difficult
for Mr. Maingy to prepare such a list, and yet
without it I know not how T can check the Account
given me by the Siameso Officers, Begides, the
Prah Klang dsclares he cannot tell me exactly
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what wmmber of Captives was made. I am
by several seeret informants that the Court of
ix wincero in its intention to (sic) releasing thess
men, and [ own [ am inclined to believe it so.

24, During the forcgoing evening the Prah
Klang acquainted me, that the King had done me
inusually great honor at the Audience in having
twive desived me to approach him nearer. and in
er

having spoken to me much more than what
done by a King of Kiam even to a Cochin (!
Embasendor, and  further, that His Majesty s
exvendingly pleased at the answer in which T adwitted
that the Burmese War is diffienlt, wherever the Enemy
can take advantage of their woods and swaps,
ng the same as a proof of my trth wnd

1 learnt also, that His Majesty hias expresscsl

nese

conside

futeyrity
his desive of soon granting me a second Audience.

25, Respecting the present Monareh all acconnts
confirm the high chancter which Mr. Crawfurd gave
lim as Krom Chiat, for talent and intelligence.
He is now 38 years of age. and he is said to attend
very much more than the late King to the conduct
of public business. The active personal interest
which he takes in all affairs of the Kingdom has
rendered him generally popular.  His accession to
the throne was effected without the slightest hlood
shed, and with the full consent of the Ministers and
all the other Princes who considered him much more
qualified to succeed than the legitimate Son, Chow Fa
of the late King, to whom lie ix infinitely superior in
Jjudgement and ability, Even Chow Fa and his mother
«quietly submitted to the arrangement, and the former
has entered into the order of Priesthood without
possessing, I am assured, the shadow of a party in op-
position to the present King. The first day the King
ascended the throne he made a public declaration that
his tather had spent many millions within the palace,
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but that he would not spend a quarter of the s,
and that lie was determined ot to be a King-Merchant
and not to maintain any monopolies but permit a
geveral free trade. The trath is, that the present
Monarch of (sic) the Prah Klang were joinel
with the late King in all commercial fransac=
tions, and that then, basides other practices, the
losses were always carried to the share of the
King.  Aware of these practices, it is said the
present King is now resolved not to su by
them himself.  But 1 shall take a fature oppor-
tunity of submitting to yon the information which
L have collected respecting the Present sta
meree at this Capital. | early possessed ve
advantages in the experience which Mr. Hunter and
Mr. Malloch had acquired during their residence here
for the last 15 Months, and the fruits of which
experience they most liberally and readily con

i
eated to e, Tho Portugueso Consul also, Mr.
Silveria was permitted, and even rquested by the
Prali Klangs to visit me bafore my presentation to the
found his Gentleman as kind and

King and 1 hav
as useful as Mr. Crawfurd reported him to be.  Ha
is now residing here under scarcely any public
ter, his own Government of (os having .,mm
neglected him, whilst not a single Vessel under
Portuguese colours has visited this port during the
7 years. He supports himself by a little trade,
and he is forced to submit to many unpleasant services
that the Conrt required of him. All letters in the
English language are sent to him to be translated
into the DPortuguese tongue, from which Jos
Pediada translates them into the Siamese, My dis-
ratehes from Tavoy were thus translated, and 1 availed
myself of the same means of procuring correct
Siamesa Versions of the Memorial aml address which
are above mentioned.

fast

26. On the 19th Instant we were presented



[32]

to the Wang na with the same state and ceremony
as at our presontation to the King, excepting that
instead of thrice we performed only ouce at each
timo the European and Siamese obeisances and
perhaps the number of attendants and spectators
oxceeded that which we saw on the 16th.  The
Wang na was also seated -upon a throne and his
Court and Hall of Audience were the Connter parts
of the King's. His Palace is a littlo higher than
the King's on the same side of the river, and
Lis power in the state appears very nearly ns great
as the King's having his own Ministers, Chakri,
Kalahom, and Prah Klang. Hence e is called by
the Native Christians the second King. My address
to the King must have pleased, as the Officers of
tho Wang na camo to mo and requested that T
would speak an address before their Mastor also and
I gratified them by reading a short complimentary
speech when introduced. The King's Prah Klang
was in ottendance at the Wang na's Court and
lying in the same abject posture as before his own
Master. The Wang na put to me precisely the same
questions, and almost precisely in the same order.
as those that the King had put, adding only an
enquiry, whether the present Governor of Penang
las not mewly taken charge. The Wang na's Pralt
Klang, Pya Kray, is, as 1 have before mentioned,
at Chimpahun, mid to Pya We soot, who is the Pya
Phe phut but is now acting for Pya Kmy, T was
referred by the Wang na for all matters of business.
The Wang na formerly styled Kroom sak is a
brother of the late Monarchs, and his mother is
the Governor of Ligores Sister. He exercises an
especial superintendance over the southern and parti-
cularly the malayan states, and he is described as a
very benevolent, good humoured man, partial to
Europeans and to Native Christians. Ho was drest
very much like the King, and appeared to us an
unusually large portly figure. During the Audience
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the Wang-na was smoking a roko or Cigar, which
appeared a less dignified occupation than the King'’s,
who was eating betel,

27. In a visit which T paid to the Prah Klang
on the afternoon of the 20th he offored to shew me
the letter which the Ministers proposed to send to
Martaban in the course of a day or two by the Burmese
Messenger Cha-Ka-ton, and he engaged to allow two
Sepoys from my Escort to accompany the Burmese
to Martaban with a dispatch trom myself to Brigadior
General Sir Archilald Campbell,  He declined giving
me the names of the 82 places of which he had on the
11th told me the Sinmese considered the Province
of Martaban to consist, and he seemed to believe that
the Commander of the British Forees would accede to
the propositions of this Court without enquiry as to the
nature or result of any Negotiations which 1 may
carry on at Bangkok. I had before sounded several
well informed persons heve ns to the possibility of pre-
vailing on the Comrt to depute to the frontiers one of
the Ministers or some properly acorcdited Agent, to
discuss and arrange all points relating to boundaries
and the dircction of any Sinmese Co-operating force,
but 1 was assured that no Siamese Minister would
ever dream of proceeding on such a Mission, and that
such are the jealonsy and distrust entertained by the
Court towards their own Officers that if one were de-
puted he would receive no powers to act on the spot,
or to ensure to us that any part of his proceedings
would be ultimately confirmed at the Capital. T now
pointed out to the Pmh Klang that the English
desire to cultivate a truly friendly understanding
with the Siamese on the frontiers of Tavoy and
Mergui, and that to prevent all chance of dispute
or collision it ix absolutely necessary for Mr. Maingy
to be early informed what are the Siamese boundaries
in that divection. The Minister said that Tavoy
and Mergui themselves are in fact the Siamese
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boundaries, that those places formerly belonged to the
Siamese, and that the Court had long resolved npon
recovering them from the Burmese. I replied that
what he observed is now matter of history as the
English have possessed themselves of those places
whence 1 hoped an enlarged commercial intercomse
would soon be opened with the Siamese. The
Minister observed and with more appearance of
frankness and sincerity than I had expected, that
he hoped a flourishing trade would be soon brought
by the English to Bangkok through that channel.
I now proposed that the Court should depute an
Officer of high rank with Captain Macfarquhar to
the frontier of Tavoy to arrange the bonndaries
between the Siamese and English possessions as well
as other important points, in conjunction with the
British Commissioner on the spot. He replied that
the subject as well as all questions respecting the
boundaries belonged to the department of the Kalahom,
but that he would that night take an opportunity of
consulting that Officer and the other Ministers, and
that when I called on him on the following day
he would give an answer to my proposition. 1 then
suggested that perhaps the Prah Klang himself
might find it convenient to go to the frontiers of
Martaban or Tavoy. The Minister rolled his largs
body round, stared at me, and seemed as much startled
as if I had proposed to him to take a trip to Europe.

28. During this visit the Pral Klaug laid befors
me a sum of 120 Ticals which he said the Wang na
had agreeably to established custom sent to me. See-
ing me unwilling to receive this money the Minister
told me fairly enough, that the Siamese desired to
supply the table of the Mission daily, but that as we
lived so much upon Animal food, and as it would be re-
pugnant to their religion to take away the life of any
animal, they conceived it best to ask us to receive the
Money and provide ourselves with suitable food.
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T received the money and lave carried it to the -
publie Account.

29. On the night of the 20th. T paid a visit to
Prince Krom-Meun Surin, an Uncle of his Jresent;
AMajesty and ising the same i i over
the Commercial and foreign relations of the Kingdom
as the King formerly did as Krom Mooung Chiat.
The Prah Klang and his Officers are immediately
under this Prince who however appears to me to be
more of the nature of a state pageant, being allowed
by his nephew, the Prah Klang to exercise little veal
power in the conduct of business. The Court of the
Prince was not very numerously attended. He wax
seated on & kind of Cushion or platform covered with
scarlet and embroidered Cloth and raised about a foot:
higher than the hall of Audience, and he appeared
a mild good looking man of about 38 years of age.
We were attended by Pya Phi phut, Pya Chula and
his Son Radsithi and the Prince repeated for the most:
part the same questions, as those which the King and
Wang na had put to me. T had in the first con-
ference with the Prah Klang, obtained permission to
make use of my own interpreter, Mr. Abraham Poony,
but because he would not address the Prals Klang
in the same abject form as his own Interpreters, the
Minister often pretended not to understand him and
to avoid delay, I availed myself of the Services of
cither Jose Pediada who speaks a little English, or
of Che Sa the Rajah of Ligores Malay Interpreter,
or of Pya Chula, or his Son, both of whom speak tho
Hindostaunes language.  On this night Radsithi was
interpreting between the Prince and myself, when
learning from my own interpreter that Radsithi hat
not repeated to the Prince the full sense of some of
my answers and particularly of one, in which T had
stated that the chief of Ligor is well apprized of the
sincerity of my good will towards the Siamese which
he interpreted * that the chief of Ligor knew that I was
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coming to Bangkok "—I told Radsithi that [ should
rise and walk out of the room if he persisted in such
conduct and at the next question whicl the Pri
pnt to me, 1 declined for some time to give any
answer.  This created as strong a sensation among
the prostrate Courtiers as if a Pistol had heen fired at
the Prince. The Native Christian interpreters in at-
tendance were more frightened than the Sinmese. 1
could not persuade Pedinda to explain. My own
Interpreter attempted but was not allowed to go on.
At length Taddressed the Prince myself as respectfully
as T could in what little Siameso I have been able to
learn, stating that the Interpreter had omitted to
repeat to His Highness what T had eaid.  This led to
an explanation and when the Prince was at length
fully informed of the cause of my complaint, he did
not appear in the least offended with what I had done
and T am extremely happy that the name of the Chiet
of Ligor was connected with the subject. in which
Radsithi gave me this opportunity of exposing I
That Chiefs Son and many of his followers were
present at the Audience, and they are now out-
rageous against Radsithi.

30. T have found these two Chuliahs Pya Chula
and his Son who ave as Mr. Crawfunl reported the
principal instruments by which the trade of this port is
conducted on its present mischievous principles, most
adverse to British influence the introduction of which
they justly apprebend will be fatal to theirs. They
have unfortunately acquired much ascendency over
the mind of the Prah Klang, and are consulted on
all occasions. It is an established etiquette for His
Majesty and the Prah Klang when receiving any
presents to make a return very nearly equivalent
to the cost of them. But the presents are referred
to these Chuliahs to be appraised, and this duty they
perform so unfairly as to lead the Pralt Klang himself’
sometimes to double the price fixed by them, as ho
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did in the case of some very handsome Gold Watches
set round with Pearls lately presented by Mr. Hunter
which cost 500 Ticals a piece, and which these
Chuliahs valued at 40 Ticals only. These men also
persuaded the Prah Klang that two handsome Emerald
rings which Mr. Crawfurd had sent to him wero of
glass. 1 have before stated that in the previous dis-
cussions respecting the ceremony of onr introduction
to the King, 1 found thess men most pertinacions,
They attempted to make ns Ives as a
Sinmese, and insisted upon the removal of onr shoes.
Pya Chula also on the day of our introduction thrust
himself between Pra Pho phut and myselt contrary
to what I hiad previously stipulated with the Prah
Klang, who agreed that the King should address me
through two persons only.  Whilst before the King
Pyn Chula made several attempts, until he was sternly
checked by me, to make us perform the Siamese
obeisances oftuer than what had been settled, His
son desited me also to hold my head down and
not cast my eyes up towards the King. 1 only
laughed and nsked if he had ever heard of
the  Boglish  proverh, “the Cat may look at
the King,” Still the estraordinary influence which
these men have acquired induced me, after the
affair at Krom-Meun Surin’s Audience, to expostulate
with them mildly, and to attempt to satisfy them
in as friendly a manner as possible of the impropriety
of Radsithi’s conduct which I conceived it prudent
to term a mistake.

3L I am sorry to declare that perhaps in no
part of the world is there a more despicable and
contemptible race than the Native Christian Inter-
preters.  They cringe and tremblo and bow down
before & Siamess Officer with much more abject
humiliation than a Siamese of the lowest rank,
They are more dirty and lazy and more supported
by the labour of their Wives than the Siamese
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themselves.  As Interpreters they never dane interpret
any speech or remark which appears to them in
the least calculated to vex the Siamese Officer,
By adopting the measure of transmitting to the
Prah Klang on our first arrival a full exposition
of the objects of our Mission, and a detailed list
of the presents which 1 had brought for the Court,
I saved myself all troublesome enquiries on these
points from the Interpreters, as well as the Siamess
petty Officers. 1 visited the part of the town
inhabited by these Interpreters and Native Christians,
called Santa Cruz and I never saw morn: nasty
and dirty habitations, wunder each house pigs ans
veared, and are allowed to wallow in the mud
and mire of years.

32. Yesterday the 21st. I met at the Prah
Klang’s by appointment the Laos Chiefs who ars
now lhere, but I could not collect much information
from them. They said that before their departur
from their own homes about 2 months ago, they
had heard that the “Lao Burmahs” to the north of
Ava, who they told me ave extremely numerous and
use the same dress and langunge as themselves are
coming down in great forca in support of the
Burmese. They had heand nothing of any Chineso
detachment, but they said that there is a race in
Northern Laos who dress in the same manner ax
the Chinese. wearing the lair ouly differently.
They declared that auny attack upon Ava from
Chenng-Mai would be full of the greatest difficulty,
as the frontiers on each side are an extensive
Mountainous Waste, throngh many parts of which no
carriage Cattle can pass. Four of these Chiefs were
styled the Prince of Chiang-ton, Pya of Plray,
Pya of Cheung-Mai, and Pya of Joo-um. They
mentioned the names uf many places which are

k to Ei ! Although the
Prah Klang huluted when I requested to be allowed
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to pay these Chiefs a visit, 1 am still not withont;
hopes of being able to seo more of them hereatter,
They dress much like natives of upper Hindostan,
and they speak a language, T am informei, differing
very little from the Siamese.

33. The Pral Klang next shewed me a Copy
of a letter which the Kalahom is about fo dispatel
to Maha Ayothia, and on having it interpreted. I found
that Maha Ayothia is informed by the Kalahom
that Captain Fenwick’s letter from Martaban hax
been laid before the other Ministers who are happy
to learn that that Officer has prepared a supply of
provisions at Martaban for the Co-operating Siamese
foree, which however, the Ministers desire Maha
Ayothia to inform the British General cannot Lo
of any use unless tome place can be entirely given
up to it, from which it may not only be assured
of provisions and support, but to which it may
veturn and remain during the ensuing rainy Season,
in the event of the Burmese not being subdued by that
time. The latter farther desives Maha Ayothia to
assure the British General, that if such a place he
delivered to the Siamese they will assist the English
powerfully and Zealously—that the Siamese know how
attack the Burmese, and how to capture those places,
to which the English have not yet been able to take—
and that their Armies shall advance against Ava in
Tens of tl ds with Elepl and
Cattle.  Until I nscertain the exact state of the War
and of Brigadier General Campbell’s wishes, T have
not deemed it prudent to reject all idea of Siamese
co-operation and I confined myself yestenday to press-
ing the Ministers to send at once to Rangoon, without,
further delay whatever Elephants Carriage-Cattle and
provisions they possess. The Praly Klang observed
that Mr. Crawfurd had some months ago made a
similar request but that the Siamese Court conld
not comply with it, as it would be contrary to
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their religious tenets to send us animals to be
killed for food for our Troops. T said that we did
not eat Elephauts, and that Cattle fit for draught and
Carviage was what we requirel.  He veplind, the
Siameso would not believe but that the English would
kill and eat whatever animals might be sent.

8t The Prali Klang then told me that e had
consulted the Kalahom and the other Ministers upon
my proposition for deputing Captain Macfarqubar and
some of their Officers to the frontiers of Tavoy and
Mergui to ascertain and fix boundavies, but as it was
not yet known whether the English conld conquer the
Burmiese or ba able to retain those places. it was
considered there is no immediate oceasion for the
Settlement of any boundaries between us. [ pointed
out to him that at all events this Court had better

take care and instruct the

amese Officers to respect
what we now considered as our powessions.  The
Prah Klang declared, that the Siamese required
neither territory nor anything clse from us, if we
would only supply them with large Guns for the
full value of which His Majesty would be happy
to pay. I enquired how many guns, and of what
size did the King require. The Minister gravely
replied 1000, some of brass, some of iron, some of six
cubits length and some of 4 anil 2 Cubits, and caleu-
lated to carry balls of such a size holding out his hand
in a form in which either 24 M shot or a G B
could have been place:d,  He added the supply of guns
would be considered by the King as the greatest. proof
of our good will and friendship.

85. The Kalahow's letter directs Maha Ayothia
to refer to this Court again what reply the British
General may send to his communication and it is
evidently not intended to give the Siamese Chief full
powers to act. Hence a delay of several months will
still ocour before that Chief’s force can be brought
into full Co-operation with our: supposing this
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measure to be really intended whilst the character
of the men composing this force may be inferred
from what I have just learned from the Portuguese
Consul. A Native Chvistian Clerk of his, who hul
just returned from Ratpliree reports, that he saw Malia
Ayothia with about 3000 men passing wp the
Meklong river in Dboats and that the force wax
plundering every boat balonging even to this country
which came near it.

36. Last night 1 paid a visit to Krom Meun
Rak, the Princo immediately above the Kalahom
at the head of the War department. He is
brother of Krom Mean Surin and exceedingly like
him, and ho is deseribed as a strict severe Charncter.
We were wscorted from the landing place to the
Prince’s palacs about a quarter of a Mile distant,
by a party of Cavaley men ill drest and mounted on
ponies. with large saddles of the same fashion ax
those in use with the Burmese. Some of the
Ponies were from  Pegu, and  stont  serviceahli
animals, althe’ as ro

gh and coarse as in n state

of mature.  The Prinee received us with much civility
lmost the same questions as the King
and other Princes had done. There is an object in
repeating the questions T learn a writer is placed
at each audience hehind a Curtain to take down
which are afterwards compared one
with another. . The Pral Klang preceded us to the
“alace of both Princes, hut as it would have been
considered improper for us to see him prostrate
bafore any person, excepting the King and Wang-na,
he did not appear at the Audience.

and proposed

my answy

37. Hitherto we have raason to be thankful
for whatever civilities we have received from the
people. Their intentions ave often better than their
mode of carrying them into execution. An abundance
of vice is furnished by order of the King for the
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use of the Escort and our Servants.” Our house
does not appear to be Watched, and we are allowed to
visit, freely most parts of the town. The principal
Ministers alternately, altho' not very regularly,
supply us with froit and Vegetables. The King's
Steward, we are told by special Command he sent
us several dishes of meat Cooked in the Siamess
fashion and by no means agreeable to our palates.
The Wang na also has paid us similar attention,
and we have succeeded in obtaining a large boat
and 10 men for our use. As long as the Burmess
War continues I do not foresee the probability of
our being able to bring this Court to any positive
arrangements respecting trade and mutual bound-
aries, and until the arrival of the Governor of Ligor
I have deemed it prudent mot to touch upon tho
affairs of Kedah. A report was yesterday brought
of the arrival of that Chief at Chimpolun, and Iam
told he may be expected here within 8 or 10 days at
farthest. His influence at this Court is certainly as
great as I had previously been told.

88. 1 propose to forwand one Copy of this
letter under a flying seal to Mr. Crawfurd by Surat
Brig under English Colours the Hamoody Nakhoda
Abmud, which sails tomorrow for Singapore and
Bombay.  Another Copy 1 shall transmit to Mr.
Maingy at Tavoy whenever 1 can bring the Minister
to open a suitable ication with that Gentl,
Whilst such extracts from this dispatch as appear
tome likely to be in any manner useful to Brigadier
General Sir Archibald Campbell I shall immediately
transmit to Martaban in charge of two Sepoys from
my Escort.

89. At the risk of being considered too minute
and circumstantial on points of little importance I
have judged it best to submit fo you in this letter
a journal of my procesdings from a parusal of the
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facts contained in which, Government will T hope
Judge for itself as to the jwesent temper and
views of this Court and as to the propriety or ' dis-
e of any il vsidence here on my part. |
1 have &ea. &ca.
(Signed) H. BURNEY
Envoy to the Court of Siam.
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FORT CORNWALLIS.  The 23nl March 1526,

AT A COUNCH—resent.
‘fhe HONBLE. ROBERT FULLERTON
Governor—resident
WILLIAM ARMSTRONG CLUBLEY Fxquirs
and
ROBERT IBBETSON Esquine.

READ and APPROVED the PROCEEDINGS

of the 16: lustant,

AL

READ the following continuation of the Jourmal
of the Envoy at the Court of Siam to the 15 : February
with Appendix.

ENVOY at the COURT of SIAM.

Continnation of Captain H. Burney's Journal of
his Mission to the Court of Siam.

40. Ou the morning of the 23wd December |
sent down to the Nakoda of the Almoody, under
charge of one of my own Servants our public anl
other letters addressed to the care of the Resident of
Singapore, The Pya of Paknam stopped my Messen-
wer, although he was accompanied by one of the
Interpreters of the Court, but on mentioning the
atter to the Prah Klang, the servant was immediately
ordered to be released and allowed to proceed to the
Hamoody, which was lying outside of the Bar, and
from the Commander of whicha regular receipt for the
letter was brought to me. Intelligence was brought
to us this day of the arrival, off the Bar of an Ameri-
can Brig from Prince of Wales Island.
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41. On the 24 I paid a visit to Pya Si Phi-
phut a brother aul Assistant of kha Pral Mnugs.
and the Officer ising an i
ance over the Trade nml affaivs of lllu Natives
of Hindostan. Ho is about 36 years of age, and
in person strongly resembles his brother, but he
is described as o harsh character, much more severe
and frequent than the Prah Klang in the punishment
of his followers. I found him particularly civil and
much more courteous in his manuers than his brother,
and he displayed iderable Shrewd: and intel-
ligence in his conversation. He enquived whether
the English have bagun to levy any duties on trade
at Mergui and Tavoy, admitted the great advantage
of opening Dbetween thoso places and Bangkok o
friendly and enlarged commercial interconrse, stated
that the King of Siam had once since they fell
into our posscesion, sent persons to them, who
had  returned  with very favorable accounts, and
expressed hisx hup('u. that as soon as the Burmese War

is
wmay be made between :Ixu Siamese dominiolu and
our possessions on the Coast of Tenasserim.  Phia-Si-
Phi-phut, yet (sic) from possessing great talent ns
well as being of Royal blood, is always admitted
into the Councils of the Miuisters, and the King
is said to place much reliance upon his opinions.
The two brothers do not live on very good terms,
being jealous of each others influence. On the death
of the late Kalahom the present Prah Klang was
offered that situation, but he declined it, as it is
by no means so lucrative as his own. Had he
accepted it, Phia 8i Phi Phut would have succeeded
him as Prah Klang, his refusal of it therefore
increased the unfriendly feeling between the two
brothers.

42, Onthe 24: the Prah Klang requesting to seo
me on some urgent business, I proceeded immediately
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to his house, He informed me that the King was
very desirous of procuring from Martaban certain
religions works in the Bali language, aml would he
much obliged if T could make an application on the
subject to the Commanding Officer there, 1 enquired
whether His Majesty proposed to purchase theso
books but was told according to the Budhist religion,
it would be a great Sin to buy or sell such works,
and that His Majesty wished only to procure a lvan
of them, in order that copies may bs taken. [ replied
that the British Government would wot use any
compulsion to make the proprietors of thess books
lend them to His Majesty, but that I would address
the Cc ding Officer at M and request
him to see what can b2 done. The Minister then
«aid, that His Majesty propesed to send some Siamese
Priests to Martaban, to search for the works which
are required, and that these men conld make arrange-
ments with the proprietors for borrowing, or making
copies of the Works on the spot, if 1 would only
recommend them to the protection of the Command-
ing Officer at Martaban: which I promised to do,
on being apprized of the names of the parties,

43. On the 26: the Prah Klang invited us in
the name of the King to witness on the following day
the ceremony of bringing down the River a large
Image of Boodh, which is one of the oldest in the
Kingdom, and which all the Court were obliged once
a year to go up and worship at Porselonc. To save
themselves the inconvenience of such a jonrney the
King determined upon bringing the Tmage down, and
placing it in one of the Temples at Bangkok.

44. On the morning of the 27th. two large boats
were brought to us, and we proceeded in them
15 or 16 Miles up the river to the place where
a raft conveying the Image was in waiting.
Shortly after our arrival the King and Wang-na.
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attended by several hundreds of hoats con-
veying the principal courtiers and parties of
soldiers with Music passed us but our boats wene
placed, with a great many others on the opposite
bank of the river, as far as possible from the line
of the royal procession. The whole of Baugkok
seemed to have come out this day and the river
was crowded with boats of every size and description,
from a Canoe capable of conveying only one person,
to boats of 120 feet long with 60 or 70 Men.
When the procession began to return, n message
was brought to me from the King requesting that,
my boat should come and assist his and the hoats
of the Courtiers, to tow the lmage down the River.
I returned an answer that I was willing to shew
every respect and reverence towards his Majesty,
but that 1 could shew none to the Image in which
I had no faith.  Our boat was then desired to
approach His Majesty’s, and we passed him twice he-
fore I could discover where he was. At length I saw
him and the Wang na very plainly dressed, being
¢lothed round the waist only, prostrate at the feet of
the Tmage. His Majestys State boat was on one side
of the raft, and the Wangna's on the other, both
were very splendid and much coveved with gilding.
About 30 or 40 Boats wlth canopies of Scarlet and
vonveying Soldiers and bauds of Music were towing
the Raft, while around and immediately Dehind
it, the river was crowded without any order, with
the boats of the Courtiers and of Spectators. While
returning to Bangkok, the Prah Klang stopped our
boat and delivered to me a private letter from Captain
Fenwick at Martaban, which the Miiister said, had
just arrived, and the intelligence conveyed in which
he begged me to communicate to the Court as soon
as possible. I returned home immediately and drew
up the Note No. 1 which 1 had translated and
forwarded to the Prah Klang on the same evening.
Shortly after this note had been dispatched, Pya
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Phi-phut and the Prah Klang’s principal Clerk,
Samain Tra, returned with it to me, to request certain
explanations, the principal object of which wax to
enquire whether Captain Fenwick's letter did not take
any notice of the proposition that Chow Pya Mala
Ayothin had sent to him, for the provinees of Tavoy
and Martaban to be delivered over to the Siamese
Troops. Tanswered in the Negative, and desired them
to mention to the Prah Klang, that those provinees
could not be ceded to the Siamese wi
tharity of the Right Honorable the Governor General
in Council, and that if Chow Pya Mala Ayothia
waited until a reply is received from Bengal, the
time and opportunity for his force to become of any
use in the war would be past.

hout the au-

45. On this day Captain Kinsman of the Ame-
rican Brig Siren amived at Bangkok and called on
us; He declaved that he had wo letters from
Prince of Wales Island, and that he had passed 4
English Men of War lying in the harbour of
Singapore,

46. On the 28: Samain Tra brought to my
house Chakaton the Burmese Messenger from Mar-
taban, with a communication from the Prah Klang.
stating that the Kalahoms reply to Chon I’ya Maha
Ayothin was to be forwarded on that day Dy
Chakaton and some Siamese, and that my Messenger<
and dispatches for Martaban would be forwarded at
the same time. I had on the 24th prepared two
Sepoys belonging to my Escort Shaik Banoo and
Shaik Lascar Ally to take charge of my dispatches,
which consisted of a short letter under a flying Seal,
addressed to Brigadier General Sir Archibald Camp-
bell, enclosing extracts parts of Par. 8 and 12,
par: 13, 14 and 15, part of 16, 19, 21 and 23,
par. 27, 82, 33, 34 and 85 from my journal, and put it
under cover to the Officer Commanding at Martaban.

|
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T now hastily wrote a few lines in a private form to
Captain Fenwick. and strongly recommending the
Sepoys to Chakaton, and the Siamese Messengers, saw
them depart. Chakaton and the Siamese informed
me, that they were to proceed more thun one half
of the journey in a Loat, as far as Lunchang, that they
were first to ascend the Menam a little above owr
house, and thence to drop down in two days by a
Channel of communication, callel Klong Maung
Luang, to Rat-phree on the Meklong, up which river,
through Camburi, they did not expect to veach Menam
Noi—or the Burmese Taunzeik, in less than Gor 7
days, as the stream at that time of the year runs down
strong, that at Menam Noi, where the Siamese have
Iately built two forts, they should find Pya Maha
Ayothia, that thence through Chaiyok, or the Burmese
Dariak, they should pass higher up the stream in 5
or 6 days to Lumchang, or the Burmese Kadeinzeu,
where Pya Puram, Maha Ayothins brother, is stationed,
and whence they shonld travel by land to Martaban
in 6 or 7 days throngh Pachu-du Samong, or the three
Pagodas, My Kazath Zenieh or Athrowe and Uthran
or the Uttuan. The whole journey from Bangkok to
Martaban would take from 20 to 22 days,

47. On the 20 1 paid a visit to Phis Phi-pliut-
Kosa the Prali Klangs deputy, who received me with
much cordinlity. He is about 45 years of age, and
although lie doss not appear to possess much Talent
or influence, I have found him the most good
Tumoured and well dispose:d Sinmese Officer with
whom we have yet had any communication. He told
me that he and his brother, who is Treasurer to the
King, are of Pegue extraction, their family having
emigrated to Siam, many years ago, together with Chou
Pya Maha Ayothia ( This Officer has a very long titlo
the concluding portion of which is Ron a-roong the
Siamese for *“Commander of the Forces”) is about
65 years of age, and has been in the Siamese dominions
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nearly 45 years. His father also held a Military
command under Siam and he possesses a very
numerous family of Sons and relations within his
Kingdom. Pya Phi phut further informed me, that
the King has given orders for honoring me with
another nudience as soon as the Governor of Ligor
arrives.

48. From what Pya Phi phut communicated to
me this day, as well as from what I gather from other
sources, I have much reason to believe, that the Court
of Siam has not received, with so much satisfaction as
was expected, the intelligence of (#ic) the British
Government has resolved upon re-establishing the old
Kingdom of Pegue. The best Troops and Artisanx,
and in fact the most useful subjects belonging to Sinmn
are either emigrants from Pegue, or descendants of
those who formerly fled from Burmese usurpation ;
and any probability of these men quitting Siam ix
considered as one of the most severe blows, which
could be inflicted against the prosperity of this
Kingdom, and particularly against the comfort of the
King and Court.

49. On the 80 : December we paid a visit to
Pya Wisset, the Wangna's Pya Phi phut, but now
acting Prah Klang for Pya Kray who is on command
at Chumpohun. He is rather an elderly man and on
subjects of political importance far more intelligent
than the Prah Klang. Indeed the custom by which
the correspondence with our Mission is placed in
the department of the Prah Klang is deeply re-
guetted by me.  On every part respecting the present,
war, or the of mutual bound heis
obliged to repeat to the Chakee and Kalahom whatever
he hears from me, and as he has not understanding en-
ough to comprehend the force or utility of what I urge,
1 cannot expect that he can communicate it properly
to the other Ministers. He has genérally been civil,




and on some occasions even kind in his attentions
to us, but his manners often display great conrsenvss
and arrogance, and his information does not extend
beyoud that of a common Native Shopkeeper. He ix
a first Cousin of the present King and very much in
iis Majesty's confidence. He is a stont dark complex-
ioned man of about 38 years of age, and at home
usually wears no other covering than a coarse Madras
Chintz round his waist. In matters of trade and in
making what is called a good bargain, he is described
as singularly accute and cunning, but he is as much
fit to be a foreign Minister of Sinm as n Bunea in
the Bazar of Calcutta, one of which tribe he certainly
resembles very much in person as well as chavacter,
I have endeavoured to have the affairs of our Mission
transferred to the department of the Chakri and
Ralahom by representing that the practice of placing
all foreign envoys in charge of the Prah Klang arose
from all such persons having hitherto visited Siam
for objects of purely a commercial nature, hut that
onr Mission being connected with the far mom
important objects of war and mutual boundaries, we
ought to be put in communication with the Ministers,
to whose departments such subjects regularly belong.
I am promised interviews with [the] Chakri and
Kalahom although 1 am assured that a foreign
Envoy having communication with any other
Alinister than the Prah Klang is unprecedented in
the Aunals of this Kingdom, Pya Wisset took a
good deal of pains to understand fully in what
manner 1 conceived the Siamese could co-operate
most effectually in the present War, and promised
to communicate to the Wang-na, and through him
to the Kings Ministers, whatever I pointed ont. He
candidly declared to me, that the great reason why
the Court of Siam desired to obtain the entire
occupation of Martaban, before it engaged to March
its troops against Ava in that direction, was from
its apprehension that the habits and manners of the
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Siamese soldiery conld never assimilate with thoss
of ours, that to pillage and plunder ave regular parts
of the Siamese mode of warfave, which the, Court
could not’ attempt. or even venture to forbid, that
it is established rule in their Wars for the Officers
and soldiers to seize whatever property may belong
to the Officers or subjects of fhe Enemy., as much as
for Government to take whatever belongs to the
. and that as the Court of Siam kuows that
such practices are not and would ot e tolerted
by us, it is certain that the conduct of its Troops
would very soon hring on the most serious disputes
and quarrels hetween our Army and that of Siam.
I vemarked 1 conceived it was o knowledge of these

enen

very circumstances, that had induced the Governor
General in Council, to order me to point out to this
Court to move its Army against the Capital of Ava
by the distant and separate route of Cheumg Mai
or any other to the North of Martaban—whera the
Siamese coulil act according to their own modes of
warfare, withont interfering with the operations of
any British Troops. Pya Wiset observed, that he
thought this plan wmost judicious, and that he
would urge it on the attention of the Wangna. 1
then advised him to recommend to his Master also,
to orler Chou I'ya Maha Ayothin, and a Siamese
force of & or G000 Men, with all the Elephants and
Houses (sic) they could command, to March at once
to Martaban. and act with the Pegue division under
Colonel Pepper as the British General proposed, and
that to prevent the possibility of the Sinmese Troops
pillaging or plundering in the manner this Court
found (7 feared) that they would, 1 would engage
that each fighting man belonging to Chiou Pya Maha
Ayothias force, as long as it acted with us, should
receive the same daily ration of rice as what might
e distributed to onr own Sepoys. Pyn Wiset
replied, that he would report this matter to the
Wangna, but that he found the Siamese Soldier
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could not be d from p r he
took a fancy to, even if he were assured of a double
ration of rice, and one of the Siamese Officers sitting
with Pya Wiset, stated that even when the King
travels from one place to another in Siam, his
soldiers and attendants are accustomed to seize
whatever they see or like, without any person
daring to prevent them.

50. On our return home I called on the Prah
Klang, and learnt that no reply had been given to
the note which I had delivered on the 27th in
consequence of the holiday and rejoicings in which
the whole Court have been engaged since the 26th,
and would be engaged until the following evening, in
honor of the Tmage that had been brought down to
Bangkok. The attachment that the King and his
Courtiers display for the most purile amusements,
and that spirit of procrastination so remarkable an
ingredient in the character of the Siamese, form very
powerful obstacles to the due conduct of any public
business in Siam. Patience must be the principal,
I had almost said the sole attribute of any
negotiator here.

51. My own sentiments as to the delusive
nature of any Siamese co-operation I had already
submitted in the 15: Paragraph of this Journal, and
my own mind was convinced of the impossibility of
Siamese troops, even if they were sent to us,
proving of any service. It appeared to ms,
that the great aud only advantage that would
attend the Siamese moving an Army against the
Burmese would be, the impression which such a
circumstance might have on the obstinate Court of
Avs, which if we may judge from its repeated
applications to this Court to be neutral in the present
war, entertains a higher respect than we do for
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Siamese power, Perhaps the distinguished reception
given to our Mission will produce the same degreo of
impression in Ava. The original letter from the
Siamese Ministers replying to my Memorial of the
31st December may for the reasons stated in the text,
prove of use to be shown to any Burmese negotiators,
and 1 shall therefore transmit that document to
Brigadier Sir Archibald Campbell. Finding however
from Captain Fenwick's letter that Brigadier General
Sir Archibald  Campbell had planned the ensuing
campaign, in expectation of Maha Ayothins Army
co-operating with the Pegue division under Colonel
Pepper I conceived that in my Situation I was bound
to use every exertion towards procuring the fulfilment
of the Brigadier General's expectation. 1 drew out
therefore the annexed Memorial No. 2 and having
it regularly translated into the Siamese language
1 delivered it on the 8lst to the Prah Klang,
requesting to be supplied ns soon as possible with
areply to it in writing. The Minister pretended at
first not to understand the odject of my desiring
to receive a written rveply, but as 1 conceived
that if even I could once persuade this Court to
commit itself to me upon paper, T should gain a very
essentinl advantage in negotiating with it, I pressed
the point until the Minister promised to meet my
wishes.

52, On the 3lst we paid a visit to Pya Chula
and his son Radsithi. The former is about 65
years of ageand is a Native of Bangkok, his
father having come here, as he pretended to me,
from Persia although he is evidently of Chulia
extraction. Pya Chula informed me that the small
pox is now raging at Bangkok—that just before
our arrival he had lost a daughter by it, and that
a Son of the Chakris as well as a daughter of the
Prah Klang's is now suffering from this dreadful
disease, which is certainly as described by Loubére,
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the veal plagne of Siam. The Siamese' themselves
have no idea of vaccination and very little of
inoculation which last is sometimes practised by
Natives from Hindostan. The Cold-bath appears to
te the only application used in cases of small-pox.
Pya Chiula had never heard of vaccination, His son
Radsithi about 86 years of age, is certainly a very
shrewd inquisitive character, and T was informed he
attends daily at the Palace as the Kings Mercantile
Clerk. He apprized me that the Pegues are divided
into the “Burmah™ or Siam Mons. No Siam-
ese or Peguer with whom I have yet conversed
appears to know who the .lbassees are or to
recognize the name. A very intelligent Peguer
informs me that a great many Pegue families
were formerly delivered over by the Burmese to
the service of their Priests and Temples and that
this race, which is very numerous in several Pegue
Towns, is styled “ Prah isse” as devoted to God,
according to the motion to which they ane
attached, and that the followers of Islaim call all
Peguers  abassees” from o tradition that the race
oviginally came to Pegue from Abyssinia o that
quarter,

33. On the afternoon of the 1st January Samian
Tra and Prah Wisset, an Assistant in the Prah
Klang’s Office, brought to me a reply to my Memarial
in the name of the Kings Ministers, On examining
the paper I found that it was not authenticated by
Seal or Signature and 1 pointed out to them that as
a public document what they brought to me was of no
manner of use. Anxious to persuade them to put a
seal to it, but unwilling to excite their alarms or
suspicions 1 sent the Messenger back in good humour
by observing that were I to submit a paper without
any seal to my superiors, I might be accused of
having palmed upon them the composition of some
old Woman.
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54 On the following day the 24 January, Pya
Phi-phut brought back the reply to me regularly
sealed.  He acquainted me that the Prah Kilang,
being Limself o Minister, the Deputy is the person
who has to submit my papers to the Ministers and
to communicate their replies, and that the present reply
was therefore sealed with his Phia-phi-phuts seal,

55. Annexed No. 8 is o translation that 1 made
through the assistance of Mr. Silveria of this veply
from the Ministers,  Although the language of
this document is considered as remarkably civil,
the contents convince me more than ever, that this
Court has no intention of taking any decided part
in the present war in onr favor, until it becomes
assured of our ultimate success; and this the capture
of the Capital of Ava is the only circumstance that
will make it believe possible. The Prah Klang
assured me on the 8lst., that the Court did not
require the permanent but the temporary cession of
Tavoy and Martaban, 1 requested him to have this
point properly stated in dhe reply from the Minis-
sters, and an ination of the d
to me will show, how carefully the explanation is
evaded. Ignorant whether the state of the War, or
any other circumstances may not induce Brigadier
General Sir Archibald Campbell to try to secure the
co-operation of the Siamese upon their own terms,
which accord in some degree with the plan according
to which Major Canning originally proposed to
deliver  Martaban Tavoy and Mergui in  trust
to the Siamese, and with the views also by which
the Supreme Government proposed at one time
to be guided in the transfer to them of Mergui,
I have abstained from rejecting so entirely and
decidedly as I could have personally wished, the
proposition for our making to Siam the cession it
now requires. I drew out this day another Memorial
No. 4 and delivered it to the Prah Klang, urging
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the Ministers to forward to Martaban all the Eleplants
and Horses they can command and for the whole
expense of transporting and feeding of which, I declared
my readiness to enter into any equitable terms
with the Siamese Officers on the spot.

56. 1 leamt this day a curious piece of official
etiquette in Siam.  Any address or letter to a man
in Office must be taken to him by the writer
himself or by some man of nearly equal rank, It
would be considered a great insult to send such
a document Ly a common servant or Messenger.,

57. On the evening of tho 8d of January I
paid a visit to Mgr. Gopolis, the Bishop of Siam
Queda &ea., who has been in this country during the
last 38 years. He is about 65 years of age, and a
very lively old Gentleman of the old French School.
He appears to me to dwall too much on the subject of
the Siamese being afiaid of the English and repeated
this piece of information to me as pointedly as he
had before done to Mr. Crawfurd, On our first
arrival he sent me a message that he was desirous of
returning to we his thanks in person for the letters
and emall stock of necessaries which I had bronght
for him from the Roman Catholic Missionaries at
Penang—but that he was afraid any visit to me
from him would excite the suspicious alarms of the
Siamese. I stated this at the time to the Prah Klang
who laughed and ridiculed the idea of the Bishop
giving me any secret intelligence. The Bishop
told me that there are only 1000 Catholics
at Bangkok and to my observation that I was
sorty to see their houses the dirtiest and nastiest of all
the inhabitants, he replied that they are too poor to
make them cleaner. I fear the Bishop is content with
these men calling themselves Catholics, without trying
to make them distinguish themselves from Pagans
i the comforts and decencies of civilized life. The
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Bishop is served and treated by his own flock with
almost all the forms of Sinmese reverence. In con-
versation they join their hands and give him the samo
answer, “ Kho rap” (I take your orders upon my head)
which they continue repeating whilst & Siamese Chief
is speaking, or giving orders. The Bishop told me
that nothing can be done in Siam without patience
and the ery of “ Kho rap.”

58. The American Brig Siren arrived at Bang-
kok this day.

59. On the 4th of January Pya Phi Phut and
Prah Wisset called upon me with the Burmese
Messenger Chakola, who had avrived here on the 27th
with letters from Captain Fenwick Commanding at
Martaban. I fonnd that Chakola and all his people
had been detained in the Palace during the last eight:
days by the King and Ministers, who interrogated
them closely as to the strength of our Garrison at
Martaban the Stock of provisions there, and the
probability of the Burmese recapturing the place.
Chakola told ms that he was only 15 days coming
from Martaban to Bangkok, and 7 days to Lumchang,
or the Burmese Ka-dien-gain, where he embarked in
a boat, with which Pya Param furnished him, and in
which he came the whole of the remainder of the
journey. Me saw about 2000 Men with Pya
Puram and about 3000 with Chon Pya Maha Ayothin
at Menam-noi.  The Pya or Governor of Chaikok
is one of Chon Pya Maha Ayothia’s principal
Officers, whose proper name is Siming Pho-phat. Pya
Phi-phut chewed me another letter in the Burmese
character from Captain Fenwick, which he said had
just arrived from Chou Pya Maha Ayothia and in
which, as it was interpreted to me Captain Fenwick
repeats his anxiety that the Chou Pya should join him
with all possible expedition. I regrétted to observe
from Pya Phi-phuts conversation, that this letter had
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led the Court to believe that our Garrison at Martaban
is in the greatest state of alarm, and that such is the
necessity for the aid of Siamese troops, that if the
Court hold out a little longer it will bo suve of forcing
us to cede to it the possession of Martaban and Tavoy
upon its own terms.

60. I enquired what answer the Ministers pro-
posed to send to my application for a loan of Elephants
and Horses, and was told that sending those animals
without any troops would be contrary to Siameses
customs. I ridiculed this observation, and with much
warmth declared to.Pya Phi-phut that if the Ministers.
sent me such a reply I should make up my mind that
the Siamese did not desire the friendship of the
English, that 1 should immediately call upon them
to explain for what purpose Chou Pya Maha Ayothiag
and Pya Puram’s Forces has been collected on our
frontiers and if they were not withdrawn, after it
became evident they had not been collected in order
to join us, they would most probably be the cause of
some misunderstanding between us. Pya Phi-phut,
with much agitation assured me, that the Siamese desire
to cultivate the most friendly relations with us, and that
it had always been a custom for them to send every
year an Army on the Burmese frontier. I quickly
was led (#ic) to understand then from the Siamess
having sent an army, now that the country belonged
to the English, that we were to be considered by
this Court in the samo light as the Burmese had
been? He replied with still more agitation, that
he did not mean any such thing, and he then informed
me that intelligence had just arrived that the
“Las Burmahs”, had come down to assist the
Burmese, leaving their own country unprotected, and
that this Court had in consequence, determined
upon moving a force from Cheung Mai in the
direction T had first pointed out; and that all the
Laos Chiefs in Bangkok had been ordered to return
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home for this Service with all possible haste. T
expressed a wish to see the Laos Chiets again before
they quitted Bangkok. Pya Phi-phut stated, that
they

there would be no time for me to see them
wers to depart the follow

pressing the atter, [ was told that [ should sew
the Chiefs on the xame evening at the andiencs
of the Chou Pya Chaksi.

g morning,  On further

Gl On the evening of this day I paid my
fiest visit to Chou Chakri, who
considered the first Minister of Siam—we were kept
waiting in an house adjoining the Chakri's hall of
audience, rather longer *han what appeared courteous.
und were then ushered in with much ceremony. We
found the Minister seated on o high cushion, and
surrounded with as much state as either of the
Princes. He appeared an elderly man of G0 years
of age then, but of a much more intelligent and
penetrating  countenance than his colleague  the
Pral Klang. The Chakei onee conducted n War
against Cambodia with mnch suceess, and he is des-
cribed as a man of talents, intimately acquainted with
the resources and interests of Siam, and possessing
more  powerful friends and influence than any
other Minister. O tha ascession of the present
King I bastowad on the Chakri the dignity of
Princo or Sumdet, but personally this Minister is
~id to be no favorite with His Majesty, who throws
the management of public business as much as possible
upon the members of his own famil —Krom Meun
Surin, Krom Meun Rak, the Prah Klang and his
brother Pya Si-phi-phut, all of whom however can scar-
cely serve as a balance against the talents and influence
of the Chakri. After some civil engniries on the part
of the Chakri, I informed him that our's was the first
European Mission deputed to Siam for other objects
besides those of a purely commarcial nature, and that
I was therefore much rejoiced to have an interview

genermlly
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with the first Minister of Siam, to whom subjects
relating to war and territorial arrangements must bo
so familinr.  He replied that he would be happy to
hear whatever 1 desired to submit to the King on
these subjects. T stated, that the fist point that I
wished to press upon his attantion was that relating
to the Burmese captives from Tavoy and Mergui, that
[ hiad been promised an early release of theso men,
but that I had now waited nearly a month without
seeing any chance of the promise being fulfilled. The
Minister desired me to be under no uneasiness on this
head, as the King had ordered the men to Lo released,
and all of them to be brought bzfore me, so that I may
ascertain which of them desired to remain in Siam. [
repeated that [ had waited nearly o month to see
this matter settled, that many British Officers would
uot have waited five days, and that if the Court of
m did not soon shew a disposition to comply
with my application, 1 should think it my duty to
to quit Siam. The Ministor stated that it required
some time to collect and register the whole of the
Captives, but that he would repeat to the King
what I lad observed, and would urge au early

1 with my applicati I then observed
that from the reply, which the Ministers had made to
my Memorial of the 31st December, I referrad (wic)
that the Siamese do not desire to co-operate
with the British forces in the present war, and
that if they really do not, I would recommend the
Siamese detachmznts, which had been collected on the
frontiers, to be withdrawn, as their coutinued presence
there may Jead to misunderstanding and Jealousy
between the subordinate Officers of the two Nations,
“The Minister replied that if the Siamese do not assist
the English, those detachments will ba withdrawn,
but that the Siamese are really anxious to join us in
reducing the power of Ava. That the Court had Just
ordered an Army from Cheung Mai to invade the
Northern proviuces of Ava,and that Maha Ayothia's
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force also shauld move against the enemy, the moment,
the Siamese are pnt in possession of Tavoy and
Martaban ; which they would hold only in trust during
the war, as places in which to establish Depets of
Stores and provisions for the use of their Armies.
1 stated that 1 had alveady declared my veadiness
to engage, that the fighting men belonging to
any Siameso Army sent to join ours shonld
receive the sune daily rations of rico as are dis-
tributed to onr own Sepoys. The Minister remarked
that [ might certainly make such an engagement
but that I should bo far distant from the Siameso
Army on any oceasion that it might not be convenient
for them to act, and when the English General might
refuse to supply them with provisions, 1 said of
course 1 conld only engage that at such times only
as the Siamess Troops acted with ours, rations should
be served to them; and that what the Minister hal
observed. as to its not being convenient sometimes for
the Siamese troops to act, made me fear, and wora
the British General to hear it he would certainly
believe, that if Martaban and Tavoy were now at once
ceded to the Siamese Troops, they would oceupy them
and sleep and eat beetle there, without finding it con-
venient tonctat all, until the war was brought to a con-
clusion. T added, that it might be a Siamese, but that
it is mot an English custom to pay a person his
wages in advance, and before his work is complete.
The Minister then said that the people who had
arrived at Bangkok from Martaban stated, that thers
are only 2€0 of our Troops there, with one house
and half fall of Paddy. I replied that supposing
this statement true there is an abundance of Paddy
at, and Ships to bring it from Tavoy and Rangoon,
and that under a belief that the Siamese would
really come and join us at Martaban, our garrison
there might have been veduced, but that the moment
the English General learnt from me, that the
Siamese had no i ion to join us, a reinfc
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of Troops would probably be sent to Martabau.
The Minister rejoined that Maha Migina with an
army of abasees is close to Martaban and threatning
to recapture it from us. 1 stated, that if he carries
his threat into execution, we can very easily recover
the place. 1 then informed the Minister, that it
is impossible for the British Government to give
the Sinmese possession of Tavoy, for the scttlement
and civil government of which country all arrange-
ments had lately been made from P. W. Island ; that
this Court had better give up at once the idea of
obtaining possession of that province. But that if
the Minister addressed me a letter in such terms
as I had on that moming pointed out to Pya
Phi-phut, namely to state that the Siamese Army
should invade Northern Ava, and that Choun Pya
Maha Ayothia’s force should join the English division
at Pegue with abundance of Stores and Elephants
upon Martaban being delivered to this Court in trust,
and on condition that, if requested to do so it wonld
vestore that place to the English at the conclusion of
the war, in view to enabling us to make such general
territorial arrangements as may then appear proper
and necessary, 1 would forward such a letter to the
British General, and ascertain how far it may be
possible to gratify the wishes of this Court. The
Minister stated that he would immediately mention
what 1 had said to the other Ministers

62. Tthen enquired whether the Minister would
allow me to have another interview with the Laos
Chiefs before their departure. He pointed out to me
in one part of the Hall of audience, saying that they
as well as all the Country to the North of Bangkok,
are under his special superintendance, and that they
had come that night to take leave, having been drdered
by the King to depart for Laos early on the following
morning, I strove to have them detained that I
might pay them a visit on the next day, but
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the more anxiety I betrayed to see them, the more T
aroused the jealousy and suspicions of the Siamese.
I was requested to put then such questions as
I desired to the Chiefs, but I observed that 1 had no
political qiiestions to put to them, but such only as
related to the natural history religion and customs of
Laos, with which Europeans arve imperfectly ac-
quainted. I have since learned, that the people of
Laos being o recent conquest, the Siamese are 84
distrustful of them as of us, and that the Minister
apprehended that I desired to gather from these Chiefs
information respecting the different routes from the
Burmese dominions to Cheung Mai.  When the Prah
Klang declared that the road from Cheung Mai to the
Capital of Ava is impracticable for a large Army
I stated that some routes between Martaban and
Ummerapoora might be used, but I was assured that
none such existed, although an English Tiaveller,
Fitch, in the year 1587 passed from Pegue to Jemahay
or Cheung mai, in 25 days, * throngh many fruitfal
and pleasant countries "—and Mr. Crawfurds Map
notices a ronte from Martaban to Cheung Mai in
20 days.

63. On the evening of the bth January we
visited the Chou Pya Mahasina or Kalahom the second
Minister of m and the Officer corresponding in
some respects to our Commander in Chief. The
Wang na however and Krom Meun Rak are said to
engross the entire management of the Army and the
present Kalahom is described to be without influence
and almost o cypher in the state. 1 had previously
sent him a message stating that I could not submit to
be kept waiting in the Antichamber in the manner we
had been at the Chakris on the preceding evening
and we were accordingly ushered at once into the pre-
sence of the Chief. He appeared an old man of nearly
70 years of age and the most polite and good natured
Sinmese we have yet seen. Believing that conciliation
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is the great object of my Mission. T had hitherto
avoided in my visits to the different Siamese
Officers to enter into petty discussions as to the
forme or manner in which they might receive me.
But T found the more I yielded on such points
the more a Siamese assumed. Pya Wisset is the
only person who presented us with Chairs. The rest
obliged us to sit on the Carpet as far distant as
possible from their own seat, and with our feet thrown
back in the most irksome position. They omitted to
furnish us even with a separate cushion, or pillow upon
which to lean, which two Articles aro always offered
to men of any rank. I learnt that Pya Phi-phut had
placed Chairs for us on the day we were to visit him,
but that Radsithe had advised him to remove them.
On this night therefore T took no notice of the signs
which the attendants made to us to sit down at our
usual distance from the seat. of the Chief, but moved on
and sat down close to the Kalahom. I then noticed
the absence of a separate Cushion and pillow. The
Kalahom apologized for not having had them in
readiness, and presented me with ons of his own
cushions, with such true politeness and kindness as
to disarm me immediately, Another cushion was
brought in for Captain Macfarquhar.

64. After some civil enquiries as to the state
of our health and how we liked Bangkok, the old
chief requested me to communicate to him freely
whatever I wished him to report to the King. I
firat mentioned the subject of tho Burmese captives,
and T was assured in the same manner as the
Chakri had assured me, that these men would be
sent back, the moment they are all collected. 1 then
pointed out the advantage of having regular bound-
aries established as soon as possible between the
Sinmese dominions and our conquests on the Coast
of Tenasserim. The Kalshom replied that such
arrangements could be made herafter, when it became
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certain that the Burmese could mot return to that
Coast. I observed the Ministers of Siam seem fo
labor under some delusion on this head, as in my
opinion the Burmese could as easily come to
Bangkok as return to that Coast. This observation
was at first supposed to convey some kind of threat
on my part, and the Kalshom and his attendants
drew up much displeased, but as soon as it was
properly explained, they recovered their good humour,
and the old man appeared even happy that he
had misunderstood me. He then observed, that before
any proper boundary can be established between
the English and Siamese possessions, much time
and care must be taken to make enquiries on the spot:
and from old inhabitants. I admitted the truth of
this observation, and recommended that some Siamnese
Officers of rank should be deputed to meet Mr.
Maingy and other British Officers on the frontiers of
Tavoy and Mergui, in order t.hnt the necessary

q may be ly i d in view to
the future settlement of a proper boundary and of other
matters relating to trade and friendly intercourse
between the two Countries. I added that the
English earnestly desire to live in the vicinity of
the Siamese as friends and good neighbours, and
not as (sic) the same unsettled and unsocial terms
as the Burmese had done; that for this reason we
are anxious to have the boundary and rights of
each party fixed, so as to prevent all chance of
mistake or dispute between dur subordinate Officers—
that 1 had urged this matter with all the arguments
in my power, and that if any misunderstanding
hemm'r occur, from these points remaining unsettled,
T hoped I should be found to have done my duty.
The Kalahom replied that all which I had stated
was perfectly just and proper, and that he would
report it to the other Ministers, and recommeud them
to give my p ition an early id He
added very kindly that he feared I was sometimes
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too warm in my language, and that he would advise
me as a father to take things more coolly and patiently;
that if I did so, he was certain my Mission would
in time be the means of establishing between the
Sinmese and English nations the most advantageous
relations. I expressed my thanks for his good advice,
and said that the Siamese will not believe that I am in
earnest unless 1 speak to them with animation.
The old man on our rising to depart gave us his
blessing and good wishes in the most affectionate
manner, and we returned home full of regret, that so
fine an old gentleman as the Siamese Minister
really is has not more influence,

G5. We have now visited three of the Six
Ministers or *“Sinabudi,” who compose the Cabinet
ot Siam the Chakri, Kalahom and Prah Klang, The
remaining three are Chon Pya Yomerat, or Officer at
the head of the judicial Department, Chou Pya
Tharama, a kind of land chamberlain or Mayor of
the Palace, and Chou Pya Pollithep, the Officer
at the head of the Land Revenues of the country.
This last is father in law of zhe Prah Khng, and
the person who ises the
in the manner mentioned in Mr. Crawfurds JDI“T\‘IL
On a certain day annually he stands on one leg during
an hour, while a field is ploughed around him, If he
fails to stand the allotted time, he is abused and
beaten by the populace and during the whole of that
day ho exercises all the powers of the King and
receives whatever customs or other revenues are then
paid in. These three Ministers however take little
or no part in any deliberations saving those which
relate immediately to their own departments. There
is one other person of great rank and influence at
Bangkok, Kroma Kun, who during the reign of
the late King was one of the most active Members
of the government and who npon the accession of his
present Majesty, retired from all public business on
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the plea of old age. He is said to have been
dissatisfied with the succession to the throne, yet
the King is prudent to show the old Chief much
public consideration, has presented him with a pillow
on which to lean whenever he attends. which is
very seldom, Hix Majestys Audience. The Wang
na can use a pillow in the presence of royalty.

G6. On the afterncon of -the Gth Jannary,
Pya Phi-phut and Prah  Wisset brought me the
reply from the Minister to my Memorial of the 24
Aanuary a translation of this reply No. 5 is hereto
annexed, and I hope that the reason which it gives
for declining to furnish our Army with Elephants and
Horses viz, that to send such animals wonld ba con-
trary to mase customs, will convince my superiors
as much as it has done me, that this Court is only
seeking to gain time and to seize some advantago for
itself, withont the risk or trouble of taking at
present any part in the War. 1 had personally
explained to the Chakri, Kalahom and Prah Klang.
that the Court must resign all idea of obtai
possession of Tavoy for the settlement and civil
government of which province all necessary arrange-
ments are now making under the direction of the
Honorable the Governor of Prince of Wales Island,
but that if it would agres to March an Army
immediately into Northern Ava from Laos and to
order Chon Pya Maha Ayothia’s force, with as many
Elephants and Horses as possible, to approach close
to Martaban, I would make to Sir A. Campbell the
proposition for ceding that place to the Siamese on
the following terms viz. that Chou Pya Mahs Ayothia
should move against Ava within a few days after
receiving possession of Martaban in such direction
and under such orders as the British General might
<ignify to him, and that the Siamese should restore
Martaban to us, if required o to do at the close of the
war. It appeared to me that if the Ministers
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acquiesced in this plan, it would still be open to Sir
A. Camphell to carry it into effect or not, according
to his opinion of the necessity or value of Siamese
co-operation, and if he judged the temporary cession
of Martaban to the Siamese to be objectionable, still
no harm could be done by my proposition, but on the
contrary some good, in as much as Pya Maha Ayothin's
force proceeding to the vicinity of of Martaban would
save time, and reliove Captain Fenwick, who apprized
me that he is threatened by a body of the Enemy,
which the approach of the Siamess will drive
away. Martaban is decidedly the best place to
cede to the Siamese, should we ultimately
desire to make any cession to them, and probably
my Superiors may determine, that it would be good
policy for us to engage Siam now to take such part
in the war, as may hereafler give them a right
and the means to make her take a part also in any
general arrangoments which they may desire to carry
into effect at the close of the war. I dispatched on
the night of the 6th by a Junk bound to Singapore,
a letter to Mr. Crawfurd communicating the senti-
ments which T have here expressed, and on the fol-
lowing day I desired Pya Phi-phut and Prah Wiset
to ask the Ministers, whether they required mo to
make to them in writing a proposition to the above
effect, I was informed, that the Ministers would not
insist upon Tavoy, but that there is no chance of
persuading them to move Maha Ayothias force unless
they are assured of the possession of Martaban,

T then requested Pya Phi-phut in as forcible
terms as T could use to declare to the Ministers that
the Prah Klang had apprized Mr. Crawfurd by letter
several months ago that the Siamese troops should
march and co-operate with the English forces the
moment the rainy season was over without requiring
the previous cession of any Town in the Burmese
Territories and that Maha Ayothia had repeatedly
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written to the same effect to the commanding Officer
at Martaban. That believing in the sincerity of these
declarations a portion of the English Troops at
Martaban may have been withdrawn, and that if in
consequence of the non-arrival of the Siamese force,
or before any reinforcement can be sent from Rangoon,
any accident occur to the English Garrison at Marta~
ban, the fault will not rest with me. This address
appeared to make a strong impression on Pya Phi-phut
and Prah Wiset.

67. In my conferences with the Ministers and
with Pya Phi-phut Kosa I found that the Court
required the temporary cession of not only the
Town but the whole province of Martaban, and
that the entire removal of the British Troops from
it was a sine qua non. Iendeavoured to stipulate,
that our garrison at Martaban should remain for
a time, as its presence might serve to aflord the
inhabif some p ion against the li
habits of the Siamese soldiery, but this arrangement:
was decidedly opposed, on the ground that the
presence of our Troops would infallibly bring on
disputes and quarrels between them and the Siamese
Soldiers. The opposition of the Ministers to such an
arrangement assures me, that the entrance of the
Siamese into Martaban, should it ever take place, will
be the signal for plunder and destruction, unless our
Officers on the spot engage Chou Pya Maha Ayothia
to enter into some arrangement for ensuring the
Inhabitants some degree of protection. I owe it to
myself also to repeat here my deliberate conviction,
that it is impossible for the Siamese Troops to act in
conjunction with ours, and that this Court has no
intention of taking any step in our support, until
it will be too late—until the capture of Ummerapoora,
which event alone will satisfy the Siamese Ministers
of our ability to vanquish the Burmese. Under all
circumstances also, my opinion is fixed, that if any
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permanent cession of territory be made to the Siam-
ese, it should be made not with any prospect, that
their troops may co-operate in the present war, but
under explicit conditions, that Siam should in retmmn
grant to us a free trade with every part of her
Kingdom, and restore tho Malayan Government in
Queda. These objects I believe I could obtain were T
empowered to offer the province of Martaban to the
Sinmese Ministers, for they appear to me to fear, that
unless Siam secure possession of that province, she
will lose all her most valuable Pegue subjects,

68. Monsgr. Zophis returned my visit this
evening.

G9. On the 8th of January 1 learnt from Pya
Si-phi-phut  that Chou Pya Maha Ayothin's
Army was employed, and he believed wonld
be continued to b employed on the Menam
Noi, in felling Timber and cutting Sepan wood ;
and that all the finest and largest Timber for boat
building, as well as supplies of that dyeing wood,
are brought down the stream to Bangkok from the
Hills on the frontiers of Tavoy. He also informed
me that the Pya of Chumpohun, of whose illness
T had before heard, had died in the prison of the
small pox the day before.

70. Pya Wiset called on me this day with some
of the Rajah of Ligores followers, urging me not to
press the matter with respect to the release of the
Burmese captives from Tavoy and Mergui, informing
me that the Ministers of Siam have the greatest

jection to releasing them i iately, and assuring
me, that if T would ask them to release the prisoners
at Chumpohun directly, and retain thoso at Bangkok
until the war with Ava is concluded, the Ministers
would agree to any proposition which I jay make
with respect to Chou Pya Maha Ayothias force. I




[ea]

replied, that I have already been assured by every
Siamese Chief whom I had visited, that these captives
should be immediately released, and that I could not
see what connection that subject could have with the
proposition for moving Chou Pya Maha Ayothias force.
Pya Wiset told me, that the removal of the Prisoners
at Bangkok would so much affect the personal
convenience of most of the Ministers, with each of
whom a portion of these men is placed, that if [
insistod upon their being delivered, the Ministers
will show their dissatisfaction by refusing to acceds
to any thing else which 1 may propose. Pya Wiset
further told me in great confidence, that the Kings
Ministers fully believe, from the tenor of Captain
Fenwick's  letters to Malha Ayothia, and from
that  Officer having armed o party of Siamesa
under Pyn Ratanachak in defence of Martaban, that,
that place is in great peril, and that we cannot
spare troops from Rangoon to protect it.

71. 1 must here declare that 1 consider it my
duty to record the statements brought to me by the
Siamese Officers, but I do not pretend at this distance
to judge of the truth or falsehood of such statements.
Indeed T have found indefatigable lying forms so
essential 8 part of & Siamese Statesman’s duty, that it
is impossible to given credit to any of their assertions
unsupported by proof.  Unhappily the Ministers
return the compliment, and are incredulous as to any
thing told them by a British Officer—an intimate
personal acquaintance with Captain Fenwick affords
me one very sati viz. that Martab
is in charge of an Oﬂicer of great experience and
talents.

72. I had ever since the 17th December, been
daily pressing the Prah Klang and his Officers to
forward some communication to Mr. Maingy at
Tavoy and Pya Phi-phut, and Prah Wiset called on
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me on the evening of the 8th January with the drafs
of a letter which the Prah Klang proposed to dispatch
to that Gentleman. On procuring a version in the
Malayan language of this letter I found that the
Burmese captives were noticed in it without any
assurance of their being soon released, 1 deemed it
proper therefore, after all that had been told me on
the subject by every man of muk to whom I had
wentioned it, to draw up a Memorial No, 6, calling
upon tho Ministers to give e o pledge in writing,
that these men should bs sont back. I gave this
document to Samian Tra on the 10th to the Prah
Klang.

73. Several followers of the Rajah of Ligore
arrived at Bangkok on the same day with lotters
from their Master and from Mr. Assistant Surgeon
Harris dated Ligore 13th December. 1 was much
concorned to find that the Rajoh of Ligors had
not fulfilled his engagement, in consequence of tho
continued sickness of his Son. No one who has not
been at Siam can credit the extraonlinary effect which
the illuess of any member of o great man's family
produces,  All public business is interrupted and

hsolutely neglected wl such & ci
occurs, During the last 9 or 10 days The Prah Klang
has been attending upon his daughter who is suffering
from small pox, without taking any notice of public
Dbusiness, or even shewing himself to those who call
upon him.  Bven when one of the Kings women is sick
all state affairs are put aside. 1 hope however that the
Rajah of Ligore and Mr. Harris's intelligence, that the
child was Detter, and that they are about to quit
Ligore immediately after their lotters may prove cor-
rect. In this caso they may be expected here in 10
or 12 days at furthest. The presence of Champohun
of (sic) the Rajah of Ligores followers, the bearers of
theso lotters, may have given rise to the report which
was brought to us some days ago, of the Rajahs having
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arrived at that place. The illness or pretended illness
of Pya Thep, the assistant to the Kalahom, who has
charge of the Burmese captives was the excuse given
to me by Pya Phi-phut and Prah Wiset for not ful-
filling a very solemn promise which they had made to
me, to bring the principal men of the Burmese cap-
tives to my house on the 8th January, in order that I
might prepare a list of such as are to be sent back to
Tavoy and Mergui.

74. On the 11 January Pya Phi-phut callod
upon me accompanied by Pya Thep, and several
Burmese prisoners. I was shown a long list, which
however was declared incomplete of the captives,
and I was asked by desiro of the Ministers what
pledge I would give that the Siamese prisoners
at Mergui should be released at the same timo
that the Burmese were sent back. I referred fo Mr.
Maingys communication to the Prah Klang pledging
that Gentleman to confirm whatever arrangements
1 might make on this subject. After several hours
unprofitable discussion Pya Thep engaged that he
would within five days prepare and bring to me g
correct list of the whole of the Burmese at or near
Bangkok, accounting regularly for every person that
had ever been brought here. He believed there ars
6 or 700 here, and about 200 at Champohun. I was
then asked whether I would interrogate any of the
Burmese he had brought, but unwilling to give the
Siamese Officers an opportunity of making the poor
creatures suffer for any answer they might make me,
I said that as Pya Thep was a man of rank and
Character, and of course incapable of doing any thing
likely to produce a quarrel between our nations, L
would be satisfied by his farnishing me with a correct
list, authenticated by his seal of all the Captives.
T had before been privately visited by several of the
Burmeso Captives, from whom I had gathered all the
information they could give me. They told me, that
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the Siamese had not put them in Irons. nor since the
arrival of our Mission treated them with the same
cruelty as they did the prisoners of former years, that
there are in Bangkok about 670 of the Captives ;
that the remainder are still at Champohun ; that of
those here, a party of 170 ara employed in cutting
Timber and sawing planks for the second King, and
that there is not one of them but is most anxious to
return to his country. One of the Prisoners who
privately visited me, emphatically said that he would
rather go home to live on rice and salt than remain
in Siam with a basket full of gold. One of the head
men of the Captives brought to me, named Ta Cheem
and about 60 years of age, was gravely said by
Pya Thep to be by right a Siamese subject as his
Mother was pregnant with him at the time she was
taken from hence to Mergui.

75. It is scarcely possitle to form any iden of
the repugnance which the Siamese Government feels
to allow any person who has come amongst them, ta
leave them ngain. They seem to dread any diminu-
tion of their population ; and there are now in almost
every part of the Siamese dominions, hundreds of
Malays and Natives of Hindostan, who are most
desirous but unable to return to their own Countries.
Many of the poor creatures have been forcibly brought
to Siam, and I find that it is a very common practice
for the Chinese to seize Malays who may happen to
o on board their Junks at Penang Malacea, Java
or other places to the Eastward, and bring and sell
them here. 1 have repeated applications from people
declaring that they had been forcibly  brought
away, and soliciting me to procure their release.
When Colonel Schroeyenstein, the Agent from the
Netherlands Government of Java, was here in 1821, a
party of Javanese appealed to him for protection, and
having  satisfactorily proved that they had been
forcibly brought away from Java, the Colonel repre=
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sented the watter to the Court, and requested it to
allow him to take the party back. He found the
Court not only deaf to all his applications on the
subject, but so dissatisfied with his pressing it. that
on the last oceasion of his visiting the present King
then Krom Cheat, he took Mr. Silveria assures me
# loaded pistol in his packet, in view to be prepared
to resent any personal indignity that might be offered
to him, when he again demanded a release of the
partys without which however he was at last obliged
to leave Siam,

76. On the 14th January Pya Phi-phut and Pya
Thep again called upon me accompanied by about 400
Burmese Men, Women and chlidren, and kept me
upwards of four hours in discussing the arrangements
respeeting the release of these Captives.

I found the Ministers objected strongly to any
authenticated list being furnished to me, on the ground
that Mr. Maingy declared 1600 persons had been
carried away, while the Ministers of Bangkok could
account for a little more than half that number,
The Ministers desired to send the whole of the Burmese
they could collect to my house, in order that I
might interrozate them and draw up o list myself.
1 declined again to put any questions to the captives,
and iusisted upon Pya Thep supplying me with a
list under his seal in the mauner he hod engaged
on the 11: January. Pya Phi-phut assured me that
the Prah Klang had added to the letter which he
proposes to send to Mr. Maingy, a declaration that
the Ministers are arranging with me for the immediate
release of the whole of the Burmese Captives. I
was alio assured, that a reply would be immediatoly
sent to my Memorial of the 10th January from the
Ministers, apprizing we that an order should be sent
directly to Pya Kray at Champohun, to send back
to Mergui whatever Burmese Captives may be there
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and that Pya Phi-phut and Pya Thep had been
ordered to make arrangements with me for the

release and D to Mergui of the
whole of those that are at Bangkok. 'The Prisoners
that were brought this day to my house appear so
eager and anxious to quit Sinm and so grateful for
our intercession, that we are incited to redouble our
exertions in their favor. If we do succeed in
uitimately~ effecting their release, we shall owe our
success as mucl, perhaps more to threatning than
to conciliatory language, and 1 feel assured that the
return of these poor wretches to their homes will
give infinite strength and popularity to the local
authority at Tavoy and Mergui, and reflect real honor
and reputation on the British Government in Siam and
other places, as well as newly conquered territories.

77.  Chakola the Messengor from Martaban
called upon me with the Prah Took Krat to inform me
that they are to quit Bangkok to-morrow morning
furnished with letters from the Ministers to Captain
Fenwick and Mr. Maingy. They proceed together ns
fur as Menam Noi, where they are to separate. Prah
‘Took Korat informed me, that his station iy at Chaiyok,
that he has been three times to Tavoy since it
fell into our possession. That the Country between
Menam Noi and Tavoy may be traversed in five days.
The first three are over a range of mountains and
through forests without any human habitation as far
as Khai or Stockade Maktat, called by the Burmese
Suphroo dat. The 4th day brings you across a valley
through which runs the Tenan River to Khai Kuch
leaving (sic) on Che ik poos, where there is tin.
The 5th day you pass through Khai Wakung or
‘Wakeng Tat and Heindat or Kiocphatat to Tavoy.
The first range of Mountains on the side of Siam
is styled Khow Sung, at the summit of which,
about 2 days journey from Menam Noi, are three
towns something like those at Kioe Pye, and named
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Narge Dareng. This spot Captain Low visited in
February last year, and Prah Took Krat assured me
that he found the Cattle which Captain Low had
left there two days after that Officer had been there,
and that it was sent to Bangkok. I had previously
arranged  with Phi-phut that two Sapoys from my
Escort, Shaik Maddar lst and Syed Naquedeen,
furnished with my letters for Mr. Maingy should as-
company Prah Too'c Krat ta Tavoy ; and that Chakola
should reccive a reply from me to Captain Fenwick
under cover, to which Officer I proposed to put a
dispatch to the address of Brigadier General Sir
Archibald Campbell, enclosing extracts® from the
continuation of my jonrnal.

78. On the 15: of Jauuary my dispatches for
Captain Fenwick at Martaban, and for Mr. Maingy at.

°f Tavoy were delivered to the care of Chakola and of

the two Sepoys, whom we saw embark in the same
boat with Took Krat.

79. The Burmese prisoners brought to us on
the 14th entreated me not to send them back, which
I had desired to do, until they were all collected and
boats ready for conveying them home ; and Pya Thep
left them at my house, without making any arrange-
ment for providing them with food shelter or clothing.
I ascertained from Pya Phi-phut that some difliculties
still existed against the final release of these Captives.
The Ministers could not answer my Memorial of the
10th ; and as an excuse for their silence, 1 was gravely
informed that if they sent a reply, they would not
have any subject to mention in the reply which they
are to make hereafter to the letter from the Governor
General to the King of Siam. The Wang-na or
second King, T understand was making the greatest
opposition against delivering the Captives allotted to
him. 1t was he that sent Pya Wisset and the Rajah
of Ligores followers to me on the 8th to persuade me
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not to insist upon the immediate delivery of the
Burmese at Bangkok. I now therefore sent him a
communication by a person who I have reason to
believe delivered it, that were His Highness to detain
a single Burmeso he would do irreparable injury to his
character and I wrote a note No. 7 on the 16th to the
Ministers requiring them to farnish me with a suitable
reply to my Memorial of the 10th,

80.  On the 19th finding from Pya Phi-phut that
the Ministers still desired to avoid making me a reply,
and anxious to relieve the miserable condition of
the Burmese who are lying in all directions around
my house, many afflicted with small pox; with no
food save what I give them; with no other shelter
than the Trees, and o few loose Attaps, and with
scarcely any Clothing, while the Thermometer duving
the nights and mornings has been so low as 60°, I
drew up another Memorial No. 8 on this day appealing
in still stronger language to the Ministers, and
asserting my conviction that the King of Siam was
not aware of the miserabl dition of these Burm
This produced a suitablo reply No. 9 on the following
day, and my Superiors may now see that nothing
but patience and reiterated efforts can bring any
discussion with this Court to a satisfactory termina-
tion.

81. Pya Phi-phut informed me on the 20th
that the Prah'of Puttihen has been appointed Pya
of Champohun, in the place of the late Pya whose
death T have already noticed, and that Pya Kray
i3 to be relieved and to return to Bangkok immediately,
Pya Phi-phut further let me know that the Siamese
Ministers do not confide in our assurances that the
Siamese prisoners at Mergui will be released, and ho
stated that the Ministers would release the Burmeso
and leave it optional to us whether we liberated the
Siamese prisoners or not. 1 engaged, that if the
original order, or an authenticated Copy of what
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the Ministers proposed to send to Champolum, for
the release of all the Burmese detained there, wers
delivered to me, T would send it to the British
Officer at Mergui, recommending him to forwand
the same with the Siamese prisoners and some
of his Servants to Champohun—when an exchange
of the two parties may be made. Although T know
that this Court is really indifferent as to the fate
of the Siamese at Mergui, and that the Ministers
place a much higher value on the Burmese prisoners
here ; yet as Mr. Maingy as well as T have offered to
release the Siamese, T am convinced that it will be
good policy, as well as creditable to our character, to
liberate the whole of the Siamese at once, the moment
the party of Burmese arrives there from Bangkok.
The detention of those Siamese will not securs thy
release of a Single Burmese.

82. Tt would be irksome to attempt to describus
the disgraceful cruel treatment which the Burmese
Captives have experienced in Siam. They have been
dispersed in every direction. Five or six are daily
bronght to us, and several are said to be in the
interior and at the old Capital Yothya. No list of the
whole were ever taken, and we learn that when the
late Pya of Champohun found that the King dis-
approved of his proceedings, he secretly distributed
many of the Prisoners among his friends in different
parts of the Country between Champohun and
Bangkok. The King of Siam himself has ever baen
desirous of sending back these Captives but his
Ministers and petty servants deprecate the loss of so
many laborers, and are still striving to evade the
execution of His Majesty’s liberal orders. Wo have
set somo of the prisoners to find out what Officers ara
detaining them, and through this means we have
obtained the release of several mors men and Women.
A woman came to us yesterdsy in great distress,
stating that she and her husband and three children
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had been secretly removed to Pak Laat by Belat
Khun Thon, the moment he received the orders for
their release, and that she had Just escaped to uys
leaving her husband and children at Pak laat.
We reported the circumstance immediately to Pya
Wisset, and 1 threatned to make a public complaint
against Khun Thon, if the whole party were not
immediately released. I was nssured that this hould
not only be done, but that Belat Khun Thon should
receive a severe punishment,

83. The head man of the Captives had informed
me, that the best mode of sending them home would
be through Meong Mai, near Samroyat hills—that
Boats may reach that place from Bangkok in two
days—that there is a very good carrings road over
which women and children may travel in five days
from Meong Mai to the boundary between the Siamese
and Burmeso Territories, at a place named Sing-Khon
or Tha-phi—that a small river takes it rise at Taungee,
about 2 days jonrney from Meong Mai, and may be
navigated on rafts for 4 days from the houndary
until it falls into the great Tinnan River, and that at
this place of junction buats may be procured to convey
the whole party to Tenasserim in one day. The whole
passage therefore from Bangkok to Tenasserim would
take 12 days. I mentioned this ronte to the Ministers
in my Memorial of the 19th and in their reply it
will be seen that they are of opinion, that during
the present North east Monsoon the Coast near
Mooung Mai is dangerons and difficult of approach.
I requested Pya Phi-phut therefore, to examine the
head man again himself, and they repeated what they
had before informed me, that the route by Mooung
Mai is the most easy and practicable for their women
and children, stating in addition that many of them
have often been to Mooung Mai at this season of the
year, and that there will be no difficulty to approach
it
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84. On the 24th January the Prah Klang in-
formed Captain Macfarquhar that Several Junks had
been taken up by the King for transporting the
Burmese to the West Coast of the Gulph of Siam,
and that these Vessels would ba brought on that day
to receive the party.

85, On the 25th Pya Wissst bronght the
Husband and Children of the Woman who had escaped
to us on the 19th from Paklaat, with 17 other Men,
woman and Childven whom the 24 King had had in
employ up the country. Pya Phi-phut, Prah Wisset,
and Ralsithe callel on me this day, with the draft
of the lattar which the Ministers are about to send
to Pya Kray at Chimpohun, directing him to release
the whole of the Burmese there. I endeavoured
without success, to persuade Pya Phi-phut to furnish
me with an authenticated copy of this letter—stating
that unless T send such a document to the Officer in
charge at Mergui, I could not answer for the Siamesa
prisoners being first liberated as T had proposed on
the 20th. T was informed that I ought to credit the
assurances of the Ministers, that such a letter should
be immediately dispatched ; that Pya Kray, after
receiving it, dare not for 1 moment hesitate releasing
the whole of the Burmese remaining ; and that with
respect to the Siamese prisoners at Mergui, tho
British Officer there may please himself, whether ho
first releases them or not. I was mnow allowed
Tiowever to take a copy of this letter which T shall
send to Mergui with a translation No, 10 that I have
of it by means ofa version in the Malayan language.

86. On this day the 25 January, Tacheem,
the person whom the Siamese lad appointed the
Chief of all the Burmese prisoners died of an
attack of Cholera. The fate of this poor man,
his dying just as ho was on the point of
escaping from his merciless task-masters, and of
returning to his own home, is truly Melancholy ; and
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his loss will be much felt: by us, as his acquaintance
with the Sinmese language and general intelligence
rendered him almost the channel of ouwr communi-
cation with the Burmese prisoners,  Since the 20th
1 have been daily urging Pya Phi-phut about other
Burmese from Bangkok. Looking at their present
miserable quarters 1 am only surprised that there are
not more casualties among them. Besides Tacheem
several others have died since they were transferred
to us. Of the 1600 said to have been originally
carried away from the Districts of Tavoy Mergui and
Tenasserim, 1 fear the mnumber has been much
diminished by deaths. We have not been able
to trace more than G600 at Bangkok, and we have
various accounts of the number remaining at Chim-
pohun.  The Burmese declare that there ave 400
while the Siamese Officers estimate them at only 200,
No doubt, the absence of many will be falsely at-
tributed to death. - Yet I hope if we secure the release
of even 800 or 1000 people we shall have done some
grood,

7. Pya Phi-phut and Prab Wiscet also brought
to me on the 25th a Siamese translation of anather
letter which they said had been addressed by Captain
Fenwick to Maha Ayothia, and which repeated a
desire that Mala Ayothia should advance quickly
to co-operate with the English Forces, and move
directly upon Toongho. I learnt from a secret source,
that the Peguer, who had brought Captain Fenwicks
letter, had laid before the Court an account of a visit
that he had made to Martaban. My informant
assured me, that he had seen this account, which
reported that Martaban had been destroyed by a
recent fire, and that the writer had given to Captain
Fenwick a very exaggerated account of the strength of
Maha Ayothia's force, declaring it to consist of 10,006
Men, 400 horses and 200 Elephants.

88. When paying a compliment today to Pya
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Phi-phut, I found that T had unwittingly given him
high offence. 1 observed, in the course of conversa-
tion, that lie lad o good head, meaning that he
possessed a good understanding. He took my remark
litterally and seemed hurt that I should make any
observation wpon the form of his hiead, a part of the
body held in great roverence by the Siamese, 1
discovered that the Siamese consider the understand-
ing to be lodged in the heart, and as I could not
persuade Pya Phi-phut that the Head, acconding to
Europeans and Natives of Hindostan, is more natural-
Iy the seat of that faculty I transferred the complaint
from his head to his heart.

80.  The Ministers liad in their last Jotter
requested me to arrange with Pya Phi-phat for the
removal of the Burmese prisoners, and as some of them
were daily dying for the want of clothing and proper
shelter, T was anxious to sec them depart as soon as
possible.  Pya Phi-phut Kosa however like o true
Siamese could not be moved beyond his usual dilatory
course, notwithstanding all my representations of the
miserable: condition of the Burmese. On the 26: 27:
26 and 20th my Messenger duly came back with a
reply from the Pya that the Junks should positively
come opposite to. the house on the following day.
Desirous of secing Kim, as well on this sulject as to
siguify my intention of dispatching the Brig Guardian
to Ligore, 1 again sent my Interpreter to hiim on the
20th to request that he would pay me a visit for a
few moments, He lost his temper and returned an
impertinent Message, that he could not be tronbled to
call upon me, but that if T had any thing to say to
him I had Letter come to his Office 5 and shortly after
he sent me a message by the Servant of the lowest
Class, to inform me that one of the Junks taken up
for the Burmese captives would arrive on that day
opposite to our house. I directed my Interpreter to
8o back with the messenger, and to explain that
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such messages and by such persons, wero by no
means proper to be sent to me, and that I should
address o complaint to the King against him. Ho
answered by asking who would dare to Iny my
complaint befors the King. Judging that T ought not
to submit to such impertinence, I wrote n short note
to tho King, and carrying it to the Prah Klang
on the following day, desired it might immediately
be laid before His Mujesty. The Prah Klang
considering that Pya Phi-phut is a Siamese and his
own deputy, behaved much better than I had expected,
He made many excuses for his friend, and strove
much to prevent matters proceeding to an extremity—
and when he found me resolute, he made Pya Phi-
phut declare his regret for what had passed, and
his readiness o wait upon me on, the following day,
and whenever 1 pleased to require his attendance,

90. On the evening of the Slst we wers
agreeably surprised by the arrival of Mr. Assistant
Surgeon Harris, and my Interpreter Mr. Leal. T had
some days beforo received positive intelligence that
the Court had semt a communication to the Rajah
of Ligore, disapproving of his intentions to bring
these Gentlemen to Bangkok overland, and T had Jjust
resolved upon dispatching the Brig Guardian for them
to Ligore. These Gentlemen now informed me, that
the Rajah in consequence of the continued illness of
his son, and from a desire, they belioved, of first
ascertaining the nature of my reception at the
Capital, had delayed leaving Ligore until the 18th
of December and had delayed to fthat time also,
forwarding the despatch that 1 had left for Prince of
Wales Island, from an unwillingness  that the
Honorable the Governor of Prince of Wales Island
should be apprized of His Highuess being still at
Ligore. On the 18th the Rajah set out from Ligore
with about 60 or 70 Elephants and 8 or 4000
followers, leaving his wife and Son, who continued
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unwell, to follow him by sea as soon as the Monsoon
changed. The direction of the route was for the most
past at some distance from the sea shore, and the
Jjourney was very tedious and difficult from the bad
state of the roads and the late heavy rains. In
fact, there was scarcely any road but what an advaneed
party belonging to the Rajah cleared before him.
Mr. Harris’s observations tend to confirm the accuracy
of Mr. Crawfurd's information. 1 gave him a copy of
Mr, Crawfurds Chart of the West Coast of the Gulf
of Siam, which with the exception of some few
ervors in the names, was found very correct. 1 may
take o fature opportunity of drawing up from Mr.
Harris and Mr. Leals reports some account of the
journey, and shall confine myself at present to
observing, that on the arrival of the Rajah of Ligore
at Chimpolun he received some lotters from Bangkok
which indnced him to put a greater restraint on the
observations of his guests, and three days after, on
their arrival at Putti-hew, the Rajah on pretence that
most of his Elephants were knocked up by the
Jjourney recommended Messes. Harris and Leal to
proceed to Bangkok in a boat, which was acconlingly
prepared, and in which under charge of the Son of the
Prah of Putti-hew they left that place on the 27th
and arrivad at Bangkok, having stopped one day
at Samroyat, on the evening of the 3lst. During
their passage hither Mr. Leal discovered, among
papers of one of the Rajahs followers a copy
of a letter which the Rajah had written to the
Court, excusing himself as much as possible for
laving proposed to bring these British subjects over
land—stating that I had forced them upon him, and
that he had given them no opportunity of seeing the
proper route between Ligore and the Capital and
proposing, that their papers should be seized and
examined on their arrival at Paknam.

91, T had two objects for leaving Messrs, Harris
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anl Leal at Ligore. I had not room on board the
Brig Guardian for Pho-Pheuk the Rajahs son, and the
Kha Luang Woot Aknes, to whom I gave up the
Cabins of these Gentlemen, and 1 believed that their
presence would in some measure ensure the Rajal’s
joining me at Bangkok. As for a knowledgs of the
route between Ligore and the Capital, a bug-bear with
which the Malays are ever exciting the fears of the
Sinmese, T knew that, that was an object of no im-
portance, and when I first heard that the Ministers
had taken alarm, 1 desired the Siamese Officer to
assure them, that if Siam quarrelled with the British
Government we should never think of Marching a
force overland to the Capital, as long as we possessed
Ships to bring it here without trouble or loss of
time.

92. Whilst at Chimpohun Messrs. Harris and
Leal understood that there were no less than 700 of
the Mergui Captives there, and they heard Pya Kray
inform the Rajah of Ligore that the Court of Siam
had given very peremptory orders, prohibiting all
intercourse with Mergni or any British possession in
that neighbourhood. The Prah of Puttihew, who is
now app d Pya of Chimpol PP a quiet,
mild character of abont 52 years of age. He had never
seen a European before. Chaiya and Chimpoliun were
the two largest towns seen by Messrs, Harris and TLeal.
They are defended by stockade fortifications, and the
population of the province of Chaiya was reported to
amount to 18 or 19,000 Souls, while that of Chim-
pohun to 7 or 8,000 only. The River of Chimpohun
is very shallow but the bed is sandy, and apparently
capable with little difficnlty of being deepened and
the stream connected with the Pak Chan or Rinnong
rivers on the Western coast of the Isthmus of Kraw.
The Rajah of Ligore had many presents and a large
amount of Treasure with him,
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93. On this same evening of the 31st of January
I received despatches from Captain Fenwick and
(,npmm \\’nllmmson tlns Deputy Political Agent at.
M lligence of a Peace being
about to be wnclmlud with the Government of Ava.

94. Anxious to communicate as soon as possibls
some idea of the views and expectations of the Court
to tho Commissioners in Ava, I drew up in as short a
compass as possible, such suggestions (No. 11) re-
specting our negotiations with Siam as occurred to
me, and applied to the Pral Klang for a messenger to
convey them immediately to Martaban.

95. Paya Phi-phut Kosa called upon me as soon
as he had heard the intelligence which was received
by the Court from Malia Ayothia, who had forwarded
to it the letters addressed to him by Captain Fenwick
and Captain Williamson, as well as another letter
addressed directly to the Ministers by the British Com-
missioners. I soon discovered from Pya Phi-phut's
wanner that the intelligence of so honorable a term-
ination of the war was not entirely believed, that it
had excited great suspicion in the minds of the
Ministers and that they were now, naturally enough,
vexed with themselves as well as with me for not hav-
ing attended to my repeated applications to them to
move Maha Ayothias force towards Martaban. 1 found
that the Ministers believed that after all that had pas-
sed between them and me, they could searcely expect
any advantages at my hands, and that they had some
intention of opening an entirely new negotiation witl
the British Commissioners, who had given them the

portunity Ly addressing them directly—upon my
assuring Pya Phi-phut that I was still actuated by the
most friendly feelings towards the Siamese and that I
would strive to gain for them any advantages in my
power, in the peace which was about to ba concluded
with Ava, he told me that Siam does not require Mar-
taban or any Territory from us, and that the objects of
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my Mission refer to the release of the Burmese Capt-
ives and to the establishment of a firm friendship bo-
tween the English and Siamese, and not to such minor
matters as the cession of Territory. Tasked if these
were the sentiments of the Ministers, but Pya Phi-
phut imuodiately drew back and stated that they wers
his own, and that I had better address the Ministers
themselves on the subject.

96. Onthe lst February we received intelligence
that the Rajah of Ligore had arrived at Phruphres,
and that he may be expected at the Capital on the
first lucky day.

97. On the 20 February Seming Sunan-fliu-fat
a Pegue Officer about. to depart on that day for the
purpose of joining Maha Ayothias force, was sent to
me by the Prah Klang to receive charge of my dis-
patches for Captains Fenwiek and Williamson,

98, On thix day I transmitted o Memorial No,
12 to the Ministers, communicating the intelligence
that T had received from Martaban, and Proposing that
that they should depute immediately to Martaban
some Siamese Officer of rank and character, with
myself or Captain Macfarquhar, for the purpose of
conferring with the British Commissioners in Ava,
of ascertaining whether Martaban or any other
Territory can now be ceded in favor of Siam, and
of making the necessary enquiries in view to the
future settlement of suitable boundaries between the
Siamese dominions and the British possessions of
Tavoy and Mergui. 1am satisfied that the Ministers
are too ignorant and indolent, and are too deeply
impressed with a notion that the British Government
is anxious to ascertain the different routes into Siam
for my proposition to have much chance of success.
But T hope that it will stimulate the Court to com-
municate its expectations more fully to the British
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Commissioners, and perhaps to order Maha Ayothia or
some other officer to give them or Captain Williamson
& Meeting,

99. On the same day the 2d February the G
Junks taken up for the conveyance of the Burmeso
Captives came and anchored opposite our house, and [
wrote another letter to the Ministers, stating 585 Men,
Women and Children had been brought to me—that
17 had died and 21 were too sick to be removed for
the t—but that the ining 547 could bo
embarked the moment a supply of provisions and
water was shipped on board the Junks. 1 proposed
also, as the Burmese were afraid to cross the Siameso
Territories by themselves, to send them under charge
of Mr, Leal, who has been acting as Mate of the
Guardian as well as my Interpreter.

100. Late on the Night of 3d February the
Rajoh of Ligore arrived at Bangkok. He sent mea
message on the following morning, stating that he
cannot see me until he has an andience with the King
and has visited the Ministers and Officers, but that he
will Jet me knew the moment he has gone through
the established etiquette.

101. On the 5th February Pya Phi-phut Kosa
and Samian Tra waited upon me with answers
from the Ministers to my two Memorials of the
2d. I annex translations No. 14 and 15 which
I have made of thess answers by means of
versions in the Malayan languaga. Although the
Ministers do not accede to that part of my
proposition, in which 1 recommend them to let
me forward their letter to Pya Kray through the Officer
in charge of Mergui, 1 have reason to be thankfal
to them for allowing Mr. Leal to accompany the
Burmese Captives, a request which I had feared the
notion entertained by the Court of our desire of
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ascertaining overland routes into Siam wounld have
made it refuse. The Burmese however nurged me to
make it, by declaring that they would never venture to
proceed to Mergui without some Escort or protection
from me. This Answer No. 14 gives another proof to
the many 1 have seen before, that these Burmese
Captives would never have been released if the present;
Mission had not been deputed. Mr. Leal can speak
and read and write the Siamese language, and from
having been so lately at Chimpohun he will prove o
useful person to be sent thero in order to claim the
release of all the Burmese in charge of the Pya
Kray. His acquaintance with the Siamese Ianguage
and customs, and knowledge of parties at Bangkok
will also render him a useful acquisition to Mr. Maingy
and the Officer in civil chavge at Mergui.

102. The answer No. 15 is an extraordinary
production intended apparently to prevent the British
Government taking offence at the deceitful promises
which the Court had made of co-operation in the
war. Pya Phi-phut himself could not avoid Joining
with me in laughing at the manner in which the
Mahn Ayothia and Pya Puram’s small detachments
are maguified by the Ministers into a very large
Siamese Army collected from every part of the
Empire. As the Ministers however apprized me that
this reply had been written without the knowledge of
the King I called upon the Prah Klang on the 6th to
enquire why my Memorial No. 12 had not been Jaid
before the King. He replied, that the Ministers did
ot think it necessary, as the King had already given
orders on the subject upon receipt of the letters from
Captain Fenwick and Williamson. 1 declared that
my Memorial was written under the authority of the
Governor General—that by the Laws of Siam it is the
King and not the Ministers who are to give orders on
such an important affair, and that the Ministers
declining to submit the letters of the British Envoy to
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the King would naturally induce the Governor General
to believo that they wished to do mischief hetween
him and the King. The Pral Klang replied, that
I had not stated in my Memorial that it was
written under the anthority of the Governor General.
I pointed out that as the Governor Generals repre-
sentative I was responsiblo to His Lowdship for all
my Acts. I added, that the King had much better
learn from the British Envoy and from British
Officers  which are the English and  which the
Burmese Tervitories, and not order poor Ignorant
Burmese, to be caught in order to be questioned on
such subjects. [ retuned lome and repeated the
above in a Note No. 16 addressed to the Ministers, and
sent it on the morning of the 7l to the Pral Klang,

103. Pya Phi-phut, when delivering the last
reply No. 15 to me, tovk great pains to explain the
difference of Siamese expressions “ Mai ao” and
“ Mai tong Kan." The former means *do not want
or desire,” the latter Which is the phmse used by
the Ministers in their reply to me on the
subject of Territorial cessions means, *is not
necessary.” I gathered from the Pya as well as from
ather sources, that the Cowtt is very unwilling to
acknowledge to me its desive of receiving a portion
of our Burmese conquests, from a suspicion that the
cession would be coupled by us with some condition
which it could not grant. 1 found a general impres-
sion exists at Banygkok that the principal object of the
present Mission is to establish a British factory or
Resident here ; and when T assured Pya Phi-phut, that
this impression is erroncous, he seemed surprized and
urged me to make such a declaration to the Ministers
in writing. 1 have heard also that some schism exists
in the Cabinet concerning the policy of nccepting
any portion of the Burmese conquests, even it it be
offered by us without any difficult condition. Some of
the Ministers, referring to the treacherous acts in past
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years of Burmese and Siamese Governors of Tavoy and
Mergui, argues that if the Court form Establishments
in that quarter it will lead to the repetition of such
acts of treachery. The English as well as the Burmese
they state will have an opportunity of bribing or
intriguing with the Siamese Governors for a ready
admission from thence into the Siamese dominions,

104.  On the 7th February the Rajah of Ligore
sent me a message requesting me to visit him. He
lives in a quarter of the City allotted for the residence
of persons from Ligore, and although there is every
appearance of his premises having lately undergone a
repair, they are very shabby in comparison with the
habitations of the Ministers. But the Rajah appears
to us to affect the absence of show and ostentation
and T soon discovered that circumstances had occurred
to occasion considerable alarm in his head. I have
before mentioned that some dispatches forwarded to
me from Tavoy had been opened by the Prah Klang
and very improperly translated into the Siamese
language by the Portuguese Consul. These papers
gave the Court a suspicion, that the Chief of Ligore
had been sacrificing the Interests of his country
and had been cultivating too great an intimacy with
the English, It was the knowledge of the contents
of these papers that must have urged the Court
to prohibit the Rajah against bringing Messrs.
Harris and Leal overland with him, and on the arrival
of the Rajah here he has found himself placed in
a very dangerous situation until he can satisfy the
Court of the propriety of his whole conduct, and of
the sincerity, of my friendly declarations. He began
Ly apologizing for his having failed to quit Ligore at
the time he had engaged, and said that I could form
no idea of the anxiety and trouble which he had
experienced, in quitting his sick child to travel to
Bangkok at this season of the year. I replied that
if T had not visited Bangkok I could never have
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believed, that a Siamese Officer puts aside all publie
business and forgets his most solemn duties whenever
any member of his family becomes sick—and I
added, that his not having accompanied me to
Bangkok had made me also experience an abundance
of trouble and anxiety, as I could persuade no ona
of the trath of the commonest assertion that I
had made. 1 then repeated to him, as minutely
as it was in my power, every thing that had passed
since my arrival here, and it was really some velief
to converse with a person who listened with attention
and intelligence, two qualities which no Minister
or Officer at Bangkok ever betrayed at any conference
with me. When I told the Rajah that the Ministers
1 had learned were laboring under a mistaken notion,
that the present Mission had been deputed to establish
a British Consul or Resident and factory at Bangkok,
he eagerly made me repeat that this notion wax
wholly unfounded, and as the inexpediency of such a
connexion with Siam had been long proved to me, L
agsured the Rajah that T had come for no such
purpose, and that it was my deliberate conviction no
English Resident, Consul or Factory could be es-
tablished at. Bangkok, without the chance of bringing
on a War between the two nations in the course of
Six Months. 1 had witnessed the humiliations and
indignities which the Portuguese Consul was daily
experiencing, and with which no British Officer could
put up, During even my short residence here I haul
suffered indignities to which nothing but my sincers
desire of establishing amicable relations with the
Siamese would have induced me to submit so quietly.
I was encouraged to disclose these opinions so foreibly,
from knowing that they coincided with those formed
by Mr. Crawfurd (See report of his Mission Pars:
108 and 112 ).

105. The Rajah now seemed to have a great
weight removed from his mind, and he desired me to
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be under no uneasiness at the Ministers having
omitted to show my last Memorial to the King. At
this moment, notice was brought to him that two
Siamese Officers had arrived to pay him a visit. At
my request hie sent out a message to excuse himself
from seeing them. But the messenger returned with
A communication, that obliged the Rajah to go out:
and meet them in the adjoining room. He returned
shortly after, informing me that the two visitors
were Officers from the Palace and he conld not avoid
admitting them. The Rajah carefully put his
apartments in order, begged of me not to sit down
too near him, or shew too great an intimacy,
but to adopt as much as 1 could the customs
observed in my visits to the other Siamese Chiefs.
The two visitors, Pya Ram and Pya Ram Kamheing
then came in. 'They crawled towards the Rajah
and made him the most abject obeisances, but 1 soon
raw that they had been deputed as spies to see what
passed between the Rajah of Ligore and myself. They
Pt questions to me evidently for the information of
others, asked if the Treaty between the Burmese and
English had been actually signel and whether we
conll confide in any engagements or assurances of
peaco which the Burmese might make. 1 observed
that we would probably not move our Army from the
Burmese Territories mntil the Government of Ava
fulfilled all the stipulations of any Treaty which it
may conclude with us. But these Siamese Officers
seemed to rest eatisfied that the Barmese had opened
o negotiation with us for no other purpose than to
ain time and to deceive us. The Rajah of Ligore
asked me and took down in writing the names of the
different Territories, we are about to retain, or return
to Ava, and seemed most inquisitive as to the Sum
of money that the Burmese am to engage to pay us.
‘This payment of money, next to the possession of the
Burmese Capital, is the most unequivocal proof we
could give to the Siamese and every Indo Chinese
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Nation, of the superiority of the British Arms
over those of Ava.

106.  Pya Ram showed by his manner, that ha
did not credit what I was stating, and on my assuring
him that I had received a Copy of a letter, which the
British General had written from the seat of the
negotiations he coolly observed *the story comes
from a great distance.” The Siamese believe that our
General and Officers instruct me to utter falsehoods
in the same manner as their Government makes
practice of instructing its Officers. The Rajah of
Ligore sent me a message in the evening that my
visit had afforded him great happiness, and that
he was about to wait on the King that night with
o report of all T had said,

107. On the 8th a Chulia servant of the Rajah
of Ligore, named Sultan Shaw, .who accompanied
Mr. Harris from Puttihew and whom I knew and found
very uscful at Queda in 1822, as well as lnst year,
assured me that the King had sent for the Rajah
the very night of his arrival, and had transferred to
him the conduct of all negotiations with me and
that his Majesty having on the day preceding seen
me pass to visit His Highness, had sent Pya Ram
and Pya Ram Kam heng, who are two Kaluangs to
meet me at the Rajah's, and to bring him information
on those points respecting which they had questioned
to (sic) me. In the evening, the Rajah sent me
a Message requesting me to send to him in writing,
for the purpose of being privately laid before the
King, an explicit declaration of the views of the
British Government with respect to Trade and the
Malayan States. I had for some days before, the
moment I received intelligence of the approaching
peace with Ava drawn up a paper of propositions to
be laid before the Ministers, and had it secretly
translated with every possible care by one of the
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Officers of the King. I now sent a Siamese copy” of
this Memorial No. 19 to the Rajah desi ng hin to
take a Copy of it, and 1 wrote a short note, further
explaining to him the expectations of the British
Government respecting the Malayan States, namely,
that with regard to the States of Queda, Perak and
Salangore, the Governor General nd expressed his
determination to ratify the Treaty which I had con-
cluded with his Highness ; and that with regand to
the States of Calantan and Tringano, the British
Government. only requived Siam to engage not to visit
them with her Avmies or to molest them and disturl
the Peaco and commerce, of the neighbouring nglish
Settlements. I desived the Rajah of Ligore to assure
the King, that I can prove every syllable contained in
my Memorial No. 19 and to that document, with the
Notes which L have added to it, I beg to draw the
attention of my Superiovs as conveying the best Idea
Lean now affonl them of the system by which our
Commerce s now regulated ot Bangkok, and the
principal points in which I conceive that system has
any chance of being ameliorated by negotiation.

168, On the 9th February Pya Phisphut sent
me a dispatch from Captain Williamson, which had
just arrived from Maha Ayothin. As this Dispatch
contained a Copy of a letter from the Sceretary to the
British Commissioners in Pegue and Ava stating that
o special clause has been inserted in the Treaty
concluded with the Burmese Negotiators, by which
the Siamese, as the Allies of the British are admitted
to the benefits of peace, if they think proper to-avail
themselves of them, I lost no time in forwarding
a communication of this intelligence to the Ministers
in Letter No. 17. There was some address necessary
not to wound the pride of this Court and to induce it
to accept the loan we offer. It really fears the
Burmese power, but is extremely anxious to conceal
its fears. But this intelligence has arrived most
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opportunely, as 1 was very desirous to prevent the
order, which the King had just given, for his Troops
to catch Burmese and commit aggressions against
them, and I had privately learned, that the Court pro~
posed to advance Maha Ayothia and avail themselves
of an opportunity, the moment our Troops retired, of
Iaying waste some Burmese Territory and of bringing
away the whole of its Inhabitants. I madeacom-
munication of this intelligence to the Rajah of
Ligore, who immediately sent a clerk to take it down
in writing, in order that he may privately lay
the same before the King and Wang-na—and I
certainly think this mode of communication, so
nnusual among the Siamese, is the most safe and
satisfactory for myself.

109. On the morning of the 10th February
Pya Phi-phut Kosa and Samian Tra brought ma
a reply to my letter No. 16 of the 6th Instant. 1
annex a translation No. 18 of this reply, which conveys
the sentiments of the King himself, to whom I
find the Ministers were at length obliged to submit,
my letter.  They had refrained from doing it before,
I suspect because my letter complimented His Majesty
at their expense. The expression in this reply that
“Martaban is far from Sinm” is the result of the
intelligence brought hero some days ago, that Mar

taban has been intirely destroyed by fire, and that,

that Province is much depopulated. Pya Phi-phut.
examined o Map of Ava with me, and pointing to
Mergui as well as Martaban said, that each placs
was too far from Siam, trying very significantly
to let me understand, that the King would prefer
possession of Tavoy. I pretended however to take
His Majesty’s expression to mean a general refusal of
any Territorial cession from us, and I told Pya Phi-
phut that T should so inform the British Government.
Pya Phi-phut shewed me a Siamese translation of
the letter which the British Commissioners in Pegue
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aud Ava had sddressed to the Ministers in the
Burmese and Persian langnages, and in which as it
was interpreted to me the Sinmeso are promised
possession of Tavoy—but I suspect the translation
was not a faithful one: Letters addressed to
this Court have the hest chance of being well
understood if written in the Portuguese, Malayan
or English language. The letter from the Commis
xoners was received by the Kalahom to whom all
dispatches that arrive by land are referred, while
all letters arriving at Bangkok by Sea are taken
to the Department of the Prah Klang.

110. T have not failed to point out, as forcibly
as possible, to Doth the Rajah of Ligore and Pya
Phi-phut, the advantage of Simm availing hewself
of the benefits of the peace with Ava, as offered
to her by the British Negotiators. 1 have endeavoured
to prove to them, that the clause in omr Treaty
with Ava by which the benefits of peace are secured
in favor of Siam also, is as unequivoeal a proof
of the friendly disposition of the British Government, as
the cession of a portion of its conquests conld bo.

111, Tate last night the Rajah of Ligore
sent me a message requesting me to make some
verbal alterations in my Memorial No. 19, and to
add to it a more explicit exposition of the views of
the British Government with respect to the Malayan
States. He begged of me also not to maka too free
a use of his name in my correspondsnce as such
circumstances would excite jealousy and suspicion
of the Ministers. His influence in my favor is exerted
secretly he declares with both the King and Wang-na,
and he cannot openly act against the Ministers.
} learnt that the Wang-na is not only nephew to
the Rajah of Ligore, but that the King is in datly
expectation of a Son and Heir by one of His
Highness's daughters.  During the last two days
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the Prah Klang was absent fitting a chain of de
across the Menam. This chain las besn recently
prepared in a curious way,  Bvery Blacksmith at
Bangkok was obliged to contribute a certain number
of links,

.

12, On the 11th Py Phi-phut called to ac-
quaint me that as my last letter No. 17 is very short
and upon a business of no great importar the
Ministers would defer laying it before the King,
until they received the paper of Propositions, which
they appear to have heard from the Rajah of Ligore, 1
was abont to send in, 1 told Pya Phi-phut that the
intelligence contained in my letter No. 17 was in my
opinion of the greatest importance to the interests of
am and that T was extremely desivons of ascertain-
ing, as soon as possible, the sentiments of the King on
the subject of the clouse which had been inserted
in the Treaty with Ava, sccuring the benefits of peace
in favour of Siam. 1 took pains to shew him the
advantage of the Siamese availing themselves of the
boon, and requested him to urge the Ministers to give
me o pledge that the Siamese would accept of the
peace seeured for them by the English Commissioners,
and that they would engage on their part not to
provoke the Burmese or commit aggressions on theiv
territories.

113, On the night of the 12th I paid a visit to
the Rajah of Ligore, who told me that he thought the
Court would certainly accede to some of the proposi=
tions contained in my Memorial No. 18, but at present,
1o declarations on my part could convince the
Ministers but that the English desired to force a
Consul or Resident upon the Siamese and to take
possession of the Kingdom of Queda. The Rajah
strove to ascertain from me, whether a refusal on Lho
part of the Mini. to my iti
Queda would produce a war between the two NBHOM 3
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and he gave me to understand, that the Court con-
siders the proposed payment by the Rajah of Queda of
4000 Dollars per Annum to Siam, as too small a sum.
out of the Revenues of Queda, which amount at least
to 30,000 Dollars and that possession of a portion of
our Conquests on the Coast of Tenasserim is really
much desired by the Siamese. He laughingly told
me, that the Court would ask the British Government
for all the four provinces of Martaban Yi, Tavoy and
Mergui.

114 On the 13th 547 Men, Women and Children
of the Burmese Captives were embarked on baard the 6
Aunks taken up for theiv conveyance to Bangnarom near
Moung Mai. The Siamese shewed to the last moment
their unwillingness to lose these Captives, and
nothing but strong and decisive langnage on part
would have ever had them sent back. The Siamese
were also, to the last moment, cruel and inhnman
in their treatment of these prisoners, Notwithstanding
the abundance and cheapness of rice in this Country»
the provisions embarked in the Junks for the use
of the Captives were of the most disgusting quality.
Six certificates were given from the department of
the Kalalion to pass these prisoners across the Country
to Tennssrim, and a pass to the Junke from the
Department of the Pral Klang. In the former
documents an_ attempt was made to avoid including
Mr. Leal ona pretence that there was no necessity
for mentioning his name and 1 was obliged to
veturn them and have them corrected. 12 or 18
Men Women and Children are too sick to be
removed at present, and I hope by the time they
recover, we shall be able to discover some moro
of the Captives, and ascertain where the Pya of
Chimpohun  dispersed a great many that are not
included in the register of the Court.

115.  On the evening of this day Pya Phi-phut
Kosa called upon me to enquire whether it is the
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intention of the British
free trade and intercourse between th
dominions and Tavoy and Mergui. He said, ho
asked, bzeause mo trade and interconrse formerly
existed between Sinm and those places. | replied. that.
I'had repeatedly  pointed out to  the Ministers the
advantage of settling with Mr. Maingy, who had
himself also written on the subject, all matters
counected with the establishment of an  enlarged
‘Trade and friendly i betwoen onr )

rnment to admit ¢f a

i

Sinmeso

on the Coast of Tenasserim and the Siamesn dominions
and that the deputation of a Siamese Officer of mnk
and character to confer with the British Commis—
sioners at Rangoon, in order to armnge all these points,

as well as to settle mutual houndaries, had I
commended by me to His Majesty, whosa
tion. (namely that the English

earnestly
answer to my propo
wight enquire of the old Inhabitants of Mergui and
Tavoy and fix the boundaries pointed ont by them)
would he received with astonishment by my Govern-
ment. 1 pointed ot the absurdity of such an answer,
Ly asking Pya  Thi-phut if any Burmese, for the

purpose of doing mischict, were to acquaint the
Inglish that the ancient Burmese houndaries extended
to the town of Cumburi, did His Majesty mean that
wer should take possession of the Country as far as
that place? Pya Phi=phot seemed to be struck with
the obscrvation, and begged of me to wait a
littls and not to report to my Government for the
present His Majesty's nuswer to my proposition.
He also informed me, that the boundaries between
the Siameso and Burmese consisted of a tract of
Mountains and forest, which is several miles wide and
which could not be said to belong to either nation.
Each had detachments on the look out to seize any per—
son of the other party found straying within the tract.

116.  Anxious to ensure to my superiors a know-
ledge of the present state of my negotiations and to
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wevive: whatever instructions they may v to

eate to me after reviewing my proceedings with
referonce to the close of the Burmese War amd finding
it necessary also to procure for my Eseart and followers
u fwther supply of cortain Provisions, snch as (hes
Dholl, and Gram, which ave expended aud which can-
Nt e procured in Siam, T resolved this dy upon
divecting the Brig Guandian to proceed with all
expedition to e of Wales Island.

wapore and Prin

I duly communicated my resolution to fhe Prah
Klang, and satisfied myself that no ohjection ta it

woulld be made on - the part of the King and Ministens.

7. On the woming of the 14th February
presented to the Py Klang for the pury
faid Defore His Majesty and the ministers, my Monio-
#ial No. 19 giving an exposition of the whole abjects

w of huing

which the British Government desive, in my o
to obtain from Siam, 1 told the Prh Klang, that. i
theve was any improper or offensive expression in ny
Memorial, I should be much obliged at its Deing
pointed out ¢ me that I might corvect it, My lust
letter was considered by the Ministers as too short,
but the present Memorial, 1 regret to state, in conse-
quence of the tautological structure of the

atmess
language, and their custom of pasting the sheets one to
another was 10 feet long. 1 took care to mako an
offer to the Prah Klang of the Brig Guardian to bring
up for himself or for His Majesty, any Articles they
may require from Singapore ar Penang,

118. Tn the afternoon, Pya Phi-phut brought
to me a veply from the Ministers to my Memorial
No. 17. From a perusal of the annexed translation of
this reply (No. 20) my Superiors will Jjudge of the
feelings of this Court and people towards the Burmese,
and of the temper with which they regard the Clause
in our Treaty with Ava, admitting them to the
benefits of the peace. The reply is not clear
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o ong point but Pyn Phi-phut assnred e, that
the King has comtermanded the order direeting
the Sinmese Ofticers to eatel Burmese, and if this
be tene, some immediate advantage will be gained,
as time will be given to the Superior Government
to fis the line of our future jol
with Dboth Siam and Ava,

cal  relations

119, On the 15th Februnry the Brig Guandian
amd the Six unks with the  Mergui Captives
1ot Bangkok.

wed) 1L Bumey
Envay to the Court

of Niam
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Appendix No. 1.

27th December 1825,

NOTE delivered to the Ministers of His Majesty
the Kiug of Siam by Captain Henry Burmey Hnvoy
from the Right Honorablo the Governor General of
British India,

Captain  Burney  lastens  to  acquaint the
Ministers of the Court of Siam, that he has just
eived o letter dated the 5th of Decomber from
Captain Robert  Fenwick, Commanding Officer at
Martaban containiug the following intelligence.

The Compaign has been opened by & small
Detachment of English Sepoys being attacked by
a large foree of Burmese, particularly of Cavaley
which were repulsed with  immense loss at w
Village above Prome, the name of which is not
mentioned.  Every preparation has Leen wade for
prosecuting the War this season with great. spirit.
A very luge Army has taken the field in Bengal.
Strong re-inforcements are arrived ot Rangoon
from  Madwms.  Brigadier (eneral Sir  Archibald
Campbell is moving from Prome with every chance of
soon reaching the Capital of Ava, while Colonel
Pepper with a strong Euglish foree of 5000 men is
about to move from Pegu towards Toongho, and:
with this force the Hnglish General proposes that
Chow Pya Maha Ayothia and the Doo-arwudde Army
shall act, if the Court of Siam order them to hasten
and join the Euglish at Martaban.

The British Government has determined upon
restoring the old Pegn Kingdom and establishing
the Talliens as a barrier between the Burmese and
English and Siamese, Such an arrangsment will it
is hoped be highly satisfactory to the Court of Siam,
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and urge it to the most prompt and decisivo-
co-operation with the English.

The British General is desirous of procuring mors
Elephants and Horses; and if this Court is really
disposed to act against the Burmese, Captain Burney
is certain that nu proot of its disposition will be xo
satisfactory, or really useful, as the furnishing the
British Army with all possible expedition, with a
sapply of these Animals ; for the
and  provisioning which, Captain Burney is ready
ta enter immediately into any equitable terms with
the Siamese Officers.

(Signed) H. BURNEY—Captain

Envoy to the Court of Siam.

sxpense of sending

A True Copy
(Signed) H. BURNRY.
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Appendix No. 2.

December 3lat. 1825.

MEMORIAL presented to the Ministers of His
Majesty the King of Siam, by Captain Henry Bumey,
Envoy from the Right Honorable the (iovernor
General of British India.

Captain Henry Burney had the honor, four days
axo, of delivering a Note to the Ministers of the King
of Siam, ining the sul of such intellig
s he had receivel from Martaban, respecting the
plan of the ensning Campaign against Ava; and he
now begs to dvaw to their notice, that if they resolve
upon preventing Chow Pya Maha Ayothin's foreo
from co-operating with the English Army, until o
reply is received to their proposition for oceupying
Martaban, a great deal of the most valuable time will
be irrecoverably lost. Captain Burney las alveady
assured the Chow Pya Prah Klang that whatever
portion of Siamese Troops may be sent to act with the
English Army, the fighting men shall receive the
=ame daily rations of Rice as are distributed to the
Sepoys.,

Captain Burney strongly recommends the Court of
Siam to send now at once to Martaban 4 or 5,000 men
under Maha Ayothia and all the Elephants and Horses
it can command, with onders to act in conjunction
with Colonel Pepper's English Army of 5,000 men,
which is to move through Pegu and Toongho. If the
Ministers of the Cowrt of Siam desire it, Captain
Burney will request Captain Macfarquhar to accom-
pany Chow Pya Maha Ayothis, and fully explain to
the British Officers at Martaban the customs and
views of the Siamese,

Captain Burney begs again to point out to the
Court of Siam to send its largest Army by Cheung



[128]

Mai, or any Road above Martaban, o that its operas
tions may be quite separate and distant from thoss of
the English Troops, and ot only prove a most efficient
diversion, but enahle the Siamese to secure for the
selves whatever truet of Country or property they may
take possession of, acconling to their own mode of
warfure,

IF the Ministers aceade to Captain e
proposition, e ix confident that the name and renown
of the present King of Siam will ecome very great.
Vosterity will be enabled to sy it wa< during the
veign of the present King that the ished
the Burmese for having come to Siam, by sending an
Ariny to enter in triumph the Capital of Ava, and ses
theiv ancient and inveterate for humhled to the dust.

Captain Burney requests the Ministers will favor
him with o reply in writing to his Memorial as soon
as possible,

ese i

(Signed)  H. BURNEY—Captain
voy to the Court of Siowm,

A Tine Copy
(Sismed) H. Burney.
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Appendix No. 3.

REPLY to Captain Burney’s Memorial of the 31st
of December 1825,

Pya Phi-phut Kosa makes known to Captain
Burney, the reply which the Ministers of the ing
of Siam have determined in Council to give to
Captain  Burney’s Memorial.

Captain Burney recommends their Excellencies
to desire Chow Pya Maha Ayothia not to wait fora
reply to the letters which have been sent to Martaban,
and as it will be long before such reply can come,
Captain Burney advises their Excellencies to march
the Siamese forces immediately to Martaban, on their
arrival at which place, the English will furnish
them with every necessary in the same manner
as their own Sepoys are supplied. Further, if the
Chow Pya Maha Ayothin proceeds with a Detachment
of 4 or 5,000 men and with as many Elophants
and Horses as possible, Captain Burney will request
Captain Macfarquhar to accompany Chow Pya Maha
Ayothia; and to explain to the English Officers at
Martaban every thing relatifig to the Siamese Troops,
and Chow Pya Maha Ayothia may join Colonel
Pepper’s Division and march with it towards the
Town of Toongho. Captain Burney also recommends
that another Siamese Force should march from
Bangkok by the route of Cheung Mai, or by any
other route to the North of Martaban, in which
direction such force will be able to act against the Bur-
wese, without the interference of any British Troops.

All that Captain Burney advises is according
to the best of his judgement, He thinks that the
routes to the North are very easy, but he is
not aware that those routes are not only very bad,
but such as render it impossible for a large Army to
procure Provisions on them. The road by Martaban
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is most practicable, and lhence, whenever the
Burmese formerly proposed to attack Siam, Martaban
was always the place where their Troops were first
assembled.  For these reasons, the Ministers of Sinmn
do not think it convenient to move n lange Avmy
by any other road than that of Martaban, and if that-
place, as well as Tavoy be delivered to the Siamese,
they shall be fortified and put in onder for the veception
of a large Siamese Army. Such a cession will
render the destruction of the Burmese easy and
certain; and the opinions of the Ministers of Sinm
on this point have already been transmitted to tha
English Officer Commanding at Martaban by Chakaton
in o lotter which was shewn to Captain Burney.

All that Captain Burney represents as to the
yreat glory which would be reflected on the King of
Siam, if an Army of Siamese is sent to heat the
Burmese is perfectly true; as the Burmeso have ever
been the greatest enemy of the Siamese, and now
when the latter join the English with good acconl,
they must entirely destroy the Burmese. If Captain
Burney and the English General ncquiesce in the
sentiments of the Ministers of Siam, when the plan
here proposed is carried into effect, Victory will be
most certain,

Dated Bangkok 22nd day of the Moon Ay or
First Moon 1187 of the Year Raka or Fowl,

“Translated throngh an English Inter-
pretation given by Mr. Silveira.

_ Signed) H. BURNEY—Captain
/sm of Envoy to the
) Court of Siam.
Pya Phi-phut
Kosa. A True Copy

Signed) H. BURNEY.
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Appendix No. 4.

Bangkek, 2nd. January 1826.

MEMORIAL presented to the Ministers of the
Cowrt of Siam by Captain Burney Envoy from
the Right Honorable the Governor General of
British  India,

Captain Burney has the honor to ackuowledge
the receipt through Pya phi-phut of a reply to the
Memorial which he presented on the 81st Ultimo
to the Ministers of Siam; and as from this veply
it is evident to Captain Burney that it is not the
intention of the Court of Siam to permit. Chow 1'ya
AMaha Ayothia and his force to co-operate with the
British Army until the present season he past,
Captain - Burney requests the Court of Siam will
immedintely forward to Martaban all the Horses and
Elephants which it can command, and none of which
Chow Pya Maha Ayothia's force can now reruire,

Captain Burney repeats that he is ready to enter
into any equitable arrangements with the Sinmess
Officers for the whole expense of transporting and
victualling whatever number of these animals an
bLe sent to Martaban, and he must assure the
Ministers of Siam, that such an assistance to the
British Army as is here pointed out, is the only
mode now remaining for this Court to prove the
sincerity of its reiterated declarations, that it desives to
xeo the Burmese punished for all the Cruelties which
they formerly committed in this Kingdom.

(Signed) H. BURNEY—Captain
Envoy to the
Court of Siam.

A True Copy
(Signed) H. BURNEY.
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REPLY to Captain Burney's Memorial of the
2nd January 1826.

Pya Phi-phut Kosa writessto Captain Burney to
acquaint him, that the letter which that Officer
addressed to the Ministers of the Court of Siam, in
reply to their communication, has been laid hefore
their Excellencies, who desire Pya Phi-phut to trmns-
mit the following rejoinder.

Captain Burney states in his reply that he thinks
it is not the intention of Siam to send Chow P’ya Maha
Ayothia’s force to join the English in the war against
Ava, and that the King of Siam may act in this
Tespect as appears to His Majesty most advisable, but
that the Elephants and Horses will remain idle: and
that, therefore, Captain Burney requests as many of
theso Animals as possible may be sent to the Fnglish
Army ; the whole expense of trausporting and feeding
which he will pay: and further that if the Elephants
and Horses are sent, the English will be convinced that
the Siamese really desire to see the Burmese beaten.

As to what Captatain Burncy requests may bo
submitted to the King of Siam respecting his desire
to pay the expense of sending the Elephants and
Horses to the English Army, the Ministers observe
that such an arrangement. would be contrary to tho
established customs of Siam; and that to send an
Army of Elephants and Horses to receive pay for
fighting would be so unusual that the proposition
cannot even be mentioned to the King of Siam.

These Animals are necessary parts of the Siamese
Army, and if the Army is not able to march and assist
the English the Elephants and Horses will be employ-
ed on some other service in this Kingdom, and it
is not desirable that they should be put in an
unserviceable condition.
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Whenever the Siamese Troops proceed lo co-
operate  with the English, these Animals can
accompany them. Further as to Chow Pya Maha
Ayothia’s force not being sent to fight the Burmese,
the Ministers of Siam have carefully considered,
that they must not embark in war without great
precaution, and after it is clear to them that they
may conguer most completely, for this is the proper
mode of engaging in war. It appears to them that
it would not be proper for Chow Pya Malia Ayothia
to join in the war with only 4 or 5000 wen, for
what could they do against Ava but be destroyed
with all the Elephants and Horses ?

Tho Negotiation between the  Sinmese aud
English as to this point remains unsettled, and
Captain Burney docs not appear to give cralit to
what the Siamese declare,

The English ara very powerful and think they

can vanquish the Burmese,

There can L no occasion then for any Siameso
Army.

Pya Phi-phnt Kosa writes this letter to Captain
Burney by order of the Ministers of the Court of Siam
the 27th day of the fiest Moon in the Year 1187

of Fowl.
Translated from a version of the
Original Siamess in the Malayan ;
langnage. !
e Signed) H. BURNEY—Captain

Envoy to the

/" Sealof .
! Court of Siam.

\
| Pya Phi-phut |
A Kosa. / A True Copy

Mo oA Signed) H. BURNEY. |
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Appendix No. 6.

Bangkok, 10th January 1826.

MEMORIAL presented to the Ministers of the
King of Siam by Captain Henry Burney Envoy from
the Right Honorable the Governor General of British
India.

Captain Burney has sulmitted to the King, to
the Wang-na, to the Chow Pya Chakri, Chow Pya
Kalahom, Chow Pya Prah-Klang, and many other
officers of rank and authority in Siam, tho cruelty
and injustice of detaining the British subjects, who
were scized and brought away from the Districts

of Tavoy, Mergui and Tenasserim,

Captain Burney has been assnred by almost every
person in authority at Bangkok, that these prisoners
should be immediately released, aud he has now waited
for o whole month without secing those assurances
realized. On the contrary he has just seen the Draft
of a Latter which the Prah Klang proposes to send to
Mr. Maingy at Tavoy, and in which Captain Burney
is nstonished to see no satisfactory notice whatever of
Me. Maingey's or his repented applications on this point.
Captain Burney therefore is now obliged to call at oncs
on the Ministers of the Court of Siam, to inform him
whether the whole of these prisoners are to be re-
leased, and at what period ?

Captain Burney entreats the Ministers will settlo
this affair as soon as possible, and convince the
English that the Siamese really desire to cultivate a
friendly relation with them. One or two thousand
poor Burmeso can be no object to the great King of
Siam ; and if these poor men are sent back Hix
Majesty will secure the prayers of thousands, that his
reign may prove long happy and glorious,

Signed) H. BURNEY—Captain
Envoy to the Court of Siam.
A True Copy
Signed) H. BURNEY.
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Bangkok, 16th Janunary 1826,

NOTE to the Ministers of the King of Siam from
Captain Henry Burney Envoy to the Cowt of Siam.

Six days ago Captain Burney addressed a lettor
to the Ministers of Siam, respecting the Burmesn
Prisoners, and no weply has yet heen received.
Captain  Burney requests the Ministers will do him
the favor to order Pya Phi-phut to make himn
proper reply, in onder that Captain Bumey may
he able to forward the same to the Right Honorahls
the  Governor General immediately.

Signed) H. BURNEY—Captain
Envoy to the
Court of Siam,

FS

True Copy

ed) H, BURNEY.
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Bangkok, 19th Jam

MEMORIAL submitted to the Mi

King of Siam by Captain Henry Burncy
the Right Honorable the Governor of British Idia.

Captain Burney must again vequest the Ministers

of the Court of Siam to reply to his Memorial of the

10th January, and to let him know when = their

intention tosend hack the Burmese Captives, and when

the Prisoners at Chimpolum are to b veleased.  In

every Comntey the letters of an Envoy are vegularly

ry 1526,
sters of the

answered.

He also begs to ncquaint the Minis
upwards of 450 of the Burmesa Men Women and
Children have been bronght and set at liberty near
his Touse, without any armngement for supplying
them with food, shelter or clothing, which ix so

rs that

necessary during this cold weather,

He is confident that the great King of Siam is not
aware that many of these poor Creatures are suffering
from Small Pox aud from want of food and Clothing.

Captain Bumey from a sincere desive of not
doing any thing that may lower the character of the
Siameso Nation in the eyes of the English, does not
ral the melancholy

wish to report to the Governor
condition of these poor captives. He only begs the
Ministers will issue owders that the necassary arrange-
ments may be immediately made for supplying these
Burmese with food, and with a sufficient number of
Boats to convey as many of them as ara now collected
to the Mooung Mai near Sam-roi-yot, whence Captain
Burney understands they can most easily return to
their own homes at Tenasserim and Mergui. The
rest of the Captives can be forwarded in the same
manner according as they are collected.
Signed) H. BURNEY—Captain
Envoy to the Court of Siam.

A True Copy
Signed) H. BURNEY.
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REPLY to Captain Burney's Memorinls of the
10th and 14th and Note of the 16th January 1826,

PYA PHI PHUT KOSA inscribes the reply
which their Excellencies the whole Six Ministers
make to Captain Bumey,

Captain Burney desives to know when  the
men who have been brought to Siam from Mergui
are to be released, and when those remaining at
Chimpohun are to be sent back. The Ministers stato
that the men who have been bronght to Siam will
be delivered to Captain Burney by Pya Thep Woro-
chan, Pya Phi-phut Kosa, and Pya Wisoot Kesa j—
480 people more or less have been collected:  there
are others who are at a distance, and with whom
those that have been sent to bring them down,
have not yet arrived. But according as they arrive
the whole shall b delivered to Captain Burney, and
an enquiry may he made as to the number that
were brought to Siam, the number (that) fell sick
and died on the road, aud the number remaining,
the whole of which will be, allowed to return as
soon as a proper List is prepared. This enquiry
should Le first made, and the whole of the men
should be sent at one time, and not at different times.

With respect to the men remaining at Chimpohun
un Order shall be sent to Pya Kray Kosa, directing
him, after arranging and assembling the whole to
release them at once.

If Captain Burney desives to send some of his
own people with the letter to Chimpohun or to make
any other arrangement on the subject, he is requested
to communicate his wishes to the Pya Phi-phut Kosa.

As to what Captain Burney observes with respect
to the Burmese Men, Women and Children who have
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been released at his house, that they ave suffering
much from sickness, and from  having no shelter,
food or clothing, that he is filled with sorrow,
DLut that he does not wish to report this to
Bengal. The Ministers had ordered Pva Thep
Worochan, Pya Phi phut Kosa, and Pya Wisooh
Kosa to take and shew these men to Captain
Burney, and to number them, and those officers
told Captain Burney that the whole of the men
had not aveived, but that he might count  them
and then send them back to their former dwellings,
should receive food and Clothing. until the
collected and they were veady to he sents

where 11,

whole w
away alltogether,

If Captain Bumey thinks these people aro suffer-
ing, he can xend them hack to their former dwellings,
and when the whole are collected they can be sent
But these Burmese are Enemies,

awi
and if  the

sevienca oy suffering, however

great, the o cannot feel any pity for them.
Becausy the Siamese desived to enltivate the friendship
af the English, these Burmese had not Irons put upon
them : awd beeanse the Governor General of Bengal
ut Captain Burney to establish the road of
friendship, the present husiness of allowing these men
to go back has been settled.  As to what Captain
Burney declares as to his wnwillingness to let the
English in Bengal know of the sufferings of thexy
Burmese, that is not the affuir of the Ministers—ho
may or winy not do it azcording to his own pleasure.

has

What Captain Burney observes, that in every
Country an Envoy is certain of veceiving replies
to whatever letters he may write, if Captain
Burney sends a letter on a subject which cannot
be settled by verbal communication, he will
receive a reply thereto, but on a subject that can
be sottlel by a verbal communication, there is
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10 oceasion for o letter,  And as to Captain Burney's
desiving to send these men by the road of Moounyg
Mai, during this xcason of strong North East winds,
Boats pass and vepass with goreat dificulty.  When
these men depart for the Western Const, wo caniots
Tiope to give onlers where the Sen is concerned.
Perhaps the Boats may be lost or dispersed in a
strong wind.  Captain Burney might not evedit sueh
a circumstance, and it wonld not accord with the
sincere intentions of the Ministers. They therefors
request. Captain Burney will enguire from the Burmeso
themselves, whether the road to Martaban and Tavay,
or that by Pech

i will not be the most secuve.

Wihintever Captain Burmey detormines on this
point, let lim communicate to Pya Phi-phnt, and
whenever the whole of the men ave collected, and all
preparations made, they shall be finally sent away.

This letter ix writen on Friday the 13th day of
the 2nd Month in the Year 1187 of Fowl.

Translated by means of a version
in the Malayan language.

o Nigned) H. BURNEY—Captain

Seal of Envoy to the
\ ‘ourt of Siam,
Pya Phi-phut | Court of Siam,
Eoss. A Trne Copy

~ Sigmed) H. BURNEY.
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LEITER from Chow Pya Ac-Maha Sina thilisly
Oopilh pire bura Krom a Pakok Suma Kok 1wl
Kalahom to Pyn Ky Kosa thibody.

Moreover in the present month of the year Fowl,
the Governor General of Bengal deputed Captain
Henry Burney with letters to Siam, stating that the
Governor General of Bengal was exceedingly rejoiced
at hearing that the King of Siam had recontly
ascended  the Throne, and that he had prepared
Captain Burney as his representative to bring presents
and offerings of respect upon his head to the feet
of His Excellent Majesty of Siam, and to desire
respectfully the establishment of friendship good
offices and enlarged commercial intercourse with the
glom of Siam. Aud with respect to the
inhabitants of Mergui, whom the Pya of Chimpohun
had seized und brought away lere, the letters state,
that the English have completed the conquest of the
Countries of Tavoy and Mergui, which now belang to
the English, and that the Governor General of Bengal
desives that the men and women whom the Pya of
Chimpohun had seized may be sent back and allowed
to dwell in their former homes, and that he would
order the men of Chimpohun, whom the English have
weized and detained at Mergui, to be released and
sent back at the same time. Captain Burney has
been presented to testify respect at the feet of His
Excellent Majesty of Siam, who is most exalted, just
and benevolent and who having learned all these
things, passed the following orders.

The Country of Bengal has become great and
the Governor General has deputed Captain Burney
with letters, in order to testify respect and to
establish the road of friendship with Siam. Let the
great Officers make all proper arrangements, and give
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Captain - Burney a suitable place  of residence,
conformable with the customs observixl with respect
to the most friendly State,

Further, what the Governor General desines with
Tespect to the return of the Mergui inhabitauts, who
were made prisoners, and the release of the men of
Chimpohun, a letter was formerly sent to the F lish
Governor at Mergui, stating that such of the Prisoners
as desired to remain should be allowed to remain
acconding to their pleasure, and that such ax desired
to return to their former homes should he sent back,
But now the Govemor General of Beugal has deputed
Captain Burney to speak on this business, and to
settle according as it had formerly boen agreed.  Ax
to the men of Chimpohun, whom the English have
seiced anl detained at Mergui, Captain Burney has
come by order of the Governor General of Bengal,
and spoken and stipulated for their release, and the
Governor of Mergui hins al:o sent several letters to thix
effect. The English may or may not do right, and
release the people of Chimpohun, according to their
agreement—no matter—the number of these people
is small. Tn this mauner we know how to make war
with Ava, and to destroy many of her inhabitants, and
she possesses a great many. Let us only know the
disposition of the English,

Let such of the Captive Burmese of Mergui
as are at Bangkok, and as desire to continue here with
their friends or connexions remain, according to
their plensure, and let such as desire to return, be
given to Captain Burney, and let Boats be taken up
for those who desire to return, and let them be
cenveyed to Bangnarom and set at liberty at once
to return to their own homes. With respect to
those Mergui captives who are at Chimpohun, let
Pya Kray Kosa bz ordered to prepare a List
shewing bow many have died, and how many are
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ofill living. Do wot let any of them be trouliled,
o dragged and brought to Bangkok, or convenled
i oany plcex. But let Pya Keay Kosa enquins
and see if any desive to continno with their friends
o conuesions at Chimpolin, and let such Lo giv
in charge of the new Pya of Chimpolun. But
all sucl of those captives as desive to return hou
w0 home, according to any road they please, |
Pyn Kray furnish suitable food to them according 1o
the length of the Road, and when Pya Kray Kosa hus

settled his business and sent away the prisoners
let: him coms to Bangkok and make a report of it.

Letter sritten on Smwday in the year Fowl

Translated by means of a version
in the Malayan language
wd)  H. BURNEY—Captain
Envoy to the
Court of Sinm.

A True Copy
Sigmned) H. BURNEY.
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MEMORIAL submitted to the Ministers of the
King of Siam by Captain Henry Burney Envoy frmn
the Right Honorable the Governor General of Hritish
India,

Captain Henry Bumney has the honor to apprize
the Ministers of Siam, that le has receivil Jetters
containing intelligence that the Burmese had heen o
v aud completely defoated by the English
Army ina battle which lasted for three days near
Prome. that they lave sent Envays to the English
General to suo for peace, which is about to be con-
eluded on the fallowing terms. Namely—The Cession
e and other States in that quarter, the fomr
s of Y, Tavoy, Mergui and Tenasserim to the
Fuglish Government besides a large sum of Money
towands indemnifying the English for the expenses of

sever

the war.

The issue of this war, will, therefore, now aug-
ment the honor and glory of the English Government,
and Captain Burney appeals to the Ministers of Siam,
whether since his arrival at Bangkok he has not used
every possible exertion to induce them to move Chow
Pya Maha Ayothins Army towards Martaban and to
secure for the King of Siam a portion of this honor
and glory.

Captain Burney was unfortunately unable to win
the confidence of the Ministers, and the customs of tho
Country provented his addressing directly the King of
Siam, whom Captain Burney considers as not only
the greatest but the most enlightened personage at
Bangkok.
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Captain Burney is still nctuated by the most
friendly dispositions towards Siam, and in proof of
this assertion e now proposes to the King and
Ministers of Siam to depute immediately o Martahan
somo  Siamese Officer of rank and character, in
company with Captain Burney or Captain Mae-
Srquhar for the pumose of conforriug with the
Brcish - Commissioner< in Ava, of ascertaining
whether: Martaban or any  other teviitory e be
now coded in favor of Sinn, anl of making the
neeessary enduiries in view to the futive settlement
of houndaries hetween the Siamese  dominions and
the British Possessions at Tavey and Mery

Captain Burney coquests the Ministors will onee

more poruse the letter which he presented to the

King of Sinm from the Governor General, and then
determine whether the proposition which  Captain
Burney  now askes s not of the most friendly

Afisactor; anid-one Jikdlyto prove highly advantageons
to the interests of Siam.

Nigued) H. BURN

fuvoy to the

Comt of Siam,

Captain

A Tiue Copy
Signed) H. BURNEY,
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Bangkak, 21 February 1896,

NOTE addressed by Captain H. Burney Envoy
from the Right Honomble the Governor General of
British India, to the Ministers of the King of Sinm,

Captain Burney requests the Siamese Ministers
will aceapt his best acknowledgments for their lotter
communicating the information that Pyn Phi-phut
Kosa hiad been ordered to make every arrangenent in
concert with Captain Burney for the immediate
return of the Burmese Prisoners to Mergui. 585
Burmeso men women and Children have been brought
to Captain Burney, of these 17 are dead and 21 ave
too sick to be removed for the present. The remaining
547 will be embarked on board the six Junks that
have been takén wup, the moment the Siamese
Ministers give direotious for a supply of provisions
and water to be shipped. But these Burmese ave afraid
to proceed by themselves ncross the Siamese Territories,
and Captain Burney is therefore obliged to request
the Ministers will allow an officer from the Brig
Guardian to accompany these men to | Mergui.
With respect to the Burmese at Chimpohun, Captain
Burney recommends the Siamese Ministers to allow
him to forward through the Kuglish Governor of
Mergui, their order to the Pya of Chimpohun for
roleasing all Prisoners under his charge. Such a
mode of forwarding the order will serve to open a
#ood understanding between the English and Siamese
Governors, who are situated so near to each other,

Signed) H. BURNEY—Captain
Eavoy to the
Court of Siam.

A True Copy
Signed) H. BURNEY.
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REPLY to Captain Barney’s Note N
20 Felwuary 1826,

Pya Phisphnt Kosa lias to communicate to Captain
Burney the reply of the six Ministers.

Captain Burney states that he has meecived 585
Captives from Pya Thep Worochan, and Pya Wisoots
Kosa, that 17 of them have died and 21 ane too sick
10 be able to be moved, that those who are woll can b
fivst sent, and that Captain Burney desives provisions
m it use, that the Burmese am
afiaid of the Siamese, and that Captain Burney re-
«quests an officer of the Ship may he xent with the
Captives to Mergui Tavoy and Tenasserim.  Captain
Burney further desives that the letter which the
Ministers have written to Pya Kray Koxa may bo sent
at the same time, that it may be iven to the English
Ofticer at Mergni, so that he may forward it to the
Py of Chimpohun, by which means o friendship will
be established hatween the Governor of Mergui and
the Pya of Chimpolnn. which two Countries are near
toeach other. The Ministers observe that as many of
the Burmese Captives as are well may he sent first,
and that with respect to Caprain Burney's desire of
rending an Officer from the Brig with the Burmese to
Mergui and Tavoy, Captain Burney may do this if T
pleases. and with respect to the provisions for these
Captives, Captain Burney is requested to communicate
to Pya Phi-phut Kosa the number of men, and
quantity of provisions required for them, and when
the sick Burmese are well, they can be sent also, it
Captain Burney will apply to Pya Phi-phut Kosa, who
will prepare Boats and Provisions for them. As for the
Burmese Captives who are remaiving at Chimpohun,
is Captain Burney uneasy about them, and does he
think that Pya Kray Kosa will not let them return ?

¢ be supplied for th
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Seal of
" Pya Phi-phut
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Captain Burney is come on the road of friendship,
and the King of Siam has ordercd every Captive that
was hrought away, and that is on the Register, to bo
allowed to return.  But those who ave remaining an
Chimpoln, Pya Kray Kosa will ainly releasy
agreeahly to the order which he will receive. Do
not Jet Captain Burmney be uneasy abo
Captives.  And as to Captain Burney's desive thas
the order, which is to be sent to P’ya Kray Kosa, may
he forwarded through the English  Governor of
Mergui. which is near Chimpolimn, and  between
which two Countries friendship should he estahlished.
Thix ix right, and may be done even if this letter is
not sent, because, as the great Countries have becons
friends, the small ones will follow them on the rowl
of friends Do not let Captain Burney be uneasy,
il Jet him be assured that the whole of the Buvmeso

Captives will be released.

these

This Iottor is written on Thursday the 28th day
of the 24 Month in the year Fowl.
.,.

in the Malayan langunge.

anslated by means of a version

Nigned) H. BURNEY—Captain
Envoy to the

\ Court of Siam,
|
Kosa. /
st
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Appendix No. 15.

REPLY to Captain Burney's Memorial No. 12 of
the 2nd. February 1826.

What Captain Burney has written in hix letter to
the Six Ministers, declaring that the English have
defeated the Burmese near Prome, and that the King
of Ava has deputed an Envoy to Melloon. with
letters stating that the Countries of Assam. Arracan,
Ye, Mergui, Tavoy and Tenasserim shall helong to
the English, and that His Majesty will disburse to
the English the Expences of the War, and that
the English General is about to accept of thix offer.
That Captain Burney desires that the King of Siam
may depute some Siamese officer of rank and character,
with Captain Burney or Captain Macfarqubar, to
confer with the English General at Martaban or
Rangoon, and to try to secure for His Majesty of Siam,
Martaban, or some othe v, and to settle
Toundaries and various other matters, all of which Pya
Phi-phut Kosa has heard from Captain Burney and
duly communicated to the Ministers.

The Ministers reply, that the English General
sent a letter by Chakaton, stating that the Burmese are
wicked men, that they are the enemies of every
Country, and desire to destroy the English, for which
reason the English lad sent Armies to attack them—
that the Siamese also are ancient Enemics of the
Burmese, and that the English and Siamese are on
terms of friendship and good intercourse, and that
the English request the King of Siam would send an
Army to co-operate with the English in fighting
with the Burmese, until they reach the Capital of Ava,
and until the Barmese, who aro the Enemies
of the Siamese, as well as of the English are
utterly destroyed, when both the English and Siamese
would live in peace and quict.
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The King of Siam was much pleased with the
contents of that letter from the English, and
determined that the Sizmese should co-operate with
the English in the war with Ava, with not a small
force but a large one, which might move against Ava
in one dircetion, whilst the English attacked it by
another route.  And a reply was sent to that letter,
stating, that if the Siamese could lave entire
possession of the Conntries of Tavoy and Martaban, o
very large Army should be sent. This was com-
municated to Captain Burney, and he was told, that if
the English General acceded to the proposition of the
Siamese Ministers, the Armies of Siam should be sent.
But the English C ling Officer at Martal
sent letters many times, requesting only the Siamese
forces to advance quickly, without giving any reply
respecting Tavoy and Martaban, A portion of the
Peguers and Tavoyans are connceted with the Burm-
vse, and are the old Enemies of the Sinmese ; and if
the King of Siam could not receive entire possession
of their Country. the Siamese Army could not go
there with any confidence.

The Ministers helieve, that the English desired to
retain possession of Martaban and Tavoy. and that,
therefore, they would give no decided answer on that
subject ; and it was for this reason that the Siamese
Avmy was waiting, and was prevented from advancing.
But now it is said that the King of Ava has sent an
Envoy to Melloon, offering to defray the expenses of
the war, and that the English have mado peace with
the Burmese. The Siamese Troops, therefore, can
now be of no use.

As to what Captain Burney desires that a Siamese
Officer of rank and character should go and confer with
the English General, in order that Martalan, or some
other Country may be ceded to the King of Siam, the
Ministers return many thanks to Captain Burney.
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The application which was formerly made for Tavoy
and Martaban was made in view that the Siauese Army
should go and co-operate with the English and destroy
the Burman territories. But the Siamese have not
been able to go and assist in the War against the
Burmese, and the English aro now to be at peace with
Ava. The countries of Tavoy and Martaban, which
the English have conquered, have become the
sions, and the Siamese do not covet Countries for
nothing.  What were the boundaries of those Conn-
tries when belonging to the Burmese. can he now the
boundaries of the English, and the Siamese do not
desive to infringe on the boundaries of the English.
Do not let Captain Burney he uneasy
Gieneral of Bengal has deputed him to improve fiiend-
ship and Commerce.  The Siamese aw extremely
plensed with what Captain Burney has come to per-
form, and desire that trade and friendly intercoursa
between the English and Siamese wa
greater than formerly, As to what Captain Burney
requests may be submitted to the King of Siam,
there is now no occasion for it.  The Ministers have
here communicated what the King ordered when Chow
Piya Maha Ayothia forwarded the letter from the
English General stating that the Burmese had sent a
Flag of Truce to Melloon to solicit peace from the
English, and desiring that the Siamese forces should
not advance, but remain for the present where they
were.  When the contents of that letter were made
known to the King His Majesty ordered the Ministers
to write to the Gi of the Siamese provi to
remand all the Troops which had been collected for the
purpose of co-operating with the English, as the
Burmese had made peace with them,

posses—

The Governor

v hecome much

The Countries of Tavoy and Martaban, for which
the Ministers have written to the English on account.
of the Siamese Armies are now not necessary.
Let the Siamese forces be ondered to return to their



I

\

151

respective homes, and thy Chief Officers of Proviuves
divected to keep guanl at their respective Stations,
and to catelt Burmesn in order to ascerfain wh
Conntries have heen conquensd or vestored to the
Burmese by the English, and to gather intelligeneo
acconding to former custom,  The i
heard these orders of the King of Siam have vefrained
from submitting  Captain Burney’s letter to  his
Majesty.  Pva Phi-phut Kosa has written this Jetter
by order of the 6 Ministers to Captain Burney o
Sunday the 24th day of the 24 (Second) Month in the
Year Fowl 1137,

‘Translated by means of a version
i the Malayan language.

Signal) Ho BURNEY—Captain

-~ Seal of Envoy to the
e Court of Siam,
a i-phut
¥ P |
Kosa. /

-
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Bangkok, 6ih February 1826,

NOTE  addressed by Captain Henry  Burney
Envoy from the Right Honorable the Governor General
of British India to the Ministers of the King of Siam.

The Ministers tell Captain H, Burney that they
have not laid his last letter before the King of Siam.
Whatever letters  Captain Burney writes to the
Ministers, he writes under the anthority of the Right;
Honorable the Governor General of India : and Captain
Burtiey is particnlacly careful that Ins communications
est the utmost pect towands His Majesty of
1, who is a great King.
If the Ministers do not submit Captain Burney's
letters to the King, of course the Governor Generaj
i to do mischief between

will believ
him and the King of Siam. This will be a very
serions affair; and Captain Barmey therefore begs
that the Ministers will not omit to lay his Inst letter
hefore the King. Tt is the King and not the
Ministers, who ought, by the Laws of Siam, to give
onllers on such important Lusiness,

e that they

Further, the Sinmese had Detter learn from the
British Envoy and from British Officers, which are the
English and which the Burmeso Countries, and not
onder poor Burmese, who know nothing, to be caught
for such purposes.

Captain Burney again recommends the Ministers
to depute a Siamese Officer of rank and character to
Martaban, in order to ascertain, now that the War is
over, the exact situation of the English, Burmese and
Siamese boundaries. This is the road of friendship.

Signed) H. BURNEY—Captain
Envoy to the
Court of Siam.
A True Copy
Signed) H. BURNEY.
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Appendix No. 17.

Bangkok, 9th February 1826,

Letter addressed by Captain - Henry Burney,
Envoy from the Governor General of British India to
the Ministers of the King of Siam.

Captain Burney las to apprize the Ministers of
Siam, that he has just received the Copy of a lettor
from the British General at Petanago, stating that in
the Treaty which he has concluded with the Burmeso
Negotiators, a special Clause has been inserted, by
which the Siamese as the Allies of the English are
admitted to the bencfits of peace, if they think proper
to avail themselves of them.

As the Burnese have now engaged not to make
War, or commit depredations against the Siamese in
any quarter, Captain Burnoy requests the Ministers
will lay the letter which he addressed to them on the
2nd instant, as well as this letter immediately before
the King, who will ses the propriety of directing
that the Siamese also shall not make war, or commit
depredations agninst the Burmese in any quarter,

The prasent intelligenco must convince His
Majesty and the Ministers that the British Governe
ment is actuated by the most sincere friendly disposi-
tions towards the Siawese Nation,

Signed) H. BURNEY—Captain
Envoy to the

Court of Siam,
A True Copy

Signed) H. BURNEY.
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REPLY to Captain Burney’s Memorinl No. 12 ot
the 2nd February, and Note No, 16 of the Gth
February.

The Ministers laving assembled, desived Cliow
Pya Phra Klang to Ty before His Majosty the King
of Siam Captain Burney’s lnst last letter.

His Maujesty having read the letter and understood
its coutents, issued the following orders. ‘e Conuntry
of Siam has from the carliest times, for more than 100
vears, been engaged in wars with Ava, and we hav®
neverheard of the whole racs of anr Kings over
making & good rturn to the Burmese, or of restorig
any territory conquered,

As to what Captain Burney thinks in his active
and zealons mind, ot proceeding to Martaban, aml
obtaining it for us, Captain Burney is very kind, and
we return many thanks to him.  Bat Martaban is far
from the Country of Siam, exposed, and not conmeeted
with the Siamose territories, to protect and keep
Martaban would bo very difficult, and the inhabitants
of Martaban would not he pleased, hecan tho Siamess
would be fighting with the Burmese.

1f the English desire to continue the war with
Ava, the Siamese will assist them and then we shall
wish to obtain Martaban as n Depot for our Armies,
and for their Stores and Provisions,

Now the English are not to fight with the
Burmese, but they are respectively to live in peaco
and friendship. Do not take any morw trouble about
Martaban.  With respect to what is said about the
boundaries of the Country of Mergui Tavoy and
Tenasserim no houndaries could ever he established
between the Siamese and Burmese. But the English




[155]

desive to have theso fised. Lot Uiom enuire from
the ol inhabitants residing on the fronticrs of Mergui
"Favoy and Tenasserim, what they know respecting the
vontiguons tervitories, and let what they point out
be the Loundarics botween the English and Sinmess
Possexsions,

But these Conntries of Mergui, Tavoy aud Tenas-
i, have now becume the possessions of the English,
with

the Siamese are on terms of

ntimate
friend=hip and let men who desive to come and trade
hetween s with afety, o furnished with Passes for
the information of ench.  The Siamess have
Dinsiness to i
And et the

o and sei;

e on the frontices of the Buglish,
nmese Officers who ave acenstomeld to
men bo strictly prohibited against ener-
i any part of the English Possessions, Do ot let.
any of the English ever be troubled on the scors of
seizig men, or of boundacies,

This Tetter. containing the onlors of His Majesty,
isters Dave diveetsd Pea Phisphut Kos to

Thrsday the thind day of the third Manth
in the Year Fowl,

‘Translated by means of a version
in the Malayan luguage.

Nigned) Ho BURNEY—Captain

750&1 of N Buvoy to the
"l : "\ Court of Sinn.
. Pya Phi-phut )
' Kosa. ]

/

S
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FORT CORNWALLIS. The 25: March 1826,

READ the following letter from the Envoy at
Siam to the Honorable the Governor, with Copies of
several Appendixes to his Proceedings at the Court.

ENVOY at the COURT of SIAM.

Bangkok, 15 Felruary 1826,
To
THE HONORABLE
R. FULLERTON Esquive
Governor &ea., &ea., &en.
Honlle. Sir,

By the Grab Brig Hamoody I liad the honor to
forward to you a Journal of my proceedings at this
Capital down to the 22: December and I now beg to
submit to you a continuation of my Journal, from that
to the present date,

The annexed Papers A. B. C. D, forming Nos.
11. 19, 20 and 21, of the Appendix to my Journal
will, I hope, enable you to take an immediate view
of the progress of my negotiations :—and I trust the
Brig Guardian will return to me in two Months with
Your orders and further instructions, as well as with
the supply of provisions for which I have addressed
the Secretary to Government.

I have &ca.
Signed) H. BURNEY—Captain
Envoy to the Court of Siam.




APPENDIX to
Captain Bur-
mey's Journal of
his MISSION to
Stam.

A.
No. 21.

REPORT of the progress of Captain Burney’s
Negotiations with the Court of Siam,

Banglok, 15th Februavy 1826

L It is estremely difficult to persuade such a
fous and wmistrustful Court as that of Siam to
disclose its views and feelings, and it js scarcely
possible for a British Negotiator to form any rational
conjecture respecting motives and grounds of action,
which are not fonnded on the same modes of reasoning
a5 would govern the Conduct of o Europsan Court.

eapr

2. The Paper marked No. 11 in the appendix to

my Journal contains such suggestions respecting
Siamese negotiations, as occurred to me the moment
1 received intelligence of an approaching peace with
Ava. Since writing these suggestions which wern
forwarded to the British Commissioners in Ava on
the 2nd February, 1 find that some intelligenca
received at Bangkok of Martaban laving been des-
troyed by fire and much depopulated has produced
& change in the sentiments of Siamese Ministers
That place is now thonght * far from Siam”, and
I have been given to understand that the Court would
prefer posseesion of Tavoy. I have declined however
to understand the expression used by the King of
Siam, that “Martaban is far from Siam", in any
other light than as a general refusal of any territorial
cessions in his favor and I have signified my intention
of making & report to this effect to the British
Government,

3. There is no question that Siam never intended
to co-operate with us against Ava, and that the Pegu
Chief Maha Ayothia, was intrusted to deceive us into
a centrary belief by his communications with the
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Ministers reply
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No. 20. From a
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which my su-
periors may
Judge of the
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Court
-..u Ppoople ta-
wards the Dur-
mese and of the
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which they
regard the
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Troaty with Ava
admitting them
o the bencfits
of the peace.

The reply is not
cloar on one
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assured that
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British General and Officersat Martaban. The moment
the Court of Siam found the War concluded, as well
as its hopes of deceiving us into giving it
advantages at an end, a resolntion was formed to try
and securs something from the Burmese, and it is
believed, an ovder has been given for the Siamesa
Troops to seize the opportunity offered by the removal
tevritory, lay it
waste, and bring away the whole of its inhabitants.
Tas intelligance that our Tesaty with Ava contained a
clause to p

arbain

of onr forees, to enter some Burmese

ent the Burmeso feom molesting thes

the Siamese, may produce a change in this resolution
of the Comt. ®  But the Siamese Minist
that when it is knowa that Martaban anl othse Pegu
townz are to he vestorad to the Burmese, many of the

balieve

inhabitants of such towns will retire into the Siames

dominions, awl this Court \u]l prohably not omit to

i to those inhubitants

adopt measuves for aff.
anlin lu'-"u ant to emigrata beforo

opporsunity
the Burmese authority is r-established,

b Tt is genanally believed at Bangkok that tho
Bri
sion of ths Kinglom of K lah, and this balief, and an

I Government has rasolved upon taking passes

impr 1ol

ion that tha prasant Mission has baen d.

to force a Consul or Resident upon the Siamese, joined
to the intelligancs sent up from Tringano in Octobur
last, of an expylition azainst Siam preparing at
Singapors awl varions o
excited the faars and suspicions of the Court. Its
preparations to meet a hostile attack on tha pa
of the Bri
all the assurances of the prosent Mission. As yet
the Rajah of Ligore himself, who arrived a%
Bangkok on the 3r1 February, is suspected by soms
of the Ministers to be nn luly biassel to support the
views of the British Government.

her tales, lave greatly

ish Govarnmont continue, notwithstanling

5. The Clause in our Treaty with Ava has
offered me excellent grouns to remove the fears and
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suspicions of the Court, which were however upon
the first accounts of the peace still further aggravated
by a consideration of the deceitful promises it had
made of co-operation in the War. * 1 have endea-
voured also to make the Siamese Ministers consider
the Clause in our Treaty by which the henefits of
peace with Ava ave secured in favor of Siam, as
unequivocal a proof of the friendly disposition of tha
British Government, as the cession of a portion of its
compuests could be,

6. Most of the Ministers desire to receive some
territory from ws, but they are very unwilling to avow
such desire, from a suspicion that the cession would
De made by us, coupled with some difficult conditious.
Some of the Ministers, referring to the treachera s
conduct in past years of Burmese and Sianieso
Governors of Tavoy and  Mergui, argue that the
formation of establishments in that quarter will lead
to the repetition of such acts of treachery. The
English, as well as the Burmese, they state, will have
anopportunity of bribing or intriguing with the
Siantese Governors for a ready admission from thence
into the Siamese dominions.

7. It has been well explained to the Siamese
Ministers, that they must resign all idea of obtaining
possession of the Provinces of Tavoy and Mergui
for the settlement and Civil Government of which
arrangements ara making under the direction of the
Honorable the Governor of Prince of Wales Island.
The annexed sketch of the Routes between Tavoy,
Martaban and Bangkok, will give some idea of
the frontiers [of ] our conquests and the Siamess
dominions. The Court of Siam is informed that
Tavoy is inhabited principally by Peguers. The Com-
missioner at Tavoy can declare whether this informa~
tion be correct; but I beg to point out, that the
interconrse between the Siamese Capital and Tavoy
is much more easy and capable of advantageous com-
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miercial results than that with Mergui. By enbarking
on the Menau-Nai, the passage hetween Tavoy and
Bangkok way certainly be reduced to 8 or 9 days
which is vory nearly the time formerly reported
to Mr. Crawfurd.  Tavoy abounds in Tin and other
productions and the comntry on its frontiers i
rich in sapan and Teak wood while that on the fron-
tiers of Mergni and Tenasserin is stated to be poor,
barren and tl

iy inhabited,

8. The Memorial No. 19 that I submitted to the
Sianese Ministers on the 13: Felw contains the

the whele of the objects which the  British

Government appears to me to requive from Siam, and
wpon condition of her granting all of which I con-
ceive any cession of territory or other advantage ought
to be ceded on our part. This Memoria
explanatory notes, will also shew  the s

L with its

which the Commerce of British suljects is now
regulated at Bangkok and the points in which that
wystent has uny chanee of bein
Negotiation,

ameliomted Ly

9. No Commercial Treaty with Siam conld prove

w0 adl

{0 British € and shipping as

a settlement at Tavoy, whenee we could ensure at all

times a large <hare in the Commerce of Siam, without
heing dependent on the caprice of a suspicious and
Jealous Comrt. The Portuguese Consul at Bangkok
onee gave great offence to the King, by appealing to
the Prah Klang's engagements with the Governor ot
Gon for immunity from some demand that was made
against a Portugmese Trader. He was told that he
ought to have appealed to the henevolence of the
King, and not to any written engagement.

10. The establishment of a British Resident at
auy Burmese Port, which we may cede to Siam, might
prove perhaps, o useful stipulation, as such an Officer
in that quarter could ascertain a (?and) report to
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Government whatever was passing in the Siamese ter
ritories, without being liable to insult or indignity. But
L am decidedly of opinion, that no British Consul, Re-
sident or factory could be placed at the Capital of Siam,
without the risk of bringing on a war between the
two nations in the course of six months, An impres-
sion that the present mission was deputed for this
object has done great mischief and 1 am the more
encouraged to declaro so forcibly the impolicy of suclt
an object, from seeing that Mr. Crawfurd’s sentiments
with respect to it coineide with mino ( see paras, 108
and 112 of the Report of his Mission).

11, Strong and decisive language only could
prevail on this Court to release the Mergai inhabitants,
whom the Pya of Chismpoliun brought aay.  Nothing
could be more disgracefully cruel than the conduct
of the Siamese towards these Captives. 547 Men
Women and Children have beon sent back  from
Bangkok under charge of one of my Interpreters and
an order from the Court las been dispatched to the
Governor of Chimpohun directing the rolease of the
Captives remnining in that quarter,

12, When the Ministers of Siam are convinced
of the futility of their expectations that our Conquests
on the Coast of Tenasserim will be cedad to Siam, I
think I shall succeed in prevailing upon them to
adopt some measures for the Settlement of boundaries
and other points embracing an improvement of Trade
and intercourse between those Conquests and the
Siamese dominions, On pointing out the absurdity
of the answer (namely, that we might enquire from
the old inhabitants of Tavoy and Mergui and fix our
boundari ling to their ) which the
King of Siam returned to a proposition that I had
submitted for the above purpose 1 was requested to
wait 4 little and not communicate this answ,
Government.

er to my
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13, The Mission Vessel, the Brig Guandian has
heen ordered to Singapore and Prince of Wales
Ieland, for the purpose as well of enabling Govern-
ment to communicate to me any instructions with
reference to the close of the Burmese War as of
procuring a further supply of provisions for the use
of the Escort and Followers attached to the Mission,

Signed) H. BURNEY Captain
Envoy to the Comt of Siam.

Since writing the above 1 have been privately
uassured by the Rajah of Ligor, that the Siamese
Ministers ave disposed to accede to all the propositions
contained in my Memorial No. 19 excepting that
requiring the restoration of the King of Kedal to
which they are decidedly opposed, because the offered
annual payuent of 4,000 Dollars is too insignificant,
when compared with the rovenne which His Highness
now realizes from Kedah and nearly the whole of
which is sent wp to Bangkok. The interests of the
Rajah of Ligor are, of course, too much connecteid
wit  Kedah for me to place implicit faith in what
hear from him on this subject. But my Memorial it
will be seen, does not propose to Siam a clear equivale
ent for all that the British Government requires from
her; and it will rest with my Superiors to determine,
whether T shall sacrifice the claims of Kalah, and
accept whatever the Siamose Ministers are now
described to be willing to grant, or offer to them any
ather advantage basides an fon of the propos-
ed sum of 4000 Dollars, to indnce them to concede that
point also. I have taken care to avoid holding ont
any distinet pledge to the Siamsse of protection against
Ava from the British Government; and 1 have con-
ceived it my duty to try and secure as much as
possible from Siam for the smallest return on our part.

Signed) H.BURNEY Captain
Envoy to the Court of Siam.




APPENDIX to

CAPTAIN BUR-

NEY'S Journ;

©f his Mission
to S1AM.

[163]
B. No. 1l

SUGGESTIONS respecting Sinmese Negotintions
submitted to the British Commissioners in Ava,

1. The British Government requites Niam to
relinguish all claims of fupremacy over the Malaynw
Peninsular States, and to grant a more five and
unrestricted trade with her Kingdom. The expedioncy
of obtaining the former ohject. lins hoen fully shewn
by the Honorablo the Governor of Prince of Walex
Island, and the very valuable and extensi © commercial
resonrees of Siam Mr. Crawfurd has truly exhibitel.

2. Siam desires the possession of the Burmeso
Provinces of Martaban and Tavoy, and to put the
most charitable construction upon her not fulfilling
her reiterated promises of co-aperation in the present:
war, it may bs said that she was extremely doubtful
of the issue of the contest, and that she wished to
preserve a neatality, but was afiaid to discloso her
wishes,
from Mal
the inten

She had besides, received so many tales
vs, and probably Burmese Kmissavies of
on of the British Governmont to attac
her, that all the exertions of the present Mission
have searcely succeeded in removing the mischievons
effects of snch impressions.

3. There is n mountainous waste of several days
Journey on either side of the frontiers between the
Siamese dominions and the provinces of Tavoy aml
Murtaban and the existence of this waste has ever
proved tho strongest defence of Siam against Ava,
whose population is far superior to that of Siam in
every Military quality and whose Armies, if they had
not been obliged to carry their own provisions
over this tract, wonld have crossed it much oftner
than they have done.
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4. 1t way be considered good policy to keep up
the tract of desolntion hetween the Siamese and any
possessions that the British Government may retain
on the Coast of Tenasserini, as the intervention of &
mountainous waste may reduce the chances of dispute
and collision.

5. In any plan for ced a portion of our
conquests to Siam two points would require to bo
considered First, that she could retain the territory
against even the present reduced power of Ava: amd
Secondly, that the inhabitants would readily receive
their new masters or at least, not. expericnce an undue
measure of oppression,

6. 'The Provinces of Tavay, Mergui and Tennss
erim are inhabited by o race of Burmese, which,
Judging from the conduct of the Siamese towards the
prisoners whom they bronght from those provinces
during the present: War would be cortain of being
made slaves, and of being treated with the utmost
inlumanity, if transferred to Siam.

7. A large portion of the population of Siam
consists of Pegues and of the descendants of Pegu
Emigrants, and Martalun, which once belonged to
Siam, appears capable of being made a post of
considerable strength, while it is inhabited chiefly Ly
Peguers, who have been in extensive communication
with their brethren in Sinm during the whole of the
Ppresent war,

8. One objection agninst coding Martaban to
Siam s, that Ly bringing the Siamese closer to the
Burmese we may sow the seeds of moro dispute
between them, But it may be hoped that British
posts at Tavoy and Mergui would enable us to keep
the peace batween these nations, The Burmese in the
struggle with the English must have mado a great
advance in Military tactics, and in proportion as the
terms of the proposed treaty between us press upon

—
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them in the North and West, they will tre 1o move
towanls the South and Fast. Although the Coutt
of Siam i« too arrogant to admit it, yeb theve may be
strong grounds for believing that unless the Sinmese
are pledged [to] the support of the British Government.
put in possession of some advantageous post on the
frontiers of Ava the Burmeso will have wreater
inclination and ability than ever. to find their way
to Bangkok from Martahan, which is the place where
they formerly collected their forces preparatory to
attacking Siaw.

9. Next to Martalan perhaps the province of Y,
would be the most eligible cession to make to Siam.
That province also is sid to he chiefly inhabited
Iy Peguers, and it might. be further strengthened by
the addition of some portions of the provinces of
Tenasserim and Tavoy, fivst providing for the vemoval
into the British possessions of the Burmese inhabitants
of such territony.

10, The Conrt of Siam however appears to put
the ehief value upon Martaban, and the offer of
that province would give the British Government the
Dest, perhaps the only chance of obtaining from Siam
the whole of the ohjects it desives. If that province
s alrvady Been restored to the Burmese, it might
perhiaps bo recovered by us in exchange for some
other temitory that Ava hix coded to us,

11 Siam entertains at present the greatest
apprehensions of the power of the British Government
and the greatest doubts respecting its future views.
Her mistrust las been o far aggravated, that
unless some earnest of onr friendly disposition be
unequivocally offered to her no  concessions will
be made in favor of British Trade and shipping,
not will perhaps even my provisional Treaty with
the Rajah of Ligor concerning the Kingdoms of Kedal
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and Perak be ratified. The Siamese have no idea of a-
“free and unvestricted trade,” and to secure sucha
benefit onr negotiator must persuade the Ministers to
enter with lim into the minutest details, and to.
avrange and establish fixed and well defined rules and
rates of duties, customs and shipping charges. The
Ministers are so immediately interested in the present

system of conducting foreign trade, that any g~
ment as to a more free trade proving a mutual benvlit
to both mations will be of no avail.  Nothing It a
induce them fo adoph

mreat present advantage
more liberal principles.

Signed)  H. BURNEY  Captain

Envay to the Conrt of Sinm.
Bangkok
31 Jamary 1826
A Tine Copy
Signed) H. BURNEY.
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C. No. 19.
Bangkok, 13 Fehruary 1826,

Meworial submitted to the Ministers of the Court
of Siam by Captain H. Burney Envoy from the Right
Honorable the Governor General of British India,

The war with Ava being concluded the time js
now past for Siam to gain any advantage by Co-operat-
g with the English. But there remains one plan,
Ly persuing which the dominions and reputation cf
the King of Siam may hecome much greater, and
Captain Burney having been deputed to Bangkok by
the Right Honble. the Governor General of British
India, in order to improve and cement “friends=hip
hetween the English and Siamese nations, is inducel
to point ont this plan for the consideration of the
Ministers of Siam.

The English do not ask Siam for any territory,
factory, or for the establishment of a Consul at
Bungkok.  Captain Bumey is well satisfied that no
English Factory or Consul coald bo placed  at
Bangkok, without the chance of producing a war
hetween the two Nations beforo the expiration of Six
months and he begs only, that English Merchants
may De allowed to remain here to sell their Morchan-
dize, and that the Sinmese may rent hoases for their
accommodation in the same manner as is now done,

The English requive Siam to refrain from molest-
ing the Malayan States, and to grant a more liberal
and secure trade to English Merchants, This ix all
which the English desire and for which they aro
willing to make an equitable return to the Siamese,

The English do not intend to take possession of
the Malayan States, and will engage themselves to
this effect, if the Siamese will engage, on their
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part, not to molest those States. If the Sinmess
refuse to do this, and if their Armies persist in
over ruuning the Malayan Countries, driving their
inhabitants into the English Settlements of Penang,
Malacea and Singapore, in the greatest state of dis-
tress, and interrupting the peace and Commerve of
those Settlements, Captain Burney is confident that
the friendship between the
nations will be disturbed very soon. Thix point may
however ho ecasily sottled, \uthuul impaiving the dig-
nity or resources of the King of Siam: and the
Fnglish will take care that the inhabitants of the
Malayan States do not distu,h the peace of Sian.

English and Siamese

Ou this subject Captain Bumey submits three
Propositions for the consideration of the Sinmesw
Ministers.

Ist. The States of Pernk and Salangore have
Jor the last 50 years heen connected by Treaty with
the settlement of Malacea and the Dutch having
resigned that Settlement, and all rights and claimx
connected with it, to the English, the British Govern-
ment cannot allow the Siamese to interfere with
those States in any manuer.

20 If the King of Siam will restore the Rajalt
of Kedali to hix throne, release his family and subjects,
and engage that the Siamese troops shall evacuate the
territories of Kedah and not return to molest them,
the British Government will not take possession of
Kedal, and will engage to make His lh"hnesa of
Kedalt send the Boongn Mas and Perak trien
and a sum of 4000 Spanish Dollavs annually lot.ha
King of Siam through the Rajali of Ligor. Captain
Burney repeats the English will engage not to take
possession of the Kingdom of Kedah.

8. If the King of Siam engnge that his troops
and subjects xhall not molest the Kingdoms of Calantan
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and Tringano, the British Government will engago
not to occupy theso States or to prevent the Rajahs
of Tringano and Calantan, from sending the Boongn
Mas and Perak triennially according to the custom.

With respect to trade Captain Bumey confiding
in the liberal and enlightened chawcter of the
present  Monarch of Siam, rests assured that the
impediments and delays, which now embarrass come
merce at Bangkok, require only to be pointed out to
His Majesty to be immediately removed and corrected.
In the English ports of Singapore Malacea and Penang
the Vessels and Merchandize of Siam 1oy no duties
whatever, and her traders are allowed to sell and
buy to and from whomsoever they please, without the
smallest obstraction, The Chinese Junks that visit
Siam pay only one measurement duty, while the
Portuguese who possess so little trade and none of
whose Vessels have come to Banglok during the lnst
seven years, pay an Import duty of only 6 Per Cent.
The English do not ask to be exempted from the
payment of duties, hut to have the duties regularly
fixed, and to be allowed the privilego of buying and
selling, wherever they please at Bangkok.

At present no inhabitant of Bangkolk dares buy
from an English Merchant, or sell to him any thing
without the previous permission of the Prah Klang,
and that permission, it is well known, is never
given whenever he, his petty Officers or the King's
Merchants have any thing to buy or sell. Sugar
may be bought by any one but a Earopean Merchant
in the Market from 8 to 9 Ticals Per Pecul,
including the duty of 14 Tical, but the Prah Klang's
chargo for that article is always from 10 to 11 Ticals
Per Pecul.  Pepper may be bought in the Market from
14 Ticals Per Pecul, including the duty of 3 Ticals,
but the Prah Klang's charge is 18 Ticals, Sapanwood
may be bought in the same manner for 2 Ticals Per
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Pecul, including the duty of 1 Tical, hut the
Klang and his Officers insist nupon the English
Merchant paying them for the same description
Article 4 Ticals Per Pecul. An English or
Merchant can sell no part of his Cargo hefore the
Prah Klang, his petty Officors or the King's
Merchants have selected whatever they please and for
which they will not settle a fair price, keeping the
Merchant waiting day after day for a month or six
weeks, until they either force him to submit to their
terms or lose the chance of selling his Cargo to any
advantage.  While the Prah Klang and his petty
Officers are sottling a price in this extmondinary
manner, the English or Surat Merchant cannot
transact business with any one else, aml if he refuse
to aceept their offer, it is well known and camnot ba
denied, that no inhabitant of Bangkok dare make
any other offer, for what these Officers desive to
possess. Yet Captain Burney knows that wpon the
aceession of the present King of Siam, His Majesty
was pleased to declare that the trade of his Kindgon
»hould be henceforth made fren to all persons.

Aain, the mamier in which the port and Anchor-
age duties o Vessels are charged, is regulated by 1o
fised rule. The charges are made in fact by puess,
and a total is given to the English Merchants,
without any statement of particulars. Besides n
general Import daty & per Cent and heavy Export
duties, varying from 20 to 50 Per Cent, on their
Cargoes, an English Vessel of 3 Masts pays 2357
Ticals, and a Brig, although less than one half of the
size of the other, pays 1726 Ticals and 1 sling, for
port and anchorage duties. The Pya of Paknam lately
increased his fee from 80 to 124 Ticals, without
declaring to the English Merchant by whose aunthority
or for what reason such increass was made,—and a
Vessel has to pay the same heavy rate of duties every
time she visits Bangkok, which is contrary to the
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practice of ports in most parts of the worll, where
snch charges on the same Vessel are levied only ones
in six or twelve months,

In addition to all theso duties aml charges, an
English Merchant s required to pay 28} Ticals. aml
~ometimes 32} Ticals for a Pass for wvery Junk
belonging to Siam, that he may hire to send down to
the Var only, with such portion of Cango as his <hip,
in consequence of the shallowness of the water on the
bar, cannot venture to receive at Bangkok. And it
he purchases Rice, Paddy or Salt, e is obliged to pay
2 Slings or half a Tical, & day to 40 Clerks to come and
see the Article measured, although only one of them
attends, and his attendance is limited to 2 louwrs
a day, inonder that the whols 40 may be cne
tinued in pay of the Huglish Merchant ns long as
possible,

aptain Burney entreats His Majesty the King of
Siam will appoint jroper Officers to investigate into
the truth and accuracy of all that Captain Burney has
heve stated, and to ascertain how much the tade and
vevenues of Siam have heen veduced and abused by
sueh a system of conducting foreign  commerce.
English and Surat ships are always detained at Bang-
Kok for at least 4 or 5 months at a very heavy loss
before they can sell their Cargo and procnr another,
and many English and Ameriean Traders, in conse-
quence of such obstructions and vexatious delays,

have left Bangkok with a determination of never revi-
siting it.  Let the Ministers ask the Commander of
the American Vessels now at Bangkok, what delays
and difficulties and losses he is experiencing.  The
Siamese and Chinese are fair Merchants, but it is the
Chulia Officers of Government that are the cause
of all the mischief and of so Kreat a number of
ships not returning to Bangkok,
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Tn Tiew of the present system Captain Bumey
Tegs to submit to the consideration of the Siamese
Ministers, in the following eight propositions. a mors
advantageous and liberal mode of treating English
Trade and shipping.

L. On the arrival of every English or Surat
Vessel, let the Commander lay before the Prah Klaug
amanifest of the whols of her Cargo, aud  list of
her Crew, Passengers and Warlike Stores.  If the
Manifest prove incoreet, the Officers of the Prah
Klang wny of course seize all Merchandize not
included in tho manifest.

el be then measured in Breadth
ns, and

2 Let the Ves
acconding to the existing Siamese Regulat
a charge made of a certain number of Ticals Per
fathom and let this charge be so rated that it shall
include at once all Anchorage and Port duties,
Presents, and Tport and Export duties of every
deseription.  This is the manner in which the Chinese
levy their daties upon English trade and shipping
and Captain Burney thinks, that if, a sum of 1,500
Ticals were levied at once upon every fathom of
breadth in an English Vessel, in lieu of every other
charge for Anchorage, Tmport and Export duties,
Presents &ea., such a sum would be readily paid,
and the resort of English Vessels to Siam would
be greatly increased.

3d. Let this charge be reduced in certain propor-
tions to every Vessel returning to Siam a second, third
or fourth time within 12 months and let no charge be
levied upon Junks that may be hired to carry to a vessel
outside of the bar a residue of her Cargo.

4. Upon payment of the charge described in the
second proposition, let the English or Surat Merchant
have full liberty to sell his Cargo and buy a return
wherever he pleases.  If the King requires to purchaso
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or sell any goods let: His AMajesty’s Merchant o to
the Market in the same manner as every other trader,
As the King has the most and the best goods, and
has the earliest information and the greatest command
of money, his Majestys Merchant, if he exerts himself,
Cught o be able to buy and sell for is Majesty t
greater advantage than what any private Merchant
can do. The present system of forciug the English
Merchant to accept the terms of the King’s Merchan,
or not to sell his goods at all or buy a return Caryo,
is manifestly wnjust, and the greatest  yrievance
experienced at Bungkok by the English and Surat
AMerchant.

9. Let a particular Officer be appointed to sep
Rtice Paddy and Salt measured and let him I paid
for his trouble at a fixed rate per Coyan,

O Let the Gun powder and shot ouly b
removed from all English Vessels arriving at Paknan,,
but let the Guns remain on board.  The remoyal
of the Guns puts the English merchant to trouble and
Expense, and it is a custom considered in some
measure dishonorable by the Eoglish.  Without the
powder the Guns can he productive of no harm, and
il o quantity of powder is found fu an English
Vessel at Bangkok, the Commander may of course
be fined.

7. When any British subject has any suit for
debt or other matter against any subject of the King
of Siam, let the British subject lay his complaint
Lefore the Pral Klang or other Officer appointed by
the King, and let the Pralh Klang or such Officer,
after investigating such complaint and finding it just
and well founded, have the Siamese subject seized,

and procure from him a ful] satisfaction for the
British subject.
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8. Let all Vessels, swall Bonts &wa. under Eng=
lish Colonrs, and all English Merchants have liberty
to trade with every part of the Siamese dominions on
the same ters as ave detailed in these propositions
and British subjects while residing in the Siamess
1 may be considersd ble to the establ-
ished laws of Siam for any transgressions against

them.

The above eight propositions contain the win
points which the British Government is interested in
secnring from Siam, in favor of British teade and
the Ministers desive it

pal

shipping, and whenever
Captain Bueney will bo veady to afford them any
explanations, as well as to receive their ohservations
npon what he las here vepresented.

The world is grown older and wiser and the trads
of the Siamese, as well as of the Euglish, ix infinitely
greater than what it was, when the rales now in fores
at Bangkok wern established,  No nation can supply
the Siamese with many articles requived by them, so
well or 5o cheaply as the English and the present
e told, that the
prosperity and happiness of his subjects will increass
in proportion s thu resort of trade and shipping to
Siam increases. If the propositions which Captain
Burney has hero submittad, by order of the Right
Honble. the Go
Malayan States and British Trade are aceeded to, the
English and Siamese will continue for hundreds of
years on terms of the most intimate friendship ;
and Captain Burney begs the Ministers of Siam will
observe, that the English have now placed themselves
in a situation, from which they can most easily
prevent the Burmese from ever attempting to molest
the paace and trauquillity of any part of the Siamess
dominious. What greater or more convineing proof
can the Siamese Ministers require of the friendly

eniightened Monarch nee:dl not

ernor General with respect to the
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disposition of the British Government, than the Clause
which has heen inserted in its Treaty, with Ava and
hy which the benefits of peace are secured in favor of
Sinm also ¥

But while the Eoglish are affoding this and a
hundrwd other proofs of their good will and friendly
feelings, the Siamese, Captain Bumey observes, are
building and repairing forts, mounting Gung, fitting
chains of defonce neross the Menam aml making
every other preparation for war,

The gvat King of Simm has now no enemy nor
does e now vequive any additional teritory on the
vide of Ava. I his Majesty will only trust in the
declarations of Captain - Bamey, the Euglish and
Sinmese will henceforth live on terms of the most
intimate friendship on terms of brotherly affection.

Signed) H. BURNEY—Captain
Envoy to the Conrt of Sinmn.
(A Teve Copy)
Signed) H, BURNEY.
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NOTES.

The Cowrt of Sinm seems to have taken n far
arcater interest than is generally helieved in the
execution of the Rajali of Ligores schemes of conyuests,
I find most of the priveipal persons at Bangkok
shaved iu the plunder of Kedah,  Besides Guns and
other Articles about 1,000 of the inhabitants wene
sent up heve, and these Malays ave now employed ax
slaves with the King, Wang-na and alnost every
Siamese Minister.  But there is no «question. that
these conquests would never have heen nuthorized,
it the Court of Siam had been certain that the British
Government would have interfered.  In 1821 and
again very recently the present Kinge  repeatedly
consulted the Portuguese Consul, as to the probability
of the Government at Prince of Wales Iland inter
fering to prevent the subjugation of Kedah, Pernk
and Salangore, and when it was known that the Rajah
of Ligor had come into collision with the Penang
CGovernment, Muskets and Stores wore promptly sent
down to him. Al Buropean travellers of the 17t
Century describe Kedal as tributary to Siam, but in
the beginning of the 18: Century Captain Hamilton
found it independent “having” as he observes
“thrown off the Siamese Yoke in the long Pegu
War.” 1 have lately learned that Pya Tac commonly
called the Chinese King of Siam, replaced the Yoke
about the year 1771 ( sce also Pages 489 and 523 Vol ;
5 of Nouvelles Lettres Edifiantes ") Kedal appear
therefore to have hut recently felt the power of Siam
at the same time she began her connection with the
British Govermment and this fact confirms the opinions
of the present Honble. Governor of Prince of Wales
Island that Kedal songht the connection and ceded the
Lsland under o belief that she should be protected
against Siam.  Many persons have assured me, that
Kedah now yields to the Rajali of Ligor a revenue of
30,000 Dollars per annum. If the exertions of the
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British Government restors the King of Kedali the
the annual stipend of 10,000 Dollars could therefore,
and ought in justice to be discontinued,

The Provisional Treaty with the Rajalt of Ligor
vielded in some measure to the Siamese demand of
the Boonga Mas from Perak, but the information I
have gathered here, has induced me to assume a higher
tone, and to claim at once for the British Government,
a right of protecting Perak and Salangore founded
on the ancient connection subsisting between these
States and the Settlement of Malacea, Tringano and
Calantan have already submitted so much to Siamese
pretensions that I conceived it prudent to yield
the point of the Boonga Mas with respect to them,
and particulacly as T feared if 1 did not do so, the
intention, which the Court has had for some time
past and which I hope to prevent, of sending down
two Junks and a Deputation to Tringano, would be
exceuted before the British Government could have an
opportunity of interfering,

The Chinese pay a small duty ® upon the Junks
and an Bxport duty of half a Tical Per Pecul upon
Sugar.  The rest of their Exports and the wholo of
their Duports are free of duty. The British Merchant,
who pays an Luport duty of 8 Per Cent and heavy
Export duties, cannot compete with the Chinese, who
have brought up British Cottons and Merchandize
from Singapore and the Eastward, until the Market at
Bangkok is overstocked and many articles of British
Manufacture are now selling here at much lower
prices than what they Lring at Singapore and other
parts to the Eastward,

The Queen of Portugal opened a correspondence
with the King of Siam in 1786, offering to assist the
latter against the Burmeso, and a reply to o latter
was sent, thanking her for her friendly offer, applying
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for & supply of Muskets, and inviting her to cstablish
a factory at Bangkok. No notice was taken of
this wply until 1818 when Mr. Carlacs de Silveria,
a mative of the Brazils and formerly resident at
Macao, was deputed to Siam by the Viceroy of G,
to take advantage of the offer made by the King
of Siam in 1786. A paper of propositions containing
no less than 23 Articles, and drawn up by the Viceroy
with all the formality, which is observed in o Treaty
of Peace [Dhetween] two great European Powers,
was given to Mr, Silveria, who succeeded in procuring
the consent: of the Court to most of the Articles,
the principal of which were the establishment of o
Consul and Factory at Bangkok and at other Siameso
ports, if required, and reduction G Per Cent of
the Import duty.

The Prah Klang replied Seriatim to the pro-
positions of the Vieeroy, suggesting cortain alterations
and promising, that whenever the Viceroy signified
his consent to these alterations, a regular instrament
should be drawn up and signed by both parties, No
answer has ever been given to the Prah Klang's letter,
and Mr. Silveria has been left here un-noticed and
unpaid.  Some years ago a very lucrative trade passed
between Macao and Sjam and it was principally for
the improvement of this trade that Mr. Silveria was
deputed here. But no Portuguese Vessel has visited
this Port during the last 6 or 7 years. The trds
between China and  Siam is very extensive and
valuable, and the King and most of his Courtiers
take a share in this trade of which the profits are
50 great, that 100 Per Cent is generally cleared at,
many of the Chinese ports upon Sapan-wood Gamboge
and other articles, and it is said, that even if one only
out of two Junks return to Siam, the trader is certain
of clearing a handsome profit upon his speculation.
The Chinese form a very large portion of the inhabi-
tants of Bangkok and their Junks are said to bring
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an annual addition of 2000 Souls to the population
of Siam. The Portuguese in former years porformed
some services for Siam. Both Mergni and Ligor
were conquered with the assistance of some Povtuguess
who had retired to Siam when the Dutch drove them
out of Ceylon. And at present, the descendants of
Tortugnese are serving the King of Siam in the Army
and other Departments. Hence the Portugnese. ns
well as the Chinese are said to possess strong clafnua
to he favored over every other foreign nation.

It was necessary to enter so largely ax | have
done in this Memorial, into the charges now levied
at. Bangkok, because the King is aware only of tho
small portion which ix paid into his Treasury, and the
rest being embezzled by the Pralh Klang, and his
Officers, they would deny the existence of any charge
Tt that which is nceounted for to the King.

Alr. Crawfurd was informed that the Meaxurement
duty on a Ship is 118 Ticals Per fathom. The Siam-
s fathom is n fow inches more than 6 English fect,
‘The Portuguese Consul assures me, that the establish-
od charge is only 80 Ticals Per fathom and that the
snrplus is embezzlod by the Officers ot the Prah
Klang.

Exclusive of Fees to the Governor of Paknam
and other expences, Mr Hunter was charged for
the Ship Caroline, measuring 4 fms. 1 Cubit and
1 span 2154 Ticals, and for the Brig Shannon
measuring 3 fathoms 1 Cubit and 1 span 1546
Ticals and 1 Sling; while the American Brig Siren
measuring 8 fathoms and 1 Cubit, is now charged
1136 Ticals. The above sums were styled “Measurc-
ment duty” and were said to include certain fuex
to the Master Attendant and Officers of the Prah
Klang, but no statement of particulars would bs
given. Upon the death of the late King an increass
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was made on account of the Wang-na or 2d King,
who was then appointed. It is right that the public
should be generally aware of the heavy rate of port
duties at Bangkok, as at prasent Ship Owners in
Tondon are ignorantly chartering their Vessels from
Siam at only £1 per Ton higher freight than that to
Singapore,

The late King of Siam monopolized the exclisive
sale of Stic-lac, Sapan wood, Ivory, Gamboge and Pep-
per. The present King upon his accession, directed
the trade in these Articles to be made free, that is, as
@ British Merchant has found, ouly when His Majesty
has no supply of those Articles for sale. Unfortunate-
ly the King of Siam receives a great portion of his
revenue in kind. The Siamese Troops when not
otherwise engnged, are employed in cutting Tinber
and Sapan wood for his Majesty. The people of Lao
pay their tribute in Stic-lac, Ivory, Benjumin and
other Articles. The inhabitants of the Siamese portion
of Cambodia send Gamboge, Pepper and Candamoms,
To get rid of this produce His Majesty ix obliged to
become a Merchant, and his Officers, of course try to
disposs of it to foreign Merchants on the highest
possible terms.  The collection of the duty upon
Sugar is farmed to a Chinese named Khun Putac,
and mo person can manufacture tho article without
paying to him a duty of § a Tical Per Pieal,
This duty, which in addition to the Export duty,
is paid, as well as many others in Sugar. Khun
Patac is a poor Chinese, the tool of Prince Krom
Meun Surin, the Phra Klang and his brother Pya Si
Phi Phut; who are the real farmers of the duty.
The farm is rented for 380 Catties of Silver, or 30,400
Ticals Per Annum. This would show an annual pro-
duce of 10,800 Peculs or 3,800 Tons of Sugar, but
allowing for the profits and embezzlements of the
farmers, the produce, I am assured, must be at
least double that amount.
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The Siamese have no respeet for national colours
which they believe may he falsely used. Two Surat
Veasels, that annually visit Bangkok under Fnglish
Colours, ave not considered as the property of British
subjects,

Mr. Crawfurd proposes in his * Notes towands o
Treaty,” a Tonnage duty of 40 or 50 Ticals to be
substituted for the present charges. The Sinmeso
would not credit any Registers or Papers of » Ship
and L conceived it pradent not to propose too great
innovations at once, hut to let them continue the
present system of measuring the breadth of a Vessel
inside at the Droadest part of the hold 40 or 50
Ticals Per Ton also appeared to me too high a charge
tobe first proposed by me. It appeared the Mazimum
and I assumed 1500 Ticals Per fathom of hreadth as
the minimum, upon the following data

The Ship Caroline paid
For Measurement duty ., <. Ticals 2,154,

Fees to Governor of Pakuam and
other petty Charges ... W 203.

8She conld cary an Export of 8000
Peculs of Sugar, upon which she
would be charged at the rate of 1§
Tical Per Picul, Export duty ... 12,000.

Total ... 14,357,

Her burthen is 450 Tons and by Mr. Crawfurds
plan she would have been charged from 18,000 to
22,500 Ticals. By my plan, as she measured 4
fathoms, 1 Cubit and 1 span she would have been
charged about 6,750 Ticals.
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The Brig Shannon paid
€ Ticals Sling

For measurement, duty ... e 1546, 1
Fees to the Governor of Iaknam

and other petty charges R
She could carry an Export Cargo

of 3000 Piculs of Sugar upon

which she would be charged ... 4,500, —

Total

Her burthen is 200 Tons and by Mr. Crawfurd’s plan
she would have been charged for 8 to 10,000 Ticals.
By my plan, as she measured 3 fathoms, 1 Cubit and
1 span, she would have heen charged 5000 Ticals.

The American Brig Siren now at Bangkok is to

be charged

Ticals.
For measurement duty ... e 1186, —
Fees to Governor of Paknam and
other Petty charges ... e 162, —
Duty on her return Cargo of
2136 Peculs of Sugar . 3204 —

Total ... 4,50:

Her burthen is 175 Tons, and by Mr. Crawfined’s plan
<he would have been charged from 7000 to 8,750
Ticals. By my plan, as she measured 3 fathoms and
i Cubit, she would have been charged abont 4,875
Ticals. The above statements do not includs
auy charge for Import Cargo but the American
Brig brought bullion only, and the Caroline and
Shannon were sent from Singapore principally
to take away the returns of a former Import
Cango. An Euglish Vessel imports a Cargo of such
value, as to require moro thau herself to carry away
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her returns in Siamese produce. The measurement
charge on the American Vessel was eo low, in conse=
(uence, it is believed of the Officers of Government
heing aware of a discussion with the Court pending
respecting these charges.® A frand was committed
upon an American Vessel some years ago by some of
the Chinese officers of Government mixing sand with
the Sugar she received and before the Siren no Ameri-
can Vessel has been hero for the last 4 years. In thix
very season some years ago three American Vessels
received full Cargoes of Sugar in 20 days, Imt tho
Siren las Leen detained two months hy the delays
and attempts to impose on the part of the Prah Klang's
Officers.  The present King of Siam when Princo
Krom Cheat, expressed his approbation of this modo
of making one charge for the Vessel and her Cargo
nx practiced in China. The tax is however obviously
wnequal as a Vessel's capacity to carry Cargo doex not
1y upon her length or breadth,

depend enti

1 have included in the proposed chaige of 1,500
Ticals Per fathom all presents now made to the
Siamese Officers. 1F the preseits now made hy an
English Trader consist of Muskets, Cloths and Articles
the market prices of which are well known, le has a
chance of receiving from the King and Prah Klang
a faiv return for them.  But if they consist of Watches,
Clocks and expensive toys, ho need not expect a
veturn of one quarter of their Cost. Some of the
Siamese Officers however make no return and it will
searcely be believed that the firm of Messes.  Morgan's,
Hunter & Co. of Singapore, have made presents
to the King and other Officers at Bangkok to tho
amount of 28,000 or 30,000 Ticals for which they have
received a return of only about one half of the value.

The law of Debtor and Creditor at Bangkok pivesx
the latter a right to go himself and seize the former
and imprison him or any of his family until the
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debt be discharged.  If however the Creditor, when
employed in apprehending the Debtor, strike him
or any of i family, the deht is immediately cancelled,
Whenever an English Trader now complaing to the
Prali-Klang against any person who may be in his
debt hie s asked why did he trust the party, and
told to go himself and imprison him. 1 have
not made any proposition  respect the mutual
restitution of Criminals, because the Siamese eannot
draw any distinction between civil offenders and
Criminals, and because the British Court of Judicaturo
at Prince of Wales Island wonld interfere with the
proper execution of any plan for this object. 1t
wonld never, 1 conceive, recognize Mr. Crawfurls
plan (see hix notes towards n Treaty) proposing that
the Offender should he amenable to the laws and
Jurisdiction of the power in whose tervitory he may
b apprehended.

Signed) H. BURNEY  Captain

Envoy to the Court of Siam.
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REPLY to Captain Burney's Memorial No. 17
of the 9th February 1826,

Captain Burneys letter having been communicat-
od to the Ministers, declaring that the British General
at Pettanago has written to Captain Burney, stating
that the English have made a Treaty of Peace with
the Burmese, and that the English have forbidden the
Burmese to attack or molest the Siamese in future,
because the English are the friends of the Siamess—
and further, that the English desire that the Siamess
may not go and attack or molest the Burmese in
future.  The Chow Pya Prah Klang was requested to
lay the same befor his Majesty, who having under-
stood its contents was pleased to observe :—What the
English desive that the Siamese and Burmese may
not molest each other, they desire because they
entertain the most sincere friendly feclings towards the
Siamese—and because they do not wish the Siamess
to fight with the Burmese so that each nation may
live in peace in its own territory. This is extremely
good, but the Burmese are deceitful, their word is not
to be trusted. What they have done, they have done
through fear of the English, and because they found
it necessary to make o Treaty and to promise to live
well with the Siamese. If hereafter they see the
Siamese careless, they will come and attack some
Siamese Country, They will do go without recollec-
tion [of ] their engagement. But we must seo and
hear more.  We cannot direct the Siamese to confide
in the Burmese, and become negligent. If Captain
Burney desire to learn the treacherous and perfidious
character of the Burmese, let the Ministers com=
municate to him a copy of the account contained
in the annals of the Kingdom of the Wars between
the Siamese and Burmese, and the declarations
of the Burmese in former years so that Captain Burney
may know and well reflect upon this matter. Such
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were his Majestys orders. The Ministers desire Pya
Phi-phut Kosa to make the following copy from
the annals of the Country for the information of
Captain Burney. In the year 1170 about 18 years
ago, the Burmese deputed, via Martaban, Pya
Intachak, Akabangi, Pya Chak and Surachakio, as
Envoys to express their sincere desire that peace
and friendship might be established with the Siamese.
At that time the King of Siam then reigning, was old
and sick, and all the Ministers and people of Siam
were full of sorrow. The Ministers desired that the
Gnards might be withdrawn, and that no men should
go and catch Burmese and they withed to see once
more what the Burmese would do in their deceit.
In that same year the Burmese raised an army
and built war boats at Tavoy. The Siamese did
not go and seize men, and for this reason they did
not know what the Burmese were about. The next
year 1171, the Burmese invaded Juukeeylon and
the Siamese were not able to send an Army for its
protection, for which reason, as the place was far,
the Burmese succeeded in taking possession of the
Island and in carrying away the whole of its
inhabitants. The Burmese praposed to do the same
with some of the other Siamese countries but the
Army of Siam went, and entively defeating them,
drove them back and recovered Junkcey
the inhabitants of that Island were ruined and
destroyed because the declarations of the Burmeso
had been credited and the Siamese had not gone to
catch Burmese and gather intelligence. Since that year
the Siamese have never failed to watch the Burmese,
and the Burmese have not been able to plunder the
Siamese o infringe on their boundaries. In the
year 1173 the Burmese hung up a letter at the
extremity of the frontiers in which letter it was stated
that the Burmese desived friendship with the Siamese
and proposed to depute a man of rank to Siam to open
a negotiation, requesting therefore that the Siamase




[187 ] B

guards should be prohibited against seizing men.
But the Siamese did not credit the Burmese, because
their word is untrue and spoken. only to deceive, and
the Siamese were sent to catch men wherever oppor-
tunities offered.

One party of the Siamese, which had penetrated
beyond the frontiers to the river Pran between the
Countries of Ye and Tavoy, fell in with and seized
some Burmese Officers of rank, who had come down
from Ava in a vessel. There were two men of rank,
and a native Christian who was the Commander of
the Vessel.  Upon their examination, it appeared that
one of them, named Kunnang who was a personal
servant of the King of Ava, had been sent with
Jetters to prepare and collect the Troops belonging
to the smaller provinces of Pegn and Tavoy, and that
the King of Ava had ordered his Ministers to raise an
Army at Martaban, in oxler to attack the Siamese,
When this was known the Siamese sent an Avmy
to be in waiting for the Burmese Army at the
extremity of the frentiers, Chakcharwoongee was the
Commander in Chief of the Burmese Army and there
were a great many Officers who had brought the
Army from Ava and fiom the other smaller Countries
to Martaban. When the Burmese found that the
Siamese army had come to meet them, they had
not the courage to move their force into the Siamese
Country, in order to fight the Siamese, The
Burmese Army waited only at Martaban until the dry
Season was over, and the rainy season had commenced,
when it dispersed. All that is here said abont the
conduct of the Burmeso is perfectly true. ‘The
professions of the Burmese to the Siamese have proved
false many times and the Siamese cannot again be
careless and confide in them.

Pya Phi-phut Kosa here inscribes the orders of
the King of Siam, and agreeably to the directions of
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the Ministers, copies the account of the former wars
and disputes between the Siamess and Burmese, for
the information of Captain Burney on Saturday the
8th day of the 3d Moon in the year Fowl.

Translated by means of a version
in the Malayan language.

Signed) H. BURNEY  Captain

,Seal of : Envoy to the Court
ot Siam.
Pya Phi-p hut | tSian

Eosa. /' {TrueiCopy

S~ Signod) H. BURNEY.
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 23: March 1826,

ORDERED that Copies of the foregoing Docu-
ments be prepared and transmitted to the Secretary
to the Supreme Government Dby the Ship Abgaris.

RESIDENT at SINGAPORE.

——a
To,
W. 8. Cracroft Esquire,
Secretary to the Government
Prince of Wales Island.
Sir,

For the information of the Honorable the Govern-
or in Council, I have the lionor to state that the
enclosed Packet from Captain Burney Envoy at the
Court of Siam, containing an Indent on the Commis-
sary of Supplies and general Treasury at Prince of
Wales Island was received here on the 12th Instant
under a flying Seal and in explanation of the remarks
made by me on the same to state that with them I
received a demi Official communication from Captain
Burney, requesting with reference to a former letter
from him to Mr. Crawfurd wherein certain supplies
had been vequired that should the demand have been
complied with notice of the same should be inscribed
on the present applications.

The Treasure and articles of supplies were shipped
on board the Ship Hunter Captain Johnston as long
ago as the 13: January last, the ship after having
twice put back from the prevalence of very strong and
unfavorable winds in the China Seas did not finally
get away until 17th of last month.

T have the honor to be &e. &e. &e.
Signed) S.G. BONHAM
Acting Resident,
Singapore
13th March 1826.
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 25: March 1826.

ENVOY at the COURT of SIAM.

Bangkok, 15th Febroary 1826.
To
The Secretary to Government
Prince of Wales lsland
Sir,

T beg you will submit to the Honble. the Gov-
wrmor in Council my request that a supply of Provi-
«ions for a further period of three months may be
embarked on board the Brig Guardian for the use ot
the Escort and Followers attached to my Mission,
and I enclose an Indent for the same on the (om-
missary of supplies,

1 beg also to enclose a Receipt for Spanizh Dollars
2,000 which I solicit Government may be pleased to
advance to me to account, and to remit to me by the
Guandian,

Referring to the peculiar circumstances under
which the followers of the Szpoys detached with me
were left at Prince of Wales Island, 1 have complied
with Subadar Meer Soobaney's application to return
there for the purpose of making arrangements for the
subsistence of the Families of the Escort attached to
my Mission.

1 have &ca.
Signed) H. BURNEY Captain
Envoy to the Court of Siam.

ORDERED that the receipt of the above letter
be acknowledged, the Resident at Singapore requested
to charge the Treasure and Bupplies to Bengal, and
Orders issued for the Money and Provisions now
required being shipped on the Guardian which Vessel
may be detained a short time in hopes of a supply of
Dholl and Ghee being obtained from some ship
from Bengal.
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 10 April 1826.

THE SECRETARY reports that the Envoy at
Siam was duly advised, and that tho Guardian was
i 1 with the following Letter in ack ledg
ment of the Dispatches received from that Officer.

To the ENVOY st SIAM.

To,
CAPTAIN H. BURNEY
Envoy at Siam.
Sir,

1 am directed by the Honorable the Governor
in Council to acknowledge the receipt of your Journal
of Proceedings up to the 15th February last with
the Appendixes thereto and also of your letter to

the address of the Honble. the Governor of the
b d date with its encl

The Honorable the Governor in Council has no
particular observations to make on the propositions ta
the Government of Siam contained in Appendix 19
which if attained will be most highly conducive to
the Public Interests, but 1 am directed to remark
that the opinion of this Government on the Policy
of restoring the Malayan Government of Kedah and
removing the Siamese therefrom remains unchanged
and it is hoped that most important object of your
negotintions will not fail of accomplishment,

The release of the Burmese inhabitants of Tavoy
and Mergui is highly satisfactory and will it is hoped
tend to impress the minds of the people of those Pro-
vinces with the greatest confidence in the British Go-
vernment to which they have now been finally annexed.
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Copies of your Dispatches now acknowledged were
forwarded by the earliest opportunity for the informe
ation of the Right Honbls. the Governor General in
Council.

I have &ea.
Signed) W. 8. CRACROFT
Seery. to Govt.
Fort Cornwallix
The 8: April 18206,




THE

BURNEY PAPERS

IL

(May to June 1826)
Printed by order of the Committee of the Vajiraiiana National Library,

BANGKOK

1910.






Extracts from the
Factory Records, Straits Settlements, Vol. 138,

Pp- 85-157. 157-166, and 6-71 (Secret and Political Department.)







NOTE.

The second part of the Burney

Papers, which is heraby issued
in accordance with the promise made,

reaches from May to June 1826,

The remaining parts, treating of the correspondence of Capt.
Berney with Chao Thya Ligore and the orders of the Governor-General
of India issued on the negotiations, have not yot reached this Library ;

Dut as the second part is complete in itself, it Las been thought advisable
to issue it without delay.
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FORT CORNWALLIS ‘The 19th June 1826,

AT A COUNCIL Present
THE HONORABLE ROBERT FULLERTON
Governor 1"esident
WILLTAM ARMSTRONG CLUBLEY Esquire
and
ROBERT IBBETSON Esquire.

READ and APPROVED the Proceedings of the
12th Instant.

THE following letter from the Envoy at Siam to
the Honorable the Governor with continuation of his
Journal up to the 1st May is recorded.

ENVOY AT SIAM.

Bangkok 1st May 1826,
To
The HONORABLE R. FULLERTON Esquive
Governor &en., &ea., &ca,
Prince of Wales Island.
Houble. Sir,

I do myself the lonor to transmit to you n Copy
of the continuation of the Journal of my Mission tu
the Court of Siam from the 15th February to this
day.

I beg to solicit your particular notice to pars.

155 and 156 of my Journal and to No. 26 of the
Appendix to the same.

1 have &ca.
(Sd) H. BURNEY Captain
Favoy to the Court of Siam.
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Continuation of Captain H. Burney's Journal of
his Mission to the Conrt of Siam from 15th February
to 1st May 1826,

119, On the 20th February Captain Sutherland
and Mr. Leal returned to Bangkok, having on the
day preceding taken the Brig Guardian, and the six
Junks with the Burmese prisoners over the bar.
As these Gentlemen reported that the most active
preparations are waking at Paklaat and Paknam for
meeting an hostile attack I called on the Prah Klang
and enquired the reason. Ho denied the fact, but
complained against the Commander of the Guanlian
for not having anchored off Pakuam Fort and mads a
Report to the Governor, before e carried the vessel
outside of the bar. Captain Sutherland declared, ha
was not aware that he ought to have stopped at
Paknam, and as a proof that T was no party to his
breach of the port regulations, 1 told the Pral Klang
that I would direct the vessel to be brought back to
Pakuam, if the Prah Klang insisted npon it. 1 had
befors heard from severl private sources, that n
report which had excited much alarm, had been spreal
at Bangkok, stating that the Brig Guanlian was
returning to Penang for the purpose of leading the

way to an expedition against Sinm, | mentioned
this report to the Prah Klang, enquired whether s
could possibly believe that T would remain at Bangkok
with my Family, if the vessel were retwrning to
Penang for any lostile purpose, and desirved him to
signify to the King and Ministers, my readiness to
vall the Guardian back, and to dotain her here should
they entertain the slightest doubt of my intentions.
The Prah Klang replied that he was about to proceed
to the Palace where he would communicate my offer,
and in the evening he sent ms a message stating that
the King and Ministers would not insist upon the
Guardian being ordered back to Paknam, nor object
to my dispatching her whercever 1 please.




[105]

120, On the 21st Captain Sutherland and Mr.
Leal returned to the Brig and Junks with ny
dispatches for Penang and Mergui. To the Honorahlo
the Governor of Prince of Wales Island I forwarded
through the Resident of Singapore a Copy of my
Journal from the 234 December to the 15th February
inclusive, and to the Commissioner at Tavey T
forwarded throngh the Officer in Civil charge of
Mergui a copy of my Journal from the 18th January
tothe 15th February inclusive. I drew np and for-
warded at the same time a Report on the progress
of my negotiations with this Court, No. 21.

121, On the 23d I learnt that the Serang of
the Brig Guardinn, a drunken worthless ch had
absconded from the vessel, and that he liad beon seized
and examined by the Wangna and other Siamese
Officers of Rank, in reply to whose enquiries as to
the object of my visiting Bangkok, and of the Guardian
veturning to Penang, he lad uttered the most

ischi tales, declaving that I was coll n
information in view to enable the English Avmament,
for which the Guardian was going down, to capture
Bangkok with more ease, and that the Rajal of
Ligore was in secret communication with me.
Luckily the Serang in the conrse of his examiwition
offered his Services against the English, if the Siameso
would appoint him Shah bundsr of Bangkok a
proposition which made the Wangna laugh heartily
and which threw a doubt upon the wholo of his
alarming tales. The moment I lieard this circumstance,
and which I did from a person who was present at the
examination of the Serang, 1 conceived it wmy duty to
seize and confine him. I called at the same time on
the Prah Klang, and apprizing him of the character of
the Serang, and of my having heard that he was
alarming the population of Bangkok with very mis-
chievous_lies against the British Government, I pro-
posed that the Siamese Authorities should keep the
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Serang in Confinement until the return of the Brig.
The Prah Klang approved much of my lavit
prehended the Serang, but begged of me to k
prisoner, as he feared if any accident occurred to the
Serang whilst in the Custody of the Sinmwse, wo
should charge them with the cause of it.

122, On the 25th I saw the Rajah of Ligore who
told mo that the tales of the Serang had given hin the
greatest alarm and uneasiness, and who gave me <ome
useful advice, as to the time and patience necess:
undeceivo _the Siamese respecting our hostile inten-
tions. The Court 1 learnt, entertains strong suspicions
that the British Government is now about to
connection with Ava dangerous to the weltare of
Siam, and these suspicions are much aggravated by
the tales, which Chinese and Malays ave daily bring-
ing up from the Straits, of armaments preparing at
Penang and Singapore.

Vo

orn n

123, On the 26th Pya Phi-phut Lronght to me a
reply from the Ministers to my long letter No. 19 and
I annex a teanslation of the same No. 22 with such
observations as oceur to me.

124, On the 27th Februavy I received dispatches
from Captains Fenwick and Williamson, apprizing me
of the renewal of hostilities with the Burmese. On
communicating the contents of these dispatches to the
Pl Klang he seemed much pleased at the
foresight shewn by this Court in their letter No.
the British Government not to
place any relisnce on the professions of the
Burmese. He took down in writing the lheads of
the intelligence and laid it immediately before the
King and the rest of the Ministers.

125. I again pressed the Prah Klang to advise
the King, to depute a Siamese Chief to confer
with our Officers at Martaban ; but T was told that
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such a measure was unnecessary 80 long as the War

In 1 of this pected renewal
of hostilities with Ava I prepared some additional
i ing Siamese iations (No. 23)

to be submitted to the British Commissioners i Pegu
and Ava,

126. On the 2ud of March a sum of 240 ticaly
was brought to me from the Peah Klang, with a
ication that having fc g to pay me
during the last two months the established allowance
from the King, he had now sent it to me for the two
months at once. Although on my first arrival this
very sum was to me as the all for
only one month, the subject was too disagreeable for
me to make any enquiries, and I suppressed my
suspicion of the Prah Klang or some of his Officers
having embezzled o moiety of what the King had
directed them to send to me,

127. On the 3nd of March we leard that another
Chinese had arrived overland from Penang and
Singora confirming the intelligence that Troops and
Ships are in readiness at Penang to be sent up against
Bangkok. This intelligence Joined to the malignant
falschoods of the Serang, las done me infinite mischief,
The exertions to fortify the moutl of the Menam are
redoubled, and every preparation is making to oppose
our attack, the early armival of which is now
confidently expected. Not a syllable uttered by
any of the Mission is credited, and the conduct
of the Simneso. towards us, has become uncourteous
and icious to a very 1 degree. The
Boatmen and Attendants that were allotted to us
have been withdrawn,

128. On the 11th March Pya Phi-phut waited
upon me with a dispatch from Captain Williamson
dated 8th February. He told me that that Officer
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had written at the same time to Maha Ayothia, who
had sent down to the Court his letter toguther with
mine. Pya Phi-phut listened with scarcely any
attention to the contents of my dispateh s far as
1 communicated them to him, respecting the inten-
tions of the Suy G to Dlisl
the Pegu monarchy, and when I requested him again
to urge the Ministers to depute a Siamese Officer
to confer on this subject with the British Officers
at Martaban and Rangoon, he coolly veplied that
there is no use of considering what shall be the
future condition of Pegu until the British Governnient
have fully subdued the Burmese and seenved their
Conquests in Pegu.

129. On the 16th Pya-Phi-phut brought to mw
some further dispatches from Captains Fenwick and
Williamson, but 1 observed that no portion of their
contents which I communicated was credited.

130. On the following day I heard that Maha
Ayothia had sent down intelligence of the Burmesa
having cut a ditch across the Country in the rear of
the English Army under Sir Archibald Campbell,
which can now neither advance nor retreat. This
absurd tale is fully believed, and as a corroboration of
it Pya Phi-phut apprized the King and Ministers,
that I looked very grave and sorvowful at the receipt
of the last dispatches from Martaban.

181.  As long as this delusion lasts it is
in vain for me to try to persuade the Court to
accede to any thing I may propose, I shall therefors
wait quictly and patiently until the return of the
Brig Guardian, or until the receipt of accounts
of the Capture of Umerapura. The Serang
being considered by the Siamese as one of our
own men, and as a person holding a respectable
situation in our employ, his tales are judged most
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worthy of belief, and it is hard that such a worthless
character should be able to destroy in a few minutes,
and with so much ease the whole fabric of confidence
and good will which had cost me an wnremitting
exertion of three months to raise. He has been at
Bangkok before, and being well aware of the character
of the Siamese, he conceived that the more alarming
tales he told, the more readily he would he believed,
and the more certain he would be of receiving the
presents promised to him by those who examined him.

132, The Prah Klang has been absent for
several Days past at Paknam, contriving a Kind of
Sluice Gate to shut up the mouth of the River, On
the 20th I received a letter from Mr. Leal dated from
Bangnarom informing me that one of the Six Junks
conveying the Burmese prisoners had Deen separated
and had not reached Bangnarom, and that he could
not wait for her Avrival, as the provisions furnished
to the Burmese were nearly exhausted. The Nakhala
of the missing Junk however waited upon me with
the bearer of Mr. Leal's letter, to apprize me that the
weather had taken him to Samroyet, at which place
the Burmese prisoners, of whom he had 80 on board,
insisted npon landing and crossing over from thencs
to the high Road at Bangnarom, and that he had
afterwards joined the other Junks at Bangnarom but
had seen no one on shore, the whole party having
proceeded towards Mergui. Bangnarom and the
country around it ave stated to bea waste destitnte
of Inhabitants. At Samroyet there is a village
consisting of only five or six huts.

133. On the 24 March the two Sepoys who had
proceeded with dispatches to Tavoy on the 15th
January returned with replies from Mr. Maingy the
Commissioner. These Sepoys as well as those who
had been deputed to Martaban, were taking a cir-
cuitous route. That the Journies to Martaban and
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Tavoy ought not to Lave taken more than 22 or 12
days respectively I know from the testimony of severnl
Pegu and Siamese travellers, as well as from the dates
of some of the dispatches that had previously heen
Trought to me from Captain Fenwick and Mr. M
The sepoys were detained for a day or two by every
petty Chief, aud were taken over hills and through
Aungies in which they saw 1o trace of  ronte, Henen
they did not arvive at Martaban or Tavoy in less than
a month after their departure from Baugkok, These
Sepoys saw detachments of only 3 or 400 wen with
Maha Ayothin and Pya Chaivok whereas the direct
road to Tavoy, I am assured. is from Menam Noi.
Pya Phi-phut laughed when I declarsd my belief that
my messengers had been taken a cireuitous route.

13f. Pya Phi-phut called upon me this day and
I gathered from himn that Maha Ayothia. had sent
down intelligence of Sir Archibald Campbell's Army
having invested Umerapura. This intelligence as [
had previously expected has excited o very great
sensation, and I resolved upon forwarding to the
Miuisters without further delay my reply No. 24 to
their letter No, 22 with the Draft of the Treaty No.
25. It appeared to me advisable to ascertain fully
and to report to my Government at ax carly a date as
possible the sentiments and feelings of the Court of
Siam respecting the different objectx which I am
instructed to endeavour to attain.

135, On the 27th the Ship Hunter under Dutch
Colours arrived from Singapore bringing me numerous
Dispatches from Prince of Walex Island. The
moment the Prah Klang received intelligence of her
Arrival he hurried down to Paknam expecting as
I was assured, that the Vessel was the first of the
English Expedition against Siam. Fortunately the
Commander Captain Johnstone has been here twice
before in command of Mr. Hunter's V' essels, and his
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presence disappointed the Prah Klang, and now
renders him doubtful of the tales which have heen
brought to him of our hostile preparations.

185. On the Evening of the 20th Captain
Macfarquhar waited upon the Prah Klang with my
letter and Draft of a Treaty. The Minister rend
them over very attentively and promised to lay themn
before - the King and the rest of the Ministers. He
made but one observation, whicl was to ask, why the
English inxisted so pertinaciously on the restoration
of the King of Quedah.

137, On the night of the same day I saw the
Rajah of Ligor who begged of me in the most earnest
manner to resign all idea of effecting the restoration
of the King of Quedal. assuring me that the mind
the King was fived against such a measure, and
that if T persisted in it (T) should only lose all
the other objects of my mission. He asked me further
to go and visit fhe Pya of Singora, who is ahout
to retwrn to his Government, and ascertain whether,
what he, the Rajah of Ligor iuformed me as to
the Sentiments of the King and Ministers respecting
the King of Quedah is not perfectly correct. The
Tajah stated that he wished to see me more frequently
but was afinid to do so, because I differed from the
Ministers on some points, and this difforence, in the
event of an intimate communication between the
Rajal and  myself, would Dbe suspected to be
fomented by him, and would cost him his life.

138. The Pya of Singora has been living here
as a person without the smallest influence or consi-
deration. He was two years ago sent up in Chaing
by the Rajah of Ligor by order of the Wangna for
having refused to join in the execution of their
schemes, for extending Siamese influence over the
Malayan Peninsula. Shortly after his arrival here,
the present monarch released him, a circumstance
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which is said to have created some difference between
the King and the Wangna who exercises the immediate
d of the South States, and who is
mora anxious than the King for the establishment
of Siasmese power over the Malay States. The Pya
of Singora is said to have lately lost 500 Catties of
Silver in gambling with Prince Krom Meun Surin
and other Members of the Court; but 1 helieve that:
Sum was paid by him as a bribe to these Officers to
be allowed to return to his Government. Gambling
however is a vice to which the principal Officers and
Ministers of Siam are much addicted. The Gambling
Farm at Bangkok yields as much as the Arrack farm
viz. 1500 Catties of Silver per Annum, or 120,000
Ticals. During a certain annual festival the farm is
set aside and liberty given to every person to gamble
whercever and as much as he pleases and during every
night of the whole of this stated period, the Prah
Klang has a party at his house, where gambling for
very large Sums is pursued throughout the night.

139.  From the day (27 February) that I received
intelligence of the renewal of the War with Ava, 1 have
been urging the Prah Klang to give me a messenger
to convey replies from me to Martaban. On tho 31
March Samian Tra and Prah TooKrat called upon me,
stating that the latter was about to return to
Menam Noi on the following morning, and that
he had been ordered to take charge of my
letters. I prepared therefore Dispatches to the
address of Captains Fenwick and Williamson, and
through them to the British Commissioners in Pegn
and Ava, and to Mr. Secretary Swinton at Fort Wil-
liam (No. 26) for the purpose of delivering the same
on the following day to Prah TooKrat, whom I have
already found a trustworthy Messenger.

104. The Rajah of Ligor sent me o message
today informing me that the King and Ministers con~
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sidered my memorial No. 24 and Treaty luudl moro
isfactory D than my di

Acconnts were received this day of the arrival at

Paknam of an American Ship 28 days from Batavia.

141.  On the 1st April Prah Took-Krat called and
received charge of my dispatches. On the same day
the American Ship Liverpool Packet Captain Coffin
arrived off Bangkok.

142. Soon after our arrival at Bangkok
the Prah Klang promised to return my visit, o
matter of etiq; that 1 i it i 1
upon me to make him perform, although I re-
frained from pressing it too much @ fiest, as 1
was well aware that many of the Siamese Officers
would have rather declined altogether a visit from me,
than have previously engaged to return it. In the
month of January Captain Macfarquhar waited upon
the Prah Klang with a short letter from me pointing
out to him, that as he had visited Mr. Crawford and
the Portuguese Consul I must insist npon his fulfilling
the promise, which he had made to me, of paying me
a similar compliment. The Prah Klang gave a
frivolous excuse for mot having hitherto visited me,
which he again promised so to do. During the
Jast month I was privately told, that the Prah
Klang had really no intention of keeping his
promise, and that as he had been promoted to
the Rank of o Sinabudi or Privy Councellor
and a Chow Pya, since he had visited Mr. Craw-
ford and the Portuguese Consul, he considered
his visiting me would be a derogation from what
le owed to himself. I prepared therefore an Address
to the Ministers describing the high Situation which
1 have the honor to hold, and complaining of several
instances’ of neglect and disrespect which the Prah
Klang had' manifested towards the representative
of the Governor General, in not having returned his
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visit, in not having paid him those little attentions.
which the King of Siam had ordered to be pail
to him, and particularly in having taken away the
Boatmen who had been allowed to us—a deprivation
from which we suffered much as we were unahble to
hire other men at Bangkok in the same manner
as we could do in other Countries.

143, On the 2d April T presented thix adidress
to Pyn Phi-phut to be delivered to the Ministers.
He read it through very attentively and then begged
of me to send it to the Prah Klang by one of my
own Interpreters, stating that as hix immodiate
Superior was so severely treated in this letter he
was afraid to take charge of it Pya Phi-phut possesses
o remarkably tenacious memory and 1 heard that
on that and on the following day he repeated to the
Prah Klang and to the King and the other Ministers,
almost the whole of the contents of my letter.

144. On the Gth I received a Message from
the Rajah of Ligor entreating me not to send in
the letter of Complaint against the Prah Klang, and
assuring me that it I would only call mpon that
Minister, ho would now return my visit and supply:
me with a requisite number of boatmen,

145. On the 10th I called upon the Prah Klang,
who appeared at first a little out of humour,
alluding to the letter of Complaint which I had
prepared against him. I assured him that it was
my sincere wish and intention to cultivate the
most cordial good understanding with him; that
with this view T had submitted to several instances
of & want of proper consideration on his part,
that I had delayed as long as possible from
taking notice of his meglect to return my visit,
but that [ had a duty to fulfil towards the exalted
personage whom I had the honor to represent, and
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that I was determined to fulfil it. The Prah Klang
stated that I ought to have given him time to
return my visit, which he assured me he would
now soon do; and he told me that it was uot the
Custom to supply Envoys at Bangkok with Boatmen
and that no such persons were granted to Mr.
Crawford but that, nevertheless, if he and I were
friends, of course the Services of ten or twelve
men could be uo great object to grant to me.  After
some further conversation the Minister and T parted
on appavently very friendly terms.

146. On the following day the 11th he sent
me a Message stating that he had ordered 10 Boatmen
to be sent to me; that he was obliged to go down
to Paknam for two or three days, but that le would
pay me a visit the moment le returned.

147, On the evening of the 15th the Pral Klang
accompanied by his brother Pya Si-phi-phut paid
me a visit. The approach of rain made it a short
one, but still the Minister made himself as conciliatory
and agreeable as it is in his power to be. Ho now
visited me and the Boatmen were restored to me 1

d d, by the especinl direction of the King.

148. Ou the 16th I called upon  the Prah
Klang to discuss with him that part of the
ial regulations ing which the Minis-

ters in  their last reply referred me to him.
He told me that 1500 ticals per fathom of breadth,
which I proposed every Vesvel under English
Colours should pay in lieu of every other charge
and duty, would be too great a reduction. I endea-
vored to point out to him, that the lower this duty
was fixed the more English Vessels would be induced
to visit Siam. The Prah Klang denied this and
argued that the more Vessels that visited Siam, the
more Import and Export Duties would be lost to the
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Sinmese by the proposed regulations. [t cost mw
much trouble to make the Minister understand, that,
the present high rates of Duties admitted of only 2
or 3 English Vessels annually visiting Siam. It that
if the duties were lower the nnmber of Vessels would
increase perhaps to 10 or 12—that such an increase
nothing but a reduction of the duty would effct and
that 10 or 12 vessels at 6000 Ticals each would prove
much more profitable to the King than 2 or 3 at 11
or 12,000 Ticals independent of the ndvantage that
the Subjects of Siam would reap since the increasn
of vessels produced an increased demand for the pro-
ductions of the Country
is one to which the Siamese Gov

d to make any ». The Pral Klang
then urged me to agree, that although English Traders
and Merchants might buy and sell whereever they
please, still no purchase or Sale should he mada
without the Officers of the Prah Klang boing first.
advised of the same. I protested against this plan,
being well aware that to establish the Tntervention of
the Prah Klang's Officers, would be tantamount to
placing the Trade entirely in their hauds, in the same
mischievous manner as at present, when no Sinmese
dares sell or buy upon any other terms than
those which the Prah Klang is pleased to fix, A
public order may be issued for any person to buy or
sell from or to the Forsign Merchaut, but it is always
accompanied by a sacret order for no one to presumes
to do so at any other prices than thoss charged
by the Pral Klang. I learnt that the Prah Klang
desired to establish this rule for the purposs of
preventing the Foreign Merchant from introducing
any contraband goods, and of preventing the sale of
stolen property on the part of the Siamese. But the
greatest objection to such a rule is, that it would
enable the Government at any time to levy a duty
upon the sales of the home merchant, and thus
indirectly impose an additional burthen on the foreign

This last advantage however

ment is not
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merchant, who would have to pay a jproportional
advanced price for his purchases. This consideration
obliges me also to try and have the consolidated duty
fixed at as low a rate as possible.  When I returned
home I conceived it proper to repeat in writing in a
letter to the Ministers the grounds upon which 1
urged the Prah Klang to agree to the Duty being
fixed at 1500 Ticals per fathom, and I stated in my
letter that as 1 had reported to the Supreme Govern=-
ment the amount which I had offered, I questioned
whether I possessed the power to make any alteration
in it until 1 received a reply from Bengal, and that
at all events T hoped they would not treat my Offer
as that of a Merchant.

149, 1 learnt this day that the deputation which
this Court has for many months past meditated seud-
ing to Tringano sailed a fow days ago in two Junks.
The Chief of the Mission is the person mentioned in
Mr. Crawford’s Journal by the name of Kho-Chai-
sahak, but he is more generally called  Naklioda
Ullee.”  He is of Malayan extraction, and from all
1 have heard, 1 believe him to be a very treacherons
and mischievous character,

150. During the lust 15 days the Celebration
of the Sinmese New Year, and the presence of two
Ships, have afforded abundance of Employment to the
whole of the Officers of Government. The proceedings
of the Prah Klang and his Officers with respoct
to these Ships Hunter and Liverpool Packet, have
enabled me to witness such instances of extortion
and lying on the one side and of loss of time,
money and temper on the other, as perhaps no other
port in the world could have shown. My discussions
with the Court, and the prospect of some revision
of the present system of conducting foreign trade,
seem fo have filled the petty Officers of the Prah
Klang with a desire of reaping as rich a harvest as
possible from these two Ships, Messrs. Hunter and
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Mallock who have been allowed to reside hewe i
ing the last 20 months, have of late experiencil
every vexation and impediment which the enuity
of these Officers could devise. Those Gentlemen
having given me much of the Information, which
enables me to expose the rapacity of the Pral K|
department, and having also afforded xome
useful knowledge to the Commander of the American
Vessel, they have naturally brought dow upon theni-
selves the whole malice of the Siamese Officer<. who
now see that if EBuropean Merchants are allowed to
remain in Siam, they will acquire too great
insight into  Siamese mal-practices, aud  save
other foreign Merchants, that may visit Bangkok,
from extortion and Imposition. Captain Jolmson of
the Hunter haviug been told by the Prah Klang to
xo and purchase in the Market whatever Sugr e
required, he purchased a small quantity from
Siamese woman and had it duly weighed and put
into his vessel during the day time, but shortly
after the woman who had sold it, was seized and put.
in Irons. Upon hearing this circumstance on the 17th
I called on the Prah Klang, who informed we the
woman was punished because she had made the sale
without having previously advised his officers of it.
I remonstrated against this cruel procedure, and
urged the Minister to consider that it was absurd
to say that English Merchants, may go and buy and
sell whereever they please as the King had desired
they might be allowed. No person would dare to
have any commercial intercourse with them, after
what had been done to this woman, and 1 must protest
against the plan of calling upon the party, who might
be the seller, to come first and make a report to the
Officers of the Prah Klang. Such a plan would not
only create much loss of time, but tend to destroy all
confidence between the Siamese and English mer-
chants,  After some further discussion the Prali
Klang agreed to release the poor woman, So long
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as the public Officers at Bangkok, are allowed to
engage in Commerce, I do not see how any thing like
a frec trade can be established, or their privilege of
1 pti ff lly abolished. The Aweri

Commander Captain Coffin has agreed with the Pralt
Klang for a Cargo of Sugar at 6 Dollars or 93 Ticals
per pecul, including the duty. Captain Kinsman of
tho Siren paid that high price ; and as usual in Siam,
it has become o precedent, and it will be long before
any American will be able to procure the Avticle at n
lower rate. Mr. Hunter however can purchase the
same description of Sugar in the market for 1 tical
less including the duty, but the moment his pure
chases and arrangements for loading his vessel inter-
fered with the supplies of the Prah Klang to Captaiie
Coffin, all competition was crushed by authority, and
the Sugar holders and Owners of Junks were intimid-
ated against attending to their engagements with Mr,
Hunter until the American is fully supplied. And
thus it has ever been, and ever will be at Bangkok.

151, On the same day Pya Phi-phut called upore
e, accompanied by three ® of the Burmese whom Mr
Maingy had sent from Tavoy with my last dispatehes,
and whom Chow Pya Maha Ayothin detained at
Menam-noi until he received an order from the Court
to suffer them to come down to the Capital,

152. Desirous of nscortaining, at as early a date
as possible the Sentiments of the Court with respect
to the Draft of a Treaty which I had forwarded on the
20th March, I had been, since that date, almost daily
pressing for a reply, but no argument can urge o
Siamese to greater activity or exertion than what he
has been used to. At last on the 19th April Pya
Phi-phut called upon me with the long expected
reply from the Ministers, of which I annex a trans-
lation No. 27, and with the Draft of a Treaty proposed
by them in lieu of that which I had presented. This
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curious Treaty was written with Pencil in a Siamese
Black Book, and Pya Phi-phut told me that it was
sent merely for my inspection and opinion. 1 found
however that it omitted all the most important
stipulations proposed in my Draft, and included only
the Port Regulations of Bangkok with three or four
of the last Articles of my Treaty. I conld not avoid
vidiculing such a document, and pointing out to Pya
Phi-phut that it engaged nothing on either side;
T observed that were 1 to show it to my Superiors, or
convey it to any other part of'the world, I should only
bring disgrace on the name and character of the
Siamese Government. The Ministers Reply is a
formidable paper of 15 feet long apd 1 have endeavorsd
to make my translation of it as close to the oviginal
as the idioms of the two languages will allow,

158.  On the 21st Pya Phi-phut called and kept
e several hours discussing the Ministers Diaft of a
Treaty. He took minutes of my observations upon
each Article for the information of the Ministers, and
vequested me to see the Prah Klang on the following
day. Ho informed me that the King of Siam had
determined upon deputing a Mission to Bengal.

154. On the 22nd T called on the Prah Klang
according to agreement and again went over the
Ministers' Draft of a Treaty, article by article, and my
observations were again noted down by Pya Phi-phut.
Tinsisted upon the 2d, 8th and 9th Articles'of my
Draft being inclnded. The Prah Klang offered to
agree that English Vessels coming to trade at Bang-
kok, should be charged 2,000 Ticals per fathom of
breadth if they brought an Import Cargo, and 1,500
Ticals per fathom if they came for an Export Cargo
only. I was informed that English Merchants
should be allowed to buy and sell whereever they
might please without obstruction, and that His
Majesty had ordered the abolition of the duty which
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had hitherto been lovied upon Juuks conveying the
residue of a Cargo to a vessel ontside of the Bar.

155. T declined to enter into any discussion
vespecting Perak, declaring only to the Prah Klang
that the Ministers were most incorrect in stating that
Perak had 10 years ago of its own acconnt transmuted
the Boonga Alas to the Chow Pya of Ligor—that
1 was at Prince of Wales lsland in 1814 when the
discussion respecting the Raja of Quedah  attacking
Perak first arose, and again in 1817 and 1818, when
the Rajo’s forces conquered Perak ; and that T knew'
from my own personal knowledge, that the Raja of
Peral had not of his own accord sent the Boonga Mas,
but that he had keen made to do so by force and
violence, and after his country had been laid waste
and destroyed most cruelly by the Rajah of Quedah.

156, Referring to the documents cited in the
Margin and to somo facts well known at Penang,
1 teust my Superiors will consider me justified in
dray the following Lusi The G
of Prince of Wales' Island, under an erroneous
representation from the Rajah of Quedah that Perak
was formerly Vassal to Siam, not only used every
rtion to persuade the late Rajah of Perak to submit
to Siamese domination, but encouraged the Rajah of
Quedah to conquer Perak, and actually furnished him
with the munitions of War by which that unhappy
country was conquered and destroyed. The Govern-
ment of Prince of Wales Island would never hnvo
followed such a course if it had been aware what the
Siamese Ministers have now disclosed, that Siam had
not. previous to that date, any right or claim whatever
over Perak. The British Government having thus
been instrumental in the ruin and destruction of
Perak, it will now perform no more than ‘an Act
of common Justice to protect Perak, and prevent the
Siamese replacing over that State the yoke which the
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Rajah of Salangore assisted it to throw off. For such
a purpose nothing but a declaration of its intention
will be necessary on the part of the British Government.
There is not the smallest chance of the Siamese acting
ngainst such a declaration.

157. Tlearnt this day that letters liad just heen
received from Pya Kray at Chimpohun stating that
an English Officer had arvived there from  Mergui
with the whole of the Siamese Captives, and for the
purpose of receiving charge of the Burmese prisoners,

g to the luded  betweon this
Court and me.

158. The Epidemic Cholern has been com-
mitting great mvages at Bangkok, during the last
six or seven days, and particularly among the
crowded population within the Palace where we are
told 300 persons have died. The Siamese men of
Rank, as preventative, take large doses of crude
«quicksilver—but when attacked the medical men treat
their patient most unskilfully, permitting him to
use the cold bath, and to drink cold water. Yet the
clmmt:lol' of the present Epidemic must be of a milder

iption than that prevailing in India, as the
sufferer generally holds out for two or three days.
The only person whom the Medical Officer of the
Mission Mr. Harris lins been allowed toattend, was
soon cured.

159.  On the 26th April the Burmese messengers
from Tavoy being about to return I delivered to their
charge despatches for Mr. Commissioner Maingy con-
taining a continuation of my Journal and its appendix
from the 18 February to the present date. Pya
Phi-phut called with the Burmese Messengers, and
gave me reason to believe that as soon as the Epidemic
abates the Siamese Ministers will consent to a proposi-
tion, which I had made, of attending to discuss with
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the whole six, and finally settle the several Articles of
a Treaty.

160. Pya Ratanachak, whom Captain Fenwick
lately sent out of Martaban, arrived here on the 20t
with a vague report of the Burmese having trea~
cherously attacked and destroyed the English Army
whilst retiring from the Country, in conformity with
the Treaty of Peace concluded at Yandaboo, The
most mischievous "effect of such reports is, that it
augments the spirit of procrastination which charac-
terizes the Siamese at all times, and adds to the
difficulties of Lringing my negotiations with the
Ministers to a close.

161 On the 1st of May I paid a visit to Pya
Singora, who is to return to his Government in the
ensuing month.  He is about 48 Years of age and of
a very dark complexion, withont the slightest trace
of the Chinese. 1 found that his grandfather, and
not his father, as I had heard at Penang, was a
Chinese.  His manners are wnusually blunt for a
Siamese, but he appears well disposed towards
the English. He expressed his readiness to culti

a cordial understanding with the Honorable the
Governor of Penang, and to permit and encourage o
useful commercial intercourse between his territories
and the contiguous British Settlements. He spoke
much more boldly than T had expected respecting the
affairs of the Rajah of Quedah, regretted that His
Higliness had not asked his advice or friendly offices,
denied having ever received the letters, which His
Highiness told me le had addressed to him; and said
that His Highness is now entirely ruined, and that
it is too late for any one to be of use to him, pointedly
asking me, “ when the fish becomes rotten, what can
we do to recover it?" The Pya shewed, very
naturally, a little bad feeling towards the Rajah of
Ligor, and asked me with an expressive laugh, whether
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T could not persuade that Rajal to befriend the King
of Quedah.

162, Captain Coffin of the American Ship
Liverpool Packet, proposing on his return to Batavia
to touch at Rhio, between which port and Singapore
there exists a regular interconrse, 1 prepared this day,
inorder to deliver to Captain Coffin’s clarge, a dis~
patel nddressed to the Honble. the Governor of
Pennng through the Acting Resident of Singapore,
conveying a copy of the continuation of ny Jownal
from the 15th February to this date and of the
Appendix to the same from No. 22 to No. 27
inclusive.

(Sigmed) H. BURNEY  Captain

Buvoy to the Cowrt of Siam.




[215 ]
NOTES.

T learn that notwithstanding tho positive declara~
tions in my Memorial No. 19, the Court of Siam
believes that the British Government intends to take
possession of the whole of the Malayan Peninsular
States. When I can make the Ministers fally com-
prehend the extent and nature of my representation
concerning Tringano and Calantan, they will, I am
privately informed join in a mutual engagement, that
neither the British nor Siamese Troops or subjects
shall invade or molest those two States in any
manner,

With respect to Perak and Salangore some advan-
tage is gained in the Ministers’ acknowledging in the
above reply, that it is but very recently that Perak
becams subject to Siam; a fact that proves that the
Iate Rajah of Pernk was fully justified in refusing to
send the Boonga Mas and Perak and that the Rajal
of Quedah deceived the Government of Prince of
Wales Island into permitting him to force Perak to
pay homage to Siam. After this, the British Govern-
ment can have no hesitation in prohibiting Siameso.
interference in any manner with Perak, and I believe
that when the Court of Siam becomes acquainted
with the proofs, that Perak has been connected with
Malacea since the middle of the Seventeenth Century,
it will resign all pretensions over that State.

1 regret to find, the information previously
iven me by the Rajah of Ligore, of the indisposition
of the Court of Siam to accede to my proposi-
tion concerning the restoration of the King of
Quedal is so true, The language of the refusal,
however, as it was pointed out to me by Pya



[216]

Phi-phat himself, is not so decisive as to prechula
all further application on my part. Tndeed | never
believed, that the Court would readily vield this
point, and I was prepared to uso reiterated effurts,
Addresses were Iately presented to the King and
Wang-na by Taanku Amum, in the name of 30 of the
principal inliabitants of Quedali whose Chope appear
on the addresses, assuring their Majesties that with
the exception of 1 or 200 persons only, who have left
Queda, the whole of its inhabitants ave happy wnder
the Sinmese Government, and most averse to the
restoration of the King of Quedah. I was informed
by a pecson who witnessed the presentation of
the address to the King that his Majesty inter-
rogated Tuanku Anum much, and openly expressed
his  disbelief, that the Malayan Inhabitants of
Quedali preferred the Siamese Government to the
restoration of their own King. I vegret to state.
that I have not found at Bangkok a single
feiend of the King of Queda. Twankw Anum was

ployed by liis Highness [ understand, to convey the
Boonga AMas to Siam on one or two occasions, and as
he and some other chiefs have attached themselves
to the Rajah of Ligor, it is natural to believe that
they must fear the veturn of the King of Quedah. But
the fact of the Court Lelieving that only one or two
hundied of the Inhabitants of Quedah have left that
Comntry, proves how slowly truth reaches the ear of u
despotic monarch. I am sorry to add that another
party of 150 poor inhabitants of Queda has very
recently been brought to Bangkok. and distributed by
the Rajah of Ligor as slaves among the principal
Courtiers who wero deprived of the services of the
Mergui  Captives. These Malays ave treated by
their Masters most cruelly, and every motive of
humanity calls upon the British Government to try
and put a stop to the slave trade, in the Dominions of
an old Ally, and in the very sight of the British
Government of Prince of Wales' Island.
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The. Rajal of Ligor is at present so. much alarmed
at the tales received by the Court of his being in
secret communication with me for purposes dangerous
to the Welfare of Siam, that he dare not afford me
the assistance, which I know it is in his power and
which he promised to afford me here. In short
agreeably to Siamese customs he would, I Dbelieve,
now rather go out of his way to do me an injury,
1 have had repeated occasion of seeing, that thoss
persons who are sccretly giving me most assistance,
and the best proofs of their good will, in public and
before their neighbours, show and express not an
indifference but an ahsolute opposition of my views,
Such is the dread of being considered my friend.
That the Rajah of Ligor possesses much influence
liere, no proof can be stronger than the fact of his
eldest Son having been just appointed Pya of Merda-
long. The Serang of the Brig Guardian having twice
before visited Bangkok, knew exactly the description
of tale, that the Siamese would most readily credit.
The Rajah of Ligor is said to be a posthumous Son
of King Pya Tac and to possess a right to the throne
of Siam.  No tale therefore could be more mischievous
than that which described His Highuess s being
in secret communication with me, for the purpose
of obtaining possession of the throne with the assistanco
of the British Government,

The reply from the Ministers on the subject of
Trade is satisfactory so far that no attempt is made to
deny the accuracy of any of the facts stated in my
Memorial, and a disposition is shewn to make some
ulterations in the present system, than which it is
impossible to establish a worse, His Majesty approves
of the plan of levying upon our Vessels one fixed sum
in lieu of the numerous and vavious charges now levied
but the reference to the Prah Klang, to arrange
and fix the details of this plan is unfortunate, as
that Minister is not only deeply interested in the
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continuation of the present system, but is most hostile
to the British Government. I have used without
success every exertion in my power to win and soothn
this Minister. T have refrained from resenting several
i of his and s believing
conciliation to be the great object of my Mission. But
avarice, selfishness and ignorance. compose the sole
ingredients of this man's character, and intimidation
appears to me the only mode of working upon it. I
must however, make much allowance for him. My
first measure obliging the Court to swrender the
Mergui Captives, put a stop to a splendid temple
which many of them were engaged in building for this
Minister, and my subsequent measures have been
directed against she extortions and embezzlements,
which he has practiced for Years upon British Trade
and Shipping, and which he considers as legitimato
perquisites. The Prah Klang’s ignorance makes him
very credulous. He implicitly believes every tals
that is brought to Bangkok of the hostile intentions of
the British Government against Siam, and of the
disasters experienced by the British forces in Ava.
He is now actually employed in making a kind of
Sluice-gate, at the very mouth of the Menam, by which
the expedition preparing at Penang against Siam, an
account of which was lately brought here by a Chinese,

may be from ding the river.

On the subject of the removal of the Guns
from a Vessel before she is permitted to come
up to Bangkok, I am of opinion, after much
consideration, that to press this matter during the
present state of distrust in which the Court
is respecting our views and intentions, will be
of no avail, and will only serve to augment its suspi-
cions, and hazard the other more important objects of
my Mission. The custom by which a Vessel is obliged
to land her guns at the mouth of the river must have
been introduced at the time the French Detachments
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were driven out of Siam, M. Chaumont mentions
having been saluted by the Guns of English and
Dutch Vessels Iying above Bangkok, and of vessels af
anchor off the old city of Yothin, having fired salutes
in celebration of the Coronation of the Kings of Portu-
#ul and England. Louldre makes no mention of
the custom. The vessel in which Kaempfer camo to
Siam does mnot appear to lave ascended above the
Dutch Fort Amsterdam, close to the present village of
Paknam. But Captain Hamilton who visited Siam
in 1717 mentions his having been obliged to land and
deposit his Guns at Bangkok ; before his vessel pro-
ceeded to the old Capital Yothia. The regulation, I
find is enforced by the Siamese, not only as a measure
of precaution and and safety, but as a security against.
a Commander leaving the port with any of the
inhabitants of Siam, or without discharging the wholo
of his port charges and duties.

1 am sorry to report that since the renewal of our
interconrse with Siam, during the last 6 or 7 Yeaws,
the Commander of almost every British Vessel, has
had differences with the Siamese, and has left them
an unfavorable impression of the violence and intem-
pevance of the British Character. The truth is, none
but men of the most placid and placable temper
onght to visit Siam. 1t requires the exertion of the
most unwearied patience, and of the most imperturb-
able temper to conduct husiness at Siam, and refrain
from resenting in some manner the falsehoods, extor-
tions, and barefaced attempts at imposition, that one
daily encounters from the most contemptible race in
Asia.  Some of the Commanders of English Vessels,
and I am told a Dutch Officer, who parted bad friends
with the Siamese, have revenged themselves after-
wards, by writing alarming letters to the Prah Klang
and other persons at Bangkok, informing them that
the English would soon come and chastise the Siamese.
A spiril liquor Shumshoo is ly cheap at
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Banglok, and it is scarcely possible to prevent a
clandestine introduction of it on hoard of
The Siamese viewed with the utmost horror the
conduct of the Furopean Sailors bolonging to one or
two English Vessels that came here with European
Crews. It is much to be regretted that no communi-
cation was made to this Court, after Mr. Ceawford’s
Mission, remonstrating against the uncourteous and
illiberal manner in which he was treated. Al preced-
ing Ambassadors had been visited by the principal
Siameso Officers, had been allowed Boats and Atten-
dants, and had been admitted to private audieuces of
the King. The Siamese are professedly mnch attached
to ancient customs, but with respect to Mr. Crawford,
the present Prah Klang, as it has been owned to
me by several Siamese, introduced a new mode of
treating an Ambassador, which mode as no proper
representations against it were made by the British
Government at the time, is become a precedent, and I
am now daily obliged to parry or overrule the remark
* this was not permitted or granted to Mr. Crawford.”
Our suceesses against Ava have given the Siamese
n more correct knowledge of our power and means,
aud to them [ am entirely indebted, for any instances
of courtesy, shewn to me by this Court, heyond those
which My, Crawford received. Since the rnmour
however of our collecting Troops at Penang, in order
to attack Siam, the attendants and boatmen that had
been allotted to us have been withdmwn, and the
incivility defended by the remark *no such people
were given to Mr. Crawford.”

easels.

It is impossible to conceive the mischief that
ix done at Bangkok by the tales of terror brought from
the Straits by thoso who, seeing the Siamese already
mistrustful of our views and intentions, tell them
whatever they will most readily believe, and most like
to hear, Fortunately true courage and suspicion are
seldom companions. If the Siameso possessed only
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as much spirit as they show distrust, they would
several months ago have been incited to declave war
agaiust the British Government, and to attack some of
our Cong the Coast of Te i L aw sorry
to state that the Chinese also, are most unfavormble
to the increaso of British Commerce at Bangkok and
foster the alarms of the Court, bringing up numerows
tales of Troops and Ships collecting at Penang and
Singupore for the purpose of attacking Siam, Nothing
favorable respecting the English will be believed.
but every thing unfavorable, greedily received. A
thousand falsehoods have heen taken to the King and
Ministers respecting my conversations and nctions.
The more extravagant the tale, the more readily is it
helieved, and as a proof that no caution or prudence
can prevent such fabrications, T will only mention that
gz Mr. Crawford's residence hero the Prah Klang
was told and he believes the tale to this day, that that.
wentleman had formed a design of shooting the Minister.
1 have heard and have proved the falsehood of at least
10 or 12 such absurd tales respecting myself. But
wnhiappily & Chinese or Siamese of the very lowest class
is believed in preference to a Buropean. During the
present state of excitement to which the tales of these
incendiaries have brought the Court, 1 find my best
conrse is to remain quiet and silent, for not the slightest
credit is accorded to any one of my declarations.
Such is the perverseness of a Siamese Minister's
understanding, that the very circumstances of the
British Government having deputed an Envoy to
improve friendship, and of that Euvoy having placed
himself entirely in the power of the Court, by sending
away the Mission Vessel, aud depriving himself of
the means of making a precipitate retreat, circum-
stances which a European Nation would consider as
the best evidences of the sincerity of that Envoys
proceeding, are deemed by the Siamese the strongest
proofs of the treacherous and hostile intentions of the
Envoy and of the British Government. I am said to
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be gathering information respecting the localities of
the Country, while the vessel has been sent down to
lead the English E: suddenly into Bangkok

T am assured also that the Ministers are hesitating to
accede to all the propositions contained in my
Memorial No. 19 from some strange impression that
their acquiescence even. would not prevent the
Governor General from attacking Siam  after my
departure,

Socon after our arrival at Bangkok, 1 leamt that
the Court was considering the propriety of deputing
some Siamese Envoys to accompany me back to
Bengal. I would not then encourage the measure,
believing that the Eovoys whom the Court wonld
send, would be men of very subordinate rank and
character, and native christians, who would possess
no power or authority to conclude a Treaty, or to
enter into any arrangements with the British Govern-
ment.  Upon farther consideration, and adverting
particularly to the distrust which has been exeited
against us, I am of opinion that such a measure would
e best calculated to remove the fears of the Siamese,
and to inspire them with more friendly feelings
towards us. I mentioned it to the Prah Klang, Py
Phi-phut and to some other Officers, who all highly
approved of it. It may not be generally known that
there are numerous precedents in favor of Siam
deputing Ambassadors, In former times Envoys wera
thrice sent to France and repeatedly to Persia.
Ambassadors were once deputed tothe King of
Portugal, and were wrecked off the Cape of Good
Hope, and Envoys were sent to Macao so late as 1821,
But there is no for the story, | 1
in some of the Calcutta Journals, of Envoys having
been recently sent from Siam to Batavia. On the
contrary there appears to exist a very unfriendly
feeling on the part of Siam against the Government
of Netherlands India.
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There are objections and the Supreme Govern-
ment is fully aware of them, against the formation
of & Treaty with Siam. = Yet as a means of improving
our Trade, and of preventing disputes, now that the
British Government is como into mom extensive
contact with the Siamese, I have drafted the accom-
panying Treaty of Friendship and Commerce hetween
the two Governments, It appears to me to ineluda
all that is necessary and it will not draw the British
G into any licated or I Tous vela-
tions, while it will set at rest some questions pending
between the two Countries, and threatening sooner
or later to produce a rupture. It will lead the Court
of Siam also to put more faith in our friendly declara-
tions, and lastly it may serve as a useful introdnction
to the Envoys whom the Court of Siam may depute to
the Right Honorable the Governor General. The
Capture of Umerapura will make a very great, impres-
#ion on the Councils of this Court, and that event T
am assured by many secret friends will indnce the
Ministers to accede to every proposition which
1 have submitted to them. The moment I hear
of it I shall forward this Treaty and the accompanying
Memorial No. 24 to the Ministers,

A particular statement of the different charges
Jevied upon a vessel was heretofore always vefused,
but on the day the above answer to my Memorial was
received, the Prah Klang allowed a Copy to be taken
out of the Records of his Office of the several Items
put down as composing the amount respectively
charged against the English Brig Shannon and Ameri-
can Brig Siren. A more absurd attempt to givea
colour to imposition was perhaps never made than
what these official accounts show. I annex a Copy
of them with some explanati Upon ing
with the Prah Klang against the measure of charging.
the same heavy rate of duty upon a British Vessel,
which had returned to Bangkok from Singapore for
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a second Cargo in less than two months. the )
sagaciously asked why that Vessel hal vl

ster

el as

the Sinmese entertained no particular regand for it.

Brig Shannon.

Measprenant duty on
Cubit at 4
Tidas por tathoty v
A preseut for the King 180.00
Npace occupied in tho

viver by the vessel  27.00
2 Chokics or Watch

houses 45200
For importing Chintz 1020
For  exportin .

phants Ieeth 1531

Fer_exponing Sapan
Wood - .

Ticals

All this for the King.

Officers.

Measuring ~|up -~

\‘mhm

40l

Hread Ci

Clerks wpcnnmmlmg
weighin

\er\lnli o! lho l!lh

ang
Al the Clorks at 1
sling per day we ..

For the Second King
his Oficers, Servaats
- 10
Total Ticals ... 1,468.20

—
Fald to Radeithi  w. 1546.00

22280 |

°

i
i Brig Siren.
llnmnmnl. duty on

fms. 1 Cubit 4
Ioches nv. 40 Ticals

per fat} g
Presant for the Kine
| Space accupied fo the
ver by the sel
8 “Chokioa o \\ml
houses e ...
Ticals
Officers.
Uyn Chulsh .. -~ 4800
Vot Captain .. 1200
Hadsithi - 6.0.0
600
12.00
7.20
2000
20,00
2000
17.00
17.0.0
500
500
an 1000
Clerks  superintendiog
weighing = e .. 1200
Other Clecks 1200
Al Clerks at | 1500
8y
Chtom Houso Giicom 2400
Measuring Ship = w800
Second King bix
Officers &cs. ... 1010
31930
Total Tieals 1,189.2.1
Paid Span Drs. e 56900




[225]

These accounts are said to have been made ont by
Radsithi, who is Mercantile Clerk to the King of Siam
and Son of Pya Chula, his Majesty's Merchant, a
descendant from o Chulia or native of the Coast of
C del. The rato of duty, 40 Ticals
per fathom, set down in these accounts agrees with
what Mr. Crawford while at Bangkok understood to be
the established charge upon a Brig, but the amount
charged upon the breadth of each of those vessels
shews the caleulation was actually made at the rate of
wearly 70 Ticals per fathom. What is called the
measurement duty was always considered in the light
of an anchorage duty, The charge in these accounts
for “the space occupied in the river” by each vessel,
is an Anchorage duty under another name.

Commanders of Vessels and Merchants have always
been called upon to make presents of Muskets, Watches
and other Articles to the King, ignorant that a charge
as a present for his Majesty was included in the
amount of Port Charges levied upon their vessels,

The Chiokies are two posts between Paklaat and
Bangkok, and the sums here charged on account of
them are capable of defraying the whole expense of
their Establishments for more than a twelvemonth,

The Charges for importing Chintz and for export-
ing Elephant’s Teeth, and Sapan Wood are additional
dwport and Export duties. The Chintz had already
paid an Import duty of 8 per Cent on the sales. The
Blephants Teeth an Export duty of 10 Ticals and the
Sapan Wood an Export duty of 1 Tical per pecul.

The Port Captain of Bangkok has no Clerk, and he
assures me that he never received the Amount charged
the American Brig on account of himself and his
Clerk.
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Radsithi is Pya Chulas Clerk. He makes the
American Brig pay him once by name, aud once as
his father's clerk,

Scbastian is employed only as an interp buts
he is charged for once by name and once amongg the
Interpreters. Simurat is Radsithi’s brother and may
be styled his Clerk.

Samian Tra (Clerk of the Seals) is the Prah
Klang’s head Clerk. He is charged for once by namne,
once as the head Clerk, and once as Luang Wisit, the
little he holds from the King.

Pomat is a natural brother of the Prah Klang,
and has no concern whatever with the Cargoes of the
two Brigs. Luang Souton is aunother natural brother
of the Pral Klang.

Two Clerks only were employed in supevintendingg
the weighing and measuring the Cargoes of thess
Vessels, and an ample charge is made for their trouble.
But who are the “ other Clerks” and “ all the Clerks ™
set down in the charges of the American Brig, no one
can tell.

The Prah Klang's servants charged for in theso
accounts are his personal domestics. The American
Brig’s duties were virtually reduced to 924 Ticals
by the Prah Klang receiving the amount in Spanish
Dollars, at the rate of 8 Slings or two Ticals per
Dollar. The usual rate of Exchange, and at which
rate the American Commander had made all his
preceding payments, is 6} Slings per Dollar. The
American is twice charged for measuring his Brig.
He most probably paid this fee, when the vessel was
measured ; at which time it is usual for the Siamess
Officers 10 require payment. Radsithi cannot account
for the difference between the sum exhibited in this




227

Statement of the charges of the Brig Shannon, and
the sum actually paid to him; o difevence of 82
Ticals and 2 Slings.

Captain Kinsman of the American Brig Siven
addressed o short note to ms from outside of the
Lar, complaining of the treatment which he had
received from the Pral Klang's Officers and axpressing
hix detevmination of never vevisiting Siam, and of
publishing in America an Account of the mwle in
which trude is lucted at Bangkok, 1 deliverd
the note to the Prah Klang, who appeared to fiel tha
animadversions of the Ameriean.

(Signed) Ho BURNEY, Captain,

Envoy to the Conrt of Sinn,
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No. 22.

Reply from the Ministers of Siam to Captain
Busney's Memorial No, 19,

Captain - Hemy  Bumney has  written to the
Ministers of Siam, stating that the war between the
English and Burmese being now concluded. Siam can
derive no advantage from that affair: hut that the
Governor General of Bengal having deputed Captain
Burney to endeavour to establish friendship with Sinm,
Captain Burney shews what is the tre way of
establishing between the English and Burmese
friendship that may last an hundred years. That the
Finglish do not want a Factory for the residence of
Consul, neither do they, nor can they ask for any
territory subject to Siam. They only desire, that Siam
shall not make war against, or disturh any of the
Malayan Countries, and that the Merchants of the
English Nation may be allowed to come and trade
with freedom and facility. If Siam concedes all these
points, the English will rest very satisfied. There are
many more matters mentioned in Captain Burney's
Letter.  The Chow Pya Prah Klang submitted them to
His Majesty the King, who having fully understood the
whole, was pleased to issue the following Onders.

For what the Governor General of Bengal has
done in deputing Captain Burney to endeavour to
establish friendship with the Siamese, we return him
many thanks. We think the whole of this proceeding
is right, and according to custom. The Siamese desire
to form with the Euglish an intimate and increasing
friendship. As to what Captain Burney wishes
to know, how friendship between the Siamese
and English may endure for a hundred years; if
purity be cherished and the heart be sincere on both
sides, if the beginning and end, and what is first
said, and what is last said be the same; if the
character and laws of either Country be observed

The word * Furmee” in the 10th liae fom top of this
Page should esidantly be * Siamess."
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according to the Customs of such Country, and no
desire shewn to transgress or infringe the boundaries
between the two Countries, friendship will be then
eternal, and endure a hundred and a thousand years,
without diminution.

What Captain Burney says respecting the States
of Calantan and Tringano, those two Countries have
faithfully and ly to tl y

under the Oders of Siam, sending it the Gold and
Silver Flowers for a long time. Siam has been very
kind to them, has aggrandized them, and has established
and protected them, <o that they might remain in
peace and happiness.  The States of Calantan and
Tringano cannot commit any fault, nor have they
thought of doing any thing against Siam in the same
manner as the Governor of Queda.  They reverence and
respect Siam faithfully and properly, and remain well
and peaceably.  What do the Siamese desire to do?

The States of Salengore and Perak formerly, the
Siamese know, were not subject to any Country, when
the State of Pemk came to supplicate Siam to live
under its orders and to send it the tribute of the
Giolden and Silver Flower, in the same manner as the
States of Calantan and Tringauo.  The State of
Salengore ; insolent and without respect for Siam,
rised an Army and came and  conquered Perak ;
xeizing the Paknam (or Port) of Peral, preventing the
people of the Country from Trade and intercourse.
Perak was in a state of commotion, (literally boiling
hot). Siam then raised an Army to go and put down and
not permit Salengore to do any thing against Perak,
because Perak was subject to the orders and enjoying
the benefits of Siam.  The English said that Salengore
was subject to their orders, and that they were unwilling
to let the Siamese go, that they would send hack Raja
Hussain, the Nephew * of the Raja of Salengore, who
had come and settled by force at tho Paknam of
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ore to

Perak, and that they wonld not allow Sale
again and attack or molest Perak. If it can be dons
as is here said, this matter will Do setthl. and the
Siamese will not send tl Army.  But they settls
and instruct the Chief of Perak, and give him a titls
and great presents, in the same mammer ax all the
other Countries subject to Siam.

But with regard to the other Malayan States
which are not under the orders of Siam, it they know
to respect, do not any thing to interfore wich
and carry on trade with sineerity and without, offen
Siam will not be willing, nor desire to doany thing
against those States. Siam is a great Country and
desires to e the place of shelter for all small States.
Her boundaries avo very extensive, her wealth is groat
and amplo, and she does not not covet, nor think of
taking any tervitory belonging to others.  When any
Country presumes to interfers with Siam, and insult
or injure it, the affair becomes important. and the
Siamese are not able to Le patient and to vesteain
their passion, but think it necessary to corvect and
destroy, and not let other Countries see and imirate

the example. In the same
hetween the English and those Burmese, Formery,
they were good friends, and traded and lived well
together. Thoso Burmese were false and perfidious,
and went and teansgressed  against the English.
The English became angry and conld not he patient,
and then mised au Ay to wo and conquer the
territories of those Burmese, being unable for this
cause to restrain their passion.  What Captain Burney
says, if the Siamese go and attack or molest the
Malayan States the friendship between the English
and Siamese will be interrupted, this appears not
correct.  The Siamese do not offend, nor interfere
with, the English.

wmer as has happened

As to what is said raspecting the Governor of




[281]

Queda, the Siamese have governed, aggrandized, as-
sisted and protected the territory of Queda for a long
period, and through many generations of Governors of
Queda, until the time of this Governor, Tnanku
Pangeran. Siam supported, gave him a title, and
established him as Governor of Queda, helieving that
he would long take care of the Country, Customs and
Peaple.  The Governor of Queda cast them aside, and
thought of connecting himself with those Burmese
enemies, to whom he sent a man with Lotters,
The Siamese knowing all this, desired the Governor
of Queda to come to Siam, in order that ha might
receive advice and becoms good. The Governor of
Quedn made deceitful excuses not to come, and then
it became certain that the Governor of Queda was
thinking of doing something against Siam. (£ he had
been allowed to remain, he would have become an
eneny of Siam.  Then Chow Pya Ligor was ordered
to raive an Army and go down and seizo and bring the
person of the Governor of Queda, that hie might be
punished according to his crimes. The Governor
deserted his Conntry, and van and placed himsel in
Penang.  Chow Pya Ligor took charge of Queda and
collected the inhabitants that had run away and been
dispersed, and settled them peaceable. Where the
inhabitants meditated treason against  Siam, ad
collected to return and attack Queda, the Chow I’ya
of Ligor put them down, and quieted and composed
them.  The person of the Governor of Quedal
the Siamese thought of going to demand and
to bring here, for the purpose of being punished.
But they saw that the English wers friends with
the Siamese.  The Governor of Queda had gone and
taken shelter with the English. When the Siamess
would go and asked (sic) for him, they would receive
shame from the English. Hence they remained silent.
But it is now five years since the Governor of Queda
has run away, and not returned to solicit pardon
from Siam. The Governor of Queda sent a man with
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Letters to Ava, and Ava sent Letters to the Governor
of Queda at Penang, concerting together that those
Burmese shonld come and fight with the Ninmese
and take Queda. The Governor of Queda piopused
mischief against Siam many times, but Siam nemained
quict and received dishonor in the eves of wany
nations.  This wickedness and these crimes of the
Governor of Queda, the great men of Queda fully kiow,
and all of them have sent an address, stating that the
Governor of Queda is not a correct and proper person ;
that he has transgressed against the ancient eustoms
and lnws of the Country, and that therefore they do
not wish him to return and govern Queds in future.
“The English and the Siamese are become very intinate
friends.  The English favor this criminal, the Governor
of Queda, which is not proper. What advautage or
benefit can the Governor of Queda confer on the
English?  But if the English cherish friendship with
the Siamese. and let it improve without loss, it appears
there will be great advantage and benefit. greater o
hundred fold than from the Governor of Queda. A new
Goveruor of Queda will Le appointed and that Country
will be settled and re-cstablished.  The English will be
able to be friends and to trade and to have intercourse

ith it as fi . Ocders will be given to the new
Governor of Queda, in view that the English may be able
to hold friendly intercourse and trade with Queda in the
same manner as formerly, aud that no misunderstand-
ing may take place. What Captain Burney roquests
that the Governor of Queda may be permitted to return
tolis Country as before, this matter we beg may be
dropped, and do not let the Captain be uneasy about it.

What is said on the subject of Teade, that the
Officers who levy Port Charges, Export and Tmport
Duties upon Asiatic, English and Chinese Vessels and
Traders do not levy them equally ; that if' Vessels
belonging to the English come and trade, they desire
to pay at once whatever is the charge for the Governor
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of Paknam, for Imports and Exports and on every
other account, and desire the Amount may be fixed ;
so that they may pay for each fathom 1,500 Ticals.
All that the Captain says on this subject, wishing that
the trade between the English and Siamese may
increase, is good. The Officers levy the Port Charges
and observe the daily sales and purchases of Merchants
according to the ancient Customs and Regulations of
the country. The whole business of supevintending
Trade belongs to Chow Pya Prah Klang, who sees that
no breach of the Regulations is committed. What is
said about the Portuguese paying a lower Import
Daty than the English, this is becanse the Governor
of Gon sent o respectful and gentle Letter of friendship,
stating that many of the Portuguese dwell in Siam,
who are employed as Gunuers and have fought with
the Siamese aginst their enemies, and have done
good,  For this reason the Officers of the Customs
were ordered to levy at each time six per Cent upon
the Portuguese. Now. what Captain Burney desires
that all the Daties upon Vessels belougging to the Eng-
lish may be added into one Amount, and levied at onee,
and not subdivided. this is easy and better.  And as to
the eight propositions which ave made on the subject of
trade, there ix great difference between the English
and Siamese Customs and Regulations. A fow where
proper may be remitted on account of the friendship
which is desived to he established.  What ought to be
the charge for each fathom of breadth of o Vessel, let
it be discussed and settled properly in concert with
the Chow Pya Pral Klang and all his Officers, and
whatever may be mutually agreed, let the Chow Pya
Prah Klang report to us,

What the Captain desires that the English Mer-
chant may go and sell and buy by himself, at his own
pleasure, without the observation or knowledge of the
proper Officers. There are many classes and descrip-
tions of people in Bangkok. There are somo ‘good and



® American
Consul.

[234]

some poor men.  The Commander of a Vessel will not
Jnow who are good and who are had people. 1 e sells
to or buys from a bad man, who may desive to chieat him,
or to dispute or wrangle, or to run away, s sone will,
The Commander of the Vessel will come and complain
and require redress, or desire to geize the man, which
he will not be able to do, because the Comtry is too
great and extensive for him to follow the man.  1f the
man is brought, he may not acknowldge, and may
desire to dispute as to the quantity of the Goods.
The Officers will have the utmost difficulty to settlo
the matter, and to discover the truth, hecause no one
saw or knew of the transaction. The Commander of
the Vessel will be dissatisfied, stating that the Officers
are unjust and do not give him redress. The affai
will rest in doubt, and the Commander of Vessel

will remain unsettled.  Tn the same manner as in the
time of Captain Mncdonald and Carlot® who dis
puted.  Captain Macdonald said Carlot cheated, aml
Carlot said Captain Macdonald cheated. It was very
difficult to investigate and discover where the fanlt:
really lay, because the Officers did not know and
see the transaction. 1f Captain Burney wishes to
know the whole of the aflair respecting Captain
Macdonald and Carlot, let him enquire of the Chow
Pya Prah Klang. As to what the Commander of a
Vessel desires to sell and buy without letting the
proper Officers know, this it appears, will not b
possible.  If the Commander of a Vessel desires to g
to any person from whom to receive assistance in
selling and buying, let him give notice to Chow Pya
Prah Klang, and he will be able to settle the business
according to the wishes of the Commander of the
Vessel.  What is said respecting the Commanders
of English Vessels coming to trade, and desiring to
land at Paknam the Powder and shot, and that the
Guns are very troublesome, requesting that they may
remain in the Ship, this matter respecting Guns
and warlike Stores is an ancient Custom of the
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Kinglom, and it is o very important AMaiv. To
desire to alter or to deviate from such a Cistom is
impossible.  Because Siam is o great Comntry, it
becoutes necessary to take care of all snch Custons,
and to follow the rules which have come down from
ancient times, and farther, this is an affi - affecting
the Kingdom, and has no connection with Trade.
The English ane the friends of the Siamese and vome
fo trade with sincerity. Lot the Commanders of the
Vessels then land and deposit the whole of their
Guns, Powder and Shot acconling to custom, and
show proper respect and then let the Vesse
to Bangkole. 1f this custom is not observed, a Vessel
cannot be allowed to come up to Bangkok. This ix
positive.  His Majesty issued all these onlers, and
Pya Phi-Phut Kosa then recorded the whole for the
information of Captain Burney on Sunday the 21t
day of the Thinl month in the year Fowl.

come up

Translated from the original with some nesistanco
from n version in the Malayan Language.

- Signed) H. BURNEY  Captain

/ Seal of ‘\.\ Envoy to the Court of Niam.

PR

Pya Phi-phut
Kosa.
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No. 23,

ADDITIONAL SUGGESTIONS respecting Sinmese
Negotiations submitted to the British Commissioners
in Ava and Pegn.

Bangkok, 1st March 1826,
1. Tho Suggestions transmitted to the Commis-
sioners on the 3lst January wers written wnder an
impression that the King of Ava would have mtified
the Treaty of Peace concluded at Patanago. The
renewal of hostilities leads me to submit the followis
additional Suggestions, together with Copies of certain
Papers enumerated in the Margin showing the pro-
wress of my negotiations with the Court of Bangkok.

2. All my enquiries have failed in tracing any
descendant of the Royal Family of Pegn. Tho
numerous executions of Tallien Families of rank by
Alompra in 1757, by Shembuan (who destroyed the
last King of Pegu) in 1775, and by Minderagee in
1782, would show a desive on the part of the
Burmese Monarchs of extirpating the Pegn Royal
Race. I any byanch exist, it must be at the Capital of
Ava. Chow Pya Maha Ayothia Bon-na-rong has
not o drop of Royal blood in his veins. He is
well known liere to be the son of a respectable Land-
Holder in Pegu, who emigrated about 40 years ago
from Martaban and accepting Military Service under
the sse Government distinguished himself and
his family.  From all that T can learn, I strongly
suspect that Maha Ayothia in his correspondence with
our Officers in Ava has been giving an erroncous
impression of his power and influence in Siam, and of
the objects for which his Force was sent to the
frontiers of Ava. The truth is, he has no power to act
or move but as he may be authorized by the Court
of Siam, to which he is obliged to refer on the
most trifling points, and he and all his Detachments
though styling themselves “the Army of Doorawuddee,”
are Siamese subjects instructed and anxious more to
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effect the aggrandizement of Siam, that to promote
the ion of their own ind or the re-
establishment of theic Ancient Kingdom. Indeed,
such is the jealousy entertained by this Court with
respect to its Chiefs, that were it but to hear for &
moment that the British Government contemplated
placing Maha Ayothia on the Throne of Pegu, that
Chief, T am assured, would be immediately recalled
and would most probably lose his head. 'There are
some Pegu inhabitants of Siam, particularly Pyn
Phi-phut the Deputy Pral Klang and his elder Brother
Pya Rajpakdee the King's Treasurer, claiming descent
from Pegu families of greater Rank and antiquity
than what Maha Ayothia can boast, but none of them
lave any real power or influence in Siawh, nor have
they the capacity or spirit to form an opinion contrary
to what they know their Sinmese Masters entertain.

3. When the intelligence of the Peace between
the British and Burmese Governments first arrived
at Bangkok, the Court was much dissatisfied, fearing
particularly that the English might hereafter form a
connexion with the Burmese inimical to the safety of
Siam s but the subsequent intelligence of the Clanse
which hiad heen inserted in our Traaty in favor of Siam
removed this appreliension and gave me every reason
to Lelieve, that the Court would have acquiesced in
the whole of the propositions which T had tendered,
without requiring from us any other return than an

of our friendship and

4. If therefore circumstances enable us to con-
clude a Treaty of Peace with Ava without reducing
her power below that of Siam, I am now satisfied that
by such a course we shall be able to secure much
greater advantages from Siam than by offering her
any territory or giving her in lien of the Burmese
any more friendly or peaceable neighbours. In such
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case I would beg to submit with all diffidence that the
whole of the country between Rangoon and Mergui
shonld be severed from the Burmese Empire, and in
this territory such Pegru inhabitants as desire or are
able to retire from the Siamese or Burmese Dominions
might be settled under a purely British Government.
Such a tract of territory could be fortified and main-
tained by us at little cost or inconvenience, and wonkd
be more valuable and perhaps more useful than the
three southern provinces of Arracan. The reports
of the Officers at Martaban must enable G,

to judge of the superior resources and commercial
capacities of that province and all my enquiries lead
me to believe that the loss of that possession will
cripple the power of Ava more than the loss of the
whole of Arracan.

5. On the subject of the restoration of the okl
Pegu Kingdom, 1 fear some of my opinions may
militate agninst those of my Superiors. The principal
men of that nation by long residence and service,
and by marriage and other connexions in either Ava
or Siam are either Burmese or Siamese subjects in
mind as well as body. A few of the second Classes
only may perhaps possess sor ntiment of patriotism
or desire of independence, virtues which the Peguers
could not display against the power of Siam aud Ava
unless they are placed under the absolute pupillago
of the British Government, In Siam Mr. Crawford
was told that there are 43,000 Peguers. These people
compose some of the most nseful Subjects and Artizans
in Siam, and many of them are employed by the
Court in situations of great trust and confidence. No
inducement would prevail on the Siamese to deprive
themselves of the services of so useful a race, or
permit it to quit the Conntry. From the disinclination
shown by them to lose 5 or 600 poor Burmese prisoners
we may judge with what feclings they would listen to a
proposition for taking away 20 or 30,000 Peguers.




r230]

6. Admitting that a sufficient portion of the
Pegu inhabitants can be collected to enable the
British Government, to re-establish that Nation, it is
well known that the old Peguers quarrelled just as
much with the Siamess as the Burmese have done;
that, they also once captured the Capital of Siam ; and
that they in fact first brought, the people of Ava down
to fight with Siam, by which means they first lost
their independence. The old Pegu Kingdom seems
at one time to have extended to Ligor and Tenasserim,
which places I learn were reconquered by the Siamese
in the middle of the 17th Century, assisted by some
Portuguese, who when driven out of Ceylon by the
Dutch had retired to Siam, and somo of whom also
had just beforo quarrelled with the King of Pegu
at Martaban. The proper limits of the Pegu Kingdom
seem to have been in the 14th Degree of Latitude or
as far as Tavoy, Captain Hamilton in the beginning
of the 18th Century says, they extended as far as
*“Maravi” which Symes and other Authors consider
Mergui, but that Hamilton did not mean that town is
evident from his having but a faw pages after given a
full description of it under the name of ¢ Merjee.” As
he deseribes Merjee as “the next plaoe on the Continent
“to the Southward of Martaban,” and does not
mention Tavoy at all, 1 coneeive his © Maravi ” must
have been a corruption of the Burmese Mion Tave or
Dave, Town of Tavoy, which certainly was in existence
long before Hamilton visited India. The Peguers are
divided by the Siameso into two Parties, as they are
attached or subject to themselves or to the Bnrmese,
and these are respectively styled “Mon Thai” and
* Mon Phoma,”

7. Siam would probably have no objection to
the restoration of the Pegu Kingdom if rendered
entirely dependent on, or annexed to her, but such an
arrangement would serve only to increase the pride
and arrogance of the Siamese and the chances of a
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collision between us. It is possible that the glittering
temptation of a Throne may be seducing Maha
Ayothin from his allegi; toSiam.  And ideril
that his father long held employ under this
ment, and that he himself has served it fro
in situations of Command, his secession, we may
presume, would be followed by that of Hundreds
of the Pegn Emigrants in Siam. But this cvent T
fear would only serve to renew all the old uarrels
between the Siameso and Peguers, and to deaw the
British Government into a labyrinth of Indo-{'hinese
Polities.

8. If therefore the termination of the war with
Ava by a Treaty of Peace appear impolitic or imprac-
ticable, in that case I humbly conceive. it will be
much better for the British Government to retain the
whole Kingdom of Pegu in its own hands than to call
Chow Pya Maha Ayothia to the Throne. The Siamese,
who must know the Burmese better than we do,
vidicule the notion of concluding any Treaty with so
faithless and treacherous a race, and their plan of
warfare in our circumstances would be, to destroy
Umerapoora and every place above Prome and Toon-
gho, and to fall back on those Towns laying waste the
the whole Country between them and the Capital
of Ava.

9. But if the objections against so great an
extension of territory appear paramount, in that case
the elovation of Maha Ayothia® to the Throne of
Pegn, could the Siamese Government be persuaded to
consent to the measure, might be the best course to
adopt in our choice of difficulties. He is not ouly a
man of approved talents and character, capable of
undertaking the charge of a new Kingdom, but he
would be less likely hereafter to permit the re-intro-
duction of Burmese influence in Pegu than any
Tallien Chief who may serve the Government of Ava,
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or may have been brought up under it. Two of
Maha Ayothia’s brothers are said to have been includ-
ed in the cruel execution that signalized the late King
of Siam’s accession to the Throne, of every Chief of
merit or influence near it. Ho himselt escaped by
being absent from the Capital at the time, and his
fidelity is now ensured in the usual Siameso manner
by his wife and children being left at Bangkok in the
power of the Court. I am informed that Maha
Ayothia not only possesses superior enapacity and
energy, but that he is decidedly the best Military
Officer in the Service of Siam and the Commander
who has been most often sent against and who is
most dreaded by the Burmese. The number of Tales
that he and his followers send to Bangkok of disasters
oceurring to the British Army in Ava is incredible,
Not a week passes without such intelligence, and
however absurd, the Court credit it in preference to
the official information received and communicated
by me. T suspect that Maha Ayothin's object in
sending such accounts is to alarm the Court into
permitting him to join the English Army, I may
mention a few of these Tales. Once the Burmese
had succeeded in blowing up the whole English
Army with Gunpowder. Another time in drowning it
by flooding the Country. Another time in destroying
it by poisoning all the Wells and Streams in its noigh-
bourhood. Three several times Acconnts have been
brought of the Burmese drawing the English into
an ambuseade upon  pretence of meeting them to
treat for Peace and completely destroying them.
Another time during the negotiations for a peace the
King of Ava had, acconding to custom, sent down
to each person of the English Army a Lady who had
tisen at night and slin her companion. The last
Tale, which has been brought here is, that the Burmese
have succeeded in cutting off the road in rear of
Sir Archibald Campbell and his Army, who can
neither advance nor retreat. I would not mention
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sured that the King and all

these Tales were I not as
the Court of Siam implicitly credit such nonsense.

10. I have used withont success every possible
exertion to prevail on the Court of Siam to depute
souie Officers of Rank and character to conter with our
Officers at Martaban and Rangoon or with the British
Commissioners in Pegu and Ava, 1t will be seen by
one of the accompanying Inclosures (No. 15), that to
induce the Court to adopt this measure, 1 even
ventured to hold out to it a prospect of obtaining

possession of Martaban or some other teveitory from
Since the renewal ot

the British Commissioners.
hostilities T am always answeved that there is no use
of considering what shall bs the future condition ot
Pegu until the British Government have fully subdued
the Burmese and secuved their conquests in Pegn.
‘The capture of Umerapoora which is heve still considered
impossible, may lead the Court to attend to our wishes
and to depute some of its Officers to Martaban and
Pegu. Next to the capturs of that Capital our forcing
the Government of Ava to pay a large sum of money will
be the only circumstance likely to convince the Siameso
and Cochin Chinese Nations of the superiority of our
Arms over those of Ava.

1. In my instructions trom the Supreme
Government [ was distinetly informed that His Lord-
ship in Council had long ccased to consider the
junction of a Siamese Army with our Troops to be
in any way important or desirable, and I was directed
to abstain from making any propositions to the Court
of Siam for such aid; but to apply for a supply of
Draft and Carriage Cattle, if practicable and required,
and to inform the Siamese Ministers that it was still
open for the Siamess to attack any part of the Burm-
ese Dominions from their North West frontier provid-
ed it was not occupied by our Troops nor under
British protection, On my first arrival at Bangkok
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I confined myself to these instructions, from whiclt
1 was subscquently induced to deviate upon learning
that bald Campbell had. caleulated npon the
ve-operation of Maha Ayothia's Force with the Pegn
Division of the British Army. Perhaps it is fortunate
that 1 failed, and unless directed by the Conmission=
es, T shall not repeat my application to the Siamess
Cawt to advance Maha Ayothin's Force, becauss [ am
satisfied that the Siamese have no veal intention ot
vo-operating in the
Force move this Season in time to be of any nse.

ar, nor. if they had, could their

12, The Conrt of Siam continues full of mi
and alarm vespecting the intentions of the Mritish
Government, agninst this Kingdom, and to sueh n,
state of excitenment have the daily fabrications of
Malay and Chinese kept this Court during the last
five or six Months, that [ am only surprized it has
not been Jedd o to attack our conguests on the Coast
of Tenasserim, of the veduced strength of the Garrisons
in which quarter the Siamese are fully awave, Time
and patience only will be able to undeceive the Siam-
ese, but until they ane undecsived to expect any
co-operation from them towards our hostilities against
Ava, o views in favor of Pegu will be wholly useless,

(Signed) H. BURNEY  Captain
Envoy to the Court of Siam.
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Menorial from Captain Bumey, Envoy trom the
Right Honorable the Governor General of British
India to the Ministers of the King of Siaw.

Bangkok 28th March 1526,

Captain Burney having given the most deliherate
attention to the Reply whicl the Ministers of Siam
have returned to his Letter of propositions. is obliged
to declare with much coucern that this Reply is very
unsatisfactory. 1f Captain Burney has said or dons
any thing that has given offence to the Ministers
of Siam, he begs they will have the goodness to res
member that he is unacquainted with all their customs.
He must assure the Ministers that he has never had
in his heart any other desive than that of establishing
a true and firm friondship between the English
and Siamese Nations.

Captain Burney believing that the Ministers of
Siam could not have thoroughly understood the con-
tents of his former Letter, has been induced to draw up
the accompanying Treaty of Friendship and Commerce
between the Siamese and English Nations. This
“Treaty will prove to the Ministers, that the English
do not wish or intend to take possession af the
Malayan Countries, and that they only desire to
persuade the Sinmese to join them in the bonds of
Peace and friendship

Thers are some inaccuracies in the Ministers’
Reply to Captain Burney, and it is not the Custom
of the English to boast of the wealth and power of
their Co.atry.

With respect to Tringano and Calantan Captain
Burney again assures the Ministers of Siam that the
English have no desire of interfering with the Govern-
ment of those Countries if the Siamese will refrain from
invading or molesting those States, But with respect to
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Perak and Salengore, Captain Burney must communi-
cate the following facts, of which the Ministers do not
appear to be aware. The Dutch soon after they first
came to Malacea, 180 years ago, had a fort at Perak
with which State they were always connected.  When
the Rajah of Quedah reported 10 years ago to the
English that he had been ordered by the King of
Siam to conquer Perak, and that if he did not obey
the onler, he would be punished by the King of Siam,
the English commicerated the situation of the King
of Queda and confined themselves to letting him know
that Perak belonged to the Duteh and that the Duteh
whenever they recovered their former power ab
Malacca, would not allow the Siamese to meddle with
Perak. Twelve Months ago the Dutch ceded Malacea
and all its Dependencies to the English, and the Rajas
of Perak and Salengore then became connected with
the English. Hence the English now cannot allow
the King of Siam to give any orders or title to the
Raja of Perak, or permit the Siamese to meddle with
that Country or with Salengore in any manner.  The
King of Siam declaves that the wealth and possessions
of the Siamese arve ample aud that they do not covet
any territory belonging to other States. Yot Peral,
which has been a dependency of Malacea for upwards
of 150 Years, the Siamese desire to make tributary
to them. If any Malayan State subject to the English
offend Siam, the Ministers had better complain of the
circumstance to the British Government and not sesk
redress i the unfriendly manner which they mention
to Captain Burney,

With respect to Queda, Captain Burney has heard
that some Malays have petitioned the King of Siam
not to allow their lawful King to return, and have
ventured to state, that only 1 or 200 of the inhabitants
of Queda have fled ont of the Country. That soms
few people, who have connected themselves with the
Rajah of Ligor, may be afraid to see the King of
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Queda return is very true, but Captain Burney can
assure those people not to be afraid, as the English,
before they would allow the King of Queda to return,
would oblige him to engage that he should punish
no one for his conduct under the Siamese. What
will the Ministers of Siam say when they are solemnly
assured by Captain Burney that at least 20,000 of the
inhabitants of Queda have fled from that Country
since the Siamese entered it? Tt never can be pleas-
ing to a great and magnanimous Prince like the King
of Siam to hear that 20,000 Men, Women and Child-
ren have been driven out of a Country, and that they
aro now afinid to return toit. The British Govern-
ment gave protection and an asylum to the King of
Queda at Penang, because His Highness was an old
friend and ally. The Rajah of Ligor applied two
or three times for the person of the King of Queda,
but the Government of Penang told him that it was
not the Custom of the English to desert their friends
in adversity.

Captain Burney must beg that the Ministers will
submit to the King of Sinm that the English request
His Majesty to forgive the King of Queda and to
restors him to his Throne, because they are certain
that unless the King of Queda and his fugitive sub-
jects are allowed to return to their Conntry the Eng-
lish and Siamese cannot continue friends. In the
same manner as Malays and other evil disposed
persons come to Bangkok with stories that the Eng-
lish are preparing to attack Siam, they go to Prince
of Wales Tsland and other English Settlements with
false tales against the Siamese and their great
Officers.  The Malay inhabitants of Queda, who
were driven out of that Country having now no home
or meaus of subsistence, employ themselves in fabricat~
ing such stories and in piracy and other crimes. The
English beg the King of Siam will let these people
return to their Country, which they will never do-
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unless their King is allowed to return with them.
Captain  Burney repeats the English do not wish
or intend to take possession of Queda. They only
desire that the people of that Country may be able
to return to their former homes, and to their former
honest and useful occupations.

The King of Queda having quarrelled with the
Raja of Ligor was afraid to go to his Highness when
summoned by him. The King of Queda did not
open o correspondence with the Burmese until he was
driven out of his Country, and his Children, Sisters
and principal friends were carried away as Prisoners.
The English refused to assist the King of Quedn to
attack the Siamese at Queda, because the English
believed that they could ask the King of Siam to
restore the King of Queda by the road of friendship,
Let the King of, Siam recollect what assistance the
King of Queda afforded to His Majesty in recovering
Junkeeylon from the Burmese and let His Majosty
then act as a great King by forgiving the King of
Queda and permitting the English and Siamese to live
in peace and friendship for o hundred years. The
Raja of Ligor himself, while last at Queds, saw the
necessity of yielding to the representations of the
English respecting the King of Queda, and hence
concluded the Treaty with Captain Burney engaging
to ask the King of Siam to forgive and restore
the King of Queda.

On the subject of Trade Captain Burney has
drawn up the accompanying set of Rules and Duties
for the consideration of the Court of Siam. If the
Ministers approve of the same they can be annexed
to the Treaty according to custom, and by that means
all English Commanders and Traders will become well
acquainted with the Regulations to which they must
conform when they visit any Siamese Port. Although
the custom of depriving a Vessel of her Guns is not
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of very old standing, the French Ambassador who
visited Siam about 140 years ago having found Eng-
lish and Dutch Ships with their Guns above Bangkol,
still as the Court of Siam seems to entertain n
particular feeling as to this point, Captain Burney will
uot press it, and this conduct on his part will he hopes
prove to the Ministers that the English have not the
smallest intention of coming to Siam to do mischief.
Captain Burney begs the Ministers will bear in mind
that the greatest grievance of which English Mer-
chants and Commanders complain is, that they ave
not allowed to sell and buy whereever they please at
Bangkok. If the King of Siam will only appoint a
proper Officer to whom the English may apply for
redress, and by whom they may be assisted to recover
their Debts, the English Merchant and Commander
must buy and sell at their own risk, and the King
of Siam need not be responsible for the Debts of his
people.  The plan of reporting to the Chow Pya
Pral Klang before an English Merchant can sell or
buy any thing is attended with very great Loss of
time and money. Captain Burney has given to the
Prah Klang o Copy of the Letter in which the Com-
mander of the American Vessel communicated his
sentiments to Captain Burney respecting the present
mods of regulating the business of Merchants and
Traders at Bangkok. Let that Letter shew the Min-
isters how much loss and shame the Sinmese suffer
from the present system of conducting trade with the
English and Americans.

Captain Burney had prepared this Letter several
days ago, but deferved transmitting it to the Ministers
until they found out the inaccuracy of the intelligence
brought to them that the Burmese had destroyed
the English Army. The English have now established
themselves in extensive contact with the Siamese
and they desire to live with the Siamese as friends
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and good neighbours and not on the same terms
as the Burmese didl. A more extensive intercourse
than formerly must now take place between the
Siamese and English and if the Ministers of Siam
desire this intercourse shall be so settled and conducted
5043 to prevent all chance of dispute between the
two Nations, they will approve of the Treaty which
Captain Burney now forwards to them in the name
of the Right Ionorable the (overnor General of
British India.

(Signed) 1. BURNEY Captain,
Envoy to the Court of Siam.
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No. 25.

Treaty of Friendship and Commerce between His
Majesty the King of Siam and the British Govern-
ment.

Asticle 1st. There shall be perpetual Peace,
friendship and good understanding between the
British and Siamese Nations,

Article 2d. The Troops and Subjects of neither
the British nor Siamese (Government shall invade or
occupy any of the Malayan Peninsular States, or
disturb the Peace and tranquillity thereof in any
manner.

Article 3d. His Majesty the King of Siam, as
a proof of his high regard for the British Nation,
accepts its mediation in favour of the King of Queda,
and engnges mnow to restore His Highness to his
Throne and Kingdom, to release and remand the
wholo of his family and subjects that are in captivity
and to withdraw the Troops and Subjects of Siam
from the Territory of Quedah, and further engages
that the Troops and Subjects of Siam shall not again
invade or occupy that Territory, nor disturb its neace
and tranquillity in any manner.

Article 4th. The British Government engages
that it shall not take possession of the Kingdom of
Queda, nor disturb its peace and tranquillity in any
manner and stipulates on the part of the King of
Queda, that His Highness shall forward a Sum of
Four Thousand (4,000) Spanish Dollars annually, and
the Gold and Silver Flowers triennially to His Majesty
the King of Siam through the Chow Pya of Ligor.

Article 5th. The subjects of both the British and
Siamese Governments shall have entire liberty of
trade and friendly intercourse, whether by land or
water, with every portion of the Malayan Penin-
sular States, and the British and Siamese Officers
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and Governors residing near those States shall
ly adopt for hending and
pmishing Pirates and Robbers, and for affording to
the trade of their respective Nations with thoso
Malayan States adequate facility and security.

Article Gth, The Ships, Junks and other Vessels
belonging to any of the subjects of His Majesty the
King of Siam shall be entitled at all times to the
protection of His Britannic Majesty and the Honorahle
Fast India Companys Ships of War, and shall be
admitted into all the Ports helonging to the British
Government in India upon the footing of the wost
favored Nations,

Article 7th. Al Ships and other Vessels under
the British Flag, the property whether of Buropean
or Asiatic Subjects of the British Government, shall be
admitted into the Port of Bangkok and into every
other Port belonging to the Siameso Government,
subject to the Regulations and Rates of Duty,
enumerated in the Schedule annexed to this Treaty.

Article 8th.  Every facility and freedom shall be
afforded to the Commerce between the British Posses-
sions of Princo of Wales Island, Malacea and Singa-
pore, and all the adjacent Siamese States of Ligor,
Singora, Murdelong, Patani, Junk Ceylon &ea. and
the Merchants and Traders of hoth Nations shall be
allowed to on trade and intercourse between all
these Countries, whether by Sea, Overland, or by means
of the Rivers, without the smallest obstruction.

Article Oth. Every facility and freedom shall be
afforded to the Commerce between the British Posses-
sions of Y?, Tavoy, Mergui, Tenasserim and such
other places as the British Government may retain
in Ava, and the contiguous Siamese Dominions, and
His Majesty the King of Siam will depute Officers
of rank to meet and confer with the British Officers
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at Tavoy, Mergui and other places, for the puipose
of fixing proper boundaries between the British and
Siameso Possessions, and of making such friendly
arrangements s may encourage and facilitate a
Commercial interconrse.

Article 10th. The Traders and Merchants of
both the British and Siamese Nations shall have
liberty to rent Houses and Godowns, and to settin and
carry on their Affairs in the Territories of both Nations
in full secnrity and confidence, and the Officers
and Governors of both States are to consider it their
duty to assist and protect the Vessels and Goods of
such Traders and Merchants.

Article 11th.  British and Siamese Subjects shall
be amenable to the Laws and Jurisdiction of the
Country in which they may be residing for any
transgressions committed against them ; and when any
British or Siamese Subject has any suit for debt or
other matter, he shall submit his complaint to the
Magistrate, or other Officer of the Country, who will
cause the Defendant to appear, investigate the com-
plaint, and upon finding it just, settle or redress it.

Article 12th.  Whenever any British or Siamess
Subject in tho Siamese or British Territories, wishes
to leave them, he shall be allowed to do so with his
property and suffer no obstruction.

Article 13th. His Majesty the King of Siam
shall not permit any European Subject of the British
Government to reside in any part of the Siamese
Dominions, without the previous sanction of the
Right Honorable the Governor General.

Article 14th. Should ever any Ship, Junk or
other Vessel belonging to a Subject of the King of
Siam be in a damaged state in any of the Ports be-
longing to the British Government, or any Vessel
belonging to a British Subject be in that condition
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in any of the lorts belonging to the King of Siam,
the Governors and Chiefs of the Ports of the vespec-
tive Nations are to consider it their duty to give every
aid to refit and repair Vessels so situated. and if it
happens that any of the Vessels of either Nation are
wrecked in or near the Ports or Shores of either
Country, on such occasions whatever property can be
recovered shall be saved and restored to the Owners,
who will rewand those who recovered it

vording to
what may be just and proper.

Article 15th. That Peace. Friendship and Gool
understanding way endure between His Majesty the
King of Siam and the British Government as long as
the Sun and Moon. this Treaty, containing of 15

Articles, has been drawn out in Dupli in the
English and Siamese Languages. Sealed
s the six Ministers

of Siam, by Captain Henvy Bueney the British Envoy
to the Court of Sinm on this 28th day of March in
1826, corresponding with the G6th day of
sing Moo in the 4th Month of the Siamese
year of Fowl 1187,

16 the Ministers of His Majesty the King of Siam
approve of this Treaty. they will put the Royal Seal
to both Copies and give them in charge to an Envoy
from Siam. who may accompany Captain Burney and
submit them to the Right Honorable the Governor
General. Should His Lordship ratify this Treaty he
will retain one Copy and remand the Sinmese Envoy
with the other duly Sealed. The Siamese Invoy
on his return from Bengal shall touch at Prince of
Wales Island and superintend the restoration of the
King of Queda.

(Signed) H. BURNEY Captain
Euvoy to the Court of Siaw.
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Schedule of Regulations to be observed, and of
Port and Anchorge Charges and Tmport and Exsport
Dutics to be paid, by Merchants, Ships and other
Vessels under British Colours, the property whether
of Enropean or Asiatic Subjects of the British Govern-
ment at Bangkok aud other Ports in the Kingdom
of Siam. as settled by the Gth Article of the
between the King of Siam awl the British (
ment.

Ist. Upon arrival of an English Merchant Ship,
or ather Vesel off the Bar, the Commander of the
Vessel shall forward to the Chief at the Mouth of the
River or Harbour, an Invoice of his Cavgo. List of
Crew and Passengers, and a rvetarn of the Guns,

is
Powiler, and Shot on hoanl his Vessel.
20, The Chief at the Mouth of the River or

Harbour shall send out a Pilot and Interpecter fo
Ting

in the Vessel, which must anchor off the Chokey
or Cu-mm Honse pointed out by the Interpreter.

B The Officers at the Mouth of the River or
Harbour shall go on board the Vessel, examine howe
and cause her Guns, Powder and Shot to be landed
for deposit, before she is allowed to proceed.

th.  Upon the arrival of the Vessel off the
Town the Siamese Officers =shall go and examine her
and measure her breadth,

Sthe A charge of 1500 Ticals per every Siameso
Fathom, that the Vessel may measure in breadth,
will then be made in lieu of Port and Anchorage
Charges, Import and Export Duties, Presents to the
King and Officers, and all other Charges, and if a
Vessel after paying this charge returns to trade n
Second, Third and Fourth time in the same year, she
shall be required to pay only 1,000 Ticals per fathom
at such Second, Third and Fourth time.
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6th, Upon payment of the Charge fised above
the Commander of the Vessel and all Menhants on
board shall have full liberty to buy and sell
and whatsoever they please, and if Clorks or we
are employed to superintend the weighing or measu-
ing of any Articles, they <hall be paid at n fixel Rate
per Pecul ov Coyan.  1f a Vessel also eannot reveive
the whole of her Cargo off the Town, the Commander
shall be allowed to hire Junks or Boats to convey to
her outsidn of the Bar, the vesidue of her Cargo,
without any additional duty.

Tthe Upon a Veasel being ready to depart, her
Commander shall wait on Chow Dya Prah Klang,
and apply for a Port Cleara

without abtaining
which the Vessel shall not attempt to depart.,

8th. The Vessel on her passage down st
anchor off the Chokey ov Custom House at the Mouth
of the River or Harbonr. and the Oficers there shall
again go and examine her, befors her Guus, Vowder
and Shot ave westored, or sho s allowed to take hee
depnrture.

Oth. If the Commander of n Vessel or any
Merchant whether European or Asiatic subjects of
the British Government, infringe any of these Re-
wulations, e shall be punished in such manner as
the established Laws of Siam direct.

10th, At every other Port in the Kingdom of
Siam, English Merchants and Veszels under E
Colours, whether the property of European or Asiatic
Subjects of the British Government, shall conformn to
the Rules and Regulations here established, but the
Charges at such places shall be fixed according
to a reduced seale and notified to the British
Government.
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Tth,  Ships and other Vessols under 2lisly
colours. the property whether of Enropean or Asiatic
Subjects of the British Government, having onee paid
the high Rate of Duty established at. Bangkok, shall
Dre allowed to visit any other Port in the Kingdom o
Simm. for the purpose of completing their (argo,
without any additional Duty.

(Signed)  H. BURNEY  Captain

Fnvoy to the Court of Siam.
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No. 26.
Bangkok, 31st March 1826,
To
George Swinton Esquire,
Sceretary to Government
in the Secret Department.
Sir,

By the Mission Brig Guardian I had the honos
to forward to you a Report of the progress of my
negotiations with the Court of Siam down to the 15th
of February, together with Copies of somu parts of
my Correspondence with the Siamese Ministers, [
have now the honor to transmit to you, via Martaban,
a Duplicate of those Papers, as well as certain
wlditional Documents ennmerated in the Margin, ®

A perusal of thase additionnl Documents will
show the Right Honormble the Governor General in
Council the inauspicious situation in which the
treachery of a Serang, who had deserted from the
Mission Brig, has placed my negotintions with this
timid and suspicious people. These Documents will
also enable His Lordship in Council to form some
conclusive judgement, respecting the ol of my
persisting in endeavouring to effect the n:umrnhun
of the King of Queda.

Lam hound to submnit my opinion for the considera~
tion of Hix Lordship in Conneil, that by perseverance,
aud in fact intimidation, I may ultimately succeed
in rescning Queda from Siamese domination; but
I shall leave this Court much dissatisfied with
the British Government and with me, and the
engagement. into which 1 may prevail upon it to
enter, will e by no means so cordial, or encouraging
\ Queds is not
wrested from Siam.  The arguments which the Siam-
exe Ministers have adduced in their reply to wme,
No. 22, against the King of Queda, possess, in my
humble judgement, xome truth and force.

to our Merchants, as one in wl
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The Treaty of Friendship and Commerce, w!
T have submitted to the Ministers, is intended mors
ax an experiment and to pacily the alarms of the
Court; but if the Right Honorable the Governor
General in Council approve of the terms of that
Lustrument, 1 conceive any chance of securing to it
the acquiese
inf

ve of the Siamese Ministers wonld Ins

ely angmented, were I furnishe:d with an
Address from the Right Honorable the Governor
General to His Majesty the King of Sian.  The

consider an Envoy in the light of a Letter
v or Messenger only, and an Addsess teom the

g of Siam of the pacific and friendly views
intentions of the British Govermment, and of the
falsehood of the numerons Tules brought here, aml
mese which | have submitted, or
improving and cementing friend-

Feconmen

ny th

any other plan for

shiip Detween the two Nations, would naturally ensure
and consideration, than any
thing which I can submit, and would, I have every
reason to believe, bring any (7 my) negotiations to a
satisfactory conclusion.  The Steam Packet by cunvey-
ing such an Address to Rangoon, could enable e to
rocoive it very cxpeditionsly vid Martaban, with
which place my commnnication is now well established.

o mueh greater eredi

T shall forward to you without a moments delay
the reply which the Ministers may make to my last
Memorial No. 24,

T have &e. &e.
(Signed) HENRY BURNEY Captain
Envoy to the Court of Siam.
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No. 27.

Reply fiom the Ministers of the King of Sinn
to Captain Burmey’s Memorinl No. 24,

Pya Phi Phut Ko records the observations of
their K
His Mujesty the King of Siam, in onder to comnimicate
the same to Captain Bumey.  With respect to the
representations which Captain Burney formerly trns-
mitted on the subject of Tringano, Calantan, Perak
and Queda, which vepresentations Captain Burny

wepeated with mauy additions.  The U
Pyn Pealy Klang submitted the whole to His Majesty
the King of Siam. who having fully undeestood
tho same was plensed to order,  Captain Burney says,
that e s continually thinking of estallishing a
permanent
lish, that the

lencies the Ministers, and the onlers of

has now

W

ulship between the Siamese and Fng-
Snglish do not wish to take possession
of the Malayan Countries that arve subject to Siam,
which Captain Burney has often said—and that he is
desiv i the English and Siamese in
friendship, 1t what Captain Burney obsevves on this
matter is trae, we thank him much,  The Letter that
the Governor General of Bengal sent stated that the
Governor of Europe and the English Nation desire to
form a true and sincere friendship with Siam—that the
respect. and love the Siamese—that the
and Siamese live on intimate terms of
teiendship—and that the English cannot think ot

of join

doing any injury, or of seizing upon any thing
belonging to Siam. The Letter from the Governor
General of Bengal states this. On the part of the
Sinmese, they also love and respect the English,
and are anxious to establish friendship with them.
They credit the assurances of the Governor General of
Bengal, who is the highest in rank among the Eng-
lish, and who was sent from Europe with a high title
proclaimed in every foreign Country. The declara-
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tions of the Governor General of Bengal are true,
sincere and upright.  Whatever he says is helieved

as trath, and Siam receives it with e

wedingg leasuee,
and sees that the voad of friendship between the
English and Siamese Nations will bs incrensed and

prolonged to eternity.  Captain Burney lias now come

of the Governor General
it desire that
be inerensed in the

to Siam as the Representati
of Bengal. Lot Ca

the friendship with Siam ma

\ Burney's 1

same manner as the Governor General's Letter poiuts

out, and this will be very good.

s to what Captain Bumey says vespecting the
Governor of Queda, the answer that was formerly
given to him was positive.

But Captain Burney now

=

again brings forwanl the v of that Governor,

stating that at the time the Burmese came and
conquerad Junkeeylon the Governor of Queda gave
wneh assistance,  Captain Bumey brings torwand

a good action i favor of the Governor of Queda, and

desives that ho may return and again become Governor

of the Comntry.  But with respect to the cri

which the Goyernor committed, and the treeachery
which he meditated against the Government of Siam,
in joining with the public enemy. offences of great
magitnde, Captain Burney say< nothing.  He does

not see the Governor of Querda’s erimes, hut ouly his
former good conduct.  Queda is a Country subject
to Siam, and in the event of a war, it must join and

assist. 1 Siam orded

< Queda to do any thing it must
do it, and cannot refuse, bLecanse it is under the
authority of Siam.  Such is the Law with respect to a
subonlinate State in every foreign Count

¢, and among
every people.  For example, Penang is under the autho-
vty of Europe the Governor (sic) of Kurops. The
Governor of Euvope onlers or directs any matter, it
must be done prec

sely. If the Governor of Penany
does not like it, and goes and joins the Burmese,
who aro enemi

. then we should sce the Governor of
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Europe very angry in like manuner. All this fairly
and impartially said. If any person does well, he is
rewarded according to his merits. I any person
commits a fault, he is punished according to his offence.
Whether the Governor of Queda performed a good
action, or conducted himself well on a former occasion,
it is not proper to refer back to it. When the Goy-
ernor of Queda meditated mischief against Siam, and
withdrew his heart, he did away with his own good
conduct.  Captain Burney ought to look more towards
a friendship with Siam, than towards the Governor of
Queda, in conformity with the declarations of the
Governor of Bengal. - We beg he will drop the subject
and not repeat his numerous representations in favor
of the Governor of Queda. What we formerly said
was positive,

With respect to the State of Perak, when the
Pya of Ligor was ordered to go with & Force and
conquer Salengore, the English provented him, stating
that Salengore was connected with the English ;
that. they wonld send away Rajah Hussein who had
placed himself at the Month of the Perak River, and
would prevent Salengore from molesting Perak again.
The Chow Pya of Ligor put a stop to his armament
until he came and made a Report to His Majesty
the King of Siam, who observed, that ths English
and the Siamess are friends, and that as the English
engage not to permit Salengore to molest Perak ; the
armangement is a good one ; let Chow Pya Ligor remand
the whole of his Forces. The Siamese understood that
Salengore and Perak could not be joined together, and
that the English and Siamess had finally settled this
matter. Captain Burney now says that Perak has
been connected with Malacea 180 years, and Malacea
has become the possession of the English, and that
Perak therefore is now connected with the English.
This matter the Siamese did not know. If Perak
was dependent on the Dutch, the Governor of Perak
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onght before to have mentioned it, which he did not.
Perak came and did homage to Siam, and Siam
received its homage desiring to assist and protect
it, and to continue to confer titles and presents.
Perak has been subject to Siam during ten years,
before there existed any connexion with the English.
The European and Malayan Countries knew all, befors
Malneea became a possession of the English, and
when Malacea belonged to the Duteh, they and the

Siamese coutinued to trade together withont any
obstacle.  The Dutch were formerly the Masters of
Malacea, and they did not state that Perak belonged
to them and was connected with Malacea, It is not a
year since the Dutch transterred Malacen to the
English. Captain Bumey says that Perak became at
the same time connected with the BEnglish.  Siam

proposed to give a Title to the Governor of Perak,
because he cane and did liomage, but Captain Burney
objects to this.  Befors Perak came to do homag
Siam, it deputed persons to the Chow Iya of Ligor,
with respect and friendship, concarning Affuivs of its

Government, and sent both the Gold and Silver
Flowers and other Presents to the Chow Pya of Ligor,
who received the same and ordered the Officers
to come to the feet of the King of Siam, and to
tender the Presents to His Majesty. Chow Pya Ligor
sent Siamese and Malays to Perak on the Affairs of its
Government, and they regularly visited it. Perak now
desives Lo prepars and depute Officers with the Gold and
Silver Flowers and other Presents to the Chow Pyn
of Ligor acconding to Custom. Do the English intend
to prevent the Governor of Perak from doing o ?

With respect to Tringano and Calantan, Captain
Burney says the English do not wish to take posses-
sion of them, if the Siamese engage not to attack or
molest those States. If the English do not require
those two Countries, we are happy. They have been
subject to Siam for a long period of time. What
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Captain Burney proposes, that Siam should engage
not to attack or molest them, is unot essentinl or
necessary. There is no advantage whatever in what
Captain Burney proposes. Those two Countries are
Jnown to belong to the Siamese. The answer that
was formerly sent clearly shewed it. If the Malayan
Countries belonging to Siam ave not required the
engagement which is required from the Siamese, that
they shall not go and molest the Malayan Countries,
belonging to them, is also not necessary. We shall
be happy to engage that the Siamese shall not go and
molest. the Malayan Countries subject to the English,
and that the English shall not molest the Malayan
Countries subject to Siam in the manner of Captain
Burney’s Treaty. If any Malayan or otheg Country
subject to the English commit any transgression
against Siam, Siam shall fiest report the same to the
Engligh ; Siam itself shall not punish, which the
English say would not be ncconling to th road of
ndship.  We approve very much of this observa-
1, which Captain Bueney makes, and which accords
with established custom and propriety. If the English
and the Siameso establish the voad of friendship
between them, the customs of the Country form
the road of true anl sinzere friendship. When any
matter occurs, if it is an important matter, it
is necessary that it should bb known to all the
subordinate Countries. If any dispute ocewrs re-
specting  houndaries or any other subject then
it should be explained on both sides. The Country
of the English is great, and so is the Country of
the Siamese. They must join in preventing dis-
putes in truth and sincerity, in the manner it is
proper for great Countries. The Boundaries of
the Siamese belong to the Siamese. The Boundaries
of the English belong to the English. Neither side
must transgress nor encroach. In all those Malayan
Countries, which are subject to the English, the
Siamese do not desire to seize any of them, do not
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wish to trausgress or encroach, and do not wish. under
any pretence, to impose their authority or jurisdiction.
The Countries belonging to the English. the FHuglish
will regulate. They will appoint Governors and do
everything aceording to the pleasure of the English.
Aud with respect to the Malayan Countries sulject to
the Siamese, such as Tringano, Calantan and Queda
and other Countries, Siam may regulate amd issue its
orders. If any Country is true to Siam. Siam will
cherish it much and assist and envich it.  [f any
Country is not true, and withdrws its heart. and
conducte itself as the Governor of Quedn, Sinm must
correct and punish the Offender, acconding to its
Offtnce and according to the Law and ancient (‘ustoms
of the Country. and it will settle the Country and
keep it in peace and quiet as formerly, The Countries
subject to the English they will regulate acconding to
the Customs of the English Countries. and the
Niamese shall on no account go and molest or trans-
gress, The Countries subject to the Siamese. they
will regulate acconding to the Customs of the Siamese
Countries, and the English shall on no account go
and molest or transgress.  If a Treaty can be framed
with such mutnal stipulations, then no subject could
oceur connected  with quarrels in future.  If the
English desire to establish n sincere friendship with
the Siamese, let them frame a Treaty containing what
is above said. Let one Copy, with the Governor of
Bengal's Seal, e placed in Bangkok, and one Copy
with the King of Sinm’s Seal be taken and kept
in Bengal. The English and Siamese should cherish
truth, sincerity and friendship together with a pure
heart incapable of evil. The English and Siamese may
trade together with freedom. The Road of friendship
may be encreased and may be extended to 100,000
or 10,000 years without diminution.

And if, with respect to Commerce, if it is
requested by the road of friendship, mutually engaged
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Dy such a Treaty. that the English Merchants may b
“allowed to buy and sell by themselyes. His Mujesty
the Kiug of Sinm will grant them to bay and sell by
thewselves as they please. But English Merchants
must follow all the Costoms of the Siamess Country,
and forget English Customs in a Country that is not
English. 1f a Sinmese go to teade in an English
Country. he must follow the Customs of the English.
With respect to an Officer being  desind  to ba
appointed to receive the complaints of the English
Merchants. and to seize and examine Debtors.  If the
English Merchants go and sell or buy from a poor
man, who has no money to pay, and whe absconds
with the property, the English xay the fanlt will be
with the English Merchant hinself. who will have no
cause for complaint that he is injured. It the
Commanders ot English Vessels agree to this, the
King of Siam will geant it. and permit the Officers to
make such an ar Let the (¢ der of &
Vessel take his complaint to ya Chula and Radsithi,
the Offiers of the Port on the right hand, who will
explain it to the Chow Pya rah Klang. The Chow
Pya Prah Klang will appoint any of the Officers of the
Port he may please to inquire into the business of the
Commander of the Vessel, according to the Laws and
Customs of the Kingdom. And with respect to the
Treaty of friendship and Commerce which Captain
Burney has prepaved and forwarded; there is a
difference between the Customs of the Siamese and
those of the English. In Captain Burney’s Treaty
there is something right and something not right.
What is right may be included in o Treaty ; but what is
not right, we cannot agree to include. We must put
aside the Treaty which Captain Burney has transmitted,
and let the Ministers in concert make a Draft of another
Treaty and send it to Captain Burney. Let the
Treaty be formed fairly and with impartiality and
do.not let friendship be destroyed. In what manner
Custom will not allow a Treaty to be formed has been
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shown on one xide. That it is good on one side and
bad on the other is not mentioned in the Treaty. Let
the Customs of the Country on each side be followed.
Come to Siam according to the Customs of Siam. Go
to an English Country according to the Customs of
the English.  All this would bs yood. Let Captain
Burney examine what is written in the Letter from
the Governor of Bengal. If we agren together we
shall afterwards be able to conclude a Treaty. Thix
Letter was written and deliversl on Wednesday on the
13th day of the 5th Moon in the year Doy 1188,

Translated from the Siamese.

Signed) H. BURNEY  Captain

TR
Seal of Bavoy to the Court of Sian.
Pya Phi-phut

Kosa.
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FORT CORNWALLLS the 19th June 1626,

READ the following Letter from the Knvoy dated the
3th May in reply to the Dispatehes transmitted by
the Brig Guardian,

ENVOY AT SIAM.

Bangkok, 4th May 1826,

Esquive

To  W. 5. CRACROF]
Secretary to Government,

Prinve of Wales 1sland.

lings my Dispatehes to the H
pvernor, conveying a Copy of the Continualion
of my Jowmal trom the 15th Febrary to the st
instant ; the veturn of the Mission Brig Guudinn,
thix day, has put we in possession of your Digpateh of
the 8th April, and 1 now hasten to acknowledge the
#ame, in the hope that this acknowledgement may
reach the American Vessel, Liverpoal Packet, before
she finally ails,

1 bey you will assure the Honorable the Governor

in Coun

, that unequivocal proof only, that per-
on my part will defeat all the other ohjects
of my Mission, shall induce me to cease from urging
this Court *to restore the Malayan Government. of
* Kedah and remove the Siamese therefron.”

1 have received Dispatches this morning from
Captain Fenwick dated 4th Ultimo from Martaban,
and 1 take this opportunity of submitting to Govern-
ment my firm Conviction, that the Cession to the
Siamese of any of our Conquests on the Coast of
Tenasserim inhabited by Burmese, is to be deprecated
by every ideration of } ity. No inti
with this Court would succeed in ensuring good
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treatment to such Burmese inhabitants, or in eventu-
ally saving them from mnmitigated slavery.  This
conviction has been forced upon me here  against
opinions which 1 had previously entertained, and I
conceive its accuracy may be proved by reference only
to some of the faets recorded inmy Journal.

1 lave &, &e.

wed) H. BURNEY  Captain

Envoy to the Conrt of Siam,
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THE FOLLOWING MINUTE Ly the Honorable
the Governor with its Enclosure is recorded.

MINUTE BY THE GOVERNOR.

Minute.

The object of the Mission to Siam was twofold.
First, in order, though not in importance to effect the
ratification of the Agreement made with the Rajah of
Ligor, involving objects in which the Interests of the
Government were considered to be deeply concerned.
The second and the most important was to keep open
a direct communication with the Court of m to
explain to the Court the views and intentions of the
British Government in the prosecution of the Burmesa
‘War, to communicate the course of its success and
the nature and extent of co-operation requived from
the Siamese Government, to adjust at the same time
by mutual explanation all differences which might
arise between the Subordinate Officers of each respec-
tively, in short to maintain and improve the amicabls
relations subsisting betwoeen the two States as well as
to be prepared on the spot to adjist and settlo the
terms under which it might eventually be deemed
advisable to transfer to Siam any portion of onr con-
quests in the vicinity of that State. Tt is satisfactory
to find that the exertions of Captain Burney have fully
succeeded in one of the most important objects of this
Mission, the maintenance of harmony between two
States whose Armies were in contiguity to each
other, and where subjects of difference and disputes
were so likely to arise, the claims and pretensions of
the Siamese to participate in our Conquests without
the corresponding and reciprocal duty of aid and
co-operation have been met with steadiness and at the
same time with prudent conciliation, differences have
become subjects of amicable negotiation which without
the intervention of a prudent Agent might have
become matter of hostile contention and lastly by the
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unceasing labours of Captain Burney conducted under
circumstances the most trying arising from the
arrogant and vexatious character of those with whom
he had to deal, the Government of Siam have by the
return of the Captives bzen brought to afford sul-
stantinl disavowal of the Acts of their Chief at
Chimpohun in camrying away the inhabitants of
Tenasserim.  How far the further Service of Captain
Burney may be vequired in adjusting terms of Cession
must depend on the final determination of the Right
Honorable the Governor General. 1t may be only
necessary here to surmise that in the event of its
being determined that no such Cession is to be made,
as the War has now ceased, it is probable the further
detention of Captain Burney will on that account e
unnecessary.  Captain Burney is in full and direct

with the Supreme Government con-
ducted through the Channel of the Public Authorities
at Martaban and Rangoon. In respect therefore to his
remaining at or quitting Bangkok as far as the

measure depends on points in discussion on reference
to the Right Honorable the Governor General, he
must be guided by the Orders or at least known
sentiments of that high Authority. It would be
improper in us to give of ourselves any decided
Instructions. Those orders will no doubt be com-
municated to this Government but as it is probabls
their views and sentiments will reach Captain Burney
at an earlier period, Power and Instructions should be
given him authorizing, as far as we are concerned,
his immediate return.

In respect to the Secondary object of the Mission,
the Ratification of the Treaty with Ligor and the Con-
cession of the various points required. Captain
Bumney in his Letter of..................gave us hopes
that all but one, the restoration of the King of Quedah.
are likely to be admitted,
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But the Papers which accompany the Report Just
received lead me to fear that but little progress is
made towards the accomplishment of any of the objects
of the Mission connected with the Interests of the
Malay Peninsula ; nor can I indeed roconcile mysolf
to the belief that the Rajah of Ligor will exert any
influence in support of our views. He ix now in
possession of Quedah drawing all the advantage of
that Possession, by further Conquest and Subjugation
of which there can be little doubt he has long been the
prime mover, he cannot fail to desire an accession of
Influence and Power, and so far from looking to him
for support in our views, I cannot but consider him
as our great Enemy at the Court of Siam and to him
probably is attributable the little success that has
attended that portion of anv objects, coupared with
those in which his Interests wers not concerned. As
it appears by the Enclosure No. 26 that a reference
is made to the Supreme Government, by the Reply
to which Captain B. must be guided, I shall defer
recording a final opinion on the Mission, the result
of which, though unpromising, is not certainly yet
ascertained. 1 shall be well pleased to find my
anticipations incorrect, but in the event of complete
failure in the objects of the Mission, I propose that
Captain B. take his leave with a Declaration annexed
having for it's object the reservation of our right of
future interference in the event of the Honorable
Court of Directors deciding on that line of Policy.

(Signed) R. FULLERTON
15th June 1826.
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DECLARATION to be made by Captain Burey
to the Siamese Government in the event of their
rejecting the Treaty submitted to them,

First. That the British Government does not
admit to the Siamese any right of exercising Control
or Dominion, or of interfering in the Government of
Perak or of the Malay States South of Quedah and
Patani,

Sccond. That the British Govermment rescrves
to itself the right of protecting those States from
all such interference and expelling all Sinmese Troops
that may have already or may hereafter be sent to
enforce it by Siam at all times when it may be deemed
proper so to do.

Third. That the Siamese Government will thencs
distinctly understand that in exerting such inter-
ference or continuing it if already begun they incur
the risk of expulsion by the British Government,

Fourth. That the British Government, desirous
of bringing the unsettled relations with Siam general-
1y, but particularly with Ligor to some definite under-
standing and thus preventing future dispute had
dispatched an Envoy to Siam. That the Siamese
Government having refused to ratify the Treaty of
Ligor or to enter into any agreement in terms con-
sistent with the rights and Interests of the British
Government, matters must naturally revert to the same
unsettled state in which they stood before the Treaty
of Ligor was made and the British Government will
be prepared to resist by the direct application
of their Power any encroachment on Independent
States which they may deem prejudicial to the
Interests of their Settlements on the Malay Peninsula.

THE SECRETARY reports, that Copy of the
foregoing Minute was transmitted to the Envoy vid
Singapore, as the result of the deliberations of the
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Boanl on the progress of his Negotiations, and that lie
was recommended to take leave from the Cowmt
making a final Declaration on the part of the British
Government in the terms above teconled, unloss his
Instructions from the Supreme Government o
incrensed prospect of a favorable termination to the
question regaiding the Malayan States vequired hing
to vemain for a lowger period,

ADJOURNED
R. FULLERTON
WA CLUBLEY
L IBBETSON

FORT CORNWALLIS
The 19th June 1826,
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FORT CORNWALLIS, The 10th July 1826.

Vel. 138, pp.
o171,
SECRET ana
POLITICAL
DEPARTMENT.

ENVOY at S1AM
18th May i826,
‘With Enclosure.

AT A COUNCIL PRESENT
THE HONORABLE ROBERT FULLERTON
Governor President-
and
ROBERT IBBETSON Esquire.

WILLIAM ARMSTRONG CLUBLEY Esquire,
Absent from Indisposition.

READ and APPROVED the PROCEEDINGS of
the 20th ULTIMO.

ENVOY at SIAM.

Bangkok, 18th May 1826.
To
The Honorable R. Fullerton Esquire
Governor &e,, &e., &e.,
P. W. Island.
Honorable Sir,
By the American ship, Liverpool Packet, I had
the honor, on the lst Instant, to transmit to you a
Continuation of the Journal of my Mission to this
Court from the 25th February to the date above men-~
tioned. I now beg to forward to you, by the Ship
Hunter and through the Resident at Singapore, a
Duplicate of the former Papers, together with a Con~
tinuation of my Journal, with its Appendix, from
the 1st May to the present date; and 1 am happy
to report, that I sco at present every prospect of the
Mission Leing able to quit this Capital, for the purpose
of returning, by the ond of the ensuing Month,

1 have &c., &e., &e.

(Signed) H. BURNEY Captain
Envoy to the Court of Siam.
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163. The Prah Klang complied to-day with an
application, that 1 had made to him some days ago,
to e furnished with a detailed List of the Port and
Anchorage Duties, which his Department had lovied
upon the Hunter. Upon recciving this absund
Document, No. 28, 1 called upon the Minister and
obtained the explantions that are recorded in the
Notes I have appended to it.

164, On the woming of the 34 May Captain
Coffin left Bangkok, and on the same day we received
accounts of the Brig Guardian off the Bar. In the
afternoon of this day Phya Phi-phut called upon me
accompanied by the Two Sepoys who had procerded
on the 27th December to Martaban, whence they now
brought me Dispatches from Captain Fenwick, with
Copies of the Treaty concluded with the Burmese,
These Sepoys had been only 24 dags from Martalan
including a detention of 2 days at Menam Noi. [
delivered Phya Phi-phut a Copy of the Treaty which
Captain Fenwick had forwarded to me in the Burmess
language, and i
vespecting the new Bri

d to him
ish Settlement of Amherst
Town near Martaban, urging him to advise the
Ministers to depute some Officers to visit it, in order
o settle in concert with our Officers on the spot,
houndaries and other questions embracing an enlarged
friendly intercourse between that place and the Siamese
Dominions.  But 1 again noticed the distrust with
which any proposition for settling boundaries is re
ceived by the Siamese, who seem most anxious that
our proceedings on the Coast of Tenasserim should
not reduce the breadth of waste and jungle, that has
ever constituted the best protection to Siam in
that direction, nor that we should form through
them roads of easy Communication to this Capital,
Owing to this distrust it will be long, I fear,
before we shall be able to revive the profitable
trade which formerly existed between the Coast of
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Tenasserim and the Capital of Siam. Captain Fens
in his private Letter to me, referred to the case
of some Peguers who had been removed in the
beginning of the war by Maha Yothia, from a part of
the province of Martaban which is now ceded to us.
1 had before heard of these Men, and I knew that
the Wang-na detained them in Paklaat, hut ax the
subject is one which e

ited most unplensant frelings

in the minds of the Ministers, and as T know that the
Peguers are treated with much more lenity thau what
the Burmese Prisoners of Mergui expevienced, 1 was

unwilling to notice them until the close of the war

and until it was determined whether the territory
whenee they had been taken would ba reserved by us.
Phya Phi-phut denied stoutly all knowledge of the
existonce of such Men, and I therefore sent for the
Siamese Writer and immediately dictated an Applica-
tion on the subject to the Ministers. pointing out
particularly, that these Pey

ers are now English
Subjacts; being:the Nafives:of ., portion of Country
which had been ceded to the English, and explainiug
the Motives which had hitherto kept me silent
respecting them.

165, Late in the evening Captain Sutherland of
the Brig Guardian arrived at Bangkok, and upon
perusal of the Dispatches which he brought to me, I
deemed it advisable to write and send after Captain
Coffin on the following morning, another Letter,
No. 29, to the address of the Secretary to Government
at Prince of Wales Island. 1 was apprehensive lest
some parts of my Journal would give the Governor
of Prince of Wales Island an impression that I had
actually relinquished the Cause of the Rajah of Queda,
and 1 conceived that T conld not too soon apprize
my Superiors of the sentiments, which my residence
and experience here had forced me to adopt with
respect to the question of our ceding to the Siamese
Government any portion of our conquest on the Coast
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of T im, in which the inhabi
Burmese.

are purely

166, On the 5th May Phya Phi-phut Kosa called
to show me a Siamese “Iranslation, which had been
made from the Burmess Copy of our Treaty with Ava.
1 was obliged to explain several passages, and parti-
cularly the 10th Article, which was vendered into the
Siamese in such a manner as to excite considerable
mistrust on the part of this suspicions race, The phraso
that “The King of Siam having taken a part &e. is
“dncluded in the above Treaty,” was translated into
“The King of Siam having taken a part &e. is marked
*“in this Treaty.”  Marked to receive hereafter good or
bad 7 was the question put to mo by Phya Phi-phut.

167. Late on the evening of the 7th May Phya
Phi-phut called upon me to state that the Court was
about to forward Letters to Menam-noi, and that i
[ liad any Letters for Captain Fenwick its Meossongers
would take charge of them. Pya Phi-phut declared
that he was incorrect when he stated that thers are
no such Pegu Prisoners as those I had mentioned on
the 3d, that the Ministers admit there are several and
have given orders for an enquiry to be instituted and a
List of the whole to be prepared ; and that the moment
this List is prepared my application would be ane
swered.  He further assured me, that every one of thess
Poguers, who wishes to join Captain Fenwick, shall bs
sent, and that I may apprize that Officer, that His
Maiesty of Siam lias issued persmptory orders on the
subject.  From Phya Phi-phut's conversation 1 discov-
ered that the principal object of the Dispatches which
the Court is now about to send to Menam-noi, is to
instruct. Phya Maha Yothia to depute some trusty
Officers to visit Captain Fenwick, in order to gather
full information as to our proceedings in that quarter,
and to ascertain whether the war with Ava is finally
concluded according to the terms detailed in the Treaty
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ented to the Ministers.  The
Tent that the Burmese do not

which 1 have p
mese are still con

intend to close the war, but are waiting for a good
opportunity of committing some foul treachery against
us, and L am satisfied that Captain Fenwick aud our
Officers on the Coast of Tenasserim, cannot be too
guanded in their communications with any Siamese
Officers who may pay them a visit. Such persons
ought to be so treated as to prevent their returning to
this Capital with mischievous or false intelligence, by
which the public mind is much unsettled.

169. Phya Maha Yothia arrived suddenly at
Bangkok on the 8th. This circumstance will probably
change the intention of the Court to dispatel Me
gors to Menam noi. Late on the same night Mr.
Leal returned to Bangkok vid Martaban and Menam

noi, with Dispatehes from Captain Fenwick and Mr.
Maingy, 1 regretted to learn from Mr. Leal, that
Vhya Kray and the Siamese Chief at Chimpohun have
sent back to Mergui but a very small portion of the
Burmese Prisoners under their charge, and 1 conceived
it proper therefors to address a Memorial, No. 30,
to the Ministers immediately ; conveying the informa-
tion communicated in Mr. Maingy and Captain
Fenwick’s Letters, as well as the intelligence which

Mr. Leal had collected respecting the Prisoners. T
took this opportunity of applying also to the Court,
for the release of some Native Christins, Jean
Baptiste Gabriel and 4 others, the Commander and
Seacunnies of a Vessel which was taken by a Siamese
Detachment 4 or b years ago off the Coast of Tavoy,
whilst conveying a party of Burmese Officers from
Rangoon to Tavey. Gabriel is well known to Mr.
Galast: a Lle Merchant at Penang, who

lately wrote to me respecting him, and his Wife and
Son, who are now living at Tavoy, have applied to mo
in his favor through Mr. Leal. The Vessel was burnt
and the Native Christians and Burmese brought to
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Bangkok in Chains. Mr. Gabuiel informs me, that
after they had been in close confinement for several
Months, the Wangna removed the ivons from the Native
Christians, who have since been at large at Bangkak,
but that all their applications to be allowed to return
to Bengal have been attended with no success,

170. Mr. Leal, since his absence from Bangkok,
has had an opportunity of seeing the whole line of
Frontiers between the Siamese Dominions and our
Conquests from Ava, having visited Mergui, Pakchan,
Tavoy, Martaban, and Precko dee Samong. T may
take a future opportunity of submitting a Copy of his
Journal, and at present will mention that he wag
only 15 days coming from Martaban to Bangkok,
including a detention at Menam Noi and Ratpuri of
1} day, that he saw but very insignificant partics of
Siamese at Menam-noi and on the frontiers in that
direction, and found the voute Ly no means difficult,
the sketch of it propared by me being considered by
him as very accurate, and that he dwells much upon
the practicability of opening with the utmost ease
a mavigable passage through the Isthmus of Krow
between Pak-chan and Chimpohun. Mr. Leal states,
that Maha Yothia has anticipated the orders of the
Court and deputed a party of about 50 Men to
Martaban, for the purpose of gathering intelligence
respecting our proceedings, Mr. Leal having met them
a few days on this side of Martaban in 5 Boats.

171, Phya Phi-phut called on the evening of the
9th and made many complaints against Mr. Leal for
having refused to wait at Menam noi or Ratpuri when
requested in order that intelligence of his arrival
might have been forwarded to the Court in advance,
according to the established Customs of the Country.
The truth is, the Court is extremely vexed at M.
Leal's having seen and travelled over so much of the
interior of Siam, and if he had waited at Menam noi
until Accounts of his arrival there had been received
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here, there is no question that he would never have
been suffered to pass down. I begged Phya Phi-phut
to apologize to the King for Mr. Leal’s conduct, attri-
buting it to his anxiety to deliver the Dispatches
entrusted to him with all possible expedition, and pro-
mising that he should be warmed against offending
again in such o manner. I afterwards called with
Mr. Leal upon the Pral Klang, and impressed upon
the Minister the necessity for the King of Siam
directing a thorougl investigation to be instituted into
the conduct of the Siamese Officers with respect to
the Chimpohun Prisoners. 1 endeavoured also to
pacify the Minister regarding Mr. Leal,

172, On the morning of the 13th May. [ saw the
Tral Klang, who informed me that the Ministers had
examined Phya Kray, and that he denies the whole of
the Charges alleged against him by the Burmese who
have returned to Mergui from Chimpohun; that he
states that he had dispatched the Prisoners in five
different Parties, and at intervals, which would account
for only the first Party of 53 Men having reached
Mergui before Mr. Leal's departure ; but that he admits
that a Party of about 37 Men remains at Chimpohun,
having been too unwell and too infirm from age to
undertake the journey to Mergui, The Prah Klang
then delivered to me a List which he had received from
Phya Kray, and a literal Translation of which is
as follows,

Sunday 13th day of the 3d decreas-

ing Moon in the year Fowl ... 53
Wednesday 8th day of the 4th in-

creasing Moon in the year Fowl 67
Saturday 11th day of the 4th in-

creasing Moon in the year Fowl 89 {237 Men
Thursday 1st day of the 4th increas-

ing Moon in the year Fowl ... 44
Saturday 3d day of the 4th increas~

ing Moon in the year Fowl ... 84
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The Pral Klang also assured me, that a List of
the Pegu Prisoners brought from the Martaban Dis-

tricts is making, in order that the whole may bo sent
back immediately.

173, In the afternoon Phya Phi-phut called
upon me with a communication from the Ministers
requesting me to give them a meeting on the follow-
ing evening at the residence of Prince Krom Meun
Surin, in order that we may discuss together the
several Articles of a Treaty, I now delivered to Phya
Phi-phut & Memorial No. 81, which I had prepared,
with a revised draft of the Treaty that I had previously
tendered, and desired him to request the Ministers
to peruse and consider these Documents well befors
we met on the following day. 1 asked the Phya also
to let mo see before I met the Ministers, a revised
draft of their Treaty which I understood they had
made.

174. Shortly after 8. P. M. we repaired to the
Palace of Krom Meun Surin, where every preparation
appeared to have been made for an important debate.
On either side of the Prince were seated the Chakri,
Kalahom, Tharama and Prah Klang, and a little
below them were Phya Kray, Phya Si-Phi Phut,
the Rajahs of Ligor and Singora, and several other
Officers.  We sat down in the middle of the Hall of
Audience near Phya Phi-phnt, who was the channel
of communication between my Interpreters, and the
Princo and Ministers. The first question related to
Queda. I used every Argument in my power to
persuade the Ministers of the justice, humanity and
policy of restoring our Ally, the Ex-King. I pointed
out the great mutual benefits which such an
arrangement would afford to both the Siamese and
English Nations; the certainty of our friendship
remaining unbroken and the security and cordiality
which such a concession on the part of Siam would
give to our future intercourse. I argued, flattered and
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even threatened, but 1 am sarry to record 1 made no
impression.  The Prince and Ministers objected most
decidedly against the Ex-King, for having connected
himself with the Burmese, and done every thing in
his power to injure Siam. They repeatedly assured me
that the future Government of Queda shonld be settled
in such a manner as to preclude all chanes of collision
with the British Government, and so as to ensure the
establighment of the most friendly interconrse between
that Country and Penang. They asked me whether
1 was prepared, for the sake of Queda, to reject
all the other advantages which it was in the power
of my Mission to obtain in favour of the British
Government, and declared that His Majesty the King
of Siam would appeal to the Governor General himself,
and point out the grounds upon which Hix Majesty
found it absolutely impossible to consent to the
restoration of the Ex-King. At length, when the

discussion had for some time been very irritating on
bath sides, I consented to let the subject drop for the
present.

175 1 then cntered into the question of the
conduct of Siam towards the Malayan States. 1 refused
to take any notice of Perak, considering the right of
Siam to interfere with that Country as already
disproved ; but. referring to Calantan and Tringano, I
observed that the British Government admitted, that
cortain Malayan States, in token of respect and as
a means of securing the good will of a powerful
neighbour, have been accustomed from early times to
send the Boonga Mas and Perak to Siam, but that
in doing so, those States had not given up their
ind d as their Laws and Customs
remained widely different from those of Siam; and
that, under these circumstances, the British Govern-
ment could not possibly view with indifference any
attempt which Siam might make to over-run these
Malayan States, in the same manner as it had done
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Queda, disturbing the Peace and Tranquillity of the
British  Settlements in their neighbourhood, and
putting an end to the Trade and intercourss which
now subsist between those States and Penang, Malacea
and Singapore. The Ministers did not attempt to
defend, 5o stontly as 1 had expected, the right of Siam
to give whatever orders it pleased to those States,
but objected to the 2 Article of my proposed Treaty,
upon the ground that the moment Tringano becams
aware of such a stipulation, it wonld attack Calantan,
from which procedure nothing but the fear of Siam
now withheld it.  The Ministers assured ine, that
%0 long as Tringano and Calantan committed no
aggression, Siam had no intention of interfering with
them more than what it has done, and at the close of
the conference, they partially, acquieseed in the
stipulation which 1 proposed, that if any of those
Malayan States who have been acenstomed from remote
times, to send the Boonga Aas and Perak to Siam,
refuse to send that token of respect or commit. any
aggression against Siam, the Siamese shall be allowed
togo and correct it, giving the British Government
thus a right, if it please to exercise it to protect those
States from any tyrannical usurpation or interference
on the part of Siam. I found it in vain as T had always
expected, to persunde the Ministers to relinguish at
once the Siamese clim of Supremacy cver these
Malayan States. T endeavoured also to contribute
(? constitute ) the British Government in direct terms
the Arbitrator in all differences between Siam and those
States ; but did not press this point much, because
the above Clause will always enable the British Govern-
ment to check and regulate the exercise of the Siamese
claim. so far ns it may suit our interests or future
policy. The Ministers were decidedly told, that
the British Government would not admit the right of
the Siamese to occupy the States of Tringano and
Calantan ; and this declaration will, I hope restrain
Sinmese encroachments in that quarter.
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176. The Ministers then proposed, that I should
read and give my opinion upon the revised Draft of
their Treaty. I replied that I conceived ‘my Drait
accorded more with what was necessary to be done,
but still as the Siamese would place more confidenca
in a Document which themselves had drawn up, T had
no objection to permit their Draft to serve as the basis
of o Treaty. In order to afford my Superiors the best
possible conception of the character, views and feelings
of the Court of Siam, Thave made literal Translations
of the first and second Drafts of the Treaty, which the
Ministers had prepared, and I now annex these very
curious Documents Nos. 82 and 33, with such Notes
as tend to show the nature and grounds of the alter-
ations and to which T ded in di
the Ministers to accede.

177. The conference lasted until 8 o'clock in the
morning. The discussions with me were carried on
almost entirely by the Prince, the Prah Klang and the
Rajah of Ligor. The Chakri, Kalahom and Phya Kray
only occasionally made observations, But the most
sturdy Opponent T had on the Queda question, was
the Raja of Ligor, who unceremoniously denied most
of the facts which I urged, as to the very large amount
of the population which has emigrated from Quedn,
and as to the mischievous interruptions which his
Officers at Queda and Quala Muda are in the habit of
giving to the trade and intercourse between Penang
and Queda. It was amusing however to see the
dexterity and address, with which His Highness per-
suaded the Prince and Prah Klang to acquiesce in
almost every thing else that I proposed, with exception
to the restoration of the Ex King of Queda.

178. On the following day the 15th I sent a
Message to the Rajah of Ligor, that his conduct on
the preceding night would ruin him in the estimation
of my Government, and that at our next conference




[285]

with the Ministers I should not hesitate to expose the
whole of his proceedings at Queda.

179, At 8 P.M. of the 16th we again proceeded
to the Palace of Prince Krom Meun Surin where in
addition to the Ministers and Officers whom we saw
on the 14th the fifth Minister of State, Chow Phya
Yomerat, and a Chief of Lno were present. The 6th
Minister, Chow Phya Potithep, is said to be labouring
under severe sickness. 1 was first informed, that
the Ministers had drawn up an article respecting the
Malayan States, which they wished to substitute in
liew of the Clause T had proposed on the preceding
Night. Upon rveading this Article, I found it most
objectionable, assuming on the part of Siam the most
arrogant pretensions over the Malayan States, among
other points, that those States should not treat Siam
with disrespect. I ridiculed this expression, asked who
was to decide what (lm Siamese chose to conslder as
Ii and decidedly opposed the i of
the Article. The rest of the Treaty was then read,
and further additions and alterations were proposed
by me, the nature of which are shown in the Notes
amexed to No. 33.

180. The Rajahi of Ligor on this night avoided
speaking himself as much as possible, but we
repeatedly saw him prompting the Prah Klang. I
availed myself of opportunities for pointing out to
the Ministers in very strong terms, the serious collision
His Highness had nearly brought on with the British
Government, by refusing to apprise Mr Maingy, when
deputed by the Honorable the Governor of Penang to
enquire, the object of the armament which had been
collected at Queda, and the mischievous proceedings of
his Emissaries at Penang, where the name and
character of the Raja of Ligor, I stated, I was sorry to
declare, were held in such terror by the Native and
such abh by the Enropean inhabi that T
feared the relations between Penang and Queda could
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never bo placed upon a quict and satisfactory footing,
so long as His Highness or any of his family governed
the territory of Quedn. I urged the Ministers to
recommend to His Majesty to appoint some Malayan
Chief to rule Queds, if the Ex King could not ba
restored. The Raja of Ligor seemed to feel keenly
the severity of my animadversions. The Ministers
declared, that His Majesty would send persons to
enquire of the principal Inhabitants of Queds, whom
they would prefer for their fature Governor, in lieu of
the Ex King. I recommended that the Officers
deputed to make this enquiry at Queda, should be sent;
vill Penang and not via Ligor. 1 pressed the Ministers
again to restore our Ally the Ex King, and it was not
until the discussion became angry on both sides, and T
was satisfied of the impolicy of further perseverance
that I yielded the point, upon condition that certain
facilities should be stipulated in the Treaty to be
given to the Trade and intercourse between Penang
and Queds, and that His Majesty of Siam should
make such an arrangement with respect to the future
Government of Queda, as to preclude all chance of
collision or disturbance between that Country and
Penang. The Prah Klang now dezlared to me, that
if 1 would only desist from pressing the Ministers
Tespecting Queda, every other proposition which 1 had
made to them respecting a free Trade at Bangkok,
and even the payment of 1500 Ticals per fathom of
breadth upon our Vessels, should be acceded to.

181. I was then asked, in what language the
Treaty should be written, and upon my proposing
Siamese aud English, the Prah Klang declared that
none of the Ministers would know what I might
write in English. A very unpleasant distrust and
fear against the British Government, presuming that
it might hereafter put bl iong.
upon auny part of the Treaty, was now shown. I
consented however, and my consent pleased the
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Ministers much, that the Treaty should be written out
in the Malayan as well as the Siamese and English
Languages. We did not return home again until 3
d'clock in the morning. It was settled that T should
on a future day call upon the Prah Klang to draw up
in concert with him, the Port Regulations, which
shall hereafter apply to English Vessels and Merchants,
and the Minister promised to arrange these in the
manner that would be most consonant to our wishes,

182. 1 am bound to declare, that nothing could
be more Princely and Gentlemanly than the conduct
of Krom Meun Surin at both these conferences. He
showed an intelligence and moderation that surprised
us all.  He repeatedly saw and acknowledged the
fairness and justice of a proposition made by me, when
no other Siamese in the room could apprehend it ; and

h the di ion was b ing irritating, he
strove to restore all parties to reason and quiet.

183. On the 17th May the Prah Klang procsed-
ed to Paknam to reccive an Envoy who has arrived
from Cochin China with certain Siamese that had
been shipwrecked off that Country. We are told
that the Envoy is not to be admitted to the Capital,
ond that the Prah Klang is to dismiss him from
Paknam. Various reasons are given for the Envoy
not being admitted to the Capital, among others,
jealousy and suspicion of our opening any interconrse
with him,

184. On the 18th May I prepared to be forwarded,
by the Ship Hunter and through the Resident of Singa-
pore, a Dispatch to the address of the Honhle. the
Governor of Prince of Wales Island, containing a
Duplicate of the Papers which were transmitted by the
American Ship Liverpool Packet, and a continiati
of my Journal with its Appendix from the 1st to the
present date.

(Signe1) H. BURNEY Captain
Envoy to the Court of Siam.
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No. 28.

LIST of the Port and Anchorage Duties at Bangkok upon the
Ship Hunter, Captain Johnson, of 235 Tons burthen, as delivered
Dy the Minister, Chow Pya Prah Klang, to Captain Burney Envoy to

the Court of Siam. Bangkok, 1st May 1826.
; @ Total
'g E&' of  Total.
£ 7 each

Ox account o¥ His Masesty Tue Kixa or
Sram.

Measurement Duty at 80 Ticals per
Siamese Fathom, the Hunter measur-

ing 4 Fathoms in breadth ... ... 820—
For a Pass for Departure ... L. 62—
Do. for Admission (to the Capital) ... 512—

O Accoust oF THE OFFICERS OF THE
Kixg.

Chow Pya Kosa Thibody (Prah Klang)

for the Vessel's arrival and departure ... 80—
Pya Phi Phut Kosa (his deputy) for
Do. Do. e 24—

Pya Chula (His Mn)est)s Memlmnt)
for Passes for Admission and De-
parture aus

Imang Sura Sa Khon (Port Ln])tnm)
for Do. Do s T

Khun Radsithi (Pya (_huhs bou und
His Majesty’s Mercantile Clerk)

For Passes for Admission and Departure 12,
For Superintending Weighing ... 6.
For Superintending Sales and Purchases 3.
— 21—
Four Interpreters v 1@l
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= g Total
§ & of Total
B Z  each.
Bronght over ... 1,354.—
Luang Keo Ayat (Promat, a natural
brother of the Prah Klang's)
For keeping the Accounts 6.
For Superintending  Sales and
Purchases 3
Khun Wisoot Sa Khon for Superin-
tending the Interpreters e 120-
Clerk of the Seals (Samian Tra) for
5 Notes at 2 Ticals 2 Slings each ... R
Clerk Wen for 11 Notes. at Do. Do. L2 2
Pya Chula’s Clerk for 11 Do. at Do. Do, . 27.2
Luang Sura Sa Khon or Port Captains
Clerk, at Do. Do, ... e 202
Radsithi’s Clerk for 11 Notes at 1 Tical
2 Slings each, .. .. .. .. 16.2
Four Interperters e 1602
Clerk of the Godowns, who sat and
Superintended 3 Accounts ... s Ad=
Tuang Sunowarat (Radsithi's brother )
and Luang Kopitan, and Sebastian, F
an Interperter o 18-
Superintending  Clerks, § Men, at 3
Ticals each ... .. .. . . 2h-
Provisions supplied to all the Clerks,
24 Men at 4 Ticals each ... e 96 -
460.-
ON ACCOUNT OF THE OFFICERS OF THE — 1,814~
WaNG-xa.
Clerk of the Seals for 4 Notes at 1 Tical
1 Sling cach 5. -
Clerk Wen for 5 Notes at 1 Tical
1 Sling each G s g e O
Clerk Luang Kalujee for 5 Notes at
1 Tical 1 Sling each SR T
Prah Surah Prassa's or Beneditto’s,
Wang-na's Port-Captain's Clerk, at
1 Tical 1 Sling each e 61
Clerk Khun Noochit for 5 Notes at
8 Slings 8,8
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5 g Total
8 & of Total
& @ each.
Brought over ... 1.814.—
Interpreter Thow Khun Noochit 3.8
Clerk Khun Siayat, who sat 2 Accounts
at 1 Tical each & e Bo=
Clerk of the Godowns, who sat and
superintended 2 Accounts at 2 Ticals
2 Blings each, R
Provisions for the Clerks, 6 Mn,n, at
4 Ticals each, e 240~
62, 1
—_— 62.1

Total of the Charges at Bangkok, Ticals ... ... 1,876. 1

List of the established Charges upon a Vessel
at the Guard Houses below Bangkok.

PAKNAM.

ON ACCOUNT OF THE GOVERNOR.

1 Shawl, or in Money
9 Yards of Chintz, or Ditto

2 Pieces of Red Cotton Cloth, or Dmo. . 8-
‘Wide Sarongs to the value of ore Baf=
Narrow Ditto to the value of ... 1
103. 1
ON ACCOUNT OF THE OFFICERS,

Passes for admission and depnrtnre,

at 12 Ticals each ... e 24, —
8 Pieces of Chintz, or in money e 8 -

Pilotage, i e e 24—
Inspecting Officers ... wesy 3

Charge of the Guns, ...
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1 g Total
:5 = of  Total,
Gl

Brought over ... 168.1 1,876.1

PAKLAAT.

UroN ARRIVAL.

Measurement Charge 4. -
8 Pieces of Chintz, or in money, 8. -
UroN Derarrung,

Measurement Charge e A=
Inspecting Officers 2. -
For taking a Copy of the Port Clearance

received at Bangkol ) e =2

— 18.2
——— 1868
2,068.-

Grand Total, Ticals... ... ... ...

A True Translation from the Original List
(Signed) H. BURNEY Captain
Envoy to the Court of Siam.
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NOTES.

It should always be remembered that besides the
above, Custom Duties were charged upon the Cargoes
of the Hunter. A general Import Duty of 8 per
Cent, and au Export Duty, varying from 20 to 50
per Cent.

Only 2 Clerks and 1 Weighman actually attended,
and their attendance was limited to 3 hours a day,
and most irregularly. They applied for remuneration
and food to Mr. Hunter, declaring that no portion of
the charges made by the Prah Klang on such account
was ever received by them. Upon enquiry, the Prah
Klang stated that these Charges had been levied for
a Century past, and that whether a man performed
the service described, or received the Amount charged
on his account, is immaterial, ns the ancient Customs
of the Country direct, the Charges to be set down in
the manner detailed in this Account. The mistake
cliarging for Interpreters fwice was ingeniously ex-
plained, namely, that the said Charges was for the
Clerks belonging to the Interpreters; Lut as the
Interpreters have no such Assistants, the money would

he given to themselves. Neither the King's nor the
Wang-na’s Port Captain is allowed a Clerk, and
Radsithi is Pya Chulas Clerk, Mr. Hunter never
saw, nor until he was shewn this List, did he ever
Lear of the numerous *Notes” for which his Vessel is
charged. The Prah Klang explained, that every
intelligence notifying the arrival or departure of a
Vessel, and every order respecting her Cargo are put
down in writing, for the information of the different
Officers, by their Ulerks, who are authorized to charge
for the receipt as well as the transmission of a Note.
As no portion of the Cargoesof the Hunter was sold
to or purchased from the Prah Klang, the “Clerks of
the Godowns™ were not employed, yet they are included
in this List for superintending Accounts which never
existed. Great trouble is always given to the foreign
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Merchants at Bangkok by the Prah Klang's Clerks
and Weiglmen, who seldom attend beforel2 and retire
always before 5. Without their joint presence a Vessel
cannot receive her Cargo, and the foreign Merchant
has daily the trouble of going himself in search of
one of the two and is oftenat a stand through the
abseuce of both Parties. Mr. Hunter was refused a
detailed List of the Port and Anchorage Charges,
but was obliged to pay at once san Amount of 1,876
Ticals at Bangkok, and enly Sixty five Ticals ab
Paknam.  Upon pointing out to the Prah Klang, that
e above sums were not in accordance with this List
ch was subsequently given to me, nor with the
Lists of the Port Charges levied upon the Brig Shannon
and Siren, he stated that the difference had been
remitted in favor of Mr. Hunter, and that this List
having been prepared under his own superintendence
is more correct than those which were formerly given,
The Officers of the Prah Klang's Department called
upon Mr. Hunter to pay o fee of 22 Ticals, upon each
Junk which was employed to carry a residue of the
Hunter’s Cargo outside of the Bar, but on my appealing
1o the Minister and reminding him that the King had
abolished this Fee upon my representation, the charge
was not persisted in. . When 1 informed the Minister
that a publication in other Countries of this List of
the Port Charges at Bangkok, would bring much
disgrace upon Siam, he replied that the Document
had been given for my private information, and
that he did not sce any necessity for publishing it.

The American Ship Liverpool Packet, carried
away a Cargo of 6,000 Peculs of Sugar. She brought
Spanish Dollars only, and was charged for Port and
Anchorage Dues 1082 Dollars, and for the Sugar 6
Dollars per Pecul including the Export Duty, besides
au additional Sum at the rate of 12 Dollars per
Hundred Peculs for 4,300 Peculs of the Sugar, which
5 Junks couveyed to her outside of the Bar. Her
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burthen is 400 Tous, and breadth according to Siamese
Measurement 4§ Fathoms,

(Signed) H. BURNEY Coptain
Envoy to the Court of Siam.
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No. 30.

Bangkak 9th May 1826,
MEMORIAL from Captain H. Burney Envoy
to the Court of Siam to the Ministers of the King of
Siam.

Captain Burney has to apprize the Ministers of
Siam that Mr. Leal has brought dispatches from the
Inglish Governors of Tavoy and Martaban desiring
Captain Burney to convey the following information
to the Court of Siam.

Captain Fenwick, after the fullest enquiry, now
finds that the Siamese Detachments, last year, carried
away 1,000 Pegu Inhabitants from several of the
districts of Martaban, which have been ceded to the
British Government. These Men having now become
British Subjects, Captain Fenwick, who has heard
much of the benevolence and generosity of the King
of Siam, solicits His Majesty will allow them, before
the rainy Season arrives, to return to their mourning
friends and relatives, who are daily complaining to
Captain Fenwick on the subject.

Mr. Maingy has rveleased and sent back to
Chimpohun with every care and kindness, the whole
of the Siamese Prisoners, 109 Persons, who were
detained at Mergui, but in eonsequence of the Ministers
of Siam having declined to forward their orders to
the Pya of Chimpohun through Mr. Maingy, as Cap-
tain Burney proposed, much misapprehension and bad
feeling have been caused. When Mr. Leal proceeded
to Chimpohun from Mergui the new Pya declared
that all the Burmess Prisoners had been sent back
some days before. But how were these British
Subjects sent back? In so cruel and circuitous a
manner as to justify indeed the apprehensions of the
Pya of Chimpohun, as stated in his Letter to Mr.
Maingy, that many of them would not reach
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their destination.  Only 53 Men have reached Mergui,
and they state that they asked Pya Kray to send them in
Boats viit Paknam (¢ Pakchan), or by some short Route,
but that they were sent up to Bangnaram with scarcely
any food, and in the most cruel manner. Is this the
manner in which Pya Kray observes the benevolent
onlers of the King of Siam? The Prisoners from
Chimpohun  further declare, that Pya Kray has
brought up with him to Bangkok 250 of the Prisoners,
whom he refused to send back to Mergui when
the orders for releasing the whole of them arrived,
and that there are still 200 Men detained at Chim-
pohun, If what these Burmese say e true, evil will
befall some one.  The English Officers at Mergui and
Tavoy do not believe that Pya Chimpohun has released
the whole of the Prisoners whom the King of Siam
ordered him to release, and Captain Burney knows
that those Officers will soon take steps to ascertain
how far their suspicions are trae.  All this misunder-

standing has cccurred from  theMinisters of Siam
having refused to acceds to Captain Burne
position that their Letter to the Pya of Chimpohun
should be sent through the (m\urm-n of Mergui, in
order that the latter might have an opportunity of
sending an Officer to receive proper Charge of the
Prisoners at Chimpohun. The Letter from the Chow
Pya Maha Sana, expressly divected him to release
the whole of the Burmese Prisoners at Chimpohun
and to suffer them to return home by whatever Route
they might please. By Paknam the passage from
Chimpohun to Mergui is only seven days, and by
Bangnaram upwards of a Month. Captain Burney will
now appeal to His Majesty the King of Siam to give
onlers for a strict enquiry to be made into this Affair,
and for a complete List of the whole of the Pegu
and Burmese Prisoners belonging to the English to
bs prepared.  Captain Burney need not acquaint
the Ministers of Siam, that the English only apply
for their own, when they request the whole of these
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Prisoners to be immediately returned. No real
friendship can possibly exist between the English and
Siamese, 0 long ns the latter detain the Subjects
of the former.

Captain Burney has also received Letters from
Penang and Tavoy respecting 5 or 6 Christians,
Natives of Calcutts, whom a Siamese dotachment
apprehended off the Coast of Tavoy and brought to
Baugkok 4 or 5 years ago. It appears, that the
Burmese forced these Christians and the Veasel
belonging to them into their service, Captain
Bumey has heard that His Highness the Wang-na
has treated these poor Christian Prisoners with
great indulgence and kindness; but as the Burmess
can mever again do any injury to Siam, or force
such Native Christians into their service, and as these
Men are subjects of the British Government, Captain
Burney solicits His Highness the King of Siam will
be graciously pleased to order them to be released,
and to be allowed to return to their Native Country
of Bengal.

(Signed) HENRY BURNEY Captain,
Envoy to the Court of Siam.
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No. 31.
Bangkok, 13th May 1820.

MEMORIAL submitted to the Ministers of the
King of Siam by Captain H. Burney Envoy to the
Court of Siam.

The Mission Brig Guardian having now returned,
Captain Burney trusts the Ministers are fully satisfied,
that he did not dispatch her for any purpose hostilo
to Siam. Captain Burney has repeatedly perused
the Answer which the Ministers returned to his last
Memorial, and he regrets to say that that Answer
is caleulated to detract from the reputation of the
Siamese Ministers. The King of Siam will hereafter
be able to judge, how truly Captain Burney desires
to establish friendly relations between the English
and the Siamese. But Captain Burney now begs
that Ministers will again carefully examine the Draft
of the Treaty which he presented to them, and in
which he cannot discover anything contrary to the
established Customs of Siam, but much calculated to
exalt the name and character of the King of Siam.

The English admit that certain Malayan States
have been accustomed to present Gold and Silver
Flowers to Siam in token of respect, friendship and
awe because Siam is powerful and those States are
small and require protection. But the English cannot
admit, that those Malayan States are subject to
Siam in the same manner as her own Provinces of
Ligor and Singora. Their Government, Laws and
Customs are widely different from those of Siam.
Those States can never bs considered what the
Ministers in their reply to Captain Burney consider
them, as Possessions of Siam to the same extent as
Prince of Wales Island is a possession of the English,
If Siam enters into a War, those States it is true,
cannot join her enemy, but then they are at full
liberty to assist Siam or not, as they please. The
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English, Captain Burney believes, will not admit the
Siamese to invade or oppress the States of Tringano
and Calantan, and in order to prevent any fature
misunderstanding on this point, the English desira
the Siamese to join with them in engaging that the
‘Troops and subjects of neither party shall attack or
invade those States, or occapy them in any manner.
The English are quite willing to engage that such
Malayan States as have been accustomed from remote
times, to present triennially the Gold and Silver Flowers
to Siam shall continue, without obstruction, to submit
that token of respect to the King of Siam, and Captain
Burney has added to the 2d Article of the Draft of
Treaty, a Clause providing for the continuance of this
custom in favor of Siam. Captain Burney has lately
heard that the Court of Siam has deputed a Person, com-
monly known by the name of Nakhoda Ullee, to
Tringano, and Captain Burney fears that as this
person was deputed without any friendly communication
being first made to him, the English will believe that
Nakhoda Ulleo has been deputed to make mischief at
Tringano between the English and Siamese,

With respect to Queda, while the Ministers
request Captain Burney to drop the subject, he is
urged by Letters, which the Brig Guardian has just
brought up to represent still more forcibly to the King
of Siam, that His Majesty had much better permit in
a friendly manner the return of the King of Quedal
and his people to their Country. Formerly, few or
no disputes occurred between the Farmers of the
Revenue in Queda and the Inhabitants of Penang.
But of late such disputes are frequent. The Farmer at
Qualla Muda committed aggressions on two former
occasions, when Captain Burney visited and represent-
ed the matter to Pho-Seng the Raja of Ligor’s Son at
Queda. Captain Burney now hears, that the Farmer
at Qualla Muda has again become troublesome, seizing
the property and Boats belonging to British Subjects
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upon fiivolous pretences, and endangering the friend-
ship between the Siamese and English. The English
cannot submit to such interruptions to their Trade
with the interior of Queda. The Raja of Ligor. who
engaged by a solemn Treaty ratified by the Right
Honorable the Governor General, to assist Captain
Burney to cffect the restoration of the King of Queda,
will, in the event of the measure not being ascom-
plished, be viewed with such distrust as to precluds
for a long time the establishment of a friendly
intercourse between his Followers in Queda and the
Inhabitants of Prince of Wales Island. The English
do not engage in Treaties for nothing. The Siamess
must now come to some determination with respect
to the Affairs of Queda, if they desire not to engage
in any further disputes or discussions on this subject
with the English. The Right Honorable the Governor
General of British India, in the Address which
Captain Burncy had the honor to present from his
Lordship to the King of Siam, urges the necessi
for His Majesty’s enlightened mind to suggest some
arrangement, by the adoption of which the relations
between the Englisli Government of Prince of Wales
Island, and the Sinmese Governors of Ligor, Singora
and Merdelong may be placed beyond all risk of
future Collision and  disturbance. This passage
alludes to the larsh proceedings of those Siamese
Governors towards the People and Kingdom of Queda,
and Captain Burney is now bound to ascertain what
plan His Majesty proposes to adopt with respect
to that Country, in order to secure between it
and  Prince of Wales Island, and between the
English and Siameso Governors in the neigh-
bourhood, a more friendly intercourse and trade,
and a more cordial understanding than what can
possibly subsist under the present unsettled and
unsatisfoctory state of affairs, Captain Burney will
add, if the King of Siam will permit the Rajah of
Queda and his people to return to their homes,
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Captain Burney will engage that the Raja of Queda
shall solicit the forgiveness of His Majesty, and
tender any compliment, or make any just atonement
which the King may require. Aund Captain Burney
will even engage to increase by a Sum of One or
Two Thousand Dollars, the offered annual stipend to
be paid to Siam by Queda. If this Affaiv can be
settled according to the plan here pointed out, not
only friendship between the English and Siamese,
but the glory and reputation of His Majesty the
King of Siam, will be much augmented,

Captain Burney much regrets to state, that of late,
trade at Bangkok, has been even more oppressed
than it was, The Commander of the American Vessel
declared to the Chow Pya Prah Klang, that Le would
not return to this Port, were he offered two full
Cargoes gratis, and that he will publish the misconduct:
of the Siamese Officers in every Country. Mr. Hunter
also proposes to quit Sinm, unless the Ministers
conclude some Commercial Treaty with the English.
Foreign Merchants generally speak well of Chow
Pya Prah Klang and Pya Phi Plut Kosa, and declare
that their petty Officers impose all the trouble and
vesation.  Chow Pya Prah Klang issues proper
orders, but the Petty Officers only answer ““Kho-rap”,
without paying the slightest attention to his orders,
Mr. Hunter was last week obliged to apply himself
for four successive days for a Pass for a Cargo Junk,
and even after it was obtained, the Officers at Paklaat
stopped the Junk for two days for a fee, which His
Majesty had, upon Captain Burney’s representation
privately ordered to be abolished.

The Ministers in their Letter acquaint Captain
Burney that when foreign Merchants have any
complaints, they must first go, and represent the
same to Pya Chula and Khun Radsithi. Whether
these two Officers are really good or bad men Captain
Burney does not know, but he has heard from every



[302]

Merchant and Commander of English and American
Vessels, that Pya Chula, Khun Radsithi and Luang
Keo Ayat give infinite trouble and vexation, and do
all the mischief that prevents foreign Vessels from
revisiting Bangkok. Captain Burney thereforo sulinits
to his Majesty the expediency of ordering theso
Officers to conduct the Duties annexed to their
situations with more kindness and satisfaction to the
foreign Merchant, and with more credit to them-
selves.

Captain Burney has received from the Chow Pya
Prah Klang a detailed List of the Port and Anchorago
Charges levied upon the Ship Hunter, and he is
really unwilling to send a Copy of this Document to
other Countries, where it will be sure of bringing
much disgrace upon Siam.

In this List many Clerks, Godown Koepers,
Weighmen, Letters, Interpreters and their Clerks,
a quantity of provisions for the Clerks, and about
10 Passes are charged for; while Mr, Hunter never
saw more than two Clerks and one Weighman, and
they attended for scarcely 4 hours a day, and he
was often obliged to go and call them himself.
Captain Burney is extremely anxious to give satis-
faction to His Majesty the King of Siam; but after
seeing this List, how can he agres to increase the
Offer which he formerly made of 1,500 Ticals per
Fathom of breadth for each English Vessel ? Captain
Burney sees that a small portion of the Charges yoes
to the King, while a large portion is kept, by Petty
Officers, by Clerks, Godown Clerks, Weighmen and
Clerks of the Interpreters ; persons whom the English
Merchant never sees. Captain Burney however has
expunged from the 5th Article of the Schedule of
Regulations, the Clause proposing that English Vessels
coming to Bangkok a second, third or fourth time
in the same year should at such times be charged
at the rate of 1,000 Ticals only per Fathom of breadth,
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as the Officers of the Chow Pya Prah Klang's
Department do not appear to comprehend the manner
in which Vessels are encouraged in every other
Port to return to it as often as possible. Captain
Burney has added to the 11th Article of the Schednlo
of Regulations a Clause stipulating that English
Merchants, who visit Bangkok, shall be permited to
send, if they please, to Lakhon Chaisi, Bamplasoy
and other Places where Sugar is manufactured, in
order to purchase there any Supplies of that Article
which they may require. And Captain Burey has
inserted a 12th Article in these Regulations, providing
that British Subjects desitons of engaging in Ship
building in the Territories of Siam, shall be afforded
every facility and indulgence and shall not be
required to pay additional Duties, Fees, or other
Charges. Captain Burney can assure the Ministers,
that in no manner could the employment of British
Capital and Enterprize prove so beneficial to Siam,
as well as to the British Merchant, as in Ship-building,
for which the Territories of His Majesty the King
of Siam possess such great resonrces and advantages.

(Signed) H. BURNEY Captain
Envoy to the Court of Siam.
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No. 32.

Bangkak, 19th Apuil 1520,
FIRST DRAFT of o TREATY proposed by the
Ministers of the King of Siam to Captain Burnoy,
Envoy to the Court of Siam.

His Majesty the King of Siam. who ix most
exalted, His Highness the Wang-ua, and their Ex-
cellencies the great Minist
Kingdom of Siam ; The Gove
of Bengal, and other great Officers on the part of the
Country of the English frame a Treaty together with
truth and sincerity, in order that the Siamese and
English Nations may become great iends, and
that their hearts may be truly joined in love and
affection.  The Government of Siam frames One Copy
of the Treaty for the purpose of being sent and
kept in the Comntry of Europe, and for the full
information of every Country subject' to Europe.
The Seals of the Kingdom, of His Majesty the King
of Siam, and of their BExcellencies the Ministers
will he put to this Copy to anthenticate it. The
Country of the English frames another Copy of the
Treaty for the purpose of being kept in Siam, and
for the information of every Country subject to Siam.
The Seals of the Governor of Europe, the Governor
of Bengal, and the other great English Officers will
bo put to this Copy to authenticate it, establishing
thus o Treaty of Friendship and Commerce between
both Nations,

rs on the part of the

or of Earope, iovernor

Article 1st, The English and Siamese will form
friendship with truth and sincerity. The Siamese
shall not think of deing any thing that may encroacl
in any manner upon the English. The English shall
not think of doing any thing that may encroach in
any manner upon the Siamese.

Article 24, With respect to the whole of the
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Countrics subject to the English, the Siamese shall
not go and encroach upon, attack, invade, or seize
any of them, or any of the Boundaries belonging to
the English. The English shall settle, acconding to
the Customs of the English, every matter that they
please. With respect to the whole of the Countries
subject to the Siamese, the English shall not go and
encroach upon, attack, invade, or seize any of them,
or any of the Boundaries belonging to the Sinmese.
The Siamese shall settle, according to the Customs
of the Siamese, every matter that they please,

Article 3d. If any Country subject to the Eng-
lish commit aggression agninst the Country of the
Siamese, the Siamese shall not go and do any thing
against such Country; but shall Rest report to the
English, who shall undertake a sincere and just
examination, and if wrong punish according to the
offence.  If any Country subject to the Siamese
commit aggression against the English, the English
shall not go and do any thing against such Country ;
but shall fiest report to the Country of the Siamese.
The Siamese shall undertake n just and sincers
examination and if wrong the Siamese shall punish
according to the offence,

Article 4th.  All the Countries subject to Siam
and all the Countries subject to Burope shall be
friends together. The Government of Siam shall not
Jook to the small Provinees, but hall look for friend-
ship to the Countries of Europe and Bengal more
than to other places. The Countries of Europe and
Bengal shall not look to the small Provinces, but
shall Jook for friendship to the Government of Siam
more than to other places.

Article bth.  If a Merchant of the English Nation
come to trado in Siam or in any Province subject
to Siam, where he was formerly accustomed to go
and trade, and if he follow the Customs of the
Siamese Country, the Siamese shall aid, protect and
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let him sell and buy with facility and afford succour,
defence and redress against Pirates, Robbers and bad
Men. If a Merchant of the Siamese Nation go and
trade in the Country of the English or in any
Province subject to the English, where he was formerly
accustomed to go and trade, and if he follow the
Customs of the English Country, the English shall
aid, protect and let him sell and buy with facility
and afford succour, defence and redress against Pirates,
Robbers and bad Men.

Article 6th. If a Merchant, whether of the
Siamese or English Nation go to trade with any
Province where he was unaccustomed to go and trade,
he shall go and seek the Governor of such Country
on either side; if the Governor do not allow him
to trade, he shall not go again to trade in
such Country. If the Governor of the Country
grant him permission to trade ; then he shall go and
trade as he pleases, and the Governar of the Country
shall aid, protect and let him sell and buy with facility.

Article 7th.  If a Merchant whether of the
Siamese or English Nation go and sell and buy in
the Country of the English, or in any Province
subject to tho English, or go and sell and buy in
Siam, or in any Province subject to Siam, he shall
pay the Duties upon Commerce, and follow the
Customs of the Country on either side. 1f the
Siamese or English Merchant have any Suit or
Complaint whatever, he shall complain to the Siamese
or English Offizars of Justice, who will settle or
redress the same accorling to the Laws of the
Country on either side. If the Siamese or English
Merchant sell or buy without enquiring whether
the person who buys or sells is a bad or good man, and
if he meet with a bad man, who takes the property and
conceals himself or runs away; and if the Officers of
Justice search and cannot apprehend the person, the
Merchant shall not find fault with the Siamese or
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English Officers, becauso the fault will be with the
Merchant himself.

Article 8th, If a Merchant, whether belonging
to the Siamese or English Nations, go and buy and
sell in an English or Siamese Country and require
Godowns and  Houses or desire to remain and hire
Ciodowns and Houses in which to place his Merchandize,
if the Great Men and Officers of the Siamese or
English Nations, shall assist, see and take care and
not let the people of the Country oppress the
Merchant, and not let the Merchant oppress  the
people of the Country, If the Merchant desire to put
his property on board of a Boat, Sloop or Ship and
ask permisssion to return to his Country at any time,
he shall be allowed to return with facility.

Asticle 9th.  If a Merchant desire to go and
trade in any Country, whether belonging to the
English or to the Siamese, and if any thing happens
to himself or to his Boat, Ship or Junk, whether
belonging to the English or to the Siamese, the
English or Siamese Offiers shall aid and assist wntil
it is set right. Tf a Sloop, Ship, Boat or Junk
whether belonging to the Siamese or to the English
is wrecked in any Country, the Siamese or English
shall collect the property contained in the Ship,
Boat or Junk, and whatever property is wrecked the
Siamese or English Officers shall take an Inventory
of the same, and restore it to the Commander of the
Sloop, Ship, Boat or Junk, who shall recompense
those who saved the property according to what may
be just and proper.

Article 10th, If the Government of Siam desire
npon any occasion to depute an Envoy to Europe or
Bengal, the English shall receive him in a proper
manner and  with consideration. If the English
desire upon any occasion to depute an Envoy to Siam,
the Siamese shall receive him in a proper manner and
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with consideration.  Ifthe Siamese Envoy who may
visit the English Country, or the English Envey who
visits Siam, shall desive to speak upon any subject,
he shall do 5o in the manner that may be most consis-
tentwith the great friendship subsisting between the
two Countries.  Ho shall not press any subject more
than what may be proper, nor speak ill of any of the
Sinmese or English Officers, whetler grent or little
Men, 50 as to destroy the road of friendship.  Hach
party shall speak well, so that the road of friendship
may be prolonged, increased, and become Wlessed.

Article 11th.  Following the Custom of Siam
with respect to all Foreigners coming to trade, and the
ancient Laws of the Kingdom, Boats, Junks, Sloops
and Ships that desive to come and teade at Bangkok
must first anchor outsido of the Bar, and the Comman-
der must send a person to come and make a report to
the Governor of Paknam, stating the Country whence,
and for what purpose the foreigner is come, if it is to
trade he must veport the same and must furnish a List
of the Crew, of the Guns and Fire Arms, and of the
Towder, Shot,

ears and Swords, and an Account of
the whole of the Cargo in the Ship.  The Governor of
Paknam shall then send an Officer, Pilot and Tuter-
pretes to go in and bring in the Vessel, which must
auchor below the Chowkey that is the appainted place.
The Officers shall go and examine the Vessel thoroughly,
and then the Governor of Paknam shall transmit &
report to His Majesty the King of Siam whose Seal
only shall allow the Vessel to come up to Bangkok.
The Guns, Powder and Shot shall be deposited at
Paknam. Then the Governor of Paknam shall suffer
the foreign Vessel to ascend to Bangkok. When the
Vessel has arrived and anchored, the Officers, shall go
and examine her and measure her breadth.  If the Mer-
chant desire to sell or buy or to load any Cargo, he shall
tell the proper Officers who shall see and know every
thing. The Officers shall levy the established Import
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and Export Duties, and Port and Anchorage Duties
according to the size of the Vessel and quantity of’
her Cargo. When the Merchant has sold and bought
and paid all his Duties and desires to return, he must
apply for a Port Clearance to the Chow Pya Prah
Klang, and when he has received the same the Vessat
will be able to go down.  When it returns to Paknam
it must stop, and anchor opposite to the Chokey and
take the Port Clearance to the Governor of Paknam.
After the Officers have gone and examined the Vessel,
the Guns, Powder, and Shot may be received and
embarked, and then the Vessel may sail. Al foreign
Vessels must conform to every one of theso Rules and
then they may come and trade with facility. If the
Commander of any Vessel coming to trade at Bangkok
shall not observe these Rules of the Country, he shall
be considered as a bad man who treats the Country
with disrespect, and the Officers shall punish him
according to Law. Ifa European or Asiatic Mer-
chant under English Colours shall come to trade i
Siam he must follow what are the Customs of Siam
respecting every Vessel, If a Sinmese Merchant shall
ko and trade in an English Country, he shall follow
what are the Customs of the English with respect to
every Vessol. And this, Treaty consisting of thess
11 Articles let all the great and small Officers of the
Siamese "and English Nations and every great and
small Province hear and receive as a Treaty that
is concluded,

Translated literally from the Siamese

(Signed) H. BURNEY Captain
Envoy to the Court of Siam.
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No. 33.
SECOND DRAFT of u Treaty proposed by the Ministersof the
King of Siam to Captain Burney, Euvoy from the Right Honorabls

the Governor Geneml,

Bangkok, 17th May 1826,

The Nutes show the additions aml alterations introduced duving

Captain Burey’s Conforences
of the Tfth and 16th May.
Treaty.

His Majesty the King of Siam,
His Highness the Wang-ua, their
Bxeellencies the Ministers, on
the part of Siam; His Majesty
the King of England, the Gov-
crnor General and  other great
Men of Bengal, on the part of
the English, frame a Treaty
together with truth and sincerity.
‘The Siamese Government frames
ane Copy of the Treaty, in order
that it may be taken to the
English Government, and that
every Country subject to the
English may hecome fully in-
formed. The Seals of their Ex-
cellencies  the Ministers, and
great Men will authenticate it.
The English Government frames

one Copy of the Treaty, in order
that it may be placed at Bang-
kok, and that every Country
subject to the Siamese may
become fully informed.  The
Seals of the Governor General of
Bengal and great Men of the
inglish will authenticate it :
Thus establishing a Treaty of
Friendship and Commerce be-
tween both Nations.

with the

Ministers on the Nights

Notes.

L had no ditlieulty in having
the name of the Honorable Hast
India Company substituted for
that of the King ot England, and
the Ministers aceeded  to my
request, that the King of Siam's
Seal alzo shall authenticate the
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Treaty.

Article 1st. The English and
the Siamese shall be Friends with
truth, sincerity and  candonr.
The Siamese must not think evil,
50 as to encroach upon, or pre-
Judice the English, The English
must not think evil, so as to en-
croach
Siamese,

upon or  prejudice the
With respect to all
Countries subject to the English,
the Siamese shall not o and en-
croach upon, attack or seizs any
of them, or the Boundavies be-
longing to the English. The
English shall settle, according to
the Customs of the English, every
matter the English desive.  With
respect to all Countries subject
to the Siamesc, the English
shall not go and encroach upon,
attack or seize any of them or the
Boundaries  belonging  to the

Siamese. The Siamese shall settle
according to the Customs of the
Siamese, every matter the Siamese
desire,

Atticle 2. If any Country
subject to the English do any
thing that offends the Country of
the Siamese, the Siamese shall
not go and injure such Country,
but shall first report the matter
to the English, who will under-
take a true and sincers investiga-
tion, and if the fault be on the
part of the English, the English
will punish according to the of-

Notes.

I stated that 1had not been
deputed to Siam to sk permis-
sion for the English to settlo
every matter in their own Coun-
try according to their own Cus-

toms.  This Clause with respect:
to each Nation, the Ministers
agreed to expunge, observing

that it was inserted only to
vender the Article more

1 proposed, and the Ministers
acquiesced, that a Clause should
be added to this Article, declar-
ing that if any Siamese or
lish Country collect at any time
# Force by land or water, it shall
declare the object of such Force,
if demanded by the Country in
its immediate vicinity, And hero
I took oceasion to let the Minis-
ters fully understand, the serious
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Treaty.
fence, 1f any Country subject to
the Siamese do any thing that
offends the English, the English
shall not go and injure such
Country, but shall first report the
matter to the Country of the
Siamese, who will undertake a
true and sincere investigation,
and if the fault be on the part of
the Siamese, the Siamese will
punish according to the Offence.

Article 3d.  If any Country or
Boundary belonging to the Siam-
ese or English, produce Mines of
Gold, Silver, Lead, Copper or
Iron ; if the Place belongs to the
English, the Siamese shall not
intrude into, seize or work such
property belonging to the Eng-
lish. Trees or any Fruits what-
ever, that may be good for sell-
ing or buying or for any other
purpose, growing in any place or
Doundary belonging to the Eng-
lish, the Siameso shall not go
and gather or cut the Trees or
Fruits, or take them for trade or
for any other purpose. If any
Mines of Gold, Silver, Lead, Cop-
per or Iron are found in a Place
belonging to the Siamese, the
English shall not intrude into,
soize or work such property be-
longing to the Siamese. Trees
or any Fruits whatever, that
may be good for selling or buy-
ing, or for any other purpose,

Notes.

consequences which had nearly
ensued from the Raja of Ligores
having refused to declare to the
Honorable the Governor of Pen-
ang, the object of the Armament
which His Higlness had collect-
ed at Queda last year.

L objected to this Article, ask-
ing if to seize upon the property of
either would be consistent with
the 1st Asticle, engaging that
there should be a true and sincera
friendship between both Nations,
and that neither shonld go and
encroach upon or seize any Coun-
try belonging to the other. The
Ministers stated, that the Article
was proposed to render this point
more clear, but consented to
strike it out. I have reason to
bolieve, that the fear of our en-
croaching upon the Sapan-wood
Forests on the Frontiers of Tavoy
and Mergui, or of our seizing
upon a Mine of Silver, which has
lately been discovered near Bam-
phosay, led the Ministers to pro-
pose this Article.
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Treaty.

growing in any place or Boundary
belonging to the Siamese, tl
English shall not go and gather,
or cut the Trees or Fruits, or take
them for Trade, or for any other
purpose.

Article Ath. If any Country
Delonging to the Sinmese or Eng-
Jish. whethier to the West or Fast.
whether above or below, lying
it the Eng-
Lish entertain o doubt respecting
any Boundary which is not well

near theiv Frontier

known, then the Governor on the

side of the English, shall send
Letters, with Men and Officers
from the Posts on the Frontiers,
to enquire of the contigions
Siamese Governor, who shall ap-
point. Ofticers and Men from the
Posts on the Frontiers, to go and
fix and show the boundary of
«ach. so that both Parties may I
assured of the same in a friendly
wanner,  If the Governor on the
side of the Siamese entertains a
doubt respecting any boundary
which is not well known, then he
shall send Letters with Men and
Ofticers from the Posts on the
Frontiers, to enquire of the
contiguous English Governor, who
shall send Officers and Men from
the Posts on the Frontiers, to go
and fix and show the boundary
of each, so that both Parties may
be assured of the same in a
friendly manner.

Notes.

I proposed that North and
Sonth shonld e substituted for
- above and below ™ and that the
words, “in concert 7, should be
added after “fix™ which wero

aerpuiesced in.
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Treaty.

Article 5th.
the Siame
the houndavies of the Englich,
the Siamese shall not intrude to
apprehend him within the bound-
aries of the English. The Siamese
shall go and represent the matter
and demand him in s proper
mamner. The English shall e
at liberty to deliver or not to
deliver the party, because he
went and sought  the English
himself, If any subject of the
English fly and live within the
Siameso honndaries, the English
shall mot intrude to apprehend
him within the Siamese bonnd-
aries,  They shall go and repre-
sent the matter and demand him
in a proper manner. The Siames
shall be at liberty to deliver or
not to deliver the Party, becaus:
he went and songht the Siamese
himself.

If any subject of
 Aly and reside within

Article 6th. The English and
Siamese have engaged by Treaty
a sincere friendship.  1f English
Alerchants desireto goand trade in
any Siamese Country, where ther
may be much Merchandize, their
Vessels may go and trade, and the
Siamese shall protect and assist
them, and let them buy and sell
with freedom.  If Siamese Mer-
chants desire to goand trade in
any English Country where there
is much Merchandize, their Junks
and Boats shall go and trade, and

Notes.

1 suggested the expressions
“hecause he went and sought
“the English (or Siamese)
* himself” were unnecessary and

they were expunged.

1 eould not sneeeed in having

the phrase  wherw there is much
Merchandize ™ expunged, and I
saw that it was introduced to en-
able the Siamese to prevent. our
Vessels from touching at those
Ports, with which it may not suit
the views of the Government to
permit onr having intercourse at
present. 1 succeeded in having
introduced, that the Merchants
of each Country shall be allowed
to buy and sell by themselves
in order to prevent the interven—




Treaty.

the Buglish shall protect and
assist them, and let them buy
and sell with The
Siamese and English, who may
visit each other's Country, must
act according to the Customs of
the Conntrys If they do mot
kuow the Castoms of the Conntry.
the Siamese and English Officer
shall inform them.  The subjects
of Siam,  who visit an English

freedom.

Country, must conform to - every
y. T
lish subjects who visit the Siam-
ese Country, must conform to

Custom of sneh Connt

to every Custom of the Siamese
Country,

Article Tth.If
AMerchant shall go to trade in

a Sinmese

Bengal or other Places subject to
the English, or English Merchant
%o to trado.at Ban
Places subject to Sinm ; the Mer-
chants must pay the duties upon
trade conformably to the Regula-
tions ot each Country. If the
Merchant have any Suit  or
complaint, he shall complain to
the proper Officers of the Govern-
ment, who will vedress or decide
it according to the Laws of the
Comntry. 1f a Merchant trades
without enquiring whether a man
is good or bad, and sells or buys
from a bad men with whom he
may meet, and who may abscond
with his property, and if the

Notes.

rion of the Prah Klang's Depart=
ment at Bangkok, Some verlal
alterations also were sieosted
and agreed to.

The latter pact of this Articls
was steuck out at my stggrestion
awd some additions made as 10
the steps which the Officers ane
10 take for the Settlen
Debt<, il
Heirs, or if they cannot come, to
their Agents, tho property
Subjects dying within the Ju
diction of either State,

for - delivering 1o

of
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Treaty.

Officers after a diligent search
cannot apprehend the man, the
Merchant must not acense the
Officers of the Country, as the
funlt will vest with the Merchant
himself,

Atticle 8th. If a Siamese o
English Merchant goes to trade
i an English or Siame
and wants to build Godowns and
Houses in which to place his
Merwhandize ; if the
English Chief or Officers do not
permit the party to remain, then
lie canniot remain.  If they permit
Nim to remain, then the Merchant

Jountry,

Siamese or

can land and make his arrange-
ments for remaining, and the
Niamese and English Chiefs and
Officers shall assist, see and take
caro of him, and not let the
inlabitants of the Conntry op-
press the Merchant, nor let the

Merel

Notes.

I conld not succeed in
suading .the Ministers to render
this Article more jreciseasto li-
berty of residence to be allowed to
British Merchants.  They wore
anxious not to include a
that might tend to depwiv,
the right of refusing any British
Subject permission to reside, and
th
Certificate

scemed to be afraid that a

of Leave from the

Right Honorable the Governc
General might tend to prejudi
the exercise of their own right of
refusal.  To the latter part of the
Article they agreed to add, that
the suljects of ench State as well

oppress the Inhabi

of the Country. Whenever a
Merchant desires to embark in a
Vessel with his Property, and
asks permiseion to return to any
Country, then he shall be allowed
to return with freedom.

Article 9th.  If a Mercl

as Merchants shall be allowed to
retire fram vach other's Territory
whenever they desive. provided
they ave not in Debt.

desire to go to any Siamese or
English Country to trade, and his
Vessel receive any damage, the
Chiefs and Officers of the Country
on either side shall afford adequate

The ipulati pecting
Shipwrecked Property was made
more precise, providing for its
restoration to the owners, and in
the event of their decease, to
their Heirs or Agents.
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Treaty.

assistanco and protection. If a
Vessel belonging to the Siamese
or English is wrecked in any
Country, and the Siamese or Eng-
lish collect any of the property
belonging to the Vessel, the
Siamese or English Chief shall
enquire and ascertain, and deliver
the property to the Commander of
the Vessel, who will pay a proper
remuneration to the persons that
collected the property.

Article 10th. If an English
Merchant desire to go and trade
in a Siamese Country. where it
has not been the Custom to go
and trade, he must first go and
ask the Governor of the Country.
1f any Country has mot any

Notes.

The greater part of this Article
was expunged, and 1 advised the
Ministers, withont effect, to let
me know at once what Siamese
Ports they were unwilling that
British Vessels should visit. An
Article was added, after con-

Merchandize, the G

shall apprize the Vessel that goes
to trade that there is none. If
any Country has sufficient Mer-
chaudize to receive o Vessel the
Governor of the Country shall let
the Vessel enter, and when it
anchors, if the Merchant desire to
go into the Interior, whether by
Land or Boat to trade, if it be
proper for him to go, the Gov-
ernor of the Country shall allow
himto go.  If the road by which
the Merchant desire to go be not
proper, the Governor of the
Country shall not let him go
according as the Governor of the
Country may think fit. If the

ssion; 4
that British Subjects, not being
a Burmese, Peguer or Descendant
of a European upon being furni-
shed with Passes shall be allowed
to travel by land and water, to
trade between the Dominions
of Siam and our Conquests of
Ye, Tavoy, Mergui and Tenas-
The Ministers  declare
that no Burmese or Peguer could
for the present, be admitted into
the Siamese Torritories, and that
a great portion of the Burmeso
Country still belongs to Ava, the
Inhabitants of which might try
to gain admission into Siam with
our Burmese Subjects, or under

serim.
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Officers seo that the voad by
which the Merchant desires to
g0 is mot proper, and fear that
Thieves or Robbers may attack
him, and break and destroy the
friendship between the Two
Countries, in consequence of this
Merchant not secking good. 1f
the Merchant do not hear what
the Officers say, and insist upon
going, the Officers shall not por-
mit him to go. If a Siamese
Merchant desire to go and tiade
in an English Country, where it
has not been the Custom to go
and tnde, then he shall go first
and ask the Governor of the
Country, and follow in the same
manner whatever the Governor
may decide and approve in every
matter.

These Ten Auxticles of a Treaty
let the great and small Officers of
the English and Siamese, and
every great and small Province
obey as the Articles of a Treaty.
Thus.

Translated literally from the
Binmese.

(Signed) H. BURNEY
Captain.
Envoy to the Court of Siam.

[318]
Notes.

pretence of being such. The
Prah Klang ridicule:! the idea of
Merchants travelling to Bangkok
overland from our Burmese Pos-
sessions, becanse as he said, thera

are no Elephants in those Coun-
tries. T assured the Ministers
that  the British Government:

anticipated a very beneficial Trade
would soon arise between the
Siamese Dominions and our Con-
(uests on the Coast of Tenasserim.
1 pressed for the introduction,
into the Minister's Draft, of the
8th Auticle of my Draft, stipu-
Inting for every facility and
freedom  being afforded to the
Trade Detween Penang, Malacea,
Singapore, all the
adjacent Siamese States: and T
succeeded at length in
suading them to agree to it, with
this alteration, that Britixh Sub-
jects, not being a Burmese, Peguer
or Descondants of a Eunropean
shall he permitted to travel
overland and by means of tho
numerous  Rivers into the in-
terior of all the Siamese States,

and and

per=

without any obstrnction upon
condition however (a condition
which the Rajah of Ligor sug-
gested to the Ministers) that if
our Subjects attempt to convey
opium into the interior, the
opium shall be seized and forfeit-
ed.  The Original Siamese men-
tions, that ** Khek ” and ** Chin™
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Notes.

or Chinese only shall e allowed to travel into the
interior of the Siamess Tervitories from our Posses-
sious on the Coast of Tenasserim and to the Fastwanl.
“Khek ™ is literally a Foreigner; but it is a term
applied to Malays and Natives of Hindostan, who are
not descendants of Enropeans ; for which last ns well
as for Burmese, Peguers, Chinese,
A specific denominati
therefore  translated  * Khek” and “Chin” into
British Subjects, not Deing o Burmese, Pegner or
Descendants of a European.

uropeans and

anensed. 1 have

1 have suggested for the consideration and futnre
determination of the Ministers, two Propositions, 1st,
That His Majesty the King of Siam should engage to
set at liberty the family and friends of the Bx-Ki ng of
Queda, to place a Malayan Chief over the Ki ngrdom of
Queda, and to withdraw the Siamese Troops and Sub-
jeets from it, and to restore the formar friendly relations
between Queda and Penang, admitting particnlarly of
a free and unrestricted Export of Supplies from the
former to the latter. 2ndly, That the British Govern-
ment should engage not to interfere with the Kingdom
of Queda, nor permit the Ex-King or any of his Fol-
lowers to do so. Pya Kray surprized me by showing
himself to be well acquainted with the conduct of one
Ally, who had, contrary to the Stipulations of hix
Treaty with the British Government, latterly charged
a Duty of 16 Dollars per Coyan upon the Export, of
Rice from Queda to Penang.

(Signed) H. BURNEY Captain
Euvoy to the Court of Siam.

ORDERED that Copies be prepared for transmis-
sion to the S by the next opport
nity.
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NOTE.

Whilst this volume was in the press, information was
received from the India Office that a further instalment of the
Burney Papers was forthcoming. There will therefore be a fourth
volume which is hoped to be issued shortly.

The present volume consists of (a) the continuation of
Captain Burney's Journal, (b) various letters and other documents
bearing on Captain Burney's Mission, almost all of which are of
interest and worthy of careful perusal.

Erratum—On the last line of page 838, for Mekong read
Meklong.
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Factory We- FORT CORNWALLIS the 20 : September 1820,
cords, Stralts

Vol. 138,
Pp- 101-189.

AT A COUNCIL Present
THE HONORABLE ROBERT FULLERTON
Governor President
and
ROBERT IBBETSON Esquire.

READ and APPROVED the PROCEEDINGS
of the 7th Instant.

READ the following letter from Captain Burney
Envoy to Siam, with a Continuation of his Journal
from the 19: May to the 9: Instant, and a Treaty.

ENVOY TO SIAM.

H. C. Hired Brig Guardian
Oth September 1826, off P. W. Island.
To
THE HONBLE. R. FULLERTON ESQUIRE
Governor &ea, &ea. &ea. of P. W. Island

=NVOY TO S1AM HONBLE. Sm_
9: September
il 1 do myself the honor to report to you my arrival
at this Presidency, and to submit to you, enclosed,
the continuation of my Journal from the 19th of May

to the present date.
I have &ea.
(Signed) H. BURNEY Captain
Late Envoy to the Court of Siam,
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CONTINUATION OF CAPTAIN BURNEY'S
JOURNAL from the 19th of May to the 9th Septem-
ber 1826,

185. On the 19th we paid a visit to Pya Kray,
the Wangna's Prah Klang, who assured me in the
strongest terms, that he had not detained a single
Burmese prisoner at Chimpohun, excepting the 37
who were unable to travel from old age and sickness,
and that he knew of none besides the 237 for whom
he had accounted in the list which the Prah Klang
had delivered to me from him. He admitted that
he was wrong in having neglected to write to Mr
Maingy by the prisoners to inform him of their
number and of the mode in which they had been sent
back. Pya Kray is about 46 years of age, and ho
proved by his intelligence and courtesy, that he has
not lived in Siam all his life.

186. On the 21: Pya Thep called npon mo
accompanied by 50 or 60 Peguers, to apprise me that
His Majesty had given orders for the releaso of every
Peguer who had been bronght away from the Marta-
ban and Yé districts subsequent to their occupation
by us.

187 On the 26: we paid a visit to Pya Maha
Yothia, who was surrounded by much more Military
state than any Chief wo had yet seen. He received us
with a politeness and Military frankness that pleased
us much. I strove without success, to discover the
real motives of his not having joined us at Martaban,
and of his sudden retreat last year from the vicinity
of that Town. He said, that whilst advancing this
year he had received a communication from our
Officers at Martaban requesting him to suspend his
march, and that a severe illuess had occasioned his
return to the Capital last year. To draw him out I
observed, that had he advancsd and joined us ab
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Martaban, he would now most probably have been
at the head of Pegue. He took mo notice of this
observation but upon my enquiry, he assured me
that no branch of the antient Pegue Royal race
now exists, that his fatherhad been a Governor
of Martaban under the Pegue Dynasty, and that
when the Burmeso overthrew it, his Father had
lived at Martaban for some time as a private
Individual and had afterwards retived to Siam with
his family : Maha Yothin was then only 18 years of
age, and he is now upwards of 60. He declared that
his father was in no manner related to the antient
Pegue Royal Race, but that from his own large family,
i and distinguished services
against Ava, all the Peguers now looked up to him as
the remaining head of their race.  He said he had 40
Children, of whom 12 Sons and 8 Daughters are now
living. The appearance and manners of this veteran
Chief shewed him to be worthy of the high character
which he bears. He has a defect in one of his eyes,
and his style of speaking is very different from that of
a Siamese, being extremely lively and animated.
His whole app inded Captain M. quk
much of the late Sir David Ochterlony. To shew
however the distrust with which the Court of Siam
treats this highly respectable old Chief, I must state,
that some Peguers who came to mo the following day,
assured me, that Pya Kray and Pya Thep had been
secreted, during the whole time of our conference, in
a small room adjoining Maba Yothia's Hall of audience.
188. Inthe evening of the 26th we again met the
Ministers of Siam at the Palace of Krom Meun Surin,
and were detained until 3 o'clock in the morning.
After much discussion and altercation, I found I should
not be justified in a perseverance to effect the removal
of the Siamese from the territories of Kedah. My
own belief was, that if I had broken up the conference
and prepared to quit the country, the Court would
have yielded the point rather than have permitted
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mo to depart.  But in this belief T might have been
wrong, and unless my instructions had expressly
authorized me to rigk so much, I conceived I should
not be saved from the very greal responsibility and
consure, which would attend any issue contrary to
that which I might believe would ocour.  The sulject
Liad caused me unceasing meditation for many days,
and 1 saw that even if T carried the question of Kedah
against tho strong feeling of this Court, I should leave
it so discontented and dissatisfied with the British
Government, that our Merchants would not long or
sffectually derive any advantage from the other
tipulations, into which the Court might be persuaded
to enter, in favor of o greater freedom of Trade and
i at Bangkok. The Sup G

in the Dispateh to the Government of Prince of Wales
Tsland of the 13th May 1825 admitted ** We do not
very clearly perceive how the Government of Siam and
the Rajah of Ligore will ever be persuaded to forego
the profit, which it secms they derive from the direct
occupation of Keduh, unless we are prepared to tender
Tavoy or Mergui as au inducement.” The same
Jiepateh declarad—* Wo are not prepared to hold out
to the Siamese any distinct expectation of our ceding
to them the Provinces of Tavoy or Mergui,” without
which caution even, 1 had scen too much of the in-
human treatment of the Siamese towards the Burmese
prisoners of Mergui, to think for & moment of
Qelivering the rest of the inhabitants of Tavoy and
Mergui into the power of Siam. Possessing therefore
10 equivalent to offer to the Mi isters in lieu of Kedah,
1 was obliged to propose that the British Governinent
ghould permit a Siamese Governor to remain in
Kedah, and should prevent the Ex-King or any
of his followers from disturbing that Country upon
the following conditions, vizt. that the whole of the
family and personal servants of the Ex-King should be
liberated and sent to Penang, that the inhabitants of
Kedah should receive proper treatnent—that the trade
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and intercourse between Penang and Kedah should be
unrestricted—that no duty or other charge should be
levied in Kedali upon the exportation of Supplies for
the use of the inhabitants of Penang and of shipping
there, and that in lieu of the present mischievous
system of farming out the different riversof Kedah,
the Siamese should levy fair export and import duties
upon the transit of Merchandize, The views and
feolings of the Court. seemed to me g0 decided against
foregoing the profit which it devives from the direct
occupation of Kedah, that I saw if 1 pressed the
Ministors to engage to appoint a Malayan Governor
over Kedah, they would select some person like the
late Chief of Purlics, Keadaon,® to be a mers tool
in the hands of the Rajah of Ligore, and such a
character would be more atraid to cultivate intimate
relations with Penang than a regular Siamese Governor,
and would often, to prove the sincerity of his devotion
to Siaw, act in a more unfriendly manner towards
British Subjects, than what the occasion might require.
Independent also of my own doubts as to the policy of
such o measure, Teaw that it would be in vain to
apply to the Ministers for a cession of the additional
tract of territory on the Coast of Kedah, suggested by
Mr. Crawford in his  Notes towards a Treaty ”. I
had desired to wait for a reply to the reference which
Lmade to Mr. Secretary Swinton on the 31: March,
before L relinquished the cause of the Ex-King of
Kedah, but I learnt from Mr. Leal, that he had met the
party towhich my dispateh was entrusted at Ratphi,
80 late as on the 5: of last month, and that at the rate
at which they were travelling towards Martaban, he did
not expect they would reach that place before the
expiration of the period at which I had calculated upon
receiving a reply from Bengal.

189. The conditi ing a free transp
tion of supplies from Kedah to Penang was opposed
by the Rajab of Ligore and the Prah Klang, who
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called upon the Rajah of Singora to assure me,
that the Ex King had for many years levied a duty
of 16 Dollars per Coyan upon Grain and who declared,
that they conld mot believe it possible that the
Government of Prince of Wales Island would have
0 long allowed the Ex King to levy such a duty,
if the Treaty between him and the British Government
had engaged him against snch . proceeding. L
thought it right to press this point, as the duty of
16 Dollars per Coyan appeared to mo most exorbitant,
and as an wnrestricted importation of supplies from
Kedah to Penang is adduced ns one of the principal
motives for our desiving the restoration of the Malayan
Government in Kedah. On the nest day I sent the
Rajalt of Ligore a copy of our Treaty with Kedah,
in onder that he might oxamine the 3d Article and
be satisfied that the Ex King was not warranted in
levying any duty or custom upon any kind of
provisions exported for the use of Penang or for the
use of Ships of Warand the Honble, Company’s Ships.

190. T next called upon the Ministers to agreo
to a clauso being inserted in the Treaty, engaging
that letters addressed to British Subjects in Siam
should not be opened. The Ministers objected for
some time, upon the ground that the Burmese might
sond to Siam incendiary lotters from Ava through
our possessions on the Coast of Tenasserim, and that
such mischievous letters might even be put under
a cover bearing a superscription in the English
langusge. At length they consented thiat all letters
in the English language written to, or by British
subjects in the territories of Siam, should be opened
by the party to whom they might be addressed and
by no other person.

191. I endeavoured to discover the real senti-
ments of the Ministers respecting the 10: Articlo
of our Treaty with Ava, which engages, that His
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Majesty of Siam also should be incladed in the Treaty
of Peace. I said that it was necessary for tho British
Government to be early apprised, whether the King
of Siam proposed to avail himself of the benefits of the
Peace thus secured, and pointing out the very great
advantage to Siam of such an Article, T declarcd that
ift His Majesty intended to avail himself of it,
Je must give orders to the Siamese Officers and the
Guard on the frontiers to refrain from making
incursions into any part of the Burmese territories
or from itting agy of any di i
1 used, without success, much exertion to bring the
Ministers to give me some positive and decisive
opinions respecting this Articlo of our Treaty. They
confined themselves to general and vague expressiona
Tequesting mo not to mind this matter, and stating
that there is no oceasion for the British Government
to give itselt any trouble about it. 1 perceived that
the Ministers place no faith whatever in the Article,
and such is their inherent rancour and enmity against
the Burmese, that they will not allow themselves to
suppose the possibility even of any peace subsisting
between Siam and Ava. I have reason to believe that
the Court of Siam is disposed to avail itself of the
ity which it i the reduction of the
power and means of Ava in her late contest with us
will afford, for attacking some part of the Burmeso
dominions most, probably from Laos. As 1 lave
Just heard also, that since the close of the Wara
party of Siameso entered the Burmese territories near
Zittan, and brought away several Burmese to Biam,
Twould beg to suggest that the British Government
should at once relieve itself from the hurthen and
risk of any engagement with Ava binding her against
committing hostilities against Siam.

192, The Pra Klang, before separating, brought
forward o iti pecting  Perak, requiring
the British Government to engage that the Rajah.
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of 'erak should send the Gold and Silver Flower to
Bi but 1 ily and decidedly objected to
listen for a woment to any proposition calculated to
restore Siamese dominion over Perak

103. The death of the late King of Siam's
Mother, a Princess at the advauced age of 90 years,
lias put o stop to all public business for some days.
The principal Officors of the Court have entirely
shaved their heads, and an order has been issued for
the whole of the female population of Siam to do the
same,

194, On the morning® of the 30: the Prah Klang
sent me a message, inviting me to meet the Ministers
again on the fullowing evening, but at the same time
stating, that unless 1 was prepared to cede Perak to
the Siamese, there would be no use of my seeing
the Ministers. This message was delivered to me in
such o manner as to convince me that the Pralt Klang
had sent it for the purpose of intimidating me, and L
therefore returned to it as decisive a reply as possible,
declaring that if any Siamese visited Perak with a
view of interfering with its Government, I should do
my utmost to persuade the Rajuh of Perak to hang
him. On the nest morning when I saw the Pral
Klang he appeared Uy sullen and di 1
and charged me with having broken his heart by the
reply which T had sent to his message. 1 observed
that I conceived his communication as an attempt to
Dully me, that by such a course he would find ho
would never be able to make an impression upon an
English Envoy, and that T would therefore advise him
to refrain from it in future. He said that the
Ministers hud postponed our next conference until the

evening of the 2: June.

195, Onthe 1: Juno Isent a message to the
Rajah of Ligore urging him as a sincere well-wisher to
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resign all thoughts of interfering in future with Perak.
He replied that the Ministers were unwilling to
relinquish the claims of Siam upon Perak, and that he
himself ltad no particular wishes on the subject, to
prove which he would not attend ournext conference
with the Ministers.

196. On the evening of the 2: June we again
proceeded to the palace of Krom Meun Surin where
we met the same Officers as before with the exception
of the Rajah of Ligore. The Prah Klang began the
discussion by calling upon me to make some concession
to Siam with respect to Perak. He produced the
provisional Treaty between the Rajah of Ligore and
myself, and had most of the Articlos read out. I
ohserved that if the Rajah of Perak lLad sent the
Boonga Mas to Siam in former times or that if he
wished even now to send that token of respect to Siam,
the British Government would not think of forbidding
him. But that since my arrival in Siam I had
discovered, that the attack which the Rajah of Kedah
had made upon Perak by orders from Siam, was
one of the most wanton and unjustifiable acts
I had ever heard of, and that Mr. Anderson, the
Gentleman who had been deputed Jast year to Perak
and Saleng had  sati: ily ined, that
the Rajah of Perak had no desire whatever of sending
the Boonga Mas to Siam, or of continuing any
relation with the Rajah of Ligore. When this last
fact was doubted, 1 produced the letters which Luang
Packdee Sombat wrote to Perak by order of the Rajah
of Ligore and after explaining them I enquired
whether the Rajah of Perak, if he had desired to live
under Siam, would ever have delivered letters of such
a tenor as these were to the British Agent? I
commented on the impertinent language of these
documents, and upon the improper conduct of the
Rajah of Ligore in sending uch letters to Perak after
ho had concluded the Provisional Treaty with me
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These letters I saw, produced a great impression upon
the Prince and Ministers. They asked me if we
possessed the originals, and upon my answering in
the negative, the Prince and Ministers recovered than-
selves,and when they further learnt that the letters were
in the Malayan language, they declared, that they had
no doubt the translations were incorrect, aud that the
phrases used in them were evidently not Siamese.
Finding he could not make me yield on the subject
of Perak, the Prah Klang then referred to the States
of Tringano and Calantan, informing me, that the
King requested I would either agree to the Article
which the Ministers had proposed on the 16: May,
or modify that which I had proposed in such a manner
as to render it more precise.  After much discussion,
1 proposed that the Siamese should engage not to go
and interrupt British Commerce with Tringano and
Calantan, that British Subjects should trade with these
States in future in the same manner as they have
hitherto done, and that the British Government should
not attack or molest those States, The Ministers after
some consideration, agreed to this Article, and as it
engnges that the Siamese should give no interruption
to our Commerce, the principal object for which we
deprecate the direct occupation of the States by Siam,
and as it further does not pledge the British
Government in any manner on the question of their
continuing to send the Boonga Mas to Siam, I hope
my superiors will consider the terms of this Article ax
more advantageous and prudent even than those of
the article which T proposed to the Ministers on the
14: May. The Prah Klang complaining of being
unwell, we then at 1 o'clock in the morning returned
home.

197. On the 5: of June I had an opportunity
of forwarding letters to Captain Fenwick at Martaban
and to Mr. Maingy at Tavoy, by some Burmese
returning to those places.

;
!
:
!
]
!
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198. Onthe 6: we had another conference with
the Ministers at the Palace of Krom Meun Surin. The
Rajah of Ligore was present, and used much exertion
to effect some settlement respecting the affairs of
Kedah. He proposed that the Ex King should be
removed from Penang, and not be allowed to reside
at Prye in Provice Wellesley, or in Perah, Salengore
or any Burmese territory, and that the Government
of Prince of Wales Island should not prevent from
returning to Kedah, any of the inhabitants of Kedah
who might desire to do so. 1 snid, that if the
Ministers agreed to the conditions which I had pro-
posed respecting Kedah on the evening of the 26:
Ultimo, 1 should have no objection to accede to the
propositions which the Rajah of Ligore now brought
forward—with exception, however, that instead of
the phrase, that the Ex King of Kedah should be
removed from Penang, the expression should be, that
arrangements should be made by the British Govern-
ment for His Highuess's residence in some other
territory. I pointed out that the former phrase would
be wholly inconsistent with the good will which the
British Government must ever entertain towards an
old Ally, and particularly when he is in distress, I
admitted however that so long as the Ex King
remained at Penang, in the immediate vicinity of
Kedah, it will be impossible for himself or his
adherents to refrain from disturbing or interfering
with the Siamese who are in possession of their
country. The Ministers agreed to all the conditions
which 1 proposed respecting Kedah, with the ex-
ception of that requiring a free exportation of Grain
to Penang. The Prah Klang proposed to engage,
that whatever Rice or Paddy the Honble. the
Governor of Prince of Wales Island might require
from Kedah for his own peryonal use, should be sent
free from duty, upon a written application from him.
We laughed much at this proposition which was
s0 highly characteristic of the mind and character
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of the Prah Klang. We could not make him
comprehend, that English Governors are neither
willing nor authorized to avail themselves of such
exclusive privileges, and that it is their cnstom to
seck to relieve those under them in preference to
themselves, who can better afford to pay for whatever
they require.

109, He then brought forward an Article pro-
posing that the British Government should not
prevent the Rajah of Perali from sending the Boonga
Mas to Siam, or the Rajah of Ligore from sending
any of his followers to Perak in a proper manner,
that Eoth the Siamese and English should engage not
to send any Armament to Perak, and that the
British Government should engage to prevent Salengore
from interfering with Perak. Prince Krom Meun
Surin and the Ministers would not credit that the
Rajali of Peral is nnwilling to maintain his connexion
with the Rajah of Ligore, and they observed that our
Iato Treaty with Perak contains nothing to warrant
such a belief, asking me particularly whether
the British Government had assured Perah of
liberation from Siamese claims. The Prince and
Ministers appeared to me also to desire to possess
some salve to their pride in the event of Perah being
really unwilling to be connected with Siam, and I saw
that they were anxious, if they are obliged Lereafter
to relinguish their claims upon Perak, that such a
result ¢hould appear to be brought about in any other
mode than by regular stipulations in a Treaty. The
Ministers explained the words in a proper manner, to
mean any deputation which the Rajah of Ligoro may
desire to send to Perak, with friendly intentions, for
the purpose of persuading the Rajah of Perah not to
break off his conmexion with Siam. After several
Tiours very warm discussion, 1 proposed that to the
above Articlo should be added, that the Rajah of Perah,
should govern his country according to his own
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pleasure, that tho Rajah of Ligore should be vestricted
from sending more than 40 or 50 Men to Perak, and
that the Siamese should not interfere with Salengore.
I said if the Ministers would agree to the whole of the
conditions which T had proposed on the 26 : Ultimo,
respecting Kedah and if they would agree to an
Article that British Vessels coming to Bangkok should
be charged only 1500 Ticals for every fathom of
breadth in lien of every other duty, and that no kind
of duty should be charged upon the peopls who
Dought or sold from or to the Eunglish Merchants, I
would consent to the Prah Klang's Article respecting
Pernh, with the modifications above mentioned. The
Prah Klang refused to engage, that no duties should
be charged upon the buyers or sellers from or to
English Merchants, and I could not make him
acknowledge, that to charge the home Merchant
additional duties npon his transactions with the
English Merchant was precisely the same thing as
charging them to the English Merchant himself, upon
whose sales and purchases these additional duties
would ultimately fall. The Prah Klang declared the
loss to the King of Siam by such an arrangement as
that which T proposed, with respect to the duties upon
English Ships would be very great, and he would not
bear of any explanation. The Prince Krom Meun
Soorin himself two or three times asked him to point
out what he thought would be a sufficient sum, but
the Minister was in too bad a humour to bear any
discussion on the subject. He proved to me clearly
that he had been secretly hoping throughout my
conversation with him respecting the duties, to elude
our vigilance, and to secure to himself the power of
charging the home Merchant us well as the English
trader. I.requested leave then to retire from the
conference, stating that it would be idle to talk of
making any Treaty at present. We veturned home
about 2 o'clock in the morning.
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200. On the 8th the Prah Klang proceeded to
Paknam to dismiss finally the Cochin Chinese Envoy.
I have reason to know that the sole motive of
this Mission from Cochin China was to ascertain
the objects of the British Mission. The Envoy
brought only one shipwrecked Siamese with him
and used every exertion in his power to be allowed
to visit Bangkok, beseeching the Siamese in vain to
be permitted to come to the Capital, among other
reasons for the purpose only of finding a sale for a
quantity of Shamshoo, which he had brought with
him as private trade.

201, On the 9th the Raja of Ligore sent me a
message stating that the King had ordered the Prah
Klang not to remain at Paknam for more than
two days, and adv;
him and request another conference with the Ministers.
The Raja assured me further that the King was really
well disposed towards us, and that His Majesty had
determined upon ceding the two points respecting the
duties upon grain at Kedah and the duties upon
British Shipping at Bangkok in the manner I proposed.

ing me on his return to call upon

202. On the 14: I called upon the Prah Klang
and arranged that I should have another conference
with the Ministers on the evening of the 16th.

203, On the 15th the Rajah of Ligore sent me
a message, entreating me to soothe and flatter the
the Prince and Ministers as much as possible, at our
next meeting, and advising me to address them
myself in the Siamese language as often as possible.
He stated that they are much pleased to hear my
attempts to speak their langusge and that nothing
but a few compliments and a little soft language wers
now necessary from me to secure all that I desired.
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204.  On the evening of the 16 : we proceeded to
the Palace of Krom Meun Soorin at the usual hour
and met the same Ministors and Officers as before, T
followed the advice of the Rajah of Ligore and
addressed the Prince and Ministers in the Siameso
language as much, and as well as T could. 1 paid the
handsomest compliments to the Prince, whose conduct
during the whole of our conferences really deserves
every pmise and gratitude from me, and who, we
were happy to see, accepted my compliments and
seened much pleased with them. I pointed out the
advantages and benefits which would be secured to
both nations by our now concluding a fair and regular
Treaty of Peace and Commerce, and the riches and
happiness that would flow to the subjects of both
nations by the blisl of a free and icted
trade at Bangkok. I entered into calculations to
prove that my plan of fixing a moderate consolidated
duty upon our Shipping, in lieu of the present
numerous and  vexatious duties, would ultimately
prove most profitable to Siam, as it would greatly
increase the resort of our Shipping to Bangkok, I
shewed that by the present system only 2 or 3 Ships
visited Bangkok during the year, hut that the plan
1 proposed would invite at least 10 Ships a year, and
T asked the Phra Klang, whether 10 Ships at 1500
Ticals for each fathom of breadth or 6000 Ticals each,
would not pay a much larger revenue than 3 Ships at
even 12,000 Ticals each. 1 took an opportunity of
extolling the virtues and enlightened character of the
present Monarch of Siam. My address appeared to
soften even the Phra Klang, who observed that it was
a pleasure to hear me speak, but declared that 1,500
Ticals per fathom would be too great a reduction of
the duties—that I caleulated the revenue now derived
from English Ships only, but that my plan proposed
to include Native Vessels under English Colours, and
that it would cut off s very large profit which the
Siamese now derived from the two Surat Vessals that
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annually visit Bangkok.*  The trath is nothing can ‘
e more iniquitous than the conduct of the Siamese
towards these Surat Vessels. The Phra Klang and his
Officers fix the price of every articls of Merchandize
brought by those Vessels, and take and distribute among
themselves whatever portion of the Cargoes they
please, for the purpose of retailing the same afterwards
aba profit to themselves, and to this dinary
source of profit, which is in addition to the usual port |
charges and Import and Export duties the Phra Klang i
was now referring. 1 was afraid to trust myself into

any discussion of such  nefarious system aud therefors |

again wrged the Prince and Ministers in general 1

terms®. 1 at length brought the Phra Klang to

agroe, that Vessels nnder English Colours, if they

visit Bangkok with an Import Cargo, shall pay 1,700

pups copy.  Ticals for each fathom of breadth, and if without an
Tmport, Cargo, only 1,500 Ticals, that these sums shall
be in lieu of every other charge, and that no Import,
Export or other duty shall be levied upon the buyer
or Seller from or to English Merchants.

205, The free importation of Grain from Kedal
to Penang was then discussed; the Phra Klang
proposed that the present duty should be reduced to
8 Ticals per Coyan upon Rice and 4 Ticals upon
Paddy. But 1 thought it most advisable to try and
secure an entire frecdom to the importation of I
supplies to Penang. The Rejah of Ligor proposed,
and I at length consented, that in the event of the
Rajah of Kedah remaining at Penang, and of our
not making arrangements for his removal to come
other territory, the present export duty upon grain
should continue to be levied at Kedah, but not
otherwise, and that at any rate, no duties or
restrictions should be yiven to the exportation from
Kedah of Poultry, Cattle and other stock.
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2006. The Ministers then produced a paper
containing the forms and regulations to be observed
by British Vessels aud subjects visiting Bangkok,
proposing to annex a Copy of the same to the Treaty,
Most of these were included in the Schedule annexed
to the Draft of the Treaty which 1 had tendered,
and were no more than the established regulations
of the Port.  There were some additional clauses—one
requiring that Guns and Warlike stores shonld bo
tendered for purchase to the King only, and if
rejected by His Majesty should not be sold to private
individuals, but be re-exported, to which I agreed.
Another that Rice and Paddy should not be purchased
for the purpose of being exported as merchandize,
and to this also I agreed when the Phm Klang
assured me that of course in seasons of plenty
if British Merchants applied to export Grain, they
should receive permission to do so. There was
another additional clause, which excited much dif-
ference of opimion between us. It proposed to
render all British Subjects, without exception, liable
to capital punishment and whipping; for the come-
mission of any offences with respect to which the
laws of Siam have prescribed such punishments. I
pointed out that British subjects are entirely ignorant
of the laws of Siam and possess no means of
aequiring o knowledge of them, that it would be
much better to express in this clause for what
offences they should suffer death—and that it was
not our custom to whip Commanders of Ships, their
Officers or Merchants, but to punish them by levying
a pecuniary fine upon them. The Ministers, after
some arguments, agreed to state in the clause, that
murder should be punished by death, and that for
disrespect to Siamese Officers or other Offences, if
the party were a Commander or Officer of a Ship,
or Merchant, he should be fined, and if a Seaman,
Lascar or subordinate character he should bo whipped
or imprisoned in such manner as the laws of Siam
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might direct. The Phra Klang then said, that
the clause did not provide for one offence, which in
the eyes of a Siamese is of much greater magnitude
than even murder, speaking disrespectfully of His
Majesty the King of Siam, a crime which is invariably
punished with death. 1 said that T did not possess
the power of engaging that British Subjects should
bo liablo to capital punishment for such an offence,
and that 1 thought it was improper to suppose for
a moment, that any person could speak disrespectfully
of so great and enlightened a prince as the present
Monarch of Siam. It was finally sottled that the
Right Honble, the Governor General should parti-
cularly forbid British subjects who might visit Siam
showing disrespect in any manner to the great
Officers of Siam. 1 beg to refer hiere to the account
given by Captain Hawilton of his narrow escape
from a charge of having only said, that “the King
of Siam had been imposed upon™. The Phra Klang
declared, that as the Treaty engages that British
subjects should be allowed to buy and sell freely,
there would be no objection to their sending Natives
of the Country to the Sugar Districts for the purpose
of procuring Sugar, and that hereafter when the
new relations between the Siamese and English
became well established, British subjects could be
allowed to engage in Ship building at Bangkok.
He declined to mention these points in the Treaty,
and 1 did not conceive it necessary to insist upon
their being included. But my principal attention
was directed to endeavour to render the terms of
the paper of forms and regulations produced by the
Ministers, as clear and precise as possible and the
little knowledga even which I have acquired in
reading and writing the Siamese language was of
the utmost service, for I found I could not depsad
implicitly upon the translations of either my own
or the Courf Interpreters.
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207. We then agreed that the Treaty should be
written out in three columns in the Siamese Malayan
and English languages and should be sealed with the
Seals of the Ministers and mine, that one copy should
be given to me for the purpose of being conveyed to
Bengal aud another Copy with the King of Siam's Seal,
should be entrusted to the Rajah of Ligoro that upon
my obtaining the ratification of the Treaty by tho
Right Honble. the Governor General in Council, L
should return to Kedah within five months, and
exchange the ratification with the Rajah of Ligore's
Son Phra Phakdi Boree Rak,* to whom the Rajah of
Ligor should forward the Copy bearing the Royal
Seal, and lnstly that the Rajah of Ligor should
releaso the family and servants of the Ex-King of
Kedah upon his arrival at Ligor. The Prince declared
that hereafter when the present Treaty was ratified by
both parties, the King of Siam would depute a
complimentary Mission to the Right Honble. tho
Governor General.  We then returned home at 4
o’clock in the morning, much exhausted by this long
and most fatiguing conference,

208. 1 have been too much engaged to record
the discussions which have passed between the Ministers
and myself respecting the release and return of the
Pegu inhabitants, whom Maha Yotha and his Officers
seized and brought away from the Province of
Martaban in the beginning of last year. But it would
be most irksome to relate the anxiety, vexation and
trouble which this subject has cost ns. It was on tho
21: of last month that Phya Thep came and informed
me that the King had ordered the whols of those
prisoners to be released, and sinco that date, not a
day has passed without my being obliged to enter into
some altercation on this subject with the Siamese
Officers.  Adverting to the approaching rainy season,
and the increased force of the current ranning down
the Mekong river, and referring to the small size of
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the Boats which can navigate that stream, and the
great proportion of women aud little children, I found
1 conld not attempt to send these prisoners to Captain
Fenwick via Menamnoi.  Upon applying to the Ihra
Klang to assist mo to send them vid Bangnarom and
Mergui, in the same manner as the former prisoners
had returned, he complained of the difficulty of
procuring Junks. | was obliged one evening before
Prince Krom Meun Soorin and the Ministers, to tell o
tale that covered the Phra Klang's department with
suiteh shame, and urged the King, when he heanl of
it, to order that Junks should be provided at his
expence. T asked the Ministers to order Juuks to be
provided for these prisoners, and said that although as
tlio Siameso had brought these men to Bangkok, they
ought to bear the expenco of returning them, still,
rather than that this should be any difficulty, 1 was
willing to defray tho expence out of the monthly
allowance which the King and Wangna had onlered to
be made to me. This observation produced a disclosure
that the Phra Klang's department had brought * the
allowanee from the King for only 2 months, and from
the Wangna for only ome month. On the day
following, there was a great stivin the Plra Klang's
Office, and I had sent to mo 960 Ticals as 4 months
allowance from the King and 700 as 5 months
allowance from the Wangna, T was further told, that
the Phra Klang would provide whatever number of
Junks I required on account of the Pegu prisoners.
1 strove much to obtain the immediate release of the 6
Native Christian prisoners mentioned in par: 169 of
the Journal in onder that the Peguers might be set to
Mergui under their charge. I was told that the King
Tad ordered these Christians to be released and I was
positively promised that they should be forthwith
delivered to me. But two or three ddys after, 1 learnt
that the Wang-na had sent three of them into the
interior to examine some mines lately discovered near
Menam noi, and had put the remaining two in irons,
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on some frivolous charge of having seduced a Siamese
Woman. T was forced into some very irritating and
angry discussions on this subject with the Ministers,
who declared that they would not consent to
allow these Christians to proceed overland to Mergui,
but assured me most solemnly, that they should
be released and delivered to mo before 1 departed
from Bangkok. 1 am sorry to say, that the second
King or Wangna is by no means deserving of the
character which was given to me of him upon our
first arrival and which I have mentioned in para:
36 of this Jouraal. I have reason to believe him
unusually ignorant for even a Siamese and by no
means well disposed towards the English. He com-
manded in the attack of the Burmese in Junkeeylon
in 1810, and has seen some service in the direction
of Cheung-mai, and he appears desivons of incrensing
his Military reputation in a contest with the British
Government.  He has treated the Burmese and
Pegu  prisoners with more inhumanity than any
other Siamese Chief and he and his Officers
have given me the most trouble to effect the releaso
of those men who had been allotted to them. T
regret extremely at not having obtained the release
of the Native Christinns, because T am unable to
send Mr. Leal in charge of the Pegu prisoners to
Mergui after the complaints which were brought
against him on the last occasion, and I have no
other person to send with them but a Native
Christian Interpreter of the name of Benedick, o
man of little intelligence or energy.

209. The Pegu Prisoners were daily brought
in small parties and set adrift at the premises
occupied by the Mission, and we have now for the
last three weeks had an encampment around and
under onr house, crowded with men, women and
children but particularly the two last. The prisoners
appear to have been distributed throughout every
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part of the Country, and from the day of their arrival
at our house, we have been forced to subsist them. No
correct account of their number appears ever to have
been made by the Siamese. Phya Thep informed me
Inst month that the Kalahom's Office had made out the
following account.

Total number of prisoners brought away ... 792

Died since their arrival in Siam ... ... ... 57
735
Desirous of remaining in Siam ... ... ... 116

Total to be delivered to the British
Government ... 619

T requested to see every person represented in this
list as desirous of remaining in Siam. Most of these
prisoners appear to have been brought away from ¢
Cocorat, a place which does not appear to be within
the line of the territory ceded to us by the Burmese,
and these last prisoners were carried up to Cheung-mai
and thence brought down to Bangkok. Considering
the routes by which these poor wretches were brought
to Siam, and the number of Women and little Children,
their removal must have been attended with a most:
cruel destruction of human lives. As another proof
that the approach of the Siamese Detachments during
the last year towards Martaban was guided by any
other views than those of friendship towards us, I have
discovered that not the smallest respect or attention
was paid to the inhabitants even of those towns which
were known to have been taken possession of by us.
I possess a certificate in the Burmah language signed
at ¢ Martaban 15: March 1825 by “G. Norman
Captain”, which had been given to the Chief of
Cocorat, but which did not protect him or any of his
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townsmen from being carried away by the Sinmese.
The poor Chief died during his journey to Siam.

210. On the 19th ten small Junks and the pro=
visions for the use of the Martaban prisohers being
ready, Phya Thep called to make anmngoments
for embarking and forwarding them to Bangnarom.
In consequence of the tedions and vexatious delays
of the Siamese Officers I regret to say that the raing
will now set in before these Captives can reach Mergui,
but they all prefer encountering the inclemencies of
the weather to remaining in Siam. I have prepared
a letter No. 34 to the address of the Civil Officer in
charge of Mergui, and have endeavourad to provide
everything in my power to reduce the sufferings of these
prisoners during their journey across the country.
T have prepared also a Dispatch No. 35 to the address
of Mr. Secretary Swinton at Fort William to be for-
warded through Mr. Maingy the Civil Commissioner
of Tavoy and Mergui, giving cover to a copy of the
continuation of my Journal from the Ist of April to
the present date.

211 In the afterncon of the 19: June I called
upon the Phra Klang at his request, and dis-
covered that & new difficulty had avisen with respect
to the conclusion of the Treaty, a difficulty which
L had before flattered myself I had very easily over-
come.  The Prah Klang said, that as the name
of his sovereign was inserted in the Treaty, he
must insist upon the name of His Majesty the
King of England baing included, and that the Treaty
should be between the King of England  as
well as between the East India Company and the
King of Siam. I explained that Ihad not been de-
puted to Siam by my Sovercignand therefore possess-
ed no power to make a Treaty in his royal name, that
the East India Company govern British India under
the authority of the King and Parlisment of England,
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and that all wars negotiations and Trealies in
India are conducted in the name of the Bast India
Company, and that 1 thought the difficulty started by
the Phra Klang would be easily solved by the Treaty
declaring that it is mado between the King of Siam
and the Honble. East Indin Company who govern
British India under the authority of the King and
Parliament of England.  This arrangement would not
satisfy the Phra Klang, and he occupied me several
Tours in trying to make him comprehend the nature and
form of the British Constitution, the powers and duties
of the King and Parliament and of tho East India
Company. The Minister put the most frivolous and
absurd questions to me, asking in what manner of
houses the King, Varlisment and India Company
resided, and what description of Carriages they
severally used &c. With his usual arrogance and
ignorance he plainly showed to me that he disbelieved
my answers, aud he could not possibly conceive how
the King of England might not order any man he
pleased to be executed or might not levy what monies
he pleased upon the people of England. The Phra
Klang in all his conversations with me never
Tiesitates to let me see his belief that Lam telling
untruths, whenever 1 attempt to describe any thing
of which he has never heard before. I therefore
called immediately upon the Rajah of Ligor and
repeated to him all that had passed between the
Minister and myself. The Rajah of Ligor again
proved to me how much superior he is in understand-
ing and manners to any Chief here. He took down
in writing all that 1 said, proposed sensible questions
to plete his i ion nnd promised to explain

the whole immediately to the King and Ministers

212, On the 20: I drew up in the Siameso
language and sent to the Phra Klang as plain and
simple an account as I possibly could of the British
Constitution and of the relative powers and duties
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of the King, Parliament and East India Company,
1 was obliged to use some caution in not stating
in my account more than what the Siamess Court
is capable of comprehending. Ou the same day,
the Rajah of Ligor sent some of his Officers to put
some very pertinent questions to me, and as these
questions I was told, were proposed by the King of
Siam himself, they served to prove his superior
intelligence. Indeed, next to the Rajah of Ligore,
1 consider the King of Siam from all I have heard
and seen of his Majesty, as the most intelligent
man in his dominions and certainly as the person
most  desirous of establishing friendly relations
between the Siamese and British Governments. His
Majesty asked whether the Office of East India
Director is hereditary, whether a Member of Parlia-
ment possesses any power individually or only when
he is joined with the other Members and seated
in Parlisment, whether the East India Companyf
pay any revenue or tribute to the King of England
and whether the succession to the Crown is hereditary.

213. On the 22: the Raja of Ligor sent some of
his Officers to me with a request that 1 would consent
to two additional articles being introduced into the
“T'reaty—One, which I was told the King and Minis-
ters had very much at heart was that in any future
wars with the Burmese the British troops should be
strictly prohibited against destroging and plundering
the Temples and Religious edifices, and the other,
that the Raja of Ligor should be allowed to purchase
at Penang what Guns or Warlike Stores he might
have occasion for. I was informed that the religion
of the Siamese being the same as that of the
Burmese, the former could not but view with the
utmost horror the manner in which our Troops in
Ava had conducted themselves towards tho Temples
and the Images contained in them. I desired the
Rajah of Ligor's Officers to assure their Master, and
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to beg of him to assure the King and Ministers,
that the accounts that had been brought to them
of the conduct of the Troops in Ava must have
been greatly exaggerated, that it is, and has ever
been the custom of the British Government in all
its wars in India, to treat with every forbearance
and liberality the Rsligion and religious edifices of
the enemy and that to insert a clause respecting
this matter in the Treaty, would mot only be most
unusual and unnecessary, but would tend to cast
an unjust and improper reflection upon the conduct
of the British Troops in Ava and of the British
Government itself.  With respect to the Second
Article I said that of course now that intimate
friendly relations would be established between the
Siamese and English the Honble. the Governor
of Penang would not prevent the Rajah of Ligor
from supplying himself with any thing which he
might require from that Settlement. I had hoped,
until this moment, that 1 had succeeded in escaping
from committing myself in any manner upon this
question of the Siamese supplying themselves with
Warlike Stores at our Settlements, n question which
proved so troublesome to Mr. Crawfurd. But the
Rajah of Ligor again pressed this point, and I then
suggested that the additional article should be as
follows, explaining at the same time that in my
opinion there wers great objections to any such
stipulation Leing inserted in a Treaty ot Friendship.
“If the Raja of Ligor shall have occasion at any
time to purchase Guns Shot or Gunpowder from
Penang, he shall address an application to the Honble.
the Governor of Penang, who will supply him with
such stores in such proportions as may appear
right and proper.”

214. On the morning of the 24: I succeeded at
length in dispatching the 10 Junks with the Burmese
and Pegu prisoners. From the 19th I had been
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scratinizing Phya Thep and Phya Maha Yotha's lists,
and endeavouring to force them to produce the whole of
the captives. But I had to resist such evasions and
falsehoods, and so many of the Officers of the Court
were endeavouring to detain some of the prisoners
that T could not succeed in despatching by this
opportunity more than the following
Persons from Martaban District ... ... .. 630
Do. from Mergui who had been left sick ... 10
Men who returned from Mergui with Mr. Leal 8
Total 643

Although the Phra Klang engaged to provide the
Prisoners with a suitable supply of provisions I found
his allowance was so scanty that I was obliged to
purchase and distribute an additional” supply. Much
delay and difficulty were also occasioned by the
disputes  between the Officers of Phra Klang's
Department aud the Owners of the ten Junks, respect-
ing the hire of the Vessels, for which the former would
not settle any reasonable price. To induce the
Commanders of the Junks to depart before the rains I
paid them 60 Ticals myself, 1 was obliged also to pay
another sum of 136 Ticals, in order to liberato three
whole families of Pegners whom Maha Yotha or some
of hiis Servants had detained upon pretence of debt.
A Peguer fled one day from Maha Yotha and besought
my intercession with the Siamese Government, for his
return also to Captain Fenwick. He declared that his
name is Emmeh, and that he his wife and 5 Children
whilst residing at Goh a village near Martaban
tho chicf of which had an English protection,
had been seized by some of the Siamese Detachment
under Phya Ratnachak and brought away as prisoners
to Biam. Upon interrogating Phya Ratnachak he
stated that these seven persons belonged to Maha
Oodina the Ex Governor of Martaban's party, that some
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of the Siamese Detachment which was under Captain
Fenwick at Martaban, had apprehended them and that
Captain Fenwick had told him, Phya Ratnachak, to
take these people away with him to Bangkok. [
addressed o letter on the subject tothe Siamese Minis-
ters, avowing my disbelief of Phya Ratnachak’s story,
pointing out the improbability of any British Officer
giving away seven persons to be made slaves in Siam,
and claiming these people as British Subjects. Tt
was several days before 1 could induce the Ministers
to make @ written reply to my application. At lst on
the 26th they authorized Phya Phiphut to send me a
letter of which T annex a translation No. 36.  Of the
largo number of Peguers reported to be desirous of
remaining in Siam several, Phys Thep admitted, have
changed their minds, and ho engaged to deliver them
to me as well as to produce the whole of the remainder
before e, in order that I may personally ascertain
their wishes. 1 hope before our departure to be able
to dispatch to Mergui another party. 1 took copies
of the passes which were given to the prisoners now
forwarded from the departments of the Kalahom and
Pha Klang. Phya Thep's Pass declares that these
poor Pegu prisoners, who had been forcibly seized
and most cruelly brought away to Bangkok came here
to sesk the Supreme and most felicitous King of Siam.

215. On the 25: June we called upon the Rajah
of Ligor at his request and met Phya Phi-phut and all
the Malayan Interpreters of the Court. The Siamese
copy of the Treaty was read over and I saw that some
explanatory passages which I had proposed two or
threo days before, the Ministers had adopted. They
desired however to retain in the first article the
concluding clause, which I had before understood they
had agreed to expunge, viz. “ that the Siamese shall
settle in their own Country every matter they please
according to their own custom.” I said that such a clause
was not necessary, as the British Government did not
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desire to flatter ® the independence of Siam, but that
if the Ministers desired to retain it I had no objection.
The Ministers required some further information
respecting one of the explanatory phrases which [ had
proposed. The original of the last Article of the
Commercial part of the Treaty stated, that if a British
subject killed o Siamese the punishment should be
death.  Although the laws of Siam ars not like thoso
of China, requiring blood for blood on every oceasion,
Lut fine & person for accidental homicide, still T feared
the passage in the Treaty might be liable hereafter to
misconstruction. 1 therefore proposed to substitute,
that if a British subject killed a Siamese with evil
intention, his punishment should be death. The
Ministers conceived that I desived to prevent the
Siamese Officers from even enquiring into the causes of
accidental homicides, and when the Rajah of Ligor and
Phya Phiphut understood that this was not the case,
and found me willing to have it stated in the Treaty,
that the Siamese Officers should investigate all cases
of homicide, T was told that my proposed amendment
would be aceeded to by the Ministers. 1 was happy
to find that the Ministers did not think it necessary,
after the explanation which 1 had given on the 22nd
to insert in the Treaty any clause respecting the Raja
of Ligor's being supplied with Warlike Stores from
Prince of Wales Tsland. T mnst beg to state however
that miy own observation here leads me to admit
entirely the correctness of Mr. Crawfurd's opinions
with respect to British Merchants supplying the
Siamese with Warlike Stores. Our Merchants being
prohibited from doing so, will not preclude the Siamese
from obtaining whatever supplies they require, and
will enly throw into the hands of the Americans and
of other Forcigners the means of deriving a greater
commercial profit from, and becoming more welcome
to, the Sinmese, than our own Merchants.  The
Commanders of hoth of the American Vessels that we
have seen liere brought and sold fire arms and 1 found
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such articles the most acceptable presents, which T
could tender to all parties, from the King to the lowest
officer. The preamble of the Treaty, I saw, had
nudergonu some alteration in consequence of the late

ing the Constitution of the East
Indin (,‘mnpnny. The alteration however is not
material. It only gives the King ot Siam one or two
additional titles, and declares that his Majesty and the
Wangna had ordered the Ministers to discuss and
arrange with me, this Treaty with the Honble. East
India Company, who govern British India under the
authority of the King and Parliament of Eugland and
with the Right Honorable the Governor General in

Council.

216. I had next a most troublesome task imposed
upon me, to examine and scrutinize the Malayan
version of the Treaty. I found several gross inac-
curacies, and particularly in those articles which
relate to Kedali and Perak. The Rajali of Ligor
however allowed most of them to ba corrected as L
pointed out. 1 insisted upon the whole of the King
and Wangna's Bali titles being put down in the same
words, for the Malayan Interpreters made sad trash
of them in their languags, and one or two other
Siamese wonds, the precise meaning of which these
Interpreters would not give, were set down in the
Siamese language in theic Copy of the Treaty, which
j& in many places a spurious and Ligor dialect of
the Malayan tongue, arisingprincipally from tho
anxiety of the Trausl to give a corresp
word for every word and for the component parts
even of overy derivative and compound word, in the
Siamese original. At the instance of the Rajah I
agreed also, that the period of five months in which
1 had engaged that T was to return to Kedah with
the Governor General's ratification of the Treaty,
should be changed to seven months, and that a clause
should be added to the Treaty, engaging that the
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Siamese stipulations with respect to Kedah and
Perak should be fulfilled npon the return of the Raja
of Ligor from Bangkok, His Highness will prohably
be detained somo weeks after me, as he has now
another affair upon his hands to have his eldest
son appointed Phya of Merdelong in room of the
present Phya, who has just arrived here, and who
is said to be unfit for the office from old age and
imbecility.

217. The Ministers having ordered the Raja of
Ligor to superintend the preparation of the fair
Copies of the Treaty, T have occasionally called upon
His Highness and have been surprised to see the care
and anxiety which he displays in having the documents
written in the best style. But the Siamese cannot
write well with ink.

218, From the middle of the month of May the
Commander and Crew of the Mission Brig Guardian
liave been employed in receiving and stowing the
different presents from the King and Officers, in
return for those which we bronght. Here again 1 had
to encounter the imposition of the petty Officers of
Government. The King's Merchants according to
established custons were called upon to appraise
the value of the presents brought by me, and their
appraisement was so absurd, come of the most valuable
articles being valued at one sixth of their cost, that
I was obliged to declare to the Phra Klang, that what-
ever returns the King and Officers desived to make [
was willing to receive, but that 1 wonld have nothing
to say to any i nor would I cond d
to regard these presents as a matter of traffic. This
declaration shamed the Phra Klang to add to the valuo
of our presents and to increase the amount of their
returns,  Next came the difficulty of ensuring the
proper weight and quality of each article, and as the
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best and indeed only means of overcoming thisdifficnlty,
I was induced to offer to the Commander of the
Guardian the usual Commission of 2} per cent upon
the amount of the Goods. in orler to engage him
to examine and weigh the several articles brought on
board. The same exertions to impose and to weary
out patience which the Siamese Officers are accnstomed
to practice upon private Merchants who visit Bangkok
were made in this case also. Day after day the same
Doats with bad sugar were brought to the Vessel, and
declared to be other boats mewly arrived from the
Sugar districts and the most impudent attempts wero
made to induce Captain Sutherland to receive Sugar
of an inferior quality, or with short weight. As 1
know that neither the King nor Wang-na was
aware of these mal ices, 1 g d a lai
to the latter on one occ

casion. through the Rajah of
of Ligor, and the Officers were immediately ordered
to take back some of the Articles and to bring
others of a better quality. In cousequence of these
arrangements on onr part 1 am happy to state there
is every reason to believe that the produce of the
Siamese presents will exceed the sum of 14,000
TRupees which I reported to the Supreme Government
as the smallest return that would be made for the
presents with which I was authorized to provide
myself.  The returns ave made according to preseribed
custom, in productions of the Country and the Phra
Klang will supply me with a detailed list specifying
the quantity given by each Member of the Court.
The Commander of the Guardian reports the whole
as follows :

Catties
Sugar 5 22
1bs.
Aguila Wood 7 — 154
Elephants Teeth ... 3 44
Sapan Wood e 150
Tin - 82 29
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219. I have had several discussions with the
Phra Klang, Raja of Ligor and Phya Phiphut as to
the propriety of the King of Siam answering himself
the Governor General's letter. I declined at once, as
Mr, Crawfurd did, to receive an answer from the Phra
Klang and assuring them that all other Sovercigns in
India wrote themsclves to the Governor General,
T pointed out that the letter which I had the honor to
to deliver was one, which appeared to me above all
letters to require an answer from the King of Siam
himself as it tendered such personal compliments and
congratulation to His Majesty wpon his accession to
the throne. On the 2nd July Phya Phiphut called
upon me with the drwfts of the replies which are
proposed to be made to the letters, that 1 had brought
from the Governor General to the King of Siam and
from Mr. Secretary  Swinton, the Houorable the
Governor of Penang and Mr. Crawfurd to the Phra
Klang. I was happy to find that T had suceeeded in
persunding the Court of the propriety of the King of
Niam himself writing to the Governor General. The
proposed letter from His Majesty appears to me
umobjectionable, with exception of its being styled “ a
Mandate” in the same manner as the letters written by
the Emperor of China to the King of England. T should
not have succeeded and therefore did not attempt to
make the King of Sinm write to the Governor
General as an equal or to deviate from the language
invariably used in His Majesty’s correspondence.
His letter is accompanied by one addressed by the
Pira Klang to the Gavernor Geneml and I was
assured that this is the established custom with
respect to the corvespondence of this Court with
China and Cochin China. The King's letter is always
accompanicd by one from the Phra Klang, entering
into such details as the Phra Klang is supposed to
be better qualified than Hiss Majesty to communicate.
There are two other letters addressed to the Governor
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General by the Phra Klang, reporting ® the release
upon my application of John Baptist Gabriel and
the five Native Christians, and of the Burmese and
Peguers brought awsy by the Siamese from the
Provinces of Martaban, Tavoy and Mergui. Finding
that 1 could not persuade Phya Phiphut of the
propriety of the Phra Klang writing to the Secretary
to Government only, 1 explained to him well, that
the Governor General could not reply himself to
the Minister's Jetters, but that his Lordship would
direct the Secretary to Government to do so, and
Phya Phiphut acknowledged that according to the
terms of the Treaty which the English and Siamese
are now about to conclude, both parties may follow
their own customs, and neither can take offence
at any thing which the other may do according to
the established customs of his country. Some
alterations were however made at my suggestion in
the drafts of these letters and I was promised copies
of the whole, upon receiving which 1 shall annex
translations of them to this Journal.

220. On the 4: of July the Raja of Ligor sent
to me the two Copies of the Treaty with the Siamese
and Malayan versions transcribed. I now found
mysell in much embarassment as to the best course
which I ought to pursue in preparing the English
Translation. The whole of the Treaty had been
lllEcﬂSbcd and originally written in the Siamese

g a language full of itions and
Were I to make a translation of it m(h reference
to the idioms of the English language, and such a
translation as would bear the criticism of Europeans,
I should have to retrench nearly one half of the
original Siamese, and as this Court jealous and
suspicious at all times, would I knew, submit my
translation to its Interpreters, to the Portuguese
Consul, or to any other persons who may hereafter
visit the Country, any omission or reduction of
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rentences in the English version would appear to
have been made with some evil intention, and would
tend to destroy the whole value of tho Treaty. I
had provided myself with Siamess and Tortuguese
versions of the publio Letters which T brought, bt
the Court, notwitl ing, had other 1
made here both in the Portuguese and Siamese
languages.  Whilst discussing the Treaty I attempted
vepeatedly to reduce the length of each Asticle,
and often proposed, that instead of setting down that
*the English shall not go and intrude” &e. &c. and
then that “the Siamese shall not” &e. in the very
same words, the Article should say at once *Neither
the Siamese nor the English shall intrude” &e.
But the Ministers objected decidedly to such a con-
struction of the sentences stating that it was con-
trary to the Siamese custom and that it could not
possibly render the meaning of the Articles so clear
and precise as to put down separately what either
party engaged.  After some hesitation I determined
at length upon annexing to the Treaty as literal
a Translation as I possibly conld make from the
original Siamese, and although such Trauslation
appear verbose and quaint, 1 hope my Superiors will
consider my determination as judicious with reference
to the peculiar character of this people, their jealousy
at all times, but of late so much excited by our
conquests in Ava, and by the mischievous reports of
incendiaries, and their profound ignorance of all the
principles of international law, and of the form even
of drawing up a Treaty. Very few of the Sinmese
themselves comprehend the meaning of the Bali titles
of the King and Wangna, but I made every enquiry
from the most intelligent Officers, according to whose
explanations I set down the English translations
of the phrases at the head of the Treaty.

221. On the 10 July we were invited to meet
the six Ministers and regularly seal the Treaty; it was
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perhaps in my power to have delayed this act for
several days, or until I received further instructions
from Bengal, but the considerations which appeared
to me to oppose any such delay were the following.
The Siamese are so fickle and thoughtless, as well as
procrastinating a race that the impression, which the
sucoess of our war against Ava had produced, is fast
wearing away, snd I saw that if I did not take im-
mediate ad e of this i ion, the

of a few more weeks would revive and strengthen the
the opposition of the Phra Klang and of his party,
would dissipate the fears of those Members of the Court
who believe in the reports of our hostile intentions,
and would preclude all chance of my bringing the
Court of Siam to any adjustment of the points at
issue between us. The Supreme Government also, T
considered, would desire to possess as soon as possible
some plan of settling our relations with Siani, and the
plan comprised in the Treaty armnged between the
Siamese Ministers and myself would perhaps set at rest
the doubts which are entertained as to the policy
on the Coast
of Tenasserim bordering on the Siamese dominions.
1 clearly saw that if 1 had quitted Bangkok without
armanging some adjustment of the points at issue
between the two Governments and removing the fears
and mistrust of the Sinmese Ministers, the present Mis-
sion would have placed our political and commercial
relations with Siam upona more unsettled and unsatis-
factory footing than that on which it had found them.
I may add here my own deliberate conviction that
if the present Mission had not availed itself of the
oppartunity which was now afforded it, nothing short
of declmation of war would have hereafter secured
the objects which it has gained,

of our retaining any possession

At 8 I. M. we proceeded to the Palace of Prince
Krom Meun Surin, where Chao Phya Pholli-thep as
well as the other five Ministers were assémbled with
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their large silken bags containing the Seals of their
Offices, To the Chao Phya of Ligor the Princs
allotted the task of applying the Seals which being cut
in relief and used with paint could not make a good
impression on English paper without its being
previously moistened with water. The Raja took at
least a quarter of an hour to make each impression,
and it was ludicrous to observe the childish interest
and delight with which most of the Siamese, and
particularly the Phra Klung watched his progress and
success. 1 omitted to notice before that the reason
why the Ministers ohjected to furnish me at once with
the Royal seal to the Treaty arose from the circumstance
of the Portugnese Consul having armuged a Treaty
with the Phra Klang, and forwarded to Goa six years
ago without the slightest notice Imung ever been
taken of the d by the P

I could not remove the doubts of the Ministers
that the Britith Government of India might
serve the present Treaty, in the same manner,
and T was told that the King of Siam's Seal could
not be put to the lazard of being treated
with neglect or disrespect. Aftor I had sealed
and signed, I notified to tha Ministers my intention
of quitting the Country at the ensuing spring tides,
aud requested them to apply to His Majesty to
grant me an audience of leave. This request wags
met by the Phra Klang by the old answer that
Me. Crawfard had not an audienco of leave and that
it is not the custom for the King to grant one. I
replied that Prince Krom Chiat had never told Mr.
Crawfurd that it is not the custom for the King
to grant an audience of leave to Foreign Ambassadors,
but had on the contrary made many apologies to
Mr. Crawfurd, explaining that family distress pre-
vented His Majesty from giving that Gentleman
another audience, and observed that as the public
wind at Bangkok had been much unsettled from
reports of the hostile intentions of the British
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Government, and as a Treaty of Peace and Friendship
had now been concluded between the two Nations,
many important benefits would attend my taking a
proper and public leave of His Mojesty the King of
Siam. The inhabitants of Siam would see me quit
the Conntry in the most friendly manner and 1 should
have an opportunity of being satisfied that His
Majesty would confirm the Treaty which I had
arranged with his Ministers. The Phra Klang said
that the Ministers dared not submit my request to
the King, as it was contrary to the customs of the
Country, but after some discussion the Prince, with
his usual politeness, agreed to represent the matter
to his Majesty.

223. 1 am assured, that the Cochin Chinese
Ambassadors never have more than one audience.
Loubere speaks of an Ambassador receiving an
audience of leave as a matter of course, but
Tachard observes that it is not always granted
The Portuguese Consul on his first visit from
Macao, and the Netherlands Envoy from Java, both
received audiences of leave from his late Majesty, and
the ceremony I thought, was peculiarly called for
in our case.

224. On the 14th July Phya Phiphut brought
to me the Six Native Christians with a request from
the Ministers that I should interrogate the parties
and take with me only those who were desirous of
quitting Siam. The following are the names of the
Christians, John Baptist Gabriel, Michael James®
Gabriel, Simon Michael, Tlario de Rozario and Joseph
Ignacio. The last mentioned only having formed n
connection at Bangkok expressed a desire to remain.
The other five were delivered over to me and put on
board the Guardian. At the same time Phya Phiphut
delivered to me copies of the public letters from the
King and Phra Klang and I annexed translations of
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the same : Nos. 38, 89, 40, 41, 42, 43, 44, and 45.
With the assistance of the Siamese Moonshes and of
o Siamese Dictionary and other grammatical works
which T induced some of the Native Christians at
Bangkok who joined to a thorough knowledge of the
! e some i with Latin, t pile for
me 1 have made as literal translations as possible of
the letter from the King of Siam and of the Ist letter
accompanying it from the Phra Klang and as these
translations will suffice to afford examples of the
tautological structure and peculinr style of Sinmese
composition, 1 have translated the other letters more
freely and in a less prolix and tiresome language.
These letters show one thing clearly, that the King
and Court of Siam are fully aware of the use
aud importance of the Treaty which they
have concluded. 1 ammex also a translation,
No. 46, of a letter addressed by the Rajah
of Ligor to the Honble. the Governor of Prince of
Wales Island a copy of which His Highness furnished
to me, and I take this opportunity of declaving that
although the Rajah's personal interests led him to
oppose me most strenuously upon the subject of the
restoration of the King of Kedah, upon every other
«uestion 1 found him intelligent, ready to oblige and
eminently useful.  Indeed his feelings with respect to
Kedah appeared to quicken his zeal and anxiety to
oblige me on all other points and to urge him to
prevent me from making an unfavourable report of his
conduct to my Government. The Raja’s Letter, which
T did not see until after my departure from Bangkok,
demonstrates Lis fears that the Government of Prince
of Wales Island may anticipate him at Persk and
foreclose his interference there, a measure which I do
not conceive it will be difficult to execute, if the Raja
and Chiefs of Perak are true only to themselves, But
the Malay partizans of the Raja of Ligor at Perak
assure his Highness that the Raja and principal Chicfs
of that State are afraid of our encroachments as well
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as of Salengore and that they really desire His
Highuess's protection. Indeed nothing that 1 could
show or say at Bangkok was able to remove the
impressions founded on the communications that had
passed between the Raja and Chiefs of Pernk and the
Rajo of Ligor.

225. Onthe same day Chao Pya Phia Klang
applied to me for permission to send 4 or 5 of hix
followers with 200 Piculs of Sugar on board the

Guardian, upon a Mercantile speculation, for the
purpose of purchasing  Bmeralds and some other
Articles at Calcutta.  Although T foresaw wany
objections to my granting this request and although
my private feelings were strongly against obliging the
Ministes still I conceived it prudent and politic to try
and make him forget our constant disputes and to leave
a favourable impression npon his mind. I consented
therefore to receive his Sugar and followers and to
afford the latter every assistance in my power. The
principal of the followers isa Native Christian named
Pascal Martine, who has been in the habit of trading
Dbetween Bengal, Ceylon and Siam and in favor of
whose appsarance or information little can be said.

226, From the time of the departure of the 643
prisoners for Bangnarom, Phya Thep sent almost daily
Sor 10 persons deseribed to have been brought from
the Martaban Districts and to be desirous of remain-
in Siam, for the purpose of ourselves examining and
ascertaining their wishes, But so much was done to
prevent these prisoners from exercising their own free
will, women beiag brought to us without their children,
and men without their wives, that I wrote at last to
the Ministers stating it would be idle for us to put
any questions to these people, considering the circums-
tances and the threats and intimidation under which
they wero brought to us, and that 1 must therefors
request that the whole of them should be sent
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back at once to the Martaban Districts whence if any
desired to return to Siam the British Government
would not prevent their doing so. Only 8 were not
afraid to disclose their real wishes to us, and as they
were too small a party to be sent overland, T deter-
mined at their request to convey them to Prince of
Wales Island on board the Guardian.

227. Oan the 16: Phya Phiphut called upon me
to signify that his Majesty had appointed the follow-
ing day for giving us an audience of leave. We found
again the favorable disposition of the King towards
us, for we heard that the moment he was apprized
of our desire of seeing him before our departure, ho
expressd his readivess to gratify us. 1 now drew up
an address to the King in the Siamesg language
aud giving it to the Phra Klang requested that he
would lay it before the Ministers for their previous
examination and for permission that the same might
be read before his Majesty. A fow verbal alterations
only were made by the Ministers. The address was
short, stating that we now appeared before his Majesty
for the purpose of asking leave to return to Bengal, that
wo are deeply impressed with the many favours which
his Majesty had conferred upon us, that we should not
fail to report in every foreign Country, the superior
understanding and many virtues of the present King
of Siam which are of such a nature as to make all men
consider that the Almighty has conferred a blessing
upon the Country and people of Siam in appointing
such a Sovereign to reign over them. We thanked
him in the strongest terms for the release of the
Mergui and Martaban prisoners and alluding to the
Treaty of friendship and Commerce which had been

ged with the Mini we pointedly stated that
we had no doubt that the English would receive and
abide Ly the Treaty, and that if the Sismese Governors
and Custom-house Officers would only act up to its
stipulations with truth and sincerity we were confident
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that Commerce at Bangkok would receive great
increase, and that the English and Siamese Nations

would everywhere live on terms of the greatest good -

will, harmony and friendship. The address concludedt
by offering up our sincere good wishes for his Majesty's
hiealth, happiness and long reign.

228, At 10 DL of the 17 : July we proceeded
with the same state and ceremony ns on the former
occasion to the King's Palace. At our entrance we
found that his Majesty did not intend to hold so
great a Court as before. Tho Officers were not
in their full dress, and his Majesty was seated
not on his Throne but on a lower platform. These
circumstances however were pointed out to us as
proofi of his Majesty's favorable disposition. We wero
now it was said, to be received and treated as friends
and wo were supplied with some wax candles and
flowers to present to his Majesty, according to the
custom in use with his own Officers, when they request
an audience of leave. Shortly after taking our scats,
Phya Phiphut explained the object of our presence.
His Majesty asked how many months we had been
at Siam and whether the Mission Vessel continned
well found in tackle and vigging. Phya Phiphus
then read out a list of some presents of Jewels, which
1 tendered to his Majesty, who observed quickly,
 What, presents when yon come and presents also
when you are departing " 1 explaived that T offered
these as proofs that I quitted Siam impressed with
true respect for his Majesty and with good will
towards every person in the country. Phya Phiphut
next read out my address. The King seemed evident-
ly pleased with it, and he was at a loss for some time
what answer to make. At length he said, the Treaty
which you have concerted with my Ministers I will
take care shall be strictly fulfilled, but you must see that
the English receive and respect it properly, and if they
do so, you will bave a very great name in every

T A e g
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Siameso Country. His Majesty asked in what direction
1 shonld be employed upon my return from Siam, T
veplied that it would depend  entirely upon the will
of the Governor General. T was now called upon
to explain +the situation and character of the
different countries which we have retained from the
Burmese. The King put some questions respecting
Aracan to the Raja of Ligor and to Maha Yotha, who
were prostrate a little before us, and when Maha Yotha
explained that the Arracanese ave ealled Ye-Kains
by the Burmese, his Majesty doubted tho correctness
of my information, that it is only 40 or 50 yeara
since Arracan was subdued by Ava stating  that
there were a great many Ye-Kains in the Burmese
Avmy which captured Yothia. His Majesty nest
nsked our opinion as to the probable length of
our passage to Singapore, Malacea, Penang and
Bengal and wishing us a safe and pleasant voyage
he desired me upon my arrival at Caleutta to
communicate to the Governor General his Majesty's
camnest good wishes for the health and happiness
of his Lordship and of his Family. The King then
onlered the Phra Klang to furnish the Mission Vessel
with 20 days provisions for all on board and tho
Curtaing of cloth of Gold were drawn before him.
The Audience on this occasion lasted twice as long
as the former one, and we had a much better
opportunity of seeing his Majesty. We were assured
that he was much pleased, and that he had treated
us with dinary kind and i
At the close of the Audiencs Captain Macfarquhar
and myself were presented by the Phra Klang, in
the name of the King, with Siamese dresses of
Silk and gold Cloth.

220. We met Nakhoda Ullee at the King's
audience ; he said that he hod returned three days
ago from Tringano the Sultan of which place he
had left seriously unwell, I may mention here,
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that T have reason to believe that the principal
object of Nakhoda Ullee's Mission to T
to prevent the Sultan from admitting the establish-
ment there of an English Factory. Some Mercantile
correspondence and connexion, which havo lately
arisen between the Sultan and some of our Merchants
at Singapore excited the fears of the Siamese
Ministers and Jed them to believe that the British
Government was about to form a Settlement at

ane was,

Tringano.

280, At 10 A, M. on the 18: we proceeded to

the Palace of the Wangma, whose Court and speeches-

were servile imitations of those of the King. His
Highness put precisely the same guestions, without
seeming to understand their purport or to care whether
any answer was made to them.  Maba Yotha and the
Phra Klang were present at this audience, but not
the Rajal of Ligor, whose absence was afterwards ex-
plained to us to be owing to the severe indisposition of
his eldest Son.  On our return from the Palace of the
Wangna we proceeded on board the Brig Guardian to
receive the public letters front the King and Phra
Klang. Phya Phiphut. Phya - Clicola, Radsithi and
some other Officers came in procession with one of
the King's state Boats, in whicl were the letters, and
6 or 7 large war Boats with Music and Streamers.
Wo were requested not to fire a salute as the Brig
was lying close to the cumbustible louses of the City,
Dut the Escort was drawn up on the Quarter deck,
and it presented Arms to his Majesty’s lotter, which
was received with every respect and form, and ina
manner that appeared highly to gratify the Siamese
Officers.

231. At 8 I’ M. every thing being ready for the
Brig Guardian to drop down the river, I proceeded to
take leave of the Phra Klang although suffering from a
very severe indisposition under which I had been
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labouring for the last five or six days. The Minister
was full of friendly professions, requested me to forget
all the disputes which we had had and engaged mo
to write to him and to let him know where [ may
hereafter be employed. He gave me an order for two
Cargo Boats at Paknam for the purpose of accompany-
ing the Brig and lightening her, should she be too
deep to cross the Bar and directed his eldest Son to
escort me to the Vessel which weighed Anchor at 11
oelock the same night.  No notice was taken of his
] Majesty’s order to supply us with 20 days provisions
and 1 presume that a charge for them will bo a source
of perquisite to the Phm Klang, Nodemand however
lias been made against the Mission Vessel for pilotage
anchorage or other port duties.

282, We arrived at Paknam in the middle of the
following day and allowed the Officers there to examine
the Crew and Vessel agreeably to the Treaty lately
arranged.  We had an opportunity of observing the
defences lately begun here. They consist of strong
lines of Palmira trees driven into the river in the
form of a crescent, running from the left bank towards.
the fort in the middle of the stream and leaving o
space sufficient for 2 or 3 Ships only to pass close to
the latter fort, to the guns of which as well as to those
of the fortifications on the right bank of the river all
vessels entering will be completely exposed. A chain
also is intended to be drawn upon emergency across
the narrow passage which is left. These defences are
better than what Ihad imagined the Phra Klang
could have executed, but the strength of the stream
will most probably throw down the piles in the course
of a short time, and the design is not original the
whole appearing to correspond exactly with what the
Siamese are described as having contrived in 1688
when they besieged the French at Bangkok.
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233, The Native Christian Port Captain arrived
here from Town with a Xlessage from the King to
know whether the Vessel required any Anchors or
Cables, and on the sams evening, having taken on
board @ very intelligent Pilot Khan Chit, we proceeded
out, but in consequence of the strong Southerly winds
our progress was very slow. The Commander of the
Guardian feared that as the night of the 18th was
the full Moon the tides would begin to full as in every
other part of the world on the 19th or 20th but for six
succecding days the spring tides, to our surprise,
continued unabated. The nature and periodical
changes of the tides at Bangkok seem uncertain and
very little known to Euaropean navigators. Our being
obliged to beat against a strong Southerly wind put us
aground every day and prevented our taking advantage
of the tide before it fell. On the 23d T sent up a
message to Bangkok requesting that any dispatches
which might arrive for me should be forwarded with-
out delay.

234, On the 24 : having lightened the Vessel by
removing as much of the public presents as we could
into the two Junks, a slight shift of wind from the
Westward enabled us to cross the bar at 11 o'clock at
night in 2} fathoms of water, the Brig drawing 11
feet. We crossed the bar at a spot much more to the
Westward than that pointed out by the Pilot, and
we found the tide wuch higher on this night than it
was on the night of the full moon. On coming in to
Siam, we had only a quarter less 2 fathoms of
water, although at that season the water on the bar is
said to be highest ; and we had before suspected that
the Siamese Pilots are instructed to navigate foreign
Vessels through the worst channels. For the sake of
future visitors it may be necessary therefore to
remark, that there is most water on the bar on the
third or fourth day after the full moon, and that to the
westward of the spot generally shown by the Pilot
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as the best to cross over, there is most probably a
deeper channe!,

235. On the 31: July having received back
the portion of the presents, which had been put
on board the Junks to lighten the Vessel and our
Messenger to Bangkok having returned with informn-
tion that no dispatches lad arrived there for us
down to tho night of the 20th we made sail and
took our final departure from Siam roads,

236. We were very happy to find by onr last
letters from  Bangkok, that immediately after we
left. that City the Native Merchants and inhabitants
came to visit Messrs. Hunter and Malloch, a measuro
which they had studiously avoided for soveral
months in consequence it is believed, of secret
orders from the Phra Klang, as well as of the
unsettled state in which the public mind at Siam
remained with respect to the hostile intentions of
the British Government, The audience of leave
from his Majesty and the manner in which the
Mission quitted Bangkok, must have left, as I had
hoped a very favorable impression on the minds of
ull classes of the inhabitants. Just before leaving
Bangkok the Portuguese Consul assured me, that
the Chiness Merch had d applicati
to the King and Phra Klang soliciting, that as the
English had made a very advantageous armngement
in favor of their trade the duties and port chages
upon the Commerce and Junks of the Chinese might
also be regulated and fixed. The Chinese in their
applications cited the same arguments which we
had been using for the last six months namely
that if the duties and charges are fixed and mado
moderate, the resort of Vessels to Bangkok will
become greater, and the trade and riches of Siam will
be much augmented.
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237. In the afternoon of the 10: of August
we anchored in Tringano Roads, where we were
obliged to stop and renew our supply of wood and
water. | sent a message on shore to the Sultan stating
that it was not my intention to land, but that if he
would depute n trusty Servant on board the Vessel T
wonld communicate to his Highness some particulars
of the proceedings of the Mission at Bangkok.
The Sultan immediately sent on board one of his
followers to whom I delivered a capy of the Preamble
to the Tre: with Siam and of the 1st and 12th
Atticles, desiring him at the same time to explain
clearly to his Master, that the British Government
had mot liberated him from Siamese Supremacy, nor
pledged itself in any manner to protect lis country
aguinst Siaw, to which therefore he must still pay
such respect and attention as he has hitherto been

accustomed to pay but that if the Siamese interrupt
trade and commercial intercourse at Tringano, his
Highness should send  immediate notice  to the
Honble. the Governor of Prince of Wales Island,
who will determine what degres of interference the
British Government may cousistently use in favor of
His Higlness. I was pressed much to land, and on
the following day the Sultan sent a special deputa-
tion on board to request that 1 would give His
Highness a meeting, and to thank me in the strongest
terms for what the Mission had done for him at
Bangkok as the 12: Article would now, 1 was assured,
quict the apprehensions of tho inhabitants of Trin-
srano, induce them to remain in the Country, whence
they Tiad begun to emigrate and encourage them to
prosecute and extend their agricultural and commer-
cinl pursuits. T was persuaded to land and give the
Sultan a meeting in the afternoon of the 12th, when
1 found his Highness in a most debilitated and
dangerous state of health. He is suffering and
apparently cannot suffer long, from an abscess in his
lungs. He was umable to stand and had me
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introduced to the door of his inner appart-
ment from which I conversed with him for a few
minutes only. 1 repeated to his Highness distinctly
the whole of what 1 had communicated before to
his Messenger, and his Higlness expressed much
gratitude for what Lad been done at Bangkok.
T requested him to send to the Rajah of Calantan a
copy of the paper which T had given to him. He
introduced me to his two Sons and I afterwards learnt
that Lis Highness intends to bequeathe his Crown to
the younger, a circumstance which will most probably
throw the country into confusion, as the eldest Son is
said to be a bold, turbulent character and he is
certainly of a most unprepossessing appearance.
Nothing could be more kind and lospitable than the
conduct of the whole of the Sultan's Officers to us,
and as on our passage to Siam we were searcely
noticed I presume that apprehension of giving
umbrage to the Siamese had before withheld them and
that the Treaty with Sinm had now produced this
alteration in onr favor. We left Tringano on the
same evening of the 12th August. The inhabitants
of Tringano had, as wsual, o report of a fleet of 25
ships being ready at Singapore to procead against
Banglkok.

238. We arrived at Singapore on the 25:
August, and I delivered to the Acting President Mr.
Presgrave, the letter addressed by the Phra Klang to
Mr. Crawfurd.  We proceeded on our voyage on the
morning of the 20th-and after touching at Malacea for
afewhours on the 2d. arrived at Prince of Wales
Tsland on the Sth of Septemiber.

(Signed ) H. BURNEY Captain.
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No. 34.
Bangkok 19 : June 1826.
To
THE OFFICER in CIVIL CHARGE of
MERGUL
Sir,

I do myself the honor to enclose a Dispatch under
a flying Seal addressed to Mr. Maingy the Civil Com~
missioner for the Provinces of Tavoy and Mergui, which
Dispatch I beg you will forward to him with all ex-
pedition. 1 have to apprize you also, that the Pegu
and Burmese Prisoners noticed in the Journal of my
Mission which is enclosed in the Dispatch to Mr.
Maingy are forwarded to you by this opportunity under
charge of a Native Christian Interpreter, named
Benedick. It will be necessary to provide (uarters and
provisions for the whole of these prisoners at Mergui
until Mr. Maingy can make arrangements for forward-
ing them to their former homes near Martaban, and as
a great proportion of these captives consists of women
and children, it would be an act of great benevolence
for you to detach a party from Mergui towards
Bangnarom, in order to bring up any stragulers or
sick who may have been left on the road during the
present unfavourable weather, I an sorry to declare,
that the Siamese Officers have provided these prisoners
with a very scanty supply and clothing. The salary
of Benedick is 20 Dollars per month and he has been
paid up to thisdate. 1 shall feel obliged by your re-
«questing the Civil C issi to send this I
erdown to Prince of Wales Island, his place of abode, by
the earliest opportunity.

1 have &ea
(Signed ) H. BURNEY Captain

Envoy to the Court of Siam.
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I have deemed it expedient to furnish Benedick
with two Copies of this letter and have directed
him to forward one Copy to you with all expedition
immediately upon his arrival at Bangnarom in onler
that yourself and the Officer at Tenasserim may be
sooner apprized of the approach of these prisoners
and may have it in your power to forward a supply
of rice, as well as a party of your men to meet
these prisoners and to afford them any assistance
which they may possibly require. It would be
judicious to have rafts prepared and ready at the
point where these prisoners will he obliged to embark
npon the Tinnau river. The number of prisoners
embarked here on board the ten Junks is as follows :—

Persons from Martalan Districts 630
Do. from Mergui who hal been left sick ... 10
Men who had returned from Mergui with Mr. Leal 8

Total ... 643

(Signed) 1. BURNEY
(A truo Copy)
(Signed) H. BURNEY.
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Bangkok 19: June 1826.
To,
George Swinton Esquire
Secretary to Government in the
Secreb and Political Department.
Sir,

Referring to the Dispatch which I had the honor
to transmit to you via Martaban on the 31: March,
I now beg toinclose the reply which the Ministers
of Siam lave given to my Memorial No. 24, together

with o continuation of my Journal from the 81:
March to the present date.

I am happy to report to you, that the conduct
of this Court towards the British Mission has of
late become much more friendly. The transmission
of the Draft of a Treaty tended much to pacify
its alarms, and the return of the Brig Guardian
has convinced the most suspicious of the truth
and faimess of our procecdings. Dut a perusal of
my Journal will enable Government to judge of
the patienco and persevernnce which are still requisite,
before a regular Treaty can be concluded with this
Court, and before the signing and sealing of which
instrument it is scarcely prudent to consider any
object as attained.

The Right Honorable the Governor General in
Council will be happy to hear, that 1 have succeeded
in rescuing another party of upwards of 600 prisoners,
which the Siamese carried away last year from
tho Burmese territorics in our possessions near
Martaban and I hope that His Lordship in Council
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will adjudge me to be correct in Delioving that
1 should not have been justified in relinquishing
all the other purposes of my. Mission, because I
had failed in effecting the vestoration of the Malayan
Government in Kedah.

It is wy intention to quit this Capital by
the beginning of the ensuing Month,
1 have &ea.
(Sigued) H. BURNEY Captain
Envoy to the Court of Siam.
(A tene Copy)

(Signed) H. BURNEY,
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Phya Phiphut Kosa records the words of their
Bxcellencies in order to deliver the same to Captain
Burney. Captain Burney has stated in the letter which
he submitted, that His Majesty the King of Sinm had
ordered the whole of the Burmese to be released, but
that seven persons are remaining with Phiya Soorasena,
and three persons with Phya Wisoot. Phya Wisoot
has been interrogated, who declares that the charge
that he has seizsd and confined some Mergui and
Tavoy men belonging to Captain Burmoy is false and
not trne.  If any person knows or saw it, let Captain
Burney produce him and have it sertled.  With respect
to the seven men with Phya Scorasena, when Phya
Ratnachak proceeded on the public Service and resided
at Martaban, he knew that Maha Oochina was at
Zittann, and he applied to the English Commanding
Officer of Martaban, to go and seize some of Maha
Oochina’s men, and bring them in for the purpose of
being examined respecting the public Service. The
English Commanding Officer gave a hundred of his
Pegu people to go with the people of Phya Ratnachak

and they caught seven Burmese belonging to Maha
Oochina. Phya Ratuachak reported it to the English
C ling Officer and requested to be allowed to
bring with him to

iam these seven persons, that
had been seized. The English Commanding Officer
said that Phys Ratnachak had seized them and
that he might take them away with him to Bangkok
for the purpose of being examined respecting the
public service, and when Phya Ratnachak seized these
persons e did not ses any English letter with them.
And when they were brought to Bangkok and
examined, they said that they were residents of
Zittaun, and they did not say that they had any
English letter. His Majesty the King of Siam, from
friendship towards the Governor General of Bengal
has twice liberated Burmese and Peguers belonging
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0 the English and inhabitants of Mergui, Tavoy and
Martal whom the Detacl on the Frontiers
brought in. and who Captain Burney reguested might
Le allowed to return home—and- the Seven Burmese,
whom Phya Ratnachak seized and brought heve, were
Maha Ooclina’s people. The English Commanding
Officer at Martaban permitted Phya Ratnachak to
take them away and did not object that they Lelonged
to the Fnglish. The people of those Burmess being
enemies, these Seven Burmese cannot be allowed to
o, The numbar of persons who have been released
excewds o thousand, and seven persons cannot be agy
object. It is certain that these are Mala Oochina's
peaple, and it is not proper for Captain Burney to
about their going.

Lutter written on Tuesday® on the 8: day of
55 Moon Era 1188 year Dog 8th.

the decs
Translated from the Siamese
(Signed) H. BURNEY,

Eavoy to the Court of Siam.
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THE powerful Lord, who is in possession of ev

good and every ty, the God Boodh, who dwells
over every head in the City of the Sacred aud Great
Kingdom of Si-a-Yoo-tha-ya (Titles of the King of
Sinw), Iucomprehensible to the head and Brain, The
\'wml Veauty of the Royal Palace, ®serens and
ble there (Titles of the Wangna or Second King
of Siam) have bestowed their commands upon  the
heads of their Excellencies the Ministers of high rank,
belonging to the Sacred and Great Kinglom of
e and frame a Trenty with
Captain Henry Burney, the English Envoy, On the
part of tho English Government, The Honble. East
India Company, who govern the Conutries in India
belonging to the English, under the authority of the
of the King and Parliament of England and the Right
Honorable Lord Amberst Governor of Bengal, and
other English Officers of high rank, have deputed Cap-

Si-n-Yoo-tha-ya, to assen

tain Burney as an envoy to represent them and frame a
Treaty with their Excellencies the Ministers of high
rank, belonging to the Sacred and Great Kingdom of
Si-a-yoo-tha-ya. in view that the Siamese and English
Nation may becoms great and true friends, connected
in love and affection, with genuine candour and si
cerity on both sides. Tie Siamese and English frame
two uniform Copies of a Treaty in onder that one Copy
may be placed in the Kingdom of Siam, and that it
may become known throughout every great and small
Province subject to Siam, and in order that one Copy
may be placed in Bengal, and that it may become known
throughout cvery great and small Province subject
to the English Government. Both Copies of the Treaty
will be attested by the Royal Seal, by the Seals
of their Excellencies the Ministers of high rank,
in the City of the Sacred and Great Kingdom of
Sisa-yoo-tha-ya, and by the Seals of the Right Honor-
able Lord Amherst Governor of Bengal, and of the

other English Officers of high raunk.
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ARTICLE 1st. The English and Siamese engage
in friendship, love and affection, with mutual truth,
sincerity and candour. The Siamese must not meditate
or commit evil, so as to molest the English in any
manner. The English must not meditate or commit
evil, 5o as to molest the Siamese in any manner. The
Siamese must not go and molest, attack, disturb,
seize or take any place territory or boundary belonging
to the English in any Country subject to the English.
The English must not go and molest, attack, disturb,
seize or take any place, territory or boundary belong-
ing to the Siamese in any Country subject to the
Siamese. The Siamese shall settle every matter within
the Sinmese boundaries according to their own will
and customs.

ARTICLE 2d. Should any place or Country,
subject to the English, do auything that may offend
the Siamese, The Siamese shall not go aud injure such
place or Country but first report the matter to the
English, who will examine into it with truth and
sincerity, and if the fault lie with the English—The
Iinglish shall punish according to the fault. Should
any place or Country subject to the Siamese, do any
thing that may offend the English, The Euglish shall
not go and injure such place or Country, but first
report the matter to the Siamese, who will examine
into it with truth and sincerity, and if the fault lie
with the Siamese, The Siamese shall punish according
to the fault. Should any Siamese place or Country
that is near an English Country, collect at any
time an Army or a Fleet of Boats, if the Chief
of the English Country enquire the object of such
Force The Chief of the Siamese Country must
declare it. Should auny English place or Country
that is near a Siamese Country, collect at any time an
Army or o Fleet of Boats, if the Chief of the Siamese
Country, enquire the object of such force, The Chief
of the English Country must declare it.
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ARTICLE 31. In places anad Countries b
longing to the Siamese and English, lying near
their mutual borders, whether to the East. West,
North or South, if the English entertain a doubt as
to any boundary, that has mot been ascertained,
the Chief on the side of the English must send a
letter with some men, and people from his frontier
posts, to go and enquire from the nearest Siameso
Chief, who shall depute some of his Officers and
people from his frontier posts, to go with the men
Delonging to the English Chief and point out and
settle the mutual boundavies, so that they wmay
he ascertained on both sides in a friendly manner.
If a Siamese Chief entertain a doubt as to auy
boundary, that has not ‘been ascertained, The Chief
on the side of the Siamess must send a letter with
some men and people from his frontier posts to go
and enquire from the neavest English Clief, who
shiall depute some of his Officers and people from
his frontier posts to go with the men belonging
to the Siamese Chief and point out and settle the
mutual boundaries go that they may be ascertained
on both sides in a friendly manner.

ARTICLE Ath, Should any Siamese subject
run and go and live within the boundaries of the
English, The Siamese must not intrude, enter, seize
or take such person within the English boundaries,
but must report and ask for lhim in a proper
manner and the English shall be at liberty to deliver
the party or not. Should any Euglish subject run and
»o and live within the boundaries of the Siamess,
The English must uot intrude, enter, seize, or taka
such person within the Siamese boundaries, but must
report and ask for him in & propsr mauner and the
Siamese shall be at liberty to deliver the party or not.

ARTICLE 5th. The English and Siamese having
luded a Treaty, ishing a sincere friendshi
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between them. Merchants, subject to the English, and
their Ships, Junks and Boats may have intercourse
and trade with any ° Siameso Country which has much
Merchandize, and the Siamese will aid and protect:
them, and permit them to buy and sell with facility.
Merchants subject to the Siamese, and their Boats,
Junks and Ships may have intercourse and trade with
any® English Country, and the English will aid and
protect them and permit them to bny and sell
with facility. The Siamese, desiring to go to an
English Country or the English desiring to go ton
Siamese Country must conform to the customs of tho
place or Country on either side ; should they ba ignor-
ant of the customs, the Siamese or English Officers
must explain them. Siamese subjects, who visit an
English Country, must conduct themselves according
to the established Laws of the Eaglish Country in
every particular. English subjects who visit & Siamese
Country must conduct themselves according to the
established Laws of the Siamese country in every
particular.

ARTICLE Gth.  Merchants subject to the
Siamese or English, going to trade either in Bengal,
or any Country subject to the English, or at
Bangkok or in any country subject to the Siamese,
must pay the duties upon Commnerces according to the
customs of the place or Country on either side, and such
Merchants, and the Inhabitants of the Conntry. shall
be allowed to buy and sell without the intervention
of ather persons in such Countries. Should a Siamese
or English Merchant have any Complaint or Suit, he
must complain to the Officers and Governors on either
side, and they will examine and settle the same
according to the established Laws of the placs or
Country on either side. If a Siamese or English Mer-
chant buy or sell, without enquiry and ascertaining
whether the Seller or buyer be of a bad or good
character and if he meet with a bad man, who takes
the property and absconds, The Rulers and Officers
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must make search and produce the person of the
absconder and investigate the matter with sincerity.
If the party possess money or property he can be
made to pay, but if he does not possess any, or if he
cannot be apprehended, it will be the Merchant’s own
fault.

ARTICLE 7th. A Merchant. subject to the
Siamese or English, going to trade in any English or |
Siamese Country and applying to build Godowns or
Houses or to buy or hire Shops, or Houses in which
to place his Merchandize, The Siamese or Fnglish
Officers and Rulers shall o at liberty to deny him
permission to stay. If they permit him to stay, he 5
¢hall land and take up his residence according to such
terms as may be mutually agreed on ; and the Siamese
or English Officers and Rulers will assisp and take
proper care of him, preventing the inhabitants of the
Country from oppressing him, and preventing him
from oppressing the inhabitants of the Country.
Whenever a Siamese or English Merchant, or subject
who has nothing to detain him, requests permission
to leave the Country and to embark with his property
on board of any vessel, he shall be allowed to do so
with facility.

. “desire” ARTICLE 8th. Tf a Merchant desired ® to go

In dup; copy. ; =
anl trade in any place or Country belonging to the
English or Siamese and his Ship, Boat or Junk
meet with any injury whatever, The English or
Sismese Officers shall afford adequate assistance and
protection. Should any Vessel bLelonging to the
Siamese or English be wrecked in any place or
Country where the English or Siamese may collect
any of the property belonging to such Vessel, The
English or Siamese officers shall make proper enquiry
and cause the property to be restored to its owner
or in case of his death to his Heir, and the Owner
or Heir will give proper remuneration to the persons
who may have collected the property. If any
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Siamese or English subject die in an English or
Siamese Country, whatever property he may leave
shall be delivered to his Heir. If his Heir be not
living in the same country, and, unable to come,
appoint a person by letter to receive the property,
the whols of it shall be delivered to such person.

ARTICLE 9th. Merchants, subject to the
English, desiring to come and trade in any Siamese
Country with which it has not been the custom to
have trade and intercourse, must first go and enquire
of the Governor of the Country. Should any Country
have no Merchanlize, the Governor shall inform the
Ship that has come to trade, that there is none.
Should any Country have Merchandize sufficient
for a Ship, the Governor shall allow her to come
and trade.

ARTICLE 10th.  The English and Siamese
mutually agres, that there shall be an unrestricted
trade Letween them, in the English Countries of
Prince of Wales Island Malacea and Singapore and
the Siamess Countries of Ligor, Merdilong, Singora,
Patani, Junkeeylon, Kedah and other Siamess pro-
vinces. Asiatic Merchants of the English Countries,
not being Burmese, Peguers, or Descendants of Europ~
eans shall bo allowad to trade freely overland and by
means of the Rivers. Asiatic Merchants, not being
Burmese, Peguers or Descendants of Europeans, desir-
ing to enter into and trade with the Siamese Dominions,
from the Countries of Mergui, Tavoy, Tenasserim and
Yé, which are now subject to the English, will be
allowed todo so frealy, overland and by water, upon
the English furnishing them with proper certificates.
But Merchants are prohibited to bring Opium, which
is positively a contraband article in the Territories of
Sinm and  should a Merchant introduce any, the
Governors shall seize, burn and destroy the whole of it.
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ARTICLE 11th. If an Englishman desire to
transmit a letter to any person in a Siamese or other
Country such person only and no other shall open and
look into the letter. If a Siamese desire to transmit a
letter to any person in an English or other Country
such person only and no other shall open and look into
the letter.

ARTICLE 12th. Siam shall not go and obstruct
or interrupt Commerce in the States of Tringano and
Calantan, English Merchants and subjects shall have
trade and intercourse in future, with the same facility
and freedom as they have heretofore had, aud the
English shall not go and molest, attack or disturb-
those States upon any pretence whatever.

ARTICLE 18th. The Siamese engage to the
English, that the Siamese shall remain in Kedah and
take proper care of that Country and of its people ;
the inhabitauts of Prince of Wales Island and of Kedah
shall have trade and intercourse as herctofore. The
Siamese shall levy no duty npon stock and Provisions
such as Cattle, Buffaloes, Poultry, Fish, Paddy and Rica
which the inhabitants of Prince of Wales Island,
or ships there, may have occasion to purchase
in Kedah, and the Siamese shall not farm
the mouths of Rivers or any Streams in Kedah but
shall levy fair and proper Import and Export
duties, The Siamese further engage, that when
Chao Phya of Ligor returns from Bangkok, he
shall release the slaves, personal servants, Family aud
Kindred belonging to the former Governor of Kedah
and permit them to go and live wherever they please.
The English engage to the Siamese, that the English
do not desire to take possession of Kedah ; that they
will not attack or disturb it, nor permit the former
Governor of Kedah or any of his followers to attack
disturb or injure in any mauner the territory of Kedah
or any other Territory subject to Siam. The English
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engage that they will make arrangements for the
former Governor of Kedah to go and live in some other
Country and not Prince of Wales Island or Prye, or in
Perak, Salengore, or any Burmese Country. If the
‘English do not Jet the former Governor of Kedah go
and live in some other Country as here engaged, The
Sinmese may continue to levy an Export duty upon
Paddy and Rice in Kedah. The English will not
prevent any Siamese, Chinese or other Asiatics at
Prince of Wales Island from going to reside in Kedah
if they desire it.

ARTICLE 14th. The Siamese and English
mutually engage, that the Rajah of Perak shall govern
his Country according to his own will. Should he
desire to send the Gold and Silver Flowers to Siam
as heretofore, The English will not prevent his
doing as he may desire. If Chao Phya of Ligor
desire to send down to Perak, with friendly inten-
tion Forty or Fifty men whether Siamese, Chineso
or other Asiatic subjects of Siam, or if the Rajah
of Perak desire to zend any of his Ministers or
Officers to seek Chao Phya of Ligor, the English
shall not forhid them. The Siames> or English
shall not send any force to go and molest, attack
or disturb Perak. The English will not allow the
State of Salengore to attack or disturb Perak and the
Siamese shall not go and attack or disturb Salangore.
The arrangements stipulated in these two last Articles
vespecting Perak and Kedah, Chao Phya of Ligor
hall execute as soon as he returns home from
Bangkok.

The fourteen Articles of this Treaty let the great
and subordinate Siamese and English Offisers
together with every great and small Province hear,
receive and obey without fail. Their Excellencies the
Ministers of high rank at Bangkok and Captain
Henry Burney whom the Right Honorable Lord
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Ambherst, Governor of Bengal, deputed as an Envoy to
vepresent His Londship, framed this Treaty together
in the presence of Prince Krom Meun Soorin Thi-raksa,
in the City of the Sncred and Great Kingdom of
Si-a-yoo-tha-yn. The Treaty written in the Sinmese,
Malayan and English languages was concluded on
Tuesday, on the first doy of the Seventh decreasing
Moon 1188 year Dog 8, acconding to the Siamese ra,
corresponding with the twentieth day of June 1826
of the European Era. Both Copies of the Treaty are
sealed and attested by their Excellencies the Ministers
and by Captain Henry Burney. One Copy Captain
Burney will take for the ratification of the Governor
of Bengal, and one Copy bearing the Royal Seal, Chao
Phya of Ligor will take and place at Kedah. Captain
Burney appoints to return to Prince of Wales Island
in seven months, in the second moon of the year
Dog 8, and to exchange the ratifications of this Treaty
o phra phak-dls  ith Phra Phaki di Bori-rak ® at Kedah. ‘The Siameso
Bort rak® In S 5 . "
aup: copy,  nnd English will form n friendship that shall be
perpetuated, that shall know no end or interruption,
as long as Heaven and Earth endure.

A literal translation from the Siamese
(Signed) H. BURNEY Captain
Envoy to the Court of Siam.
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Place for
The Seal of
the King of

Siam.

—
Seal of
Clino Phyn

Chak-Kri.

/s ot a7

Seal of \
Chao Phya } ( Chao Phya
Phea m.ng /’ \ Tharama,
e

Seal of

Chao Phya

Phollo-
thep.

Seal of
Chso Phya
Yomorat.

(Signed) H. BURNEY Captain
Envoy to the Court of Siam
from the Right Hon. the Governor
General of British India.
A true Copy
(Signed) H, BURNEY.
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Their Excellencies the Ministers and Captain H.
Burney having settled a Treaty of Friendship, con-
sisting of Fourteen Articles, now frame the following
Agreement with respect to English Vessels desiring
to come and trade in the City of the Sacred and
Great Kingdom of Si-a-yoo-tha-ya (Bangkok).

ARTICLE 1st.  Vessels, belonging to the
subjects of the English Government, whether Enropean
or Asiatics desiring to come and trade at Bangkok,
must conform to the established Laws of Siam in
every particular.  Merchants coming to Bangkok are
prohibited against purchasing Paddy or Rice, for
the purpose of ing the same as i
and if they import Firearms, Shot or Gunpowder,
they are prohibited ngainst selling them to any
party but to the Government.  Should the Government
not require such Fire Arms, Shot or Gunpowder
the Merchants must re-export the whole of them.
With exception to such Warlike Stores and Paddy
and Rice, Merchants of the English and Merchants at

& “interven-  Bingiok, may buy and sell without the interraption ®
tion " In dup:
copy. of any other parson and with freedom and facility.
Merchants, coming to trade, shall pay at once the
whole of the Duties and Charges, consolidated accord-
ing to the breadth of the Vessel. If the Vessel
bring an  Import Cargo, she shall ba charged
seventeen hundred (1700) Ticals for each Siameso
fathom in breadth.

If the Vessol bring no Import Cargo, she shall
be charged fifteen hundred (1500) Ticals for each
Siamese fathom in breadth.

No Import Export or other Daty shall be levied
upon the buyers or sellers from or to English subjects.

ARTICLE 2d. Merchant Vessels, the pro-
perty of English subjects, arriving off the bar, muat
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first anchor and stop thera, and the Commander of®
the Vessel must dispatch a person with an account of
the Cargo and a return of the People, Guns, Shot and
Powder on board the Vessel, for the information of the
Governor at the mouth of the river, who will send a
Pilot and Interpreter to convey the established Regul-
ations to the Commander of the Vessel, Upon the
Pilot bringing the Vessel over the Bar she must
anchor and stop below the Chokey, which the Inter-
preter will point out.

ARTICLE 3d. The proper Officers will go on
hoard the Vessel and examine her thoronghly, and
after the Guns, Shot and Powder have been removed
and deposited at Paknam ( Port at the month of the
Menam ) the Governor of Paknam will permit the
Vessel to pass up to Bangkok.

ARTICLE 4th.  Upon the Vessel arriving at
Bangkok the Officers of the Customs will go on board
and examine her, open the hold and take an account
of whatever Cargo may be on board ; and after the
breadth of the Vessel has been measured and ascertain-
«d, the Merchants will be allowed to buy and sell
aceording to the first Article of this agreement. Should
 vessel upon receiving an Export Cargo, find that she
cannot cross the bar with the whole, and that she
must hire Cargo Boats to take down a portion of the
Cargo, the Officers of the Customs and Clhokeys shall
not charge any further duty upon such Cargo boats.

ARTICLE 5th. Whenever a Vessel or Cargo Boat
completes her lading, the Commander of the Vessel
must go and ask Chao Phya Phra Klang for a Port
<learance and if there be no cause for detention Chao
Phya Phra Klang shall deliver the Port clearance
without delay. ‘When the Vessel upon her departure
arrives at Paknam, she must Anchor and stop at the
usual Chokey and after the proper Officers have gone on
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board and examined her, the Vessel may receive her
(uns, Shot and Powder and take her departure.

ARTICLE 6th. Merchants being subjects of the
English Government, whether Europeans or Asintics,
the Commanders, Officers, Lascars and the whole of
the Crew of Vessels must conform to the established
Liaws of Siam and to the stipulations of this Treaty in
every particular.  Tf merchants of every class do not
observe the Articles of this Treaty and oppress the
inhabitants of the Conntry, become thieves or bad men,
il men, speak offensively of, or treat disrespectfully
any great or subordinate Officers of the Country, and
the case become important in any way whatever, the
proper Officers shall take jurisdiction of it and punish
the offender. I the offence be homicide, and the
Officers, upon i igation, see that it p ded from
evil intention they shall punish by death. If it be
any other offence and the party be the Commander
or Officor of a Vessel, or a Merchant he shall be fined,
if ho be of a lower rank he shall be whipped or
imprisoned according to the established Laws of Sinm.
The Governor of Bengal will prohibit English subjects,
desiring to come and trade at Bangkok, against

king disrespectfully or ively in Siam to or
of the Great Officers. If any person at Bangkok
oppress any English subject, he shall be punished
according to his offence in the same manner.

The Six Articles of this agreement let the Officers
at Bangkok, and Merchants subject to the English
fulfil and obey in every particular.

A literal translation from the Siamese
(Signed) H. BURNEY Captain
Envoy to the Court of Siam.
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Place for
The Seal of
the Kiog of

Siam.

/
/4
- By
/ Seal of
Chao  Phya
Akha  Maha-

Eena,

/
/
( Chao Phya

Seal of

\ Tharama,

Seal of
Chiao Phya
Yomorat,

(Signed) H. BURNEY Captain
Envoy to the Court of Siam

from the Right Hon. the Governor

General of British India.

A true Copy

(Signed) H. BURNEY.
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No. 38.

MANDATE from  the Supreme Lo:d, who is in
possession of every good and every dignity, Full of
Justice, Great in the City of the Sacred and Great
Kingdom of Si-a-yoo-tha-ya, and the place of refuge.
for all human beings, bestowing blessings, with sacred
good will and abundant sacred favor, upon Lord
Anlierst Governor of Bengal.

With respect to the letter from the Governor
of Bengal oflering salutations with profound venera-
tion and respect which Captain Burney was appointed
Envoy to bring, explaining that the English Nation
had raised an Army to go and beat the Country of the
Burmese, and stating for the information of Siam that
the heart of the Governor of Bengal thinks of tho
road of friendship, and that the Burmese had become
the enemy of both pasties. Siam learning that the
English hiad vanquished the Burmese was very joyful.
Whereas the Governor of Bengal derived satisfaction
from our having ascended the Throne according to the
established Laws of the Kingdom, and the*Governor
of Bengal offers benedictions with sincere wishes, we
thank the Governor of Bengal very much. When
Marquis Hastings, the former Governor of Bengal,
appointed Mr. Crawfurd an Envoy to come and desire,
with the respect suitable to the English Nation, to
establish fricndship with Siam, the former Supreme
Lord possessing every good and every dignity and
Great in the City of the Sacred and Great Kingdom
of Si-a-yoo-tha-ya, entertaining sacred favor towards
the English Nation, granted that the Envoy should
be met and received according to the customs of
( suitably to) the friendship which had begun to be
formed between the Siamase and the English nations.
Friendship was then established and brought down.
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Ani now the Right Honorable Lord Amberst Governor
of Bengal is disposed to think of the former friendship,
and has appointed an Envoy to come and renew
and augment friendship, and now the Siamese and
English have increased friendship much be,
it formerly was, according to the manner
the Governor of Bengal. In that letter it is said
that only one thing is necessary, that the feiendship
between the English and Siamese may be prolonged
and that the English have no cause to covet or take
anything belonging to Siam.  On the part of Siam
alto, it cherishes friendship, does not meditato to
disturb or take anything in any place or Country
belonging to the English, and desires only to possess
friendship, and that the friendship which exists may
bo confirmed and handed down to futurity, and
that Merchants on both sides may be able to visit
and trade with freedom and facility. Whereas the
Governor of Bengal applies to make a Treaty that
friendship may be and i 1, and
that the countries subordinate on both sides may
be able to live in peace, with sincere and mutual
friendship, we think this measure correct and very
proper, and conformable to the established rules
of friendship. Whatever measures will establish and
prolong friendship between the English and Siamese
will be but beneficial to both parties. We directed
the Ministers of high rank and Chao Phya Ligor
Sithaurat ® to examin together with Captain Burney
every matter and they have agreed upon and settled
the whole business. Now let Chio Phya Phra
Klang Minister of high rank transmit a letter from
his Department according to the customs of Siam.
May the Governor of Bengal and the whole English
nation ever live in peaco and tranquillity, according
to their wishes. The road of friendship between
the Siamese and English will be prolonged and
perpetuated without knowing end or termination.
The subject of this Mandate written on Monday

Dlished
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the Gth day of the 8th increasing Moon according
to the Biamese era 1188 year Dog 8 (10: July 1826).
A literal translation from the Siamese.
(Sigued) H. BURNEY Captain

Envoy to the Court of Siam.
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No. 39.

LEITER from Akho-maha-sena Chao Phya Phra
Klaug Thipody, great man in the City of the Sacred
and Great Kingdom of Si-a-yoo-tha-ya, showiny matters
with joy to the Right Honorable Lord Amherst
Governor of Bengal.

With respect to the Right Honble. Lord Amherst
Governor of Bengal having, in the Siamese era 1188
year Dog 8, appainted Captain Henry Burney an
Envoy and Representative to take charge of a Letter
ngs, aud visit the City of the Sacred and
Great Kingdom of Si-a-yoo-tha-ya, as soon as Captain
Burney's Ship arrived at Men-ung Samooth proKan, T
aided and nssisted and submitted the matter with pro-
found veneration to the Supreme Lord who is in pos-
session of every good and every dignity The God
Boodh, who dwells over every head, who is fall of
sacred grace and justice, ix most honored, Excellent,
Exalted, and most high in the Sacred and Great
Kingdom of Si-a-yoo-tha-ya, and he was fully informed
and I arranged the Officers to form a procession of
Hoats to go down awd receive the Right Honble. the
Governor of Bengal's Letter and Captain Burney the
Envoy, and to bring them up to the City of the Sacred
and Great Kingdom of Si-a-yoo-tha-ya, according to
the customs of a great country forming a proper and
suitable friendship. The Supreme Lonl, The God
Boodh, who dwells over every head, granted upon
the head and brain for Captain Burney the Eavoy to
be admitted to an audience, to Salute with profound
veneration conformably ® to the customs of the
Kingdom. The Articles were tendered on the head
and brain, and matters submitted according to
every particular that was in the Right Houble.
the Governor of Bengal's letter. The Supreme
Lord, The God Boodh, who dwells over every head,
gave orders to go to the Sacred Firat Petitioned
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(Wangna) who is also high and spoke to and examined
Captain Burney and enquired after Lord Amherst
Governor of Bengal, with great and abundant sacred
favor, and whatever at the audience Captain Burney
submitted with profound veneration, and the Supreme
Lord, The God Boodh, who dwells over every lead,
onlered and spoke, are known to Captain Burney in
every particular and it was granted upon the head
and brain for the Officers to prepare such a louse as
as that in which foreigners are aceustomed to reside,
for the accommolation of Captain Burney, and Silver
was every month Dbestowed, with abundant grace,
to pay for the expence of his food. And [ introduced
Captain Burney to an audience to salute with protound
ation The I prehensible to the lead and
brain, The Sacred Beauty of the Palace, Infullible
and Serene there acconding to the customs of the
Country.  The Articles were tendered and matters
bmitted ding to every lar that was in
the Right Honorable the Governor of Bengal's Letter,
The Incomprehensible to the Head and Brain, The
Sacred Beauty of the Palace, Serene and Infallible
there ordered and granted upon the head and brain,
spoke to, and examined Captain Buruey and enquired
after Lord Amherst Governor of Bengal with yreat
and abundant sacred favor, and granted upon the
head and Drain, and bestowed Silver every month for
Captain Burney to pay for the expences of his food,
And at thie time that Captain Burney visited the
City, 1have met and received him, and looked after
him with joy. I have aided and assisted him in every
particular, nothing has been wanting.

When Marquis Hastings the former Governor of
Bengal, appointed in the Siamese era 1184 year Horse
4, Mr. Crawfurd an Envey to come to the City
and desire, with the respect suitable to the English
nation, to establish friendship, the former Supreme
Lord, possessing every good and every dignity Full
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of Sacred geace and justice, Most lonored and
most high in the City of the Sacred and Great
Kingdom of Si-a-yoo-tha-ya, entertaining sacred favor
towards the English nation, permitted Mr. Crawfurd
the Envay to be received according to the customs
of o great Country, beginning to form & proper and
suitable  friendship.  The Siamese and  English
established and brought down friendship. And now
the Right Honble, the Govemor of Bengal is
disposed to think of the former friendship, and has
appointed Captain Burney an Envoy to come and
venow and augment friendship. Friendship between
the English avd Siamese has become much more
intimate than before with mutnal respect and affection
and the Right Honble. the Governor of Bengal
sent to explain that the English nation had raised
an Army to go and beat the Burmese and to state
for the information of Siam that the heart of the
(iovernor of Bengal thinks of the road of friendship,
and that the country of the Burmese had become
an enemy to both parties. Siam learving that the
English had made war against and vanquished the
Burmeso received much joy. Whereas the Right
Honble. the Governor of Bengal had derived
satisfaction from the Supreme Lord. The God Boodh,
who dwells over every head, possessing sacred
virtne and highest dignity, having ascended the
“Throne and been crowned according to the established
Laws of the Kingdom, ruling the people under
heaven® aud the whole included within the dominion
of the City of the great and Sacred Kingdom of Si-a-
yoo-tha-ya and the Right Honble. the Governor of
Bengal offers Lenedictions with sincere wishes, that
‘The Supreme Lord The God Boodh, who dwells over
every head, may possess sacred continuance, The great
and subordinate Officers of Siam received joy and they
exceedingly thank The Right Honorable the Governor
of Bengal. And the subject of the Letter which the
Right Honble. the Governor of Bengal has now sent,
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states that only ons thing is necessary that the friend-
ship between the English and Siamese may be
prolonged and increased aud that the English have no
oceasion to covet or take wny thing belonging to
Siam.  Siam is thankful for this, and agrees to what
is said as to fixing friendship and conforming and
perpetuating it in the manner lieve mentioned.  Siam
does not meditate to disturb or take any thing in
any place or countey belonging to the English, and
desives to cherish friendship and that the friendship.
which exists, may be confirmed and that Merchants
and Traders on both sides way be able to visit and
trade peaceably and freely,  Whereas the Rights
Honble.  the Governor of Bengal desives to form a
T'reaty, that friendship may be fised and inereased
and that the countries subordinate on both sides may

be able to live in peace and not disturh each other
vespecting any event whatever because they would
b2 engaged in Treaty together, The Supreme Lo,
The God Boodh, who dwells over every head, granted
upon the head and brain, spoke and onlered, saying,
we think to form a Treaty in this manner is correct,
and very propar and according to the established
customs.  Friendship would be sincere, firm and
perpetuated.  Let the Ministers, great men, and
Chao Phya Ligor Sithamrat confer with Captain Burney
in a friendly manner. The Ministers then, and Chao
Phya Ligor Sithamrat jointly examined with Captain
Burney the measures which would fix and prolong the
friendship between the English and Siamese and prove
beneficial only to both parties. They agreed upon and
mutually approved of the matter and formed two Copies
of a Treaty, concluding it on Monday the 6: day of
the 8th increasing Moon according to the Siamese era
1188 year Dog 8 & (10 July) according to the
Christian era 1826. The Ministers and Captain Burney
have sealed and authenticated the Treaty. Captain
Burney takes one  Copy to Bengal and every
watter is explained in that Treaty, And the Articles
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which the Right Honble. the Governor of Bengal
tendered and sent as tokens of respect and remem-
brance to the Supreme Lord the God Boodh who
dwells over every head and to the Incomprehensible to
the head and brain The Sacred Beauty of the Palacs
Serene and Infallible there, they granted upon the
head and brain for the Officers to receive charge of
with friendship. And the Supreme Lord the God
Boodh who dwells over every head and the Incompre-
hensible to the head and brain the Sacved Beauty of
{he Palaco Serene and Infallible there granted wpon
the liead and brain for the Officers to prepare pro-
ductions of Siam and give them to Captain Burney to
take, which they bestow upon Lord Amberst Governor
of Bengzal with sacred good will and abundant sacredt
favor.

And the Articles which the Right Honble. the
Governor of Bengal sent and gave me with friendship
1 have received and taken with thanks and 1have
prepared productions of Siam and given them to
Captain Burney to deliver to the Right Honble, the
Governor of Bengal in a friendly manner. A list and
account of all the Articles 1 have drawn out and one
copy 1 send for explanation ®. I beg may the Right
Honble. The Governor of Bengal and the whols
English Nation ever live in peace and tranquillity.
The voad of friendship between the Siamese and
English will be confirmed and continued in future ax
long as the sun and Moon endure. Letter comes on
Monday the Gth day of the 8th increasing Moon
according to the Siamese era 1188 year dog 8
(10 July 1826).

A literal translation from the Siamese
( Signed ) H. BURNEY Captain
Envoy to the Court of Siam.
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List of the Articles which Captain Henry Burney
brought and presented to His Majesty the King of
Siam from the Right Honble. Lord Amherst Governor
of Bengal, and which the proper Officers received.

1 ‘Tonjon
1 Diamond Ring
1 Pair of Earrings of Envopean fashion
:..'_":.':::: 1 ©Comb (Tiara) of European fashion
1 Brooch of Do. Do,
1 Chain of pure gold
1 Pair of Spectacles with Green glass

1 Do. Do.  with white glass

1 Pair of green Gluss Branches with  shades
(Chandeliers)

1 Pair of Glass Candlesticks with yilt brancheg
(Candelabras)

1 swall cut glass Box

1 Opal Box

1 Piece of Green Broad Cloth
1 Do. of yellow Do. Do.
1 Do. of Scarlet Do. Do.
1 Do. of Lotus colour (Pink) Velvet
1 Dress of Brown colour with gold edging at the
bottom and sides
5 Picees of Gold and Silver flowered white cloth
2 Dresses of colored cloth with gold Howers
1 Piece of striped gold cloth (Bakla)
'.:":;:::’ 1 Roll of # Tat cloth with raised flowers
6 Pieces of Kim Khaub
4 Pieces of White Muslin
10 Do. of Broad Cotton Cloth
20 Do. of Bengal Do.  Do.
1 Na\vl(ushiunerl fowling piece (Gun with five Bar«
rels)
1 Pair of Pistols (with five Barrels each)
2 YFine Razors
4 Small clasp Knives
8 Pairs of Scissors.
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The King most graciously ondered the Officers to
prepare and deliver to Captain Burney to take as His
Majesty’s gift to the Right Honble the Gove. of
Beugal

1 Pecul of Aguila Woudl
10 Do. of Tin
150 Do, of Sapan Wool
249 Do. of Sugar

Atticles presented to His Highess the Wang-ua
from the Right Honble. Lord Amherst Gove. of Benwul
and received by the proper Officers

1 Palankeen

1 Diamond Rin;
1 Pair of Ear. turopean fashion

1 Brooch of Buropean fashion

1 Chain of pure gold

1 small cut glass Box

1 Opal Box

1 Pair of Spectacles with green plass

1 Do. Do, with white Do,

1 Piece of Green Broad Cloth

1 Do. of yellow  Do.

1 Do. of Scarlet Do,

1 Do, of Lotus colone Velvet

3 Do. of Gold and Silver flowere:l white clotl
# Do. of Kim Khaubs

3 Do. of White Muslin
10 Do. of Broad white cloth
20 Do. of Bengal Do

1 Fowling Piece

1 Pair of Pistols

2 Razors

3 Clasp Knives

3 Pairs of S

ssurs

The Wang-na most graciously ordered the officers
to prepare and deliver to Captain Burney to take as
His Highness gift to the Right Houble. the Gover-
nor of Bengal
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9 Elephants Teeth weighing 2 Peculs
21 Peculs of Tin
* Inthe Copy 305 Do, of Sugar®
of the List
furnished, 26
—— 'M':;:::, Captain Burney romained at Bangkok 7 mouths

bymistake.  and His Majesty the King of Siam bastowed upon
him 3 Catties of Silver (240 Ticals) every month
for his Table expences and His Highness the Wang-na
bestowed upon him every month for the xans purposs
1 Catty and 10 Tumelinzgs of Silver (120 Ticals).

Auticles presented from the Right Honble. the
Governor of Bengal to Prince Krom Meun Surin Thirak

1 Emerald Ring

Pair of Spectacles

White Shawl

Pieco of Kim Khaub

Pieces of Blus Gloth

Do.  of Europe Chintz

1 Do. of Broad white Cloth

4 Do. of Bengal Do.

2 Do. of Gold flowered white Cloth
1 Do. of Do red Cloth
1
1
2

Do. of Green Broad Cloth
Do.  of Searlet Do.
Guos with Stocks cut ( Fowling Picces )
4 Small Muskets ( Carbines )
1 Razor
1 Clasp Knife
2 Prs. of Scissors,

His Highness received the same and ordered the
Officers to prepare and give to Captain Burney to take
and deliver to the Right Honble, the Governor of
Bengal.

* Dup:eopy  ©40) Peculs of Sugar.
has «20%
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Articles presented from the Right Honble. the
Governor of Bengal to Prince ® Krom Meun Rak
Ronnorat.

1 White Shawl
1 Piece of Kim Khanh
4 Do. of Blue Cloth
3 Do. of Europe Chintz
1 Do. of Broad white cloth
4 Do. of Bengal  Do.
1 Do. of Gold flowered white cloth
1 Dress of Do. Do.
1 Piece of White Muslin
1 Do, of Green Broad cloth
1 Do. of Scarlet Do.
2 Powling Pieces
4 Small Muskets
1 Razor
1 Clasp Knife
2 Pairs of Seissors.

His Highness received the same and ordered the
Officers to prepare and give to Captain Buruey to
deliver to the Right Honble. the Governor of Bengal

236 Peculs of Sugar.

Atticles ordered by the Right Houble. the
Governor of Bengal for Captain Burney to bring and
give to Chao Phya © Ophai Phoo Thon Akmahaseva
Thibody Choo Jai (Chakri)

1 Piece of Kim Khaub

1 White Shawl

1 Piece of gold flowered white cloth
1 Do. of Broad white cloth

4 Do. of Bengal white cloth

1 Do. of Long cloth ®

4 Do. of Blue cloth
2
H
EH

g8

Do. of Europe chintz
Do. of Green cloth
. of Scarlet Do.

1=}
1
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Fowling Piece
small Muskets
Pair of Spectacles
Razors

Clasp Knife
Pairs of Scissors.

b 1o

The Chakri received the same and prepared and
delivered to Captain Burney to take and present to
the Right Honble. the Governor of Bengal

4 Elephants Teeth weighing 1 Pecnl
15 Peculs of Sugar.

Articles presented from the Right Honble. the
Goveruor of Bengal by Captain Burney to Chao Phya
Akhomahasena Thibody Phoo Jai ( Kalahom ).

Piece of Kim Khanb

White Shawl

Piece of gold flowered white cloth
Do.  of Broad white cloth
Do. of White Muslin
Do.  of Bengal white Cloth
Do.  of Blue Cloth
Do.  of Europe Chintz
Do. of Green Broad Cloth
Do. of Scarlet Do.

small Muskets

Pair of Spectacles

Razors

Clasp Knife

Pairs of Scissors

1 Turnscrew.

L R

W= o -

The Kalahom received the same and prepared and
delivered to Captain Burney to take and present to
the Right Honble. the Governor of Bengal

20 Peculs of Sugar.
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Atticles presented from the Right Honble. the
Governor of Bengal by Captain Burney to Chao Phya
Phra Klang Akmalasena Thibody Phoo Jai

(5]

Pieces of Kim Khaul
Do.  of Broad white Cloth
Picce  of Green Broad cloth
Piece of Yellow Bromd cloth
Do. of Searlet  Do. Do,
Pairs of Spectacles
Pieces of gold flowered white cloth
Double Barrelled Fowling piece
'air of Pistols
Chain of puve gold
Pair of Emerald Ear-rings
Diamond Ring
Pair of chains for Bracelets

(O

(O]

Fine Razors

Clasp Knives
Pairs of Scissors,

-

The Phra Klang received the same and prepared
and gave to Captain Burney to take and present to
the Right Honble. the Governor of Bengal,

180 Peculs of Sugar.

Atticles presented from the Right Honble. the
Governor of Bengal by Captain Burner to Phya
Si-phi-phut Ratonomt Kosa.

1 Dress of white eloth with gold sprigs
1 Piecs of gold flowered white cloth

1 Do of Long Cloth

1 Do. of White Muslin

1 Do. of Blue cloth

1 Do. of Green Brond cloth

4 Do. ofScarlet Do. Do.

1 Pair of Spectacles

1 Fowling Piece.
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2 Sinall Muskets
2 Razors

1 Clasp Knifo

2 Pairs of Scissors.

Phya Si-phi-phut received the same and prepared
and delivered to Captain Burney to take and present
to the Right Honble. the Governor of Bengal

20 Peculs of Sugar.

Articles presented from the Right Honble. the
Governor of Bengal by Captain Burney to Phya Krai

® Dupicopy @ Kyaa-Thibody.
has “Kosa."

of gold flowered White Cloth
. of Broad white cloth

. of Blue Cloth

. of Enrope Chintz

2 Dyesses of Broad Cloth

6 Muskets

2 Razors

1 Clasp Knife

2 Pairs of Scissors,

Pliya Kuai received the same aud prepared and
delivered to Captain Burney to take and present to
the Right Honble. the Governor of Bengal

16 Peculs of Sugar.

Articles presented from the Right Honble, the
Governor of Bengal by Captain Burney to Chao Phya
Maha Yotha

1 Shawl
1 Piece of Brond white cloth
6 Muskets
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2 Pjeces of Burope Chintz

2 Dresses of Scarlet Broad Cloth
1 Clasp Knife

1 Bottle of Sandal Wood 0il

1 Bullet Mould

1 Pair of Scissors.

Chao Phya Maha Yotha received the same and
prepared and delivered to Captain Burney to take and
present to the Right Honble. the Governor of Bengal

20 Peculs of Sugar.

Atticles presented from the Right Honble. the
Governar of Bengal by Captain Burney to Phya Phi-
phut Kosa Rat Bolat.

1 White Shawl

1 Piece of Broad White Cloth
2 Do. of Bengal Do. To.
2 Do. of Blue Cloth

2 Do. of Europe Chintz

4 Do. ot Green Broad Cloth
4 Do. of Searlet Do, Do,
1 Fowling Piece

2 Small Muskets

2 Razors

2 Pairs of Scissors.

Phya Phi-phut received the same and prepared
and delivered to Captain Burney to take and pre=-
sent to the Right Honble. the Governor of Bengal

2 Elephants Teeth weighing 36 Catties
7 Catties of Aguila Wood
15 Peculs of Sngar

Articles presented from the Right Honble. the
Governor of Bengal by Captain Burney to Phya Thep
‘Worochhoon Rat-bolat,
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1 White Shawl

2 Pieces of Europe Chintz
1 Fowling Piece

2 Razors

1 Clasp Knife

1 Pair of Scissors.

Phya Thep received the same and prepared and
delivered to Captain Burney to take and present to
the Right Honble. the Governor of Bengal.

7 Peculs of Sngar

Articles presented from the Right Honble. the
Governor of Bengal by Captain Burney to Phya Choola
Rat Montri,

1 Shawl Handkerchiet

1 Dress with gold border

4 Pieces of Blue Cloth

1 Piece of Broad White Cloth
1 Piece of Sana Cloth

2 Dresses of Scarlet Broad Cloth
1 Do. of Green Do. Do.
6 Chintz Handkerchiefs

1 Fowling Piece

2 Muskets

1 Razor

2 Pairs of Scissors

1 Pair of Spectacles,

Phya Choola received the same and prepared and
delivered to Captain Burney to take and present to
the Right Honble. the Governor of Bengal.

10 Peculs of Sugar.

Articles presented from the Right Honble. the
Governor of Bengal by Captain Burey to Phya
Wisooth Kosa Rat-holat.
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1 Shawl.
1 Pieen of broad Whits cloth
Do. of Bengal white cloth
0. of Europe Chintz
Do, of Blue Cloth

Do. of Broad Cloth

1 Pair of Spectacles

2 Fowling Pieces.

—_
1=

1 Razor
1 Clasp Knife
1 Pair of Scissors.

Phya Wisooth receivel the same and prepared and
deliverd to Captain Burner to take and present to
the Right Honble, the Governor of Bengal.

20 Peculs of Sugar.

Translated from the Siamese
(Signed) H. BURNEY  Captain
Envay to the Court of Siam.

Resides the Presents above enumerated the follow=
ing were given by and returned to Captain Burney,

To the King of Siam
1 Pair of Brass Six Pounders
6 Blunderbusses
2 Pieces of Kim Khaub
1 White Shawl
A Set of Pink Topaz Ornaments.

Returned
9 Peculs of Tin
60 Peculs of Sugar.

To the Wangna
4 Blunderbusses
1 Piece of Kim Khanl
1 White Shawl
A Set of Pink Topaz Ornaments.
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Returned

8 Peculs of Tin
8 Peculs of Sugar.

To the Phra Klang

2 Blunderbusses

2 English Saddles

7 Pairs of Spectacles

1 Case of Mathematical Instruments
1 Opal Box

1 Cut Glass Box

1 Piece of Fink Velvet

2 Do. of Europe Chintz

1 Watch to his con and 1 to his Nephew
2 Bottles of Essence of Roses

1 Do. of Sanial wood Oil

4 Platel Bottle Stands.

Returned

40 Peculs of Sugar.

To the Raja of Ligor.

30 Pieces of coarse Cloth
2 Shawls to his Wife
2 Watcles to his Sons
1 Gold Necklace
i Do. to his Son
1 Do. pair of Braczlets
1 Ruby Ring
1 Piece of Scarlet Broad cloth
. of Blue Cotton
. of Chintz
. of Long Cloth
. of Jaconet Muslin
. of Checked Muslin

[
§EPe¥
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2 Do. of Gold flowered Do.
2 Do. of Kim Khaub

1 Do. of Crimson Velvet

1 Opal Box

1 Glass Box

3 Pairs of Scissors

2 Pen Knives

2 Razors

G Bottles of Lavender

1 Bottle of smelling Salts

1 Do. of Ean de Cologne
1 Bullet Mould and Turnscrew
1 Bottle of Sundal Wood 0il
2 Small Do. of Essences
2 Fowling Pieces

2 Muskets.

Returned,

20 Peculs of Sugar, and Provisions for the nse of the
Mission.

To the Raja of Singor.

1 Piece of Scarlet Broad Cloth

1 Do. of Silver flowered Muslin
4 Do. of Europe Clintz

6 Do, of Blue Cloth

1 Do. of Lang (loth

1 Shawl

6 Muskets

2 Razors

2 Pairs of Scissors

1 Penknife.

Returned

9 Peculs and 89 Catties of Sugar.
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To Raja Phi-phut Kosa®

1 Diamond and Emerald Ring
1 Cruet Stand

Some Ceylon Jewellery

1 Pair of Spectacles.

Returned

1 Rhinoceros’s Horn,

Radsithi received the same presents as his father,
Phya Choola, but, as usual, made no returns, Pre-
sents of Ceylon Jewellery, Shawls, Cloth and Fowling
Pieces were also wade to the Native Christian Port
Captain, and Interpreters, and to several ather petty
Officers balonging to the Raja of Ligor nx well as to
the Court of Siam. These persons were in no
circumstances to make returns,

Money was privately given to only 3 persons,
and not beyond a Sum of Spanish Dollars 600.
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THE following is a general Account of the Presents received

by the Mission.

King of Siam
To the Governor General
To the Honble. the Gov-
ernor of P, W. Island
To Mr. Crawfurd
I'o Captain Burney
Wangna
To the Governor (ieneral
M. Secretary Swinton
‘The Honble. the Gov-
ernor of P. W. Island
Captain Burney

Chao Phya Phra
Klang

To the Governor General
Mr. Secretary Swinton

The Homble. the Gov-
ernor of P. W. Tsland

Mr. Crawfurd ...
Captain Burney

Prince Krom Meun Surin
Prince Krom Mcun Rak
Chiao Phya Chakri
Chao Phya Kalakom ...
Chao Phya Maha Yotha
Phya Si-phi-phut
Phya Ky Kosa
Phyn Phi-phut Kosa ...
Phya Choola
Chao Phya Ligor
Phya Singora a
Total

1 Rhinoceros's Horn
2520 Ticals from the
King and Wangna.

Agnila Sapan
Wood  Wood

o4 £
s, Peenls. _§ 5

9 e — 36

Tin

Peculs.

&

~1

Catties,

Sugae

Peculs,

13 —
60 —

205 —

40 —

16 —
15 —
10 —
20 —

9 89

154 150

3 44 82 29 1064 89

(Signed) H. BURNEY Captain
Envoy to the Court of Siam.
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No. 41.

LETTER from His Excellency Chao Phya Phra
Klang Minister of high rank at Bangkok represents
with good will to the Right Honble. Lord Amherst
Governor of Bengal.

With respect to the Right Honorable the Gov-
ernor of Bengal having appointed Captain Henry
Burney an Envoy to come and establish friendship
with Siam, [ afforded him assistance, took care of him,
and nothing was wanting. And with respect to the
men and Pegu families of Tavoy, Mergui and Tenas-
serim, who came in and were living at Bangkok and
Ch'hoomphon, when the English forces first attacked
the Burmese Countries, some of these people, who had
relatives at Bangkok, came in of themselves, and
some the Guards and Detachments in order to gain
favor, seized and persuaded to come in. There were
upwards of a thonsand, and they were all living at
Bangkok and Chhoomphon. ~ His Sacred Majesty
the King of Siam gave orders formerly, saying if the
Lnghah conclude the War with Ava and remain in

of those ies, such of these
people as desire to return home may be allowed to
do ns they please, but whilst the English and Burmese
continue at war, these people cannot be released
Perhaps their country may again belong to the Burmese.
Siam lives on bad terms with the Burmese, who
are enemies. Let such of these psople as have
relatives reside with them, and let such as have not,
go and work for their subsistence in the same
manner as their own countrymen. When Captain
Burney arrived at Bangkok he presented a letter to the
Ministers of high rank, stating, that the English had
conquered Martaban, Mergui, Tavoy and Tenasserim,
which had become their possessions, and which they
are desirous of establishing as places of trade and that
the Right Honble. the Governor of Bengal had ordered
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him humbly to submit to his Majesty the King of
Siam a request for these people to be yranted, that
they might return and live in their own countries.
The representation contained in Captain Burney's letter
was humbly submitted to His Majesty who was pleased
to order, saying, Martaban, Mergui, Tavoy and Tenas-
im having become the possession of the English,
with whom the fiamese have established friendship,
and Lord Amherst Governor of Bengal having applied
for all these people, for the sake of His Lordship's
friendship, let the Ministers release all the Peguers
and people of Tavay, Mergni and Tenasserim, who came
in and are living at Bangkok * Cl'hoomphon, and any
that desirs to return ta theiv own Countries let them
#aas they please.  An owder was sent to the Governor
of Cl'hoomphon and he released 237 Men who went,
away. And those who were at Bangkok, amounting to
1201 were put on board the Boats and sent away by
the road of Bangnarom. Those who have relatives nf
Bangkok and at Cl'hoomphon and are content to re-
main with them, and not to return, amount to 126,
The whole has been settled and no difficulty 1emains.
1 send this report that the Right Honble. the Governor
of Bengal may be informed ina friendly manner,
Letter written on Monday the Gth day of the 8 : in-
creasing Moon according to the Sinmese era 1188 year
dog 8. ((10th July 1826 )

Translated from the Siamese
(Signed ) H. BURNEY Captain

Envoy to the Court of Siam.

e
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No. 42.

LETTER from His Excellency Chao Phya Phra
Klang Minister of high rank at Bangkok represents
with good will to the Right Honble. Lonl Amberst
Governor of Bengal.

With respect to the Right Honorable the Governor
of Bengal having appointed Captain Burney an Envoy
to come and establish friendship with Siam, 1 affonded
him assistance, took care of him and nothing was
wanting. When Captain Burney arrived in Siam he
presented a Letter to the Ministers of high rank,
stating that G Christians, who had been bronght in and
confined in irons at Bangkol, are Native Portugness
horn in Bengal, and that the Right Honble. tha
Governor of Bengal had ordered him humbly to
=ubmit; to His Majesty the King of Siam a request for
these 6 Clristians to be grauted, that they might
return and live in their own Country. The ropresonta-
tion contained in Captain Burney's letter was humbly
submitted to His Majesty, who was pleased to or
saying: When these G Christians in the Siamese
era 1182 year Serpent 2, embarked on board a Brig
with some Burmese in charge of a Burmese Lstter
and came to vaise an Avmy at Tavoy for the purposs
of attacking Siam, and °our Datachments went out
to watch and seizs wen, in order that they might
he d and intelli; collected ing
the public service ; the latter fell in with and cap-
tured the Brig together with these 6 Christians and
some  Burmese, and found the letter which the
Burmese were conveying directing an Army to be
assembled. The Detachment sent these 6 Christians
with the Burmese down to Bangkok when it became
known that the Burmese were raising an Army to coms
and injure Siam. These 6 Christians were consie
dered at Bangkok as subjects of the Burmese and
enemies, and they were accordingly confined. Now




[427]

Captn. Burney states these Ch
in Bengal, that they belong to the English,
that they went to trade at Rangoon, and the
Rurmeso  forced them, without their being able to
refuse, to take charge of their letter, and that
the Right Honble. the Governor of Bengal had
ondered him  to  subwit an application for their
velease and return, His Majesty the King of Siam,
regarding the Right Honble. the Governor of Bengal
with abundant favor, and for the sake of His Lord-
ship's friendship, was pleased to onder that such of
these 6 Christians as desived to return might be
allowed to go as they please.  One of them is content
to remain at Bangkok, and the other 5 have been
wiven to Captain Burney to take away. I now send
this report that the Right Honble. the Governor of
Bengal may be informed in o friendly manner,  Lotter
written on Monday the Gth day of the 8th increasing
Moon according to the Siameso era 1188 year Dog Sth
(10th July 1826).

ians were  born

Translated from the Siamese,
(Sinned) H, BURNEY  Captain

Envoy to the Court of Siam
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No. 43.

LETTER from His Excellency Chao Phya Phra
Klaug Minister of high rank at Bangkok to George
Swinton Esquire in Bengal.

With respect to the Right Honble. Lonl Awlierst
Governor of Bengal having in the Siamese era 1188
year Dog 8, appointed Captain Henry Burney an
Envoy and Representative, to come to Bangkok with
a letter and presents, for the purpose of renewing and
improving the former friendship between the English
Nation and the Siamese, and with respect to the letter
sent by Mr. Swinton, I afforded assistance, and
humbly submitted the matter for the information of
His Sacred, most Exalted, Just, Gracious and Excel-
lent Mujesty the King of Siam, who, regarding the
English Nation with exceeding favor, was most graci-
ously pleased to order Captain Burney, the Envoy,
to be met and received according to the customs of
a great Country forming a suitable and proper friend-
ship. T introduced Captain Burney to an Audience
to salute with profound veneration His Majesty the
King and His Highness the Wangna. The presents
were most humbly tendered, and every part of the
contents of the Letter submitted. Now that Captain
Burney visited Bangkok I have received and attended
to him with kindness, and assisted him in every
particular, nothing has been wanting. Whereas Mr.
Swinton derived satisfaction from the accession of
His Majesty to the Throne and Government of the
Country according to the established Laws of the
Kingdom of Siam, and Mr, Swinton offers benedictions
that His Majesty the King may have long life and
prosperity—The King of Siam was most graciously
pleased to say as Mr. Swinton entertains sincere
regard and good will towards us, we thank him, May
he ever live in peace and tranquility.
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In the present letter from Mr. Swinton it is
mentioned, that the English Nation desires only to
establish friendship with the Siamese. The Siamese
also will cherish the subsisting friendship, make it
increase and not suffer it to be destroyed. Every
matter respecting the friendship, which has been
established between the English and the Siamese is
explained in the Treaty. And the Chain of pure
d, Ring formed like o Butterfly, four pieces of
Muslin, 6 pieces of Blue Cotton and 10 Stands of
Arms, which Mr. Swinton tendered to the Wangna,
His Highness was graciously pleased to order the
Officers to receive, and to prepare and deliver to
Captain Burney 40 Peculs of Sugar which His
Highness bestows upon Mr.
favor. T have received with thanks the 3 picces of
broad white Cotton, 6 pieces of Blue Cotton. 1 piece of®
Jamdani and 10 Stands of Muskets, which Mr. Swinton
sent by Captain Burney in toke:: of remembrance and
respect.  And 1 have delivered to Captain Burney 15
Peculs of Sugar.  May Mr. Swinton receive the same
in a friendly manuer. Letter written on Monday
the Gth day of the 8th increasing Moon according
to the Sinmese era 1188 year Dog 8 (10th July 1826).

winton with abundant.

Translated from the Siamese.
(Signed ) H. BURNEY Captain

Envoy to the Court of Siam.
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No. 44.

LETTER from His Excellency Chao Phya Phra
Klang Minister of high rank to the Honorable Robert
Fullerton Esquire Governor of Prince of Wales Tsland.

With respect to the letter given to Captain
Burney to bring, stating that the Governor of Prince
of Wales Island wishes and desires to form friend-
*hip and amity—that the Right Honble. the Governor
of Bengal had appointed Captain Burney an Envey to
to come and explain the original cause of the
War between the English and the Burmese—that
His Lordship desired to submit the same for the
information of His Sacred and Exalted Majesty tho
King of Siam and of that of every high Officer and
public Servant, in order that friendship might not b
destroyed but become only confirmed and augmented
any event occurred, information could be com-
municated to Siam in a friendly mamner. Every
subject contained in that letter from the Governor of
1% W. Island I have fully understood. As soon as Cap-
tain Burney’s ship arrived at Memung Samooth prokan
(Paknam) T afforded assistance, and humbly submitted
the matter to the Sacred feet, for the information of
his Sacred, most Exalted, Just, Gracious and Excellent.
Majesty, the King of Siam, Who, regarding the
Right Honble. the Governor of Bengal with
abundant favor, was most graciously pleased to order
the envoy to be met and received according to the
cnstoms of a great country forming a suitable and
proper friendship, 1 introduced Captain Burney the
Envoy ° to an Audience, to salute with profound ven-
eration his Majesty the King, and his Highness the
Wangna, and the Articles from the Right Honble, the
Governor of Bengal, and from the Governors (sic) of .
W. Island and Singapore were most humbly tendered,
and every part of the contents of the Letter submitted.
The King and the Wangna were most graciously
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pleased to address Captain Burney, the Envoy, and to
enquire with abundant favor, after the Right Honble.
the Governor of Bengal and the Governors ® of
. W. Island and Singapore; and they declared The
Right Honble. the Governor of Bengal, having deputed
an Envoy to come and desire to renew and increase
friendship, to explain that the English have sent an
Army to beat the Burmese, and to inform Siam that
the Governor of Bengal wishes to establish {riendship.
His Majesty is plensed to return many thanks to
His Lordship. And the Governors of I W. Island
and Singapore entertaining sincere regard and good
will, His Majesty was pleased to thauk them, and
to say, May the Right Honble. the Govemor of
Bengal ever live in peaco and tranquillity, and may
the Governors of P. W. Island and Singapore also,
together with theavhole English nation, ever remain
in peace and tranquillity. Friendehip between the
Siamese and English will be confirmed and increased
far beyond what it formerly was, without echance of
interruption.

And now that Captain Burney el Bangkok
1 have received and attended to him with kindness,
and assisted him in every particular, nothing las been
wanting. In the present letter from the Right Honble.
the Governor of Bengal it is mentioned that the His
Lordship desires that friendship between the English and
Siamese may be confirmed, prolonged and increased, and
that the English have no cause to covet or take any
thing belanging to Siam. His Lordship applied to
conclude a Treaty in onder that friendship might be
fixed and improved, and that the Countries subordinate
on either side might live in peace, and not dis-
turh each other respecting any point which would
be settled by mutual stipulation. His Majesty the
King of Siam was most graciously pleased to
observe:  We approve of this manner, which the
Right Honble. the Governor of Bengal proposes, of
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concluding a Treaty ; it is very correct and conform-
able to established customs. Friendship would be
sincere, firm and perpetual, and Merchants on both
sides would be able to visit and trade together with
freedom and facility,  Siam also does not meditate
to disturb or take anything in any place or country
belonging to the English. Let the Ministers of high
rank and Chao Phya Ligor Sithamrat confer with
Captain Burney in a friendly manner.  The Ministers
then and Chao Phya Ligor Sithamrat examined with
Captain Burney  whatever might fix and prolong
friendship between the Siamese and English, and prove
beneficial to both parties only.  Having agreed upon,
and mutually approved of the terms, they made two
Copies of a Treaty, concluding it on Monday the Gth
day of the 8th increasing Moon accorling to the
Siamese ern 1188 + Dog € and (10 July 1826)
according to the Christian era 1826. Every matter
is shewn in that Treaty, and the Ministers and
Captain Burney have put their Seals to it.  One Copy
is at Bangkok and the other Captain Burney takes for
the Seal of the Right Honble. the Governor of Bengal.
The Siamese and English have established together a
great and sincere friendship and amity, and 1 now
send this report for the information of the Governor of
. W. Island,

The Officers have received charge of the square
Glass Box with four Bottles. both the Box and Bottles
ornamented, which the Governor of Prince of Wales
Island most humbly tendered to the King of Siam,
who was most graciously pleased to order them to
prepare 12 Peculs of Sugar, which His Majesty
bestows upon the Governor of Prince of Wales Island
with abundant favor. The Officers have also received
the Chain of pure Gold and pair of Bracelets, which
the Governor of Prince of Wales Island nost humbly
tendered to the Wangna, who was most graciously
pleased to order them to prepare 15 Peculs of Sugar
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which His Highness bestows upon the Governor of
Prince of Wales Island with abundant favor. And
T have received with thanks n Box of Glass ware,
which the Governor of P. W. Island sent by Captain
Burney in token of his remembrance and respect.
I have delivered to Captain Burney 15 Peculs of Sugar.
May the Governor of Prince of Wales Island veceive
the same in a friendly manner. Letter written on
Monday the Gth day of the 8th increasing Moon
according to the Siamese em 1188 year Dog 8 (10
July 1826).

Translated from the Siamese
(Signed) H. BURNEY Captain

Envoy to the Court of Siam.
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No. 45.

LETTER from His Excellency Chao Phya Plwa
Klang Minister of high rank at Bangkok to John
Crawfurd Exuire Resident of Singapore.

With respect to the Letter from the Residont of
Singapore stating, that the Right Honble. the Governor
of Bengal had appointed Captain Henry Bumey an
Envoy to take charge of Articles and come and humbly
present them to His Sacred Majesty the King of Siam,
that the English desive to form friendship with Siam
and several other matters, all of which 1 have fully
understood, As s2xm as Captain Burney's Ship arvived
at Memung Samooth prokan (Paknam) 1 afforded as-
istance, and humbly submitted the matter for the
information of his Sacred, Most Exalted, Just,
Gracious and Excellant Majesty the King of Siam, who,
reganding the Right Honble. the Governor of Bengal
with abundant favor, was most graciously pleased to
orlder the Envoy to be met, and received according to
the Customs of a great Country, forming a suitable
and proper friendship. 1 introduced Captain Burney
the Envoy toan © audience to salute with profound
veneration His Majesty the King and His Highness
the Wangna, and the Articles from the Right Honble.
the Governor of Bengal, and from the Governors
of Prince of Wales Islnd and Singapors wers
most humbly tendered, and every part of the contents
of the Letter submitted. The King and the Wangna
were most graciously pleased to address Captain
Burney and to enquire with abundant favor, after
the  Right Honble. the Governor of Bangal and
the Governors of Prince of Wales Island and Singapore,
and they said, The Right Honble. the Governor
of Bengal havime deputed an Envoy to come and
desire to renew and increase friendsliip, to explain that
the English have sent an Army to beat the Burmese,
and to inform Siam that the Governor of Bengal
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wizhes to cstablish friendship, and the Governors of
Prince of Wales Island and Singapore entertaining
sincere regand and good will, we return many thanks
to the Governor of Bengal, and to the Governors of
Prince of Wales Island and Singapore. May the
Right Honble. the Governor of Bengal ever live in
peace and tranguillity, and may the Governors of P. W.
Island and Singapors also, together with the whols
Euglish nation, ever remain in peace and tranquillity.
Friendship between the Siamese and English will be
confirmed and increased far beyond what it formerly

was, without chance of interruption.

And now that Captain Burney visited Bangkok,
ed and attended to him with kinduess

T have rec
and assisted him in every particular—nothing has beeu
wanting, L the present letter from the Right
Honble. the Governor of Bengal, it is mentioned that
His Lordship desires that friendship between the

E

glish and Siamese may be confirmed, prolonged and
increased, and that the English have no cause to
covet or take anything belonging to Siam. His
Lordship applied to conclude o Treaty, in order that
friendship might be fixed and improved, and that the
Countries subordinate on either side might live in
peace, and not disturh each other respecting any point
which would e settled by mutual stipulation. His
Majesty the King of Siam was most graciously

pleased to abserve, We approve of this manner which
the Right Honorable the Governor of Bengal
proposes of concluding a Treaty : it is very correct
and conformable to established customs. Friend-
ship would be sincere, fim and perpetual, and
Merchants on both sides would be able to visit
and  trade together with freedom. and facility.
Siam also does not meditate to disturb or take
anythiug in any place or country belonging to
the English.  Let the Ministers of high rank and Chao
Phya Ligor Sithamrat confer with Captain Burney
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in a friendly manner. The Ministers then and Chao
Phya Ligor Sithamrat examined with Captain Burney,
whatever might fix and prolong friendship between the
Siamese and English, and prove beneficial to both
partics only. Having agreed upon and mutually
approved of the terms, they made two Copies of a
Treaty, concluding it on Monday the Gth day of the
8th increasing Moon acconding to the Siamese era
1188 year Dog 8, and (10th July) acconding to
the Christian era 1826, Every matter is shown in
that Treaty, and the Ministers and Captain Burney
have put their Seals toit. One Copy is at Bangkok
and the other Captain Burney takes for the Seal of
the Right Honorable the Governor of Bengal. The
Sinmese and English have established together a great
and sincere friendship and amity, and I now send
this report for the information of the IResident of
Singapore.

The Officers have received charge of the Round
Mirror with a Glass bottom playing European tunes,
which the Resident of Singapore most humbly tendered
to His Majesty the King of Siam, who was most
graciously pleased to order them to prepare 18 Peculs
of Sugar, which His Majesty bestows upon the Re-
sident of Singapore with sbundant favor, And I
have received with thanks the Chain of pure Gold,
which the Resident of Singapore sent by Captain
Burney as a token of friendship. I have delivered
to Captain Burney 10 Catties of Aguila Wood. May
the Resident of Singapore receive the same in a
friendly manner. Letter written on Monday the 6th
day of the Bth increasing Moon according to the
Siamese era 1188 year Dog 8 (10th July 1826).

Translated from the Sismese
(Signed) H. BURNEY Captain
Envey to the Court of Siam.
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No. 46

LETTER from the Raja of Ligor to the Honorable
the Governor of Prince of Wales Island,

Letter of sincere affection, which will know no
diminution as long as the Sun and Moon continue to
revolve, from me Chao Phya Sitham Mosokorat,
Ch'hati de Chho Ch'hai, Mahai Sooriya Thip bodi,
aphai phiri bora, Krom pha hoo, Chao Phya Lakhon
Sithamrat, whom God preserves, together with the
whole world, to my friend the Honorable Robert
Fullerton, Governor of Prince of Wales Island, who
possesses pradence and wisdom, and is praised by all
friends far and near. And after that, be it known to
my friend, whereas Captain Burney came to Bangkok,
1 afforded him aid and assistance acconding to friendly
regard,  Captain Busney voturns from Bangkok before
When I arvive T will

me. 1 shall come hereafte:
consider affairs in the manner Captain Burney has
engaged by Treaty at Bangkok, and let my friend
cement friendship very much, and let it he more than
it was before.  Kedah and Prince of Wales Island will
be able to have intercourse and trade in an affectionate
and friendly mauner, and continne peaceful and happy.
The measures respecting Perak and Kedah, upon my
veturn from Bangkok, I will arange and execute
according to the Treaty which Captain Burney has
newly formed at Bangkok. If before | come Kedah
or Perak commit any breach of the Treaty, do not be
offended and angry. When 1 arrive I will arrango
matters so that Kedah and Perak shall be obliged to
observe the new Treaty which has been formed at
Bangkok. I will continue to keep the Treaty with
sincerity.  These 1 send to explain.  Letter written
on Wednesday the 14th day of the 8th increasing
moon yenr Dog 8,

"I'ranslated feom the Siamese

(Signed) 1. BURNEY Captain
Envoy to the Cowt of Niam.
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 20 September 1826.

UPON which the President veconds the following
Minute, and o letter to the King of Perak.

PRESIDENT'S MINUTE.

T now proceed to make such observations as oceur
to me on the draft of the Treaty lately concluded by
Captain Burney.

These are too general to be of any use or import-
ance, the direct specification of the Countries depen-
dant or independant of the contracting Parties should
have been stated.

These articles are all proper in themselves ad
veuuire no particular remark.

The whole of this Article 13 so wonled as to
amount to the admission of the actual dependance of”
Tringano and Kalantan on Siam.  There appears
indeed studied ambiguity in the terms and a veserva-
tion of self construction is left with the continct ing
paties, which almost leaves the point at issne quite s
ungettled as it could have been had no Treaty been
made.  The stipnlation against the Siamese yoing
and interenpting our Trade in Tringano and Kalantan
may be considered by us s preeiuding the vight of any
interference by Siam, for every such interference must:
produes vonfusion and interruption of trade ; it might.
lwe construed as conveying to us the right of divert
interposition in case of such interference, on the
other hand it may be construed by them as giving
them the right of complete subjugation so lonyg
Tt i
trne commercial interconrse and freedom is onr n
object,  but

ax onr trde s not interrapted by th
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by political influence cannot be depended on. With
a country in contention and confusion there can
be no trade,  If the Article bears such a construction
as will adwit of owr keeping open direct communica-
tion with those states, such as will give us the vight
of interposition in the event of the Siamese intermed-
dling in their affairs, assuming a paramonnt control
in short protecting them in their independance, all
is gained that we can require, and, under that
construction, but not otherwise, [ should vecommend
the ratification of this article of the Treaty.

The fisst pact of the stipulation vespecting free-
dow of duty and intercourso by the Rivers is good,
but the reciprocal agreement we have no right to
enter into unless the Ex King of Quedalu is himself a
party. We treated with his father as an lodependant
Sovereign, and received from him the Islaud as such.
perfectly nnderstood that British protection

and it
was the real as well as avowe
We allowed his son to be expelled by the Siamese,
he sought refuge and found it on the Island. W
may, it under all cirimstances we can reconcile it to
ourselves, withdraw our protection and direct him to
quit. our Territory and go whero he pleases, but we
surely have no right to stipulate for him the renuncia-
tion and abandonment of every attempt to recover
his lost Kingdom. We could not without manifest
ustice enforce such a stipulation, neither have we o
right tomake him a Prisoner or to send him as such to
any particular spot. While he remains on the Island
we are no doubt to prevent his using his residence for
lostile purposes and preparations against Ligore, but
only so long as he remains, I he chooses to guit our
protection we can hold over him no further control.
It has been our policy never to interfere in the
disputes between Kedah and Siam.  We have pursued
that Policy contrary, in my opinion, to our own
interests, aud more steadily perhaps than consistent

olject of the e
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with the virtual obligation incurred when we accepted
the Island. Our mow guaranteeing Kedah to the
Siamese against the attempts of its original possessors,
would be a deviation from that course, Refusing,
as we lave invariably done, all aid and assistance
to the Ex King, we could have no right to his
seeking it elsewhere, and were he to seek it by
alliance with the French or any other Furopean
Power, however inconvenient such might he to us, we
could have no absolute right to interfere. The King
of Kedah once entered into negociations with Ava for
the recovery of his Throne, apd this coming to the
knowledge of this (iovernment were instantly com-
municated to Ligore, and have opposed the main
barrier against his restoration. The danger of such a
connection, it was supposed would have induced the
Rajah of Ligore to listen to terms for the restoration
of the King. 'The answer to the proposition afforded
a good specimen of Siamese vanity and presumption :
as usual indeed the Ligore chief made some promises,
but when required to fulfil them, he would not even
see the Envoy sent from this Island.

In every way has the course we have followed
proved ruinous to the interests of that unhappy
Prince, and the euforcement of the 13th Article of this
Treaty would be the consummation of that course.
We may on the conviction of the hopelessness of the
attempt cease to urge his restoration, but there is o wide
difference between that and a formal stipulation for
the final renunciation of all future claims in favor of
another State. Let us here contrast the article of
the preliminary agreement with the Rajah of Ligore
with the Article of the Treaty now brought back. By
the one, that Chief stipulates that he will proceed and
report the terms of the preceding one, and if the King
of Siam consents that he will withdraw his Troops and
restore the Kingdom. So far from this being effected,
the Treaty returned provides for the final and per-
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manent renunciation of his Kingdom by the other
Party. Let it be remembered also, that this Pre-
liminary Agreement was the Document, which as far
as the interests of this Government were concerned
decided the question of sending on the Envoy. On
the other hand, it must be admitted that as it has not
suited our Policy either to retain the King in posses-
sion, or to enforce his restoration to his Country hy
stronger measures, and as our negociations may now be
considered to have completely failed, it is desivalle he
should reside at some other station than one calculated
to keep alive constant jealousy, donbt and ill will.
It must now be onr endeavour to induce the Ex-King
to consent to seek another residence. As Malacea is
beyond the limits objected to, and Arvangements may
possibly be made to establish him there in security
and comfort, it must be our endeavonr to persuade
to that effect. It may be stated to him how little
hopes he can now entertain of ever regaining posses-
sion of his Territories, and how small the sacrificn
in abandoning a claim or pretension now so very
unlikely to bo ever re-established. The advantages
he may derive from security and comfort resulting
by restoration of his family new in confinement
by the Rajah of Ligore may also by urged. Tho
sum originally stipulated or compensation for the
Island was 10,000 Dollars per Annum, on the expul-
sion of the King his Allowance was reduced to 6000,
hut as no claim for any payment has ever been or can
now be made by the Siamese for the possession of the
Island, but on the contrary we are to derive the
henefit of stipulated exemption from all duties on Pro-
visions, it may not be considered unreasonable to make
the additional 4000 Dollars another inducement to hig
acquiescence in the proposed terms. At Malacea he
will of course be treatel with the same external marks
of honor aud respect hitherto paid to him, and by
bestowing a certain portion of Lands on himself and
Followers, it may be possible to make his situation
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move reconcileable to the wounded feelings naturally
vesulting from his Misfortungs ; but if every argument
hould fail in obtaining his assent to these terms,
1 must confess 1 cannot bring myself to recom-
mend the ratification of this part of the Treaty and
as the exemption from duties on Provisions, appears
to be distinctly stated as the eet off against tho com-
pletion of this Arrangement, 1 should prefer foregoing
the advantages if they can be attained only by a
measure which without the Ex-King's consent would
amount to a violation of rights and breach of
hospitality where we are peculiarly bound to observe
them in the most literal sense. The King has
connections on the Fast Coast of Sumatra at Siack,
and Delhi, and has sometimes expressed an inten-
tion of proceeding thither, but we may be well
assured, he would go there only to organize, with
the aid of his friends his best means of attacking
the Siamese, and the collection -of disorderly fol-
lowers that would be fonnd there might produce
confusion and piracy to a great extent, besides
which, unless resident within our limits, we conld not:
~afely stipulate for his forhearance ; as far indewd
as it may be the object of the Siameso to avoid
molestation from him, his remaining in our territory
would be for them the safest plan, Tt is also to be
considered that it is not we alone that gain by the
Free Export of Grain and Provisions, This Island
is the best Market for the surplns Produce of Kedal,
and it will find its way here as it always has done,
notwithstanding occasional orders to the contrary :
when the whele of this Island was a Jjungle, the
dependance on Kedah was nuavoidable ; but viewing
the means we have of providing for ourselves, T muel
«nestion whether the henefit derived from encournge-
ment and promotion of Agriculture within the Islaud,
wonld not in the end ontweigh the temporary incon-
venience resulting from the occasional interraption of
Kedal supply.
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The first part of this stipulation that the King
shall govern his Country according to his own will is
vo far satisfactory that it conveys an admission of in-
dependance.  If he desires to send the Golden Flower
to Siam of his own free will and cousent. we can have
no right to prevent him, but it must he onr business
to ascertain that such free will does exist.  [fthe King
of Perak is also willing to receive the 10 or 50 men
to be sent in n friendly way by the Chow Phya of
of Ligore, we can have no wish to prevent it, hut it
must be our care to see that it is with friendly inten-
tion that they ave sent, and that the admission is free
and voluntary on the part of the King. [fthe King
wishes to send any of his Officers to see the Chow Phya
at Ligore, we can have no pretence to forbid them,
and for all this notwithstanding the Treaty made
with the Rajah of Ligore, Persons have been sent
who have been esercising complete control over the
affairs of that Country. We have received letters
from the King which leave little doubt of that
circumstance.  These stipulations therefore  only
Detray the latent intention of the Ligore chief. His
object is to establish the belief that the inflnence
exercised over Perak by him is not compulsive but by
the assent of the chief: for the real sentiments of the
King of Perak on that head I need only refer to the
communication which passed batween him and M.
Anderson. It was stated to Captain Burney that
the first tender of the Boongah Mas to Siam was
purely voluntary on the part of Perak, but we know
that the father of the present King resisted the de-
mand to the utmost of his power, submitting only to
actual force and necessity.

This article I can recommend to be ratified only,
therefore, under the distinct understanding that we
reserve to ourselves the powers, first of ascertaining
the real sentiments of the King of Perak ; secondly, of
ensuring him by efficient means, full protection against
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Siamese aggression, and for that purpose an agent
must be sent to communicate with him on the subject.
As to the Stipulation for the defence of Perak against
Salengore influence, it is quite an assumption in Siam
(sic) negociating for the sacarity of an independant
State.  That point must depend on arrangements
het.\\een ourselves and the King of Perak, but it seems

ble, it being und d that such holds
no longer than Perak continues free and in| lependant,
and will cease if ever that State, whether with the
consent of the King. or otherwise, falls under the
dominion of Siam,

In respect to all the commercial stipulations, they
appear to be advantageous, but so little faith do T
vepose in their fulfilment that T scarcely think it worth
while to enter into any serious discussion regarding
them.

As far as Counnercial objects at Bangkok are con-
cerned, it may be said the mutual interests of two
Nations, the reciprocal advantages derivable from
open and free trade form the only solid grounds of
commercial intercourse, and when the interests of
the people have any weight with the Government,
such may be generally relied on for the continuation
of Trade. The opinions or interests of the people
have little to say in the measures of a despotic and
arbittary Government like Siam and other more
Eastern Nations. Foreign Trade is adwitted only
as affording the means of gratifying the rapacity and
extortion of the Officers of the Government, but even
these must have their limits, If exaction is carried
beyond those limits, Trade must cease, and the gain
derived, in whatever shape, must be lost. It is
evident that public negociation is likely to produce
little effect, and it is probable that moderation is
more likely to be nltmmte.y esmbluhcd by the

of the Mercl than the
interference of the State,
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The Government of Sinm has, like all other
Governments, an undoubted right to settle the terms
on which other Nations are to trade with it, or to
forbid that trade entirely—for in that respect at least
we cannot have recourse to intimidation, such means
are ifiable only on resi to horized and
unjust encroachments on the interests of others,

If Siam has a surplus Produce which it has an
interest to dispose of for other commodities receivable
from us, an outlet and interchange will be found by
native vessels proceeding to Singapore, and until
the chiefs and men in power see their error in over
exaction it will be far safer for the British Merchant
to look to that wmode of supply, than submit his
person to the risk of insult, his property to the risk
of plunder and exaction, and Government to the
necessity of requiring satisfaction. Even though one
Envoy has succeeded in concluding a Treaty for the
conduct of trade at the Port, what security can
we have for its punctual execntion 2 What hope
of fair dealing can be expectad from a Government
which one day issnes n Proclamation granting freo
permission to foreigners to buy where they pleass,
and the next confines its subjects to® selling without
its permission.

T <hall now proceed to make a few observations
on the whole proceedings of the Mission.

In respect to Quedah it may be observed that
having been so long left under the Government ot
Siam, and that state of things, tacitly at least,
acquiesced in for many years, there could be little
hopes of obtaining its restoration te its lawful King,
except by ip 1 ion of pondi
advantage. Captain Burney seems mainly to have
velied on the influence of the Rajah of Ligore to carry
through the objects of his negociation, and it must
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here be remembered that that chief was in actual
occupation of Quedah, and deriving all the advantages
of that possession. Whatever influence o may really
have with the Cowrt, and I regret it seems to ba
considerable, it could not be expected that it would
have been exerted in carrying through a measure, of
which the reduction of his own influence and power
would have been the result. If indeed some great
and decided advantage could have been given to the
General Government of Siam, in exchange, great
enough to outweigh with that Conrt the individual
interests and influence of Ligore, thers might have
been hopes of success. But this has long  been
entirely out of the question. It is not probable that
any part of onr late acquisitions will be coded to
Siam, and 1 must confess that after the exposition
afforded by Captain Burney of the nature of the Siamese
Government, and of the probable treatment the
Inhabitants would receive, humanity forbids us to
hope for such a transfer. 1 coufess therefore, 1
never considered the case of Quedah as very promising
—it must now bo considered as quite hopeless.
Neither do I augur very favorably in the final arrange-
ment of other points, in which the Chief of Ligors
is in any way concerned, excepting in so far as
the Treaty may be considered to anthorize our acting
by more decisive means than negociation. 1t is
not to be denied that the spirit of enterprive
and ambition displayed by him in all his proceed-
ings are directed to further conguest and subjugation,
from which he cannot fail to draw an accession
of power. It is not from him therefore that we
van ever expect the serious renunciatian of views
of conquest. Contrasting indeed the success that
lias attended the negociation of our Envoy on
points not comnected with the conecern of Ligore,
with the opposition in the latter, I cannot donbt
that that chief has been our real Bnemy at the
Court of Siam, and has materinlly obstructed the
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completion of e\er) object of the mission in which
we are i The ion,
if not destruction of his influence at the Court. uhuuld
lave been the first object of the Envoy. [ fear the
manifest dependance and reliance placed on him has
much added to his importance, has taught him to be
considered as the only one fit to deal with an
European opponent in Politics or War. 1 consider it
singularly unfortunate for these Settlements that we
have such a neighbour, who seems of all the Siamese
Chiefs to be the only one possessed of judgment to
form a resolution to execute any settled plau of aggres-
sion. Unless met by prompt and efficient means of
local resistance, 1 cannot but anticipate therefrom
much future i ience. The late proceedings in
respect to Perak afford indeed the most complete
illustration of Ligore Policy. The abstract History
of that State from 1610 has already been given in o
former Minute.  In that Minute it was clearly shewn
that Perak was never tributary to Siam up tothe
period of its most nefarions subjugation by orders
of Siam in the year 1818. It was in 1822 relieved
from that Power by the King of Salengore, who left
lis son and relation Tuanko Hussein at the mouth of
the river to prevent their retum. To recover posses-
sion the late Armament at Quedah was professedly
prepared by the Rajal of Ligore. The object was
counteracted by the measnres taken by the Govern-
ment, and the refusal of permission to pass through
the Straits between the Island and the Main land, and
ended in Captain Burney's Treaty, by one Article of
which we engaged to remove Tuanko Hussein—by
another the Rajah of Ligore engaged that no Siamese
force should [go] to or remain in Perak ; the express
object being to maintain Perak in a state of inde-
pendance as it stood when first ceded to us by the
Dutch in 1795. Our part of the agreement we per-
formed by compelling Tuanko Hussein to retire, and
it was no sooner done than the Siamese, or rather the
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Rajah of Ligore, bml\e hm by immediately occnpnng
the Country, thus afft g the pl

tion of the value of a Smmm Treaty, and of the
degree of faith to be reposed in it. It certainly
was in my contemplation to have taken effectual
means for their expulsion.  Adverting however to the
presence of Cartain Burney at the Capital [and] the
extreme suspicion evinced by the Siamese Court, it
seemed more advisable to await the result of the Mis-
sion than have recourse to a measure which must have
been represented as o direct hostile attack, while
the circumstances which produced it wonld have been
denied.

Captain Burney, I perceive, imputes to the King
of Quedah, the blame of having misled this Govern-
ment in 1814 into the belief that Perak was a tributary
of Siam. It scems hardly fair to censure proceedings
over which that unhappy chief conld not possibly
exercise any control. It is well known that the King
of Quedah did every thing he could to evade obedience
to the order of Siam for the attack on Perak: it is
well known that he used every means in his power by
supplication and entreaty to induce the G overnment.
of this Island to save him fiom the necessity of such
a measure, and which he knew to be the forerunner of
his own ruin.  Granting that the Vakeels sent by him,
being in the interest of Siam, represented Perak as
an old dependency of that state—it is hard to censufe
an act which conld be avoided only by our interference,
and which we refused to exert. Neither can the
view of this G be fairly ascribed to
the information of the Quedah Vakeels. There was
enough on their own records to shew the futility of the
claim of Siam. That claim it now appears by Captain
Burney's Papers the Siamese themselves admit had
no existence.

In support of the view I have taken of our
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political interests in this quarter, as detailed in my
Minute of the 24 September 1823, 1 beg to refer to
the annexed Extract of a letter from the Lieutenant.
Governor of Fort Marlborongh to ths Rasident of
Singapore dated 7 June 1823,

“27. Having given you thes: instructions as
“ regards your situntion of Resident of Singapore,
“Tam desirous also of calling your attention on
“ soms points to the lino of Policy which it appars
“to me advisable for you to pursus in your mors
* goneral political capazity in the Archipelago. On
“this subject ona of the most material points in ®
“our political relations with Siam aad ths Malayan
* States alleged to be tributary to it.  On this point
‘it is incumbent upon me to state with candonr that
* the Policy hitherto pursued by us has, in my opinion,
“been founded on erroneous principles. The depen-
“ dence of the Tributary States in this case is founded
“ on nonatural relation which connects them with the
“ Siamese Nation. Thess people are of opposite
* manners, language, religion and general interosts,
“and the superiority maintained by the one over the
* other is so remote from protection on the one side,
** or attachment on the other, that it [is] but a simple
“ exercise of capricious tyranny by the stronger party
* submitted to by the weaker only from the law of
“ necessity.  We have oursslves for near forty years
“ been nearly Ege witness of the pernicious influsnce
*exercised by the Siamese over the Malay States.
*“ During the Revolutions of the Siamese Government
““these profit by its weakness and from cultivating
“an i with pecially with our
“own and other European Nations, they are always
“in a fair train of prosperity. With the Settlement
“ of the Siamese Government, on the contrary, invari-
“ably returns the exercise of its tyranny, and the
‘“ Malayan States are threatened, intimidated and
“ plunderel. The recent invasion of Quedah is a
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“ striking example in point, and from the informa-
“ tion conveyed to me it would appear that the Com=
* mercial and interesting state of Tringano, at present
 governed by a Prince of most respectable character,
“ being personally attached to our Nation, has only
“ been saved from a similar fate by an unlooked for
“event. By the independent Malayan States, who
“may be supposed the best judges of this matter, it
*is important to observe that the connection of the
 Tributary Malays with Siam is looked upon as w
* matter ot simple compulsion, fully aware of our
*¢ power, and in general deeply impressed with a respect
“ for our national character, still it cannot be desired®
*that we suffer at the moment in their good opinion-
“ by withholding from them that protection from the
« appression of the Siamese which it would be so casy for
“us to grant.  The case is stronger with regard to
* Quedal than the rest, for here a general impression
* is abroad amongst them, that we refuse the assistance
“ that we are by Treaty virtually bound to give, since
“ we entered into a Treaty with that State as an In-
“ dependent Power, without recognizing the Supremacy
“ of Siam, or even alluding to its connection for five and
* twenty years after onr first occupation. The Pros-
* perity of the Settlement under your direction is as ®
“ much connected with that of the Malayan Natives in
“ its neighbonrhood, and this again upon their liberty
“and security from foreign oppression, that 1 mnst
** seriously reconmend to your attention the contem-
“ plation of the probable event of their deliveranco
rom the yoke of Siam, and the keeping of the
“ Supreme Goverment immediately informed of every
event which may promise to lead to that desirable

The fate of Quedah is unfortunately irretrieveably
decided, but so fully do I concur in the sentiments
above expressed, that if the conclusion of the Treaty
now before us can be construed as precluding the aid



Political Dept.

L451]

and instrumentality of the British Government in
rescuing those which remain from the further exercise
of Siamese vsurpation, I cannot hesitate in giving my
opinion that it should not be ratified.

(Signed) R. FULLERTON
18 September 1826,
RESO LYED that the following letter be addres-
sed to Captain Burney.
To
THE I

"OY to SIAM.
Sin,

Parn Ist. | am directed by the Honble. the
Governor in Council to acknowledge the receipt of
your letter of the 9th Instant, with Journal and treaty.
The sentiments of this Government will be detailed
at length to the Right Honble. the Governor General
in Council. In the mean time the Honble. the
Governor in Council deems it right to convey to you
the opinions entertained on the subject, as connected
with the interests of the Malay Peninsula.

el The first Article without the specification
of the Countries admitted to be dependent or
Independent, is mere general declaration and not
susceptible of any remark,

3. The 12th Article respecting Tringano aud
Kalantan appears to be worded with considerable
ambiguity, 0 as to leave to each party, the right of
of self construction. But the whole wording of the
Article would seem to convey by implication, the admi

sion of complete Supremacy of Siam over these states,
the express disavowal of which was a main object of the
Government. The Siamese are bound not to go and
interrupt the trade of Iringano and the British Govern-
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ment are bound not to go to attack and molest that state;
but whether the provision against the interrnption of
trade is meant to preclude every sort of interference
on their part, or to leave them to exert it to the
utmost, so long as trade ba not interrupted, does not
appear. The terms being of doubtful meaning,
decision can only be conditional; and if this article
is understood to leave to the British Government, the,
vight of direct Treaty and negociation with these
states, the right of opposing all forcible interference
of the Sinmese and the right of affording them complete
protection, if such should hereafter be determined on,
then the article appears unobjectionable, If, 'on the
other Land, it leaves undisputed power to Siam, of
exerting its supremacy, and precludes our right of
interference, then the Article is in opposition to that
line of Policy to which, for the present, at least, it
was deemed by this Government indispensable to
adhere.

This Asticle refers to Quedali entirely. From
the length of time that has elapsed during which the
Siawese have been allowed to remain in possession of
that Country, this Government wero certainly not
sanguine in their hopes of procuring their removal,
without some signal concession in another quarter,
It is mot to be denied however, that the Articles of
the Preliminary Treaty with the Rajah of Ligore,
gave some hopes of a favorable result, and that Treaty
appears to have been written by that Chief himself,
under the contemplation of the Ex King's restoration.
These expectations formed a strong inducement, as
as connected with this Presidency, for sending on the
Mission, and altho' the necessity of foregoing these
e i and dropping all pts in the Ex
King's favor on this occasion, was contemplated,
the Board certainly were not prepared to expect o
stipulation amounting to nothing short of the entire
abandonment of the King, his dismission from his last
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Asylum and onr for is final iation of
all futuve claims on his Kingdom. Having hitherto
observed strict neutrality and declined assisting him
against Siam, it does not appear that this Government.
is authorized to take an active part against him, and
become guarmutee on the other side, by pledging our
taith to prevent his seeking elsewhere that assistance
which we have refused. However desivable it might be
that the residence of the King should be at a greater
distance from his Kingdom, it is evident, that without
his being a party to the Treaty, this Government can-
not dictate to him his place of residence ; he way in-
deed be required to leave our Territory and proceed

elsewhere, it, under the circumstances under which he
camo here, sucha course can e considered right.
Supposing our interference in his behalf withdrawn,
the Siamese conld be entitled to no further stipulation
than the implieTone already admitted, that, so lomg
mained under our protection, no lostile at-
tempts or preparations would be made against them.
By the Treaty, as now concluded, the chief of Ligore
has gained an advantage he never before possessed;
the virtual acknowledgment of u right tacitly allowed,
but never hitherto distinctly adwmitted, and the Board
cannot gee inany part of the Treaty a corvesponding
benefit to us, even tho' we were disposed to acsept any

as he

on such con

on.  Every argument will by used to
induce the Ex King to reside at Malacea, because,
under present  circumstauces it is evident, that
such is the Dbest arangement that can now bs
made; buv if he finally decide:
The Honble. the Governor in Couneil cannob
vazneels ° to any prineiple of justics or right,
his forcible removal, and cannot recommend the
ratification of a Treaty involving the necessity of such
o measure. It is obvious indeed, that after the Ex
King quits British Territory, it would be quite im-
possible to pledgs ourselves against hostile attempta.
on Ligore.

on  remaining,
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5. This Article is so far satisfactory that it con-
firms the Preliminary Agreement made in respect to
Perak. It declares the King Independant and, being
a Treaty made by us, it may be urged it gives ns the
vight of supporting that Independence. The insertion
of Provisions for the sending the Boongah Mas aud for
receiving certain Persons in a friendly way completely
betray the latent objects of the chief of Ligore: he
has not, probably, the slightest intention of adhering
to the spirit of the Article, and we may expect the
exercise of every Trick which cunning and deceit can
devise to evade its i That an independ
sovereign shonld send and receive such persons as he
pleases, and should even sewl a Silver Flower to
another Prince, if he pleases, requires no Treaty ;
they are only found u the one now hefors the Boand,
to cover other Plans and Intentions, 1t may be said,
indeed, that the Treaty gives us the right to interfere
more foreibly, but
but to come to amicable

at are the objects of Treaties
derstanding and prevent so
disagreeablo an alternative, A Treaty to be executed
by absolute foree is of n very negative adv
The farther measuves connected with this arti
be stated hereafter. The Board proceed to the further
consideration of the Treaty.

6. All the Articles affcting commercial velations
appear satisfactory ; but the Board entertain so very
slight expectation of their being adhered to that
they scarcely consider it necassary to disenss them
“Those applicable to Trade at Bangkok appear to place
our commercial relations there on a more favorabls
footing. This was an object of negocintion suggested
by the Resident of Singapors, and one which never
appeared to the Board to be of much importance or
likely to be attained, so little faith can be placed on
their provisions that the Board consider it would be
infinitely better for the Merchants to receive the
produce of Siam and return their Goods in exchange



[455]

Ly the Native Junks frequenting Singapore, than to
risk their persons to insult. their Property to plunder,
and the British Government to the necessity of re-
senting it, by going to war with Siam. The tendency
to extortion on the part of the Siamese Officers nt
Bangkok is more likely to be checked by the forfeiture
of the advantages resulting from fair Commercial
interconrse, and self Interest seems more likely to
indnce moderation, than any public negoviation.

7. The Boand now proceed to submit to you a
few general observations on the progress of the Mission.
The several metters connected with the late war
with Ava in which communication with Siam becane
necessary, the Board admit to have been paramount
considevations, so long as the war continued.

8. The hopes of Co-operation from Siam appear
to have ceased. in some degree, before you proceeded
to Bangkok. To induce the Siamese Force in the
Neighbourhood of Martaban to advance in support of
Colonel Fepper’s Detachment and to cover the attack
upon Tongah seemed, however, by Sir Archibald
Campbell, as o most important object, and, although
every argument used Dy you proved unavailing, it is
but justice to notice your unremitting excrtions for

that purpose.

9. In keeping them to Neutrality at least. and
preventing those occurrences so likely to arise from the
Proximity of the Siamese to the very weak force at
Martaban and the Tenasserim Coast, which might, if
not checked, have produced rupture between the two
Governments, Your interposition has no doubt been
most usefully employed and in the recovery from
Slavery and misery, of so many unhappy beings, taken
from Countries under the protection and control of the
British G the cause ot I ity has been

signally promoted and one subject of dispute and
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contention between the two Governments removed.
While the Board therefore, gives you all due credit,
for the patience, perseverance and temper displayed by
vyou, underall the trying circumstances inseparable
from negociation with such a vain, arrogant and con-
ceited Court, Candour obliges them to confess, that in
all matters connected with the Malay Peninsula, the
Mission must be considered in some degree, to have
failed, and that tho state of our relations with our
Neighh is not ly imp d by the result;
for this the Board can be at no loss to account.
You seem all along to have relied principally on the
influence of the Chief of Ligore, in all your negocia-
tions.  Now considering that the Rajah of Ligore
was the aggressor and is now in actual possession of
Quedah, deriving all the advantages therefrom ; that
le is » the person directing all the i

and aggression in the state of Perak and Salengore ;
that he is, by far, the most intriguing and ambitious
of all the Siamese Chiefs,—it was not likely that his
influence would ever be exerted towards the com-
pletion of the objects in which this Government were
interested.  The very reverse might safely have
been presumed. The counteraction and destruc-
tion of this mans influence ought therefore, to
have been the first object of your arrangements, he
+hould have been represented in his true character, as
a most troublesome neighbour to the British, as the
person, of all others, most likely to bring on a rupture
between the two Governments; instead of which
course, you appear to have consulted him and been
guided by him on several occasions. You seem to
have [made] him the principal medium and source of
your most important communications, By such a
course, his influence has been much increased instead
of being diminished. He must now be viewed as
the only person fit to meet an European opponent,
either in war or diplomacy. Contrasting, indeed, the
success that has attended your endeavours in every
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object wherein the interests of Ligora wers not
involved—with the failure in those which in any way
affected the views and intentions of that Chief, it can-
not be doubted, that he has bzen onr main enemy at
the Court of Siam, and it must be a matter of regret, ’

that these Setel have such o neight It
cannot be doubted that he will now return to Quedah |
with i 1 and ion, and with

extended views of conquest. Established as his in-
fluence now must be, the great portion of the Military
force of Siam will be at his disposal in the prosecution
of those views, and whatever that portion may bes
we may expect it to be situated not many miles from |
this Island. The Board cannot but anti te there- y
from, much serious inconvenience, unless met by the
most steady and unremitting opposition. The Board
admit that at the time you proceeded on the Mi

slon |
and during the first part of its progress, objects |
|

connecml with the Burmese War were the most ]
ta iliatory and porizi policy

was r(-qumsd and if the prevention of hostilities I
with Siam could have been ensured only by the aban- |
donment of the views of this Government, such would |
lave been viewed as a necessary sacrifice of local to
general objects of more importance; but after the l
Burmese War had been brought to a successful ter- ‘
mination The Board are of opinion, you might have

assumed a higher tone and availing yourself of the
impression produced by that event and of the alarms
under which you represent the Siamese to have
labored about that time, The Board are disposed to ‘

think, that had you seriously urged on the Court of

Siam, all the objects of your Mission, (the restoration

ot Quedah included) as essential and indispensable to |

the maintenance of peace between the two States, “

every one would have been conceded. ]
|

10. In closing these observations, the Board
must however, in justics to you, admit the difficulty
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with which you had to contend, from the impracticabls
character of the people with whom you had to deal,
the necessity of yielding some points, for the uttain-
ment of others, and the manifest expediency of coming
to some sort. of understanding, instead of quitting the
the Court, if not on actually hostile, at least on un-
friendly terms. As the Right Honble. the Governor
General will, no doubt, expact that the Treaty shonld
be accompanied by the final and decisive opinion of
this Government on its merits, the Board will be
happy to receive from you such explanation as yon
have to offer, respecting the the true intent and mean-
ing of the different provisions alluded to in this letter,
as well as your opinion in regard to the declarations
which might be made on ratification o as to remove
the objectionable part of the provisions and leave the
future measures of this Government less shackled than
they scem to be by the letter of the Treaty as it now
stands.

11, In reference to transactions that have taken
place connected with your Mission, and on which further
measures may be required, I am directed to enclose
copies of Information given relating to the affairs of
Perak, From these you will parceive, thers is overy
reason to believe that the Treaty with Ligore had no
sgonzr besn exseuted on our part and Rajah Husssin
removed, than the former Chief sent upwards of 200
peaple who, in reality, on the plea of demanding the
Boangah Mas, actually assumed the complets manay-
ment of the Country. The Honorable the Governor
in Council refrained at that juncture, from procseding
to measures which might have seriously affected your
negociations, and deemed it better to await your re-
turn ; but as the Treaty on the subject of Perak now
concluded virtually confirms the former, it became *
necessary to take some measures to counteract the
views of Ligore against ‘that state. Of the real
sentiments of the King of Perak The Honble. the
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Governor in Council entertains no doubt. His
letters, as well as his communications with Mr.
Anderson, are sufficiently clear on this point, That
lie should prefer connections with, or in other words,
submission to Ligore, to independence, under our
guarantee, can scarcely be believed. Any appearance
of doubt or disinclination on his part, if such should
appear, cau now be ascribed only to intimidation,
produced by the artful machinations of the Chief at
Ligore, which it must in the first instance be our
object to counteract. For this purpose Captain Low
lias been deputed to Perak. A Copy of the Instruc-
tions given him and of other papers connected there-
with are now enclosed. On the receipt of Information
from Perak respecting the transaction above alluded
to, letters wera written to the Young Chief of Ligore,
also to his father. Copies are enclosed of these.
No notice whatever las been taken, and as .t
is indispensable that the Chief of Ligore should
bo brought to some explanation on these, the draft
of another letter is enclosed, of which it is the desire
of the Honble. the Governor in Gouncil that you
should be the bearer as far as Quedah. In presenting
it to the Young Chief for transmission to his father,
as it is probable the latter will not have arrived,
you will use every argument to convincing® the
Young Chief that Treaties and Agreements are not
made with a British Government to be executed or
not at the pleasure of the parties. That the one
respecting Perak must be strictly performed. That
he must abstain from any interference whatever with
Perak ; that his sending people there will render it
necessary for us to do the same and that the whole
objects of the arrangements must be destroyed. You
will yourself address a letter to the Chief of Ligore to
the same effect. You will easily perceive that the
object in view is to retain all things as they are,
pending yltimate decision of superior authority. The
delivery of the letter and presents from the Right
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Houble. the Governor General was delayed in con-
sequence of the absence of the chief from Ligore
and the necessity of accompanying them by some
ceremony beyond their simple transmission: in the
mean time the accounts above alluded to were received
and the letter having been written on the confirmation
of a Treaty which there then seemed reason to believe
the Chief himself had broken, doubts were entertained
as to the propriety of their delivery to the Rajal
until some explanations were received, As the new
Treaty made at Siam confirms the other in respect to
Perak, and as it is still to be hoped the Chief will adhere
toit, The Boanl do not think themselves at liberty
longer to withhold their delivery, It is intended there-
fore, that you should carry them with you to Quedal, to
be put into the hands of the young Chief. From Quedaly
you will proceed to Bengal, transmitting by some safe
conveyance, the result of your Proceedings, of which
you will of course, make a full report to the Supreme
Government, The letter from the Supreme Govern-
ment enclosed contains the only subject not already
noticed on this point. The Board are of opinion that
the payment of the 2000 Dollars from the King of
Salengore need not be insisted on ; the death of the
the old chief and successor of another might give rise
to some new discussion, attended with much incon-
venience.

I have &ca.
(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON
Secretary to Government.

Fort Cornwallis
“The 23: September 1826.
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Enciosure. LIST of Documents enclosed in the letter to
Captain Burney, Envoy to Siam.

Dated 252 September 1826. i

1. Copies of 8 letters from the Honble. the Governor
and Malay Translator to the Rajah of Ligore and
his Son at Kedal, relative to the party of Sinmese
being at Perak and the letter and presents from
the Governor General.

e

2. Two letters from the son of the Rajah of Ligore, |
being the only replies to the above. |

3. Letter to Rajah of Ligore dated the 23rd Septem- i
ber 1826.

4. lustructions to Captain Low, as Envoy to Perak.
5. Additional Instructions to Ditto.

6. Depositions at the Police, dated 18th May 1820,
relative to the proceedings of tho Siamese at
Perak.

-

xtract from the King of Perak’s letter to the
Governor, 27th January 1826,

8. Letter from the Honble. the Governor to the
King of Perak dated 15 May 1826,

9. Proposed Agreement offered to the Ex-King of
Kedah.

10. Three letters from Rajal of Kedah to the Honble,
the Governor, relative to the death of his son at
Ligore, Muskets, aud the proposed arrangement
for his removal.

11. Copy of a letter from the Persian Secretary to
Govt. and letter to Rajah of Ligore.

12,  Letter from the Supreme Government relative to
Mr. Anderson's Mission to Perak and Salengore,
and Captain Burney's to Kedah, dated 27th July
1826.
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' THE PRESIDENT records the following further
Minute, and letter to the King of Perak.

X "Il""'-": PRESIDENTS MINUTE.

[ Captain Bumey having vetarned from Siam, and
‘ as that part of the Treaty with Ligore, relative to
| Perak, is essentially confirmed, it may now be
necessary to take measures for ascertaining the truth
of the various reports of Sinmese Interference, that
have been made, as well as to explain to the King the
nature of his situation, and to assure him of the
protection of the British Government, if sincovely
desirous of relieving himselt from the thraldom in
which he has been held by the Rajah of Ligore. He
should be informed, That he is an Independant.
sovereign—to rule his Kingdom without any inter-
ference of Siam or Salengore.

That his sending the Boongah Mas to Siam
depends entirely on himself. That he need not do s
if he does not wishi.

That he need not veceive or admit the 30 or 40
Men to be sent by Ligore unless he pleases.

That he need not send any Person to Ligore to
commumicate except when he pleases.

The Siamese are not to send any Troops to
attack Perak,

That the English will not send Troops and do not
wish to occupy any part of Perak, provided the
Sinmese do not occupy or interfere.

But the King is to understand that he may rely
on the assistance of the British Government in
expelling any Siamesa who come to Perak, or resisting
any il with Lis G
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The Envoy will explain to the King the neces-
sity of his giving some written Document of his wisl
to be independent and free of all interference,

This may be done by a letter addressed to the
Governor, or to the Rajah of Ligore, which will be
sent with such information as will effectnally prevent
any future interference.

In respect to Salengore, the King must be made
to understand, that we shall protect him from any
interference from that State, so long as he maintains
himself in Independence of Siam by our assistance ;
but if he, of his own free will, places himself in
on Siam, the oblj|

d venses.

The Envoy will make particulur enqguiries as to
the presence of any Siamese, or Agents of that Power
being now, or having been. as reported. at Perak:
what were their objects, and what their proceedings ;
and if he finds any there he will warn them to depart
forthwith.

RTON.

( Signed ) R, FUI
15 Septr. 1826.
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Enclosure. LETTER from the Honble. R, Fullerton Esquire,
Governor of Prince of Wales Island, Singapore and
Malacea, to Sultan Abdullal, King of Perak.

With reference to the engagement of my friend,
delivered to Mr. Anderson last yearand the subsequent
| correspondence between us, T have now the satisfaction
of informing my friend of the return of Captain
Burney from Siam, and that the terms and conditions
specified in the Treaty with Ligore, respecting Perak
are to be fully carried into execution,

Captain Low, whom T have deputed to wait on
my friend, has been instructed to communicate all
particulars, and I trust that my friend will receive
him with respect and kindness, and make known to
| him freely and unvescrvedly, his sentiments and
wishes on all points.

My Envoy has been directed to acquaint my

| friend of all proceedings connected with the negocia-
I tions with Siam in respect to Perak. My friend will
now be idered as an Independent S ign, free

to rule his Kingdom without any interference from
Siam or Salengore. The transmission of the Boonga
MMas depends entively on my friend’s own inclination
H and he need not. again send it unless it is his wish to
| do so. There is no occasion for his receiving the
30 or 40 men proposed to be sent by the Rajah
of Ligore unless it be his own pleasure; nor need
my friend send any person to Ligore to communicate,
h except when he pleases.

It is now fully provided and settled that tho
Siamese shall not send any troups to attack Perak.
The English will also refrain from sending Troops and
5 do not wish to occupy any part of Perak, provided
the Siamese do not occupy any part of the Country
or interfere in the Govt.
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My friend must also understand that he may rely
on the assistance of the British in expelling any
Siamese who may proceed to Perak, and resisting any
interforence with the Government. Tt will be satis-
factory to me to receive a written communication
from my friend of his desive to ba independent and
free of all interference.

In respect to Salengore, my friend may also vely
that the British Government wili protect him from all
interference from that State so long a< he maintains

in indopendence of Siam by its assistance, but

him
it my
dependence on Siam, the olligation to protect him on

iend of his own fran will, places himse
the part of the British Government will cease

Captain Low has been inclined to make enquiries
relative to the pressnce of any Siamese or any Agents
of that power being or having been, as reported, t
Perak, their objects and proceedings, and it will b
his duty, if be finls any thers, to warn them to depart
without delay.

The Envoy will deliver n fisy presents to my friend

ns a token of my regard.

(Signed) R FULLERTON
Prinee of Wales Island

The 15: September 1826,
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 20 September 1826.

THE SECRETARY reports that in conformity
to theabove Minute the following letter of Instructions
was addressed to Captain Low.

0. 1350 INSTRUCTIONS to CAPTAIN LOW

CAPTAIN LOW.

SIR,—The Honble. the Governor in Council
having been pleased to require your services to pro-
ceed to Perak, I am directed to transmit for your
guidance, cepies of the documents noted in the Margin,
und to convey to yon the following instructions.

With refe 1o the engag Inded by
the Rajah of Ferak with the Envay last year, pursuant:
to the stipulations of the Preliminary treaty with the
Rajal of Ligore, which has Iwen duly ratified by the
t Houble. the Governor General in Couneil,—and
the correspondence which has since passed between
the Honble. the Governor and the Rajali of Perak,
your fiest duty will be [10] explain the means which
which have induced this Government to refrain for

short time taking medsures for enforcing the terms of
the Treaty by directing the removal of the Siamese
party said to be residing in Perak. The Honble. the
Governor was however desirous of waiting the Arrival
of Captain Burney from Siam and obtaining such
further information as he might be enabled to collect:
regarding the views and feelings of the Court of
Siam.

Secondly.  You will inform the llnph llmt being
duly ized as an Independent S , he is
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at liberty torule his Kingdom without any interference
on the part of the Rajahs of Ligore or Salengore.
Thirdly. The transmission of the Boonga Mas to
Siom depends entirely on himself. It is quite
optional with him either to send it or to withhold it.

Fourth. It is also optional with himself to
receive and admit the thirty and ® Forty men which
the Rajah of Ligore proposes to send to Perak, as he
mny find it convenient. Fifth. The King of Perak
need not send any person or persons to Ligore, or any
other Siamese State, except when lie pleases, of his¢
own free will and accord to do so.

Sixth. The Siamese are bound not to send any
Troops to attack Perak.

Seventh. The English Government will not send
Troops and do not desire to occupy any part of Perak,
provided the Siamese do not occupy or interfere.

You will also give the King of Perak clearly to
understand that he may rely on the assistance of the
British in expelling any Siomese who may proceed
to Perak, and resisting any interference with his
Government.

It will be necessary also to explain to the King
the necessity of his giving some written document of’
Tis wish to be ind dent and free of all i
This may be done by a letter addressed to the Honblv.
the Governor or to the Rajah of Ligore, which will be
sent with such intimation as will effectually prevent

any future interference.

In respect to Salengore the King must be made
to understand that this Government will protect him
from any interference from that state, so long as he
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himself in ind d of Siam by the
assistance of the British Government, but if ko of his
own free will places himself in dependence on Siam,
the obligation will cense,

It is particularly desired that yon make enquiries
as to the presence of any Siamese or Agents of that
power being now or having been, as reported, lately
at Perak, their objects and Proceedings. 1f any are
fouud to be there. it will be your duty to warn them
to depart forthwith,

The Malay Travslator will deliver you a letter for
the Rajah of Perak from the Honble. the Governor
and you will purchase to the extent of 600 Sa, Rupees
worth of presents for the Rajah and petty chiefs for
which amount you will receive an advance,

The H. €. Cruiser Antelope and the Schooner
Zephyr lave been directed to be held in readiness
for sea and you can embark on either of the two
vessels you prefer. They will proceed in Company
and the Commanders directed to place themselves
under your orders. A party of 40 men with Native
Officers from the Local corps with provisions for 15
days will be embarked and the Master Attendant will
provide a snitable accommodation boat tor yourself
and party to proceed up the Perak river.

I am &
The 15 September 1826,

THE SECRETARY farther reports that divections
were given to the Comwanders of the Honble. Com-
pany’s Cruisers Antelope and Zephyr to place them-
selves under the orders of Captain Low—to the
Master Attendant to provide a suitable accommodation
Boat to be attached to the vessels—and to the Store-
keeper to embark 20 days Provisions for a party of
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40 Sepoys and non-Commissioned Officers of the
Local Corps.

THE following Translation of a letter from the
Rajah of Tringano to the Honorable the Governor is
reconded.

RAJAH of TRINGANO.

Translation of a letter from Paduka Svi Snltan
Almed the son of Sultan Zenoolabdeen, Rajah of
Tringano to the Honble. the Governor of Pulo Penang.

( After Compliments.)

We beg to make known to our friend, that tha
letter which he sent to us by Captain H. Burney reached
us in safety. It is mentioned in that letter that
Captain Burney was proceeding to Siam as Agent of
the Governor General of Bengal, and that in the event
of his visiting our Country on his way We are re-
«uested to communicate any thing that we may desire
to wake known to our friends. We fully comprehend
all that is mentioned in our friend’s letter.

Moreover, we beg to acquaint our friend that
Captain Burney arrived in safety at Tringano, without
any accident or mischance, and we had a meeting.
We have formed a great partiality for himself—and
besides he was an Awmbassador from the Governor
General of Bengal.  We accordingly received him
with sincerity and friendship.

Further, the friendship which subsisted between
our father the Sultan of Tringano and the former
Governors was never broken and has descended unim-
paired to our friend. We are extremely anxious that

this i| 1 regard and i should be
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increased and continue so long as the Sun and Moo
amay endure and for ever. Such is our desire night
and day. We have nothing to.offer owr friend but
many compliments.  Dated 7: Mohurum 1242—or 73
July 1826,
(A T Translation)
(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON

Translator to Govt,

Prinee of Wales Tsland
The 14 September 1826,
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the Proposition of the Honble. the Governor.
THE SECRETARY reports that o letter was ad-
dressed to Captain Burney, Envoy to Siam, requiring
him to transmit o Certified Copy of the Treaty lately
negociated by him at Siam in the three languages in
whicl it was understood to be written, and also the
original of any letters addressed to the Honble, the
Governor, of which he had submitted Translations.

READ the following letter from Captain Burney
in reply.

LENVOY to SIAM.

To
John Anderson Lsgre,
Secretary to Government.
Sir,

In reply to your letter, just received, I transmit
hervowith a certified copy of the Treaty in the three
languages. In addition to a letter from the Phra
Klang and one from the Sultan of Tringano, both of
which have already been delivered, 1 am aware of only
another letter addressed to the Honble, the Governor
by the Raja of Ligore, and that I have just forwarded
direct to the Governor.

I have &ca.
(Signed) H.BURNEY Captain
Envoy to the Court of Siam.

P. W. Islnd
September 19th 1826,
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RAJAH of KEDAH.

Translation of a letter from the Ex Rajsh of
Kedal to the Honble. R. Fullerton Esquire, Governor
of Pulo-Penang.

( After Compliments, )

With respect to my fricud's communication to me
that Captain Burney had informed my friend [ had a
large quantity of Muskets in my house, it is true I
have Muskets, for at the time of the disturbance of the
Si y some of my people brought some of my
Muskets with them and delivered them to me. I have
since purchased four or five, which are now in my
house, for I thought that when Captain Buruey
returned from Siam and I should return to Quedah,
L should be in difficulty without Arms. Moreover 1
had observed that many people, such as Syed Hussein,
and others were in possession of Muskets, Blunder~
busses in plenty and even Cannon, so that I retained
a proper number of Muskets also: but I beg to
inform my friend that if it be agreeable to him, 1 will
retain these Arms, and ift my friend digapproves of my
keeping these Muskets, 1 will deliver them to my
friend, receiving the price according to the present
value of these Articles in Pulo Penang at the present
time. Such is my ropresentation, and I request my
friend will send me o reply in order that I may know,
and that my mind may be at ease.

Dated Thursday—12 Taafar 1242,

Penang
The 15 September 1826.

(A True Translation )
(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Translator to Govt.
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RESOLVED, that the Malay Translator be desired
to inform the Rajah that his explanation is satisfactory,
and that Govermment place confid®nce in his promiss
that he will not make any preparations caleulated to
excite any further suspicion,

THE following Engagement proposed to the
Rajali of Kedah, consequent upon Captain Burney's

Treaty with Siam i reconded.

ENGAGEMENT.

PROPOSED AGREEMENT offered to
the EX-RAJAH of QUEDAH.

First. The King agrees to go and reside at a
place allotted him within the limits ot thy Settle-
ment of Malacea.

Second.  The King binds himself not to attack,
disturb or injure, nor to permit any of his Followers
to attack, disturb or injure in any manner the
Temitory of Quedah, or any other Territory subject
to Siam.

Thind. The Government of Prince of Wale
Island agrees that the Slaves, personal Servants,
Family and Kindred of the late King of Kedah shall
be released by the Rajah of Ligors and permitted to
proceed where they please, and to join the King and
reside with him at Malacea, it they desire it.

Fourth. ‘Lhe Govermment of Prince of Wales
lslaud agreesto pay on account of the support of the
King and his family the sum of Ten Thousand
Spanish Dollars or Sicea Rtupees 21,050 per Annum.
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Fifth. The Government of Irince of Wales
Island agrees to allot a space of land to be occupied by
the King of Quedah and Dependants at Malacea not
exceeding Orlongs.

Sixth. The Government of Prince of Wales
Island agrees to receive from the King ot Quedah the
House lately purchased by him and pay the amonnt of
the same, deducting the advance made on that acconnt
il due.

Seventh. The Government of Prince of Wales
Island agrees to furnish proper accommodation in a
suitable vessel for the Transportation of the King and
his family to Malacea.

Prince of Wales lsland
The 15th September 1520,

THH above submitted to the Rajah of Kedah in
the Malayan Language this day.

(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON
Secretary to Govt.

ADJOURNED.
R. FULLERTON
R. IBBETSON
FORT CORNWALLIS

The 20: September 1826.
John Ane




majah of
Kodah 2
September
128,

(475]

FORT CORNWALLIS The 23: September 1826.

AT A COUNCIL—DPresent
THIE HONBLE. ROBERT FULLERTON
Governor—Lresident
and

ROBERT IBBETSON Esquire.

READ and APPROVED the PROCEEDINGS
of the 20th Instant,

THE HONBLE the Governor lays before e
Board the following letter to his addvess, from the
Rajaht of Kedah, in reply to the draft of a proposed
Engagement submitted to him on the  Instant.

RAJAH of KEDAH.

Translation of a letter from the Rajah of Kedah
to the Honble. the Governor of Pulo Penang.

(After Compliments.)

When the Siamese invasion occurred I recollected
the engagement of the Euglish Company with my
deceased Father, whicl provided for their assistance
towards my father in any difficulty ; which promise
induced him to grant this Island of Penang to the
English Company, having placed entire reliance in the
engagement and power of the Company, that support
and assistance would be extended by them to his Sou
and Grandson, because it had never been heard that
the Company ever broke any Treaty, and it was
known that they even extended their assistance to
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all neighbouring States, with whom there existed no
engagements and to all who placed reliance upon
them and solicited their aid. The Company always
assisted them and their confidence never suffored
diminution or disappointment. For such was the
name of the Company celebrated in all the Countries
of India, Java aud others ; wherefore recollecting and
knowing all this, I voluntarily came to Penang,
because I placed great reliance upon the engagement
above referred to.

Moreover, Governor Phillips sent mo a letter
requesting me to remain here, and stating that the
Governor General of Bengal would assist me, send me
back to Kedah, and protected me and shewed me
respect. My friend too has done the samo and
protected me ina very proper manner, which makes
me very grateful. T have continued to place unlimited
relianco that I should be enabled to return to Kedal,
but now Captain Burney has brought a Treaty which
I cannot reconcile my mind to; for, as my friend
knows, thero is no reliance whatever in the Siamese
faith or promise. How many letters have they sent
to me, calling me back and promising to redeliver
over charge of the whole Quedah Country to me and
assist me! Al these letters I showed to my friend.
The falsity of the Siomese therefore is now mado
evident, and everything else that they say thero is no
dependance to be placed in. T cannot therefore com-
ply with the engagement.

I therefore beg my friend to have compassion
upon me and to make known to the Governor
General of Bengal all the above circumstances, in
order that he may be fully informed of them all
in every respect. It is my opinion that if the
Governor Gieneral of Bengal were fully acquainted
with the real state of circumstances, he would
have pity upon me and adhere to the former
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Treaty, thereby enabling me to return to Kedah, so
that the name of the English King of Europe, and the
Company, would be celebrated, for the Company are
faithful to all engagements. I trust therefore, that
all my confidenco will prove not to have been in vain.
But, if the English Company do not assist me, I shall
follow my fate. What can I say more? but I shall
beg to remove from Pulo Penang and try my luck,
according as the Almighty may ordain. Were ] to
conform to the engagement of Captain Burney, T
should suffer great disgrace, and it is far preferable
that I should die than be exposed to such shame.
1 would rather even go by myself, for the Country
of Kedah was not a gift from the Siamese, nor was
1 made King of Kedah by Siamese authority. The
Country of Kedah descended to me through a iong
line of ancestors and my Forefathers were Kings of the
Country, without interruption. My father gave Pulo
Penang to the Company of his own pleasure, therefore,
if it had been a Siamese Country, my father could not
have made this gift, and at all events, had it been con-
sidered a Siamese Country at that time, there wonld,
no doubt, have been complaints and remonstrauce.
My friend knows these circumstances. 1 therefore
beg him to have compassion upon me. Suchis my
great reliance.
( A True Trauslation )
(Sd.) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Tr. to Govt.

Penang
The 21 Septr. 1826.

RESOLVED that the Rajah of Kedah be informed
that Government is not disposed to press the engage-
ment upon him or to insist upon his departure from
the Island, however desirous it may be that His High-
ness should be induced to remove to Malacca, and if
after due consideration it be His Highness's deter-
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mination to remain here, pending a reforence to the
Right Houble. the Governor General in Council, the
same protection which has been extended to him since
he voluntarily sought an asylum at this Presidency
will be continued,

THE PRESIDENT reconds the following Minute,
proposing farther instructions to Captain Low on his

Mission to Perak.,

AINUTE by the PRESIDENT.

Memorandum  of  Additional  Instructions to
Captain Low.

Many atrocions acts of Piracy and Murder having
been committed of late on the subjects of this Island
by Prows said to have come from the Rhio Islands and
finding shelter behind the Dinding and Sambelang
Islands and supposed also to frequent the Curow
River and even to have established themselves at
laxat, within the Territory of Perak, 1 propose that
Captain Low should make the above the subject of
particular enquiry and communication to the King of
Perak—discover if possible the haunts of those
plunderers, and snggest the best means of putting an
end to those audacions practices now grown to such
a height as to interfere materially with the Native
‘Trade of the Island,

(S1) R. I
21 September 1826,
THE SECRETARY reports that a letter of

sustenctions was addressed to Captn, Low, in fore-
noing Minute.
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THE following letter to the Rajali of Ligore
from the Honble. the Governor is recorded.

To the RAJAH of LIGORE.

Letter from the Honble. Robert Fullerton Esqre.
Governor of P. W. Island, Singapore and Malacea to
the Rajali of Ligore.

Your Highness has already been apprised of the
ratification, by the Right Honble. the Governor
General of India, of the Treaty made with Captain
Burney in the month of July last year. The Sixth
and Seventh Articles thereof which related to Pernk
have been duly executed on the part of the British
G and it was ly a subject of
surprise to this Government, to learn, that » party of
Sinmese had been sent to Perak shortly after the
return of the Envoy from hence, which your Highness
must be aware is in direct opposition to your own
Stipulations.

Upon receiving this unexpected intelligence, I
nddressed letters to yourself and Son at Kedah,
requiring explanation on the subject, but no reply
has Dbeen received. Your Highness's conduct in
sending a party to Perak must be considered a breach
of good faith and your neglect to answer tlla lebt.aru a
mark of di to this
with the Friendship which you have possessed ®

I have hitherto addressed myself to your Highness,
as the Channel of communication with the King
of Siam; but, if you do not reply to my letters
with due respect and attention, I must address myself
at once to your Supennr Captain Burney being
at Bangkok and cond an amicabl iati

g
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with Siam, I did not think it right to interrupt the
discussion by any strong measures regarding Perak ;
but now that the Treaty isso faras Perak iscon-
cerned virtually confirmed DLy the 14th Article of the
one now concluded by Captain  Burney, it becomes my
duty to see the stipulations of the first agreement
strictly adhered to. I have accordingly taken proper
measures for that purpose, and I now distinctly require
your Highness to consider that, if you desire the
British Government and that of Siam to remain at
Deace, you must not interfere with Perak, either by
sending Troops there or by sending Emissaries to
excite opposition to the King aud confusion of the
Government ; any proceeding of that nature will be
congidered as a breach of agreement,

I have deputed Captain Burney to explain in
person, to your Highness or your Son, my sentiments
on this subject, aud to hear what you have to say in
respect to your proceedings at Perak, as well as to
require you forthwith to recall any persons whom your
Highness may have have sent to that Country,

(8d.) R. FULLERTON
Governor.

Prince of Wales Island,
the 23d September 1826,
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THE PRESIDENT lays before the Boand the
following letter from the King of Perak to which he
states it is his intention to reply without delay.

KING of PERAK.

TRANSLATION of a letter from Sultan Abdullah
King of Perak to the Governor of Pulo Pinang.

(After Compliments.)

1 6end this letter to acquaint my friend that the
Siamese who were sent by the Rajah of Ligore
with the Rajah Bindahara and Orang Kayn Besar,
stated on their arrival, that they intended to
return speedily, but they have remained here ten
months. They are now however returned. This 1
make known to my friend. Moreover, with respect to
the Boonga Ma, 1 begged delay. On this subject
what is my friend's desire, for next to the Almighty
and his prophet, my trust and confidence is in my
friend, and whether good or evil may resnlt, it had
always been my opinion that this Country of Perak
can never be separated from the Government of my
friend. Further an engagement mutually exchanged,
and of which each party has a Copy, cannot be
changed or set aside: I am a lowly man and Iam
under awe of my friend; and of the Siameso 1am
afraid, for this Country of Perak is a part of the same
Continent as Siam; my fricnd, however, is well
acquainted with all my circumstances, and I therefore
transfer to my friend the consideration of them all.

In the event of the Siamese sending and requir~
ing the Boonga AMas or any thing else, what is my
friend's desive ? -1 am anxious to know speedily.

Moreover, I beg to acquaint my friend with respect
to Salengore that a letter has been sent chiming
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debts in Perak.  What is my friend’s decision on this ?
In my opinion every thing connected with paying
or receiving debts as reganls Salengore wmust be
determined by my friend, for I have clains also
against the deceased King of Salengore amounting to
2787 Dollars for duties—this 1 represent to my friend.

1 send as the bearer of this Che Mussak, to wait
on my friend, together with a present of 4 Slabs of
Tin for my friend's acceptance.

Dated 17 Safar 1242 or 20 : September 1826,
P. W. Island
The 27 September 1826.

(A true Translation, )

A letter exactly similar to the above reccived by
me from the King of Perak with a Bag of fine Tin.

(Sigued) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Tr. to Govt.

ADJOURNED
FORT CORNWALLIS R. FULLERTON
The 28: September 1826. R. IBBETSON.

JOHN ANDERSON
Secy. to Govt.
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FORT CORNWALLIS The 5th October 1826.

AT A COUNCIL Present

The Honorable ROBERT FULLERTON
Governor President.

READ and APPROVED the PROCEEDINGS
of the 28 Ultimo.

THE HONBLE. the GOVERNOR lays before
the Board the following letter addressed by him to the
Rajah of Perak in reply to His Highness's letter
recorded on the proceedings of last Council.

LETTER from the Honble. Robert Fullerton
Tisquire Governor of Prince of Wales Island Singapore
and Malacea to Sultan Abdullah King of Perak.

1 duly received two days ago my friend’s letter
dated 17th. Saafar, by his Agent Che Mapak ® who
waited upon me. The contente of my friend’s letter
ave very satisfactory as evincing a desire to prolong
the friendly intercourse and connection which has long
existed between tho Country of Perak and the British
Settlements in the Stmits of Malacca, and more

larly as if) a disposition to adhere
nlncﬂ) and in good meh to the engagement entered
into last year.

Prior to the receipt of my friend's letter I
had dispatched Captain Low, as my Agent, with
full powers to adjust every thing with my friend
respecting the Treaty made with the Rajah of Ligore
about a year ago, and now confirmed by the Court ot
Siam, Captain Low was the bearer of a letter from
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me, explaining all particulars, and to him I-beg to
refer my friend, trusting that he will be received and
treated with kindness and confidence.

It is extremely satisfactory to me to find, that the
Siamese have now acknowledged my friend's indepen=
dence, and that through the intervention of the British
Government he will be at full liberty to govern his
own kingdom as an Independent Sovereign, free from
all control ; by which it is to be expected and hoped
su end will be put to all my friend's anxieties ; and
all impedi; tqa free ang i C
and interconrse between the Country of Perak and
the Settlements of Pinang, Singapore and Mnlacca
will be removed.

I send my friend 2 English shawls and o pair of
Pocket Pistols ns a token of my regard,

(Sd.) R. FULLERTON
Governor.

Prince of Wales Island
The 1 October 1826,
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THE SECRETARY reports that the following
letter was addressed to Captain Low, the Envoy to
Perak, and dispatched to him on the 1 Instant.

TO CAPT: LOW.

To
CAPTAIN LOW

Envoy to Perak
Sir,

1 have the directions of the Honble. the Governor
in Council to transmit enclosed copy of a letter to the
Honble, tho Governor, just veceived from the Kinyg of
Perak. From the Tenor of the letter the Honble. the
Governor in Council is led to entertain sanguine
expectations of the result of your negotiation. Fn-
closed also is copy of the reply of this date.

It is the desire of Government that you make
particular enquiries relative to the pecuniary claims
uxisting between the Rajahs of Salengore aud Perak
which it is desirable should be brought to an carly and
amicable adjustment.

You should advise the King to establish himself
on some place nearer the mouth of the river, moro
favorable for communication with this Government.
than his present residence at Batu or Terussan ; and
it is desirable that yuu should arrange with His
Majesty some plan of keeping open a regular and
frequent intercourse.

T am &ca.

(8d.) John Anderson
Secretary to Govt.
FORT CORNWALLIS
The 1 October 1826.
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THE following letter to the Raja of Kedalh from
the Honble. the Governor is recorded.

Latter from the Honble. Robert Fullerton Fxquivo
Governor to the Raja of Kedal,

1 have duly rveceived my ul's letter of the

21 of last month, in reply to the proposed engngement,
bmitted tor his c However desivably

it may be that my friend should be induced to take np
his residence at Malacea, pending a relerence to the
Right Honble. the Governor General, 1 am not
disposed to press the Engagement upon him, or to
insist upon his departure from this Island; and if,
after due consideration, it be my friend’s determination
to vemain |

the same protection which has heen
extended to him since he voluntarily sought an
Asylum at this Presidency. will be continued.

I request my friend, lowever, to weigh in his
wind all the circumstances with deliberation.

(8d.) R. FULLERTON

Governor,

PRINCE of WALES ISLAND
The 1 October 1826.
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THE PRESIDENT records the following minute,
with two letters from the Raja of Ligore and his reply.

MINUTE by the PRESIDENT.

In submitting the accompanying letters to the
Board just received from the Chief of Ligore announe-
ing the recall of the Siamese from Perak, whose
presence there produced the transmission of my letters
of the 16 December aud 27 May, I beg to propose that
the Draft of the Letter nccompanying be substituted
for the one preposed by me on the 20th Ulto. and [
recorded on that day's proceedings, as it appears the i
letter has not yet been dispatched, and will now be
unnecessary,

(8d.) R. FULLERTON
b October 1£26.

Knclosure. TRANSLATION of a letter from the Chow Pya
of Ligore to the Honble. R. Fullerton Governor of
Pulo Penang.

(After Compliments.)

My friend sent o letter to Kedah to be for-
warded to me, but at that time I was ot the
Capital, which is at a great distance, and the
journey requires many days to perform. I have
however now received my friend's letter in the
spirit of friendship. It is mentioned in my friend's
letter, that the Right Honble. Lord Amherst, Governor
General of Bengal, has sent a reply to my letter
and some things for me. This my friend informs me
of, so that I may know, and enquires where [ will
receive these things, desiring me to acquaint him.

I understand the contents of my friend’s letter
and am extremely pleased, for friendship with the
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English will be promoted and increased far beyond what
it was before ; but with respect to receiving the lettor
and Articles from the Right Honble. Lord Amhorst
Governor General of Bengal, Iam at present residing
at the Capital, and have not yet returned ; however
let my friend consider what may be proper as regards
me. 1 lave to propose two plans, one is to prepare
prople at Kedah to proceed and receive them at Pualo

enung, the other is to receive them at Kedah. My
friend will consider which is best ; T shall follow the
desive of my friend, so that everything may be proper.
When the proper place is fixed upon T request my
friend to send a letter to Kedall, in onder that it may
e known, which Kon Aksoon and Nei Neeur, who are
the bearers of this lotter will convey, and they will
acquaint my son who resides at Kedah acconlingly, so
that he may make prepamtions agreeably to propriety,
in conformity to whate

© way be agrecable to my
friend. When [ retuen from the Capital, L will prepare
and settle all business, according to right—which will
be ‘made known to the Right Honble. the Governor
General of Bengal, so that friendship and cordiality
may be promoted and continue undiminished, for it
never cau be altered ov at an end.

This s a letter sent in a spirit of friendship,
Written on Friday fisst day of the ninth month, year
Doge.

oW Island
The 34 October 1826,

A True Translation

(Signed) JOHN ANDERSON
Malay Translator to Govt.
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TRANSLATION of a letter from the C